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January 5, 2009

Stephen Gura, Deputy Associate General Counsel
Mark Shonkwiler, Assistant General Counsel
Federal Election Commission

999 E St., NW

Washington, DC 20463

Dear Sirs:

In response to the Federal Election Commission’s most recent Notice of Public Hearing
and Request for Comments, 73 Fed. Reg. 74494 (Dec. 8, 2008), we are pleased to provide below
our thoughts and feedback on two areas of concern.! We also request that Joseph Birkenstock be
provided an opportunity to testify at the public hearing on this notice currently scheduled for
January 14, 20009.

While, on the whole, our experience has been that the Commission operates as efficiently
and effectively as can reasonably be expected given the nature of the laws it implements and the
fundamental constitutional rights those laws address, our comments below single out two
particular areas that we believe could be substantially improved without the need for new
legislation. Specifically, we suggest that the Commission adopt a hearing procedure for advisory
opinions, consistent with the hearing approach recently adopted for enforcement actions, and we
suggest that the Commission provide greater predictability in concluding enforcement actions.

Advisory Opinion Hearings

First, we propose that the Commission supplement existing advisory opinion procedures
by instituting live hearings. With thirty years of existing advisory opinions already in place, we
believe the trend in advisory opinion requests has been and will continue to be toward more
complicated and technical questions, and away from some of the relatively straightforward
questions submitted to the Commission in the past.

! These comments are submitted on behalf of the undersigned attorneys, and do not necessarily represent the
opinions or perspectives of other Caplin & Drysdale lawyers, some of whom are associating themselves with
comrments filed separately.
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Accordingly, in our experience, the dialogue between counsel for a requestor and the
Office of General Counsel (“OGC”) has been substantive and productive, but by its nature also
limited. We have found it enormously helpful to discuss novel or difficult issues with OGC. And
while we do not doubt that OGC fairly passes along the thrust of these discussions to
Commission members, we believe it could only be helpful for Commissioners to be able to
discuss an Advisory Opinion Request (and/or a draft or drafts of the opinion itself) directly and
candidly with the requestor.

The advisory opinion hearings we envision (hereinafter “AOHs”) would therefore be
modeled closely after the probable cause hearlngs that the Commission recently incorporated
into its administrative enforcement process.” Like probable cause hearings, the proposed AOHs
would complement and enhance existing procedures, not replace them. As such, the entirety of
the advisory opinion process as it currently exists would still be followed, but the Commission
would have a discretionary opportunity to discuss issues of its choosing on the record with the
requestor and commentors of the Commission’s choosing.

~Specifically, we envision that a requestor would ask the Comimission for an AOH as pait
of a written adv1sory opinion request, or as part of a comment filed in response to a draft opinion
from OGC.> The Commission would determine whether to grant an AOH request and would
determine the content and format of the hearing in its sole discretion. We would expect that
these hearings, once granted, would typically be held at the draft stage such that any fact-
gathering would already be complete before the hearing is held.

AOH requestors, like enforcement respondents, would be limited to presenting arguments
on issues already addressed in a written submission — either the request itself, a factual response
to OGC, or a comment on an OGC draft. As we envision it, Commissioners, the Commission’s
General Counsel (or her designees), and the Commission’s Staff Director (or designees) would
also have the opportunity to pose questions to and engage in discussion with the AOH requestor
and/or any commentors which the Commission has allowed to appear at the hearing.* The
Commission would make transcripts of AOH proceedings and subsequently disclose them to the
public for written comment by 1nterested parties, as is done currently with advisory opinion
requests and written comments.”

These AOHs, as we describe them, would be consistent with existing law. Neither the
Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended (“FECA”), nor its legislative history
suggests that the advisory opinion process must be exclusively undertaken i 1n writing. FECA
only requires that certain steps (requests,’ comments by interested persons,’ and opinions issued

2 Fed. Election Comm’n, Procedural Rules Sfor Probable Cause Hearings, 72 Fed. Reg. 64919 (Nov. 19, 2007).

3 In other words, only the requestor of a given advisory opinion would be able to request a hearing as part of the AO
process, but when and if an AO requestor has requested a hearing, anyone who files a comment on that AO could
likewise request to appear at the AOH. The Commission would have the sole discretion to allow or deny any or all
commentors to appear at the hearing,

* For due process reasons, we believe that a client on whose behalf an attorney requested an advisory opinion could
not be compelled to attend or appear at such an AOH, and could authorize counsel to appear instead.

11 CFR. § 112.3(b).

$2U.S.C. § 437f(a)(1).

72 US.C. § 437f(d).






by the Commission®) in the advisory opinion process be in writing, much the same way that
FECA only requires certain steps (e.g., complaints, notifications of complaint sent by the
Commission, and responses’) in the enforcement process to be in writing. FECA therefore
permits the Commission to add AOHs to the advisory opinion process, just as it permitted the
Commission to institute probable cause hearings as a new step in enforcement proceedings.

Furthermore, AOHs would allow the Commission to give clearer guidance to the
regulated community, and would allow that community to better understand the reasoning and
concerns underlying particular opinions or votes on opinions. As described in FECA’s
legislative history, the advisory opinion process was provided to help “elaborate the meaning of
basic provisions of the law” and “answer the residual questions created by unique circumstances
that can never be fully anticipated in drafting generally applicable rules.”'® Regulated persons
regularly look to the advisory opinion process as a means to better understand the law, simply in
an effort to comply with it. An optional, real-time dialogue between the Commission and
requestors (and selected commentors who have filed written comments) would help everyone
concerned better understand the nature and context of any given advisory opinion request and
ensufe that the Commission has fully corsidered all related issues béfore exercising judgment.

In sum, we have found great value in our dialogue with Office of General Counsel staff
about advisory opinion requests, and we understand the value for the Commission itself in
having these discussions with OGC both before and during the public hearing in which AO
drafts are approved or sent back for revisions. The proposed AOH proceeding would build on
these practices by combining them, but not replacing them, in a formalized process that
maintains the open, on-the-record nature of the advisory opinion process already set out in
FECA.

Post-Determination Notification Procedure

Second, we propose that the Commission provide greater predictability with regard to
concluding enforcement actions, specifically with respect to publicizing conciliation agreements
and notifying enforcement-matter respondents.

Under current rules, the Commission may publicize a conciliation agreement
immediately after it is “finalized.”'’ An agreement is finalized when “signed by the respondent
and by the General Counsel upon approval by the affirmative vote of four (4) members of the
Commission.”'? Because the Commission usually performs its agreement-finalization role after
the respondent signs, the respondent, in our experience, is typically uncertain as to whether the
Commission has approved an agreement and as to when the Commission will publicize the
agreement.

82 U.S.C. § 437f(a)(1).

?2U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1).

1% Statement of Wayne L. Hays, Chairman of the Cmtee. on House Admin., Cong. Rec. H 3777 at 60 (May 3, 1976).
"'11 CF.R. § 111.20(b).

211 CFR. § 111.18(b).





The leadership and staff of OGC are typically very collegial about providing a courtesy
notice to counsel for respondents about when a conciliation agreement is scheduled to be taken
up by the Commission and whether the Commission approved or disapproved a given proposal.
Occasionally, however, OGC counsel may not send out these courtesy notifications, and
respondents are consequently left wondering whether or when their enforcement matter will be
concluded and when the outcome will be made public.

We suggest that the Commission adopt a formal policy to always notify enforcement-
matter respondents before conciliation agreements are made public.”> MUR respondents
typically have close political supporters, customers, investors or other stakeholders that have
‘invested time, effort, and funds in the respondent. Since the MUR process is confidential,
particularly for RAD referrals or other internally generated matters, formalized advance notice
from the Commission would allow respondents to avoid having these supporters and
stakeholders learn about the existence of an enforcement matter through the media.

Sincerely,

Joseph M. Matthew T. Sanderson

Stacy Cline Kristy Tsadick

P11 CF.R. § 111.18(e) currently requires notification to be sent, but does not specify that the notification must be
sent before the Commission publicizes the agreement.
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December 19, 2008

Federal Election Commission

c/o Stephen Gura, Deputy Associate General Counsel
c/o Mark Shonkwiler, Assistant General Counsel
Washington, D. C.

AgencyPro2008@fec.gov

Re: Comments of the James Madison Center for Free Speech on
Federal Election Commission Notice 2008-13: Agency Procedures

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Please accept for your consideration the following comments on Federal
Election Commission (“FEC”) procedures.

When the FEC seeks public comment, it usually asks about what the FEC is
doing rather than how the FEC is doing it. Notice 2008-13 is different in this respect.
While the “what” and the “how” do overlap, because substance often overlaps with
procedure, that does not make the FEC’s seeking comment on procedure any less
praiseworthy. It is good that the FEC is receiving — and is open to — suggestions
about how the federal government regulates activity that is at the core of what the
First Amendment protects.

These comments begin with general suggestions about how the federal
government should enforce the Federal Election Campaign Act,2 U.S.C. § 431 et segq.
(“FECA”), and then address categories of questions in Notice 2008-13. Overall, these
comments suggest that the FEC should respect first principles under the Constitution.

Congress shall wmake no law vespecting an establishment of veligion, or probibiting the free exercise
thereof, or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or of the right of the people peaceably to

assemble, and to petition the Government for vedvess of grievances.

1 SOUTH SIXTH STREET, TERRE HAUTE, IND. 47807-3510 @ (812)232-2434 vOICE ® (812)235-3685 FAX
WWW.JAMESMADISONCENTER.ORG ® MADISONCENTER@AOL.COM
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Among these principles are the boundaries around the limited power the federal
government has to regulate political speech. Respecting these boundaries means in
part that the FEC should conduct itself not as a prosecutor seeking a conviction but
as an investigator who seeks the truth, i.e., someone who dispassionately seeks the
facts and dispassionately applies the law to the facts.

Response Time

Before turning to first principles, one aspect of FEC procedures worth
considering is the Notice 2008-13 response deadline. Subscribers to the FEC’s e-mail
notification system received the Notice on Thursday, December 4, 2008; the Feederal
Register published the Notice on Monday, December 8, 2008, 73 FED. REG. 74494
(2008); and the deadline for responses is Monday, January 5, 2009.! While the
response time is about a month, Hanukkah begins on Sunday, December 21;
Christmas Eve and Christmas Day are on Wednesday and Thursday, December 24
and 25; and New Year’s Eve and Day are on Wednesday, December 31, and
Thursday, January 1. Many families have longstanding plans during this time, which
commissioners must know, because in the past many commissioners have closed their
own offices during the Christmas and New Year’s weeks. Thus, the deadline means
many people will have to finish their comments by Friday, December 19, or perhaps
a few days later, which leaves only two weeks of response time. The FEC could have
addressed these issues at any time, and if it wanted to address them at the beginning
of an election cycle, see Bob Bauer, FEC Hearing: A New Year’s Resolution (Dec.
16, 2008),” it could have released the Notice earlier or set a later deadline. In effect
allowing only two weeks for public input on such a notice is not adequate.

First Principles

When the FEC considers its own procedures, it should recall that campaign-
finance laws regulate speech that is at the heart of a society with a republican —i.e,,

'See Notice 2008-13: Agency Procedures at 1 (Undated) (“Notice™),
available at http://www.fec.gov/law/policy/enforcement/fec2008-13.pdf (all
Internet sites visited Dec. 16, 2008).

2Available at http://moresoftmonevhardlaw.com/updates/enforcement.html.
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a democratically elected representative — government. Thus, it is useful to back up
and recall the underlying principles, including the First Amendment. See FEC v.
Wisconsin Right to Life, Inc., 551 U.S.  , 127 S.Ct. 2652, 2674 (2007)
(“WRTLII"”) (“Yet, as 1s often the case in this Court’s First Amendment opinions, we
have gotten this far in the analysis without quoting the Amendment itself: ‘Congress
shall make no law ... abridging the freedom of speech.” The Framers’ actual words
put the[] cases in proper perspective. Our jurisprudence ... has rejected an absolutist
interpretation of those words, but ... it is worth recalling the language we are
applying.”). Even before the First Amendment come the separation of powers, see,
e.g., Morrison v. Olson, 487 U.S. 654, 697-99 (1988) (Scalia, J., dissenting), and the
limited and enumerated powers of the federal government. See, e.g., U.S. CONST. art.
I, § 8 (1787);id. amend. X (1791); McCulloch v. Maryland, 17 U.S. (4 Wheat.) 316
(1819). Even before these principles comes “the struggle of the Anglo-American
people to (a) establish themselves as sovereign and (b) curb the power of government
officials to prevent the people from criticizing official actions.” WRTL II, No. 06-969
& 06-970, Appellee’s Br. at 1 (U.S. March 22, 2007).> Centuries of history are
replete with ill begotten efforts to suppress political speech. See id. at 1-8.

Even today when some people advocate campaign-finance laws, they appear
to presume government has the power to regulate political speech however it likes,
unless speakers can somehow swimto some small island where they are safe from the
ocean of government power. In the United States, this presumption has it exactly
backwards. The framers established a government with the consent of the governed,
see, e.g., U.S. CONST. preamble (1787) (“We the people of the United States™), and
government has only those powers that the governed surrendered to it in the first
place. In some instances, those powers may be large. Nevertheless, they are limited
and enumerated.

Extraordinary conditions may call for extraordinary remedies. But the
argument necessarily stops short of an attempt to justify action which
lies outside the sphere of constitutional authority. Extraordinary
conditions do not create or enlarge constitutional power. The
Constitution established a national government with powers deemed to

*Available at
http://jamesmadisoncenter.org/W1/BriefforAppellee032207.pdf.
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be adequate, as they have proved to be both in war and peace, but these
powers of the national government are limited by the constitutional
grants. Those who act under these grants are not at liberty to transcend
the imposed limits because they believe that more or different power is
necessary. Such assertions of extra-constitutional authority were
anticipated and precluded by the explicit terms ofthe Tenth Amendment
— “The powers not delegated to the United States by the Constitution,
nor prohibited by it to the States, are reserved to the States respectively,
or to the people.”

A.L.A. Schechter Poultry Corp. v. United States, 295 U.S. 495, 528-29 (1935)
(footnote omitted) (citing Ex parte Milligan, 71 U.S. (4 Wall.) 2, 120, 121 (1866);
Home Building & Loan Ass’n v. Blaisdell, 290 U.S. 398, 426 (1934)). Whatever
government does, it may not exceed the power that the people have delegated to it.
These powers are further constrained by other law, including the First Amendment,
which provides:

Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion, or
prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech,
or of the press; of the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to
petition the Government for a redress of grievances.

U.S. CONST. amend. I (1791).

Political speech is at the core of what the First Amendment protects. See FEC
v. Colorado Republican Fed. Campaign Comm., 518 U.S. 604, 616 (1996)

(“Colorado Republican 1) (citing Eu v. San Francisco County Democratic Cent.
Comm., 489 U.S. 214, 231 (1989)); Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 44-45 (1976).*

*A government that takes away the core of what the First Amendment
protects leaves the periphery: Wearing profane jackets, FEC v. Colorado
Republican Fed. Campaign Comm., 533 U.S. 431, 466 (2001) (“Colorado
Republican 11’) (Thomas, J., dissenting) (collecting cases), “making false
defamatory statements, filing lawsuits, dancing nude, exhibiting drive-in movies
with nudity, burning flags, and wearing military uniforms[, plus] begging,
shouting obscenities, erecting tables on a sidewalk, and refusing to wear a

COMMENTS ON FEC NoTICE 2008-13
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Discussion of public issues and debate on the qualifications of
candidates are integral to the operation of the system of government
established by our Constitution. The First Amendment affords the
broadest protection to such political expression in order “to assure the
unfettered interchange of ideas for the bringing about of political and
social changes desired by the people.” Roth v. United States, 354 U.S.
476, 484 (1957). Although First Amendment protections are not
confined to “the exposition of ideas,” Winters v. New York, 333 U.S.
507, 510 (1948), “there is practically universal agreement that a major
purpose of that Amendment was to protect the free discussion of
governmental affairs of course including discussions of candidates.”
Mills v. Alabama, 384 U.S.214, 218 (1966). This no more than reflects
our “profound national commitment to the principle that debate on
public issues should be uninhibited, robust, and wide-open,” New York
Times Co. v. Sullivan, 376 U.S.254,270 (1964). In arepublic where the
people are sovereign, the ability of the citizenry to make informed
choices among candidates for office is essential, for the identities of
those who are elected will inevitably shape the course that we follow as
anation. As the Court observed in Monitor Patriot Co. v. Roy, 401 U.S.
265, 272 (1971), “it can hardly be doubted that the constitutional
guarantee has its fullest and most urgent application precisely to the
conduct of campaigns for political office.”

Buckley, 424 U.S. at 14-15 (brackets and ellipsis omitted), quoted in WRTL 11, 127
S.Ct. at 2665. Thus, it is not surprising that “where the First Amendment is
implicated, the tie [if there is one] goes to the speaker, not the censor.” WRTL 11, 127
S.Ct. at 2669. “[W]e give the benefit of the doubt to speech, not censorship.” Id. at
2674.

FEC procedures should be faithful to these principles. They have not always
been. Instead, the FEC frequently seeks to expand regulation and expand its turf.

necktie.” Nixon v. Shrink Mo. Gov’t PAC, 528 U.S. 377,412 (2000) (Thomas, J.,
dissenting) (collecting cases); see also McConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93, 265
(2003) (Thomas, J., dissenting) (referring to “defamers, nude dancers,
pornographers, flag burners, and cross burners” (internal citations omitted)).

COMMENTS ON FEC NoTICE 2008-13
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The FEC conducts itself more as a prosecutor seeking a conviction than as an
investigator who seeks the truth, i.e., someone who dispassionately seeks the facts
and dispassionately applies the law to the facts. But for court decisions such as
WRTL Il and Davis v. FEC, 554 U.S. _ , 128 S.Ct. 2759 (2008), FEC regulation
may well be a one-way ratchet. Consider examples of how this has occurred:

® The FEC continually asserts that precedent constraining its power applies
only in the jurisdiction where the precedent arose, see, e.g., Virginia Soc’y for Human
Life, Inc. v. FEC, 263 F.3d 379, 392-93 (4th Cir. 2001), yet when precedent expands
the FEC’s power, the FEC applies the precedent nationwide, expands it, see, e.g.,
Express Advocacy, Independent Expenditures, Corporate and Labor Organization,
60 FED. REG. 35292, 35294-95 (1995) (enacting 11 C.F.R. § 100.22(b) by expanding
FEC v. Furgatch, 807 F.2d 857, 863-64 (9th Cir. 1987))), and declines to rein in
regulation when the precedent erodes. Compare California Pro-Life Council, Inc. v.
Getman, 328 F.3d 1088, 1098 (9th Cir. 2003) (holding that under Furgatch, “express
advocacy must contain some explicit words of advocacy”) with In re Sierra Club,
Matter Under Review (“MUR™) 5634, First Gen. Counsel’s Report (“GCR) at11-13
(Aug. 10, 2005) (asserting that under Section 100.22(b), the phrase “LET YOUR
CONSCIENCE BE YOUR GUIDE and LET YOUR VOTE BE YOUR VOICE” is
express advocacy),” id., Factual & Legal Analysis (“F&LA”) at 5-6 (Sept. 22, 2005)
(same),’ and id., Certification (Sept. 20, 2005).” The FEC cannot have it both ways
and should not try to.

® The FEC asserted in McConnell that the plaintiffs could assert no as-applied
challenge, because McConnell was a facial challenge. Then in Wisconsin Right to
Life, Inc. v. FEC, 546 U.S. 410 (2006) (“WRTL I’), which was an as-applied
challenge, the FEC asserted no as-applied challenge was possible. The FEC should
not engage in what Chief Justice John Roberts called a “a classic bait and switch.”

>Available at http://egs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/00005805.pdf.

®Available at http://eqs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/00005807.pdf.

"Available at http://egs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/00005806.pdf.
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WRTL II, Appellee’s Br. at 39 n.51 (citation omitted).® Similarly, in WRTL I and 1],
the FEC asserted before the election in question that the plaintiff’s claims were not
ripe and that afterward they were moot.

® In WRTL II, the FEC burdened the plaintiff with extensive discovery, which
in effect —and perhaps in some quarters intentionally — discourages challenges to the
law. Then came the astonishing assertion that a plaintiff has the burden of proof in
an as-applied constitutional challenge. The FEC was wrong on both counts, see 127
S.Ct. at 2664 (citing First Nat’l Bank of Boston v. Bellotti, 435 U.S. 765,786 (1978));
id. at 2666 n.5, just as it was when it audaciously called the plaintiff’s efforts to
engage in political speech an “abuse.” WRTL II, FEC Reply Br. at 20 (April [no
date], 2007).°

® When a rule of law is not in FECA or in chapter 95 or 96 of Title 26, the
FEC may establish it only through rulemaking. 2 U.S.C. § 437f(b) (1986) (citing 2
U.S.C.§438(d)(2002)). Only statutes, FEC regulations, id., and court decisions such
as WRTL Il establish rules of law. Thus, the FEC may not rely on its own precedent
—e.g., MURs, GCRs, F&LAs, statements of reasons (“SORs”), statements for the
record, settlements, or advisory opinions (“AQOs”) — to establish rules of law. See id.
Although the FEC does rely on its own precedent for points of law, sometimes instead
of statutes, regulations, or court decisions, compare 11 C.F.R. § 9035.1(d) (2003)
(stating that spending limits on presidential campaigns do not apply when a candidate
does notreceive government money during the matching-payment period) with Letter
of FEC chairman to John McCain 2008, Inc. at 1 (Feb. 19, 2008) (relying on an AO
to assert that a presidential campaign may withdraw from the government-financing
system, which includes the spending limits, when the candidate has not received
government money or pledged the certification of such money as security),'” statutes,

*Available at
http://jamesmadisoncenter.org/WI/BriefforAppellee032207.pdf.

’Available at http://jamesmadisoncenter.org/WI/FECreply.pdf.

"“Available at available at
http://www.fec.gov/press/press2008/FECtoMcCain.PDF.
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regulations, and court decisions are what provide notice to the public of what the law
1s. Under FECA, nothing else suffices. See 2 U.S.C. § 4371(b).

Commissioner Bradley Smith wrote in one matter that when parties and
candidates are not on notice of the FEC’s understanding of statutes and regulations,
the FEC is without basis to pursue them. The public simply has “no fair warning of
[c]ommission enforcement policy in such matters and traditional concepts of due
process preclude ... penalties.” In re Rhode Island Republican State Cent. Comm.,
MUR 5369, SOR at 5 (Aug. 15,2003)."" To state the point generally, when the public
has insufficient notice of the law, government may not enforce it. See id.

Thus, what is even worse than the FEC’s relying on its own precedent, see 2
U.S.C. § 437f(b), is when the FEC expands enforcement in a way inconsistent with
its own precedent. See, e.g., In re The Media Fund, MUR 5440, Resp. to the Br. of
the Gen. Counsel in MUR 5440 on behalf of the Media Fund at 19-22 (Jan. 12,
2007);"* In re Swiftboat Veterans and POWs for Truth, MURs 5511 & 5525,
Conciliation Agreement at 11-14 (Dec. 11,2006);" id., Certification (Dec. 8,2006)."

Just as bad is when the FEC retroactively applies law imposing greater
restrictions on political speech. The FEC should never do this. See In re Graf for
Congress, MUR 5526, SOR at 3 n.8 (Nov. 27, 2006) (collecting authorities)."
Nevertheless, the FEC has done so. See, e.g., Media Fund, Resp. at 4-10; Swiftboat
Veterans, Conciliation Agreement at 9-11."

" Available at http://eqgs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/000001 A1.pdf.

2 Available at http://egs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/00006687.pdf.

B Available at http://egs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/00005900.pdf

“Available at http://egs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/000058FB.pdf.

Y Available at http://eqgs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/0000588D.pdf.

“In 2003, the FEC assessed a hefty fine against a respondent via a
settlement. Not until the FEC released a subsequent matter in 2004 did it become
clear that the fine resulted from (1) referring to the “tenor” of the statutory and
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On these and other points, both the commissioners and the able team of lawyers
in the office of general counsel (“OGC”) can help by making sure OGC lawyers
function less like prosecutors seeking a conviction and more like dispassionate
investigators who seek the facts and apply the law to the facts. That is, OGC should
be less inclined toward expanding regulation and more inclined toward harmonizing
first principles with the duty to defend FECA and FEC regulations. See, e.g.,
Political Committee Status, 72 FED. REG. 5595, 5597 (2007) (noting that under the
major-purposetest, the phrase “campaign activity” means “the nomination or election
of a [f]ederal candidate™). After all, “the activities that the FEC seeks to investigate
differ profoundly in terms of constitutional significance from the activities that are
generally the subject of investigation by other federal agencies. The sole purpose of
the FEC 1s to regulate activities involving political expression, the same activities that
are the primary object of the [F]irst [A]Jmendment’s protection.” FEC v. Florida for

regulatory personal-funds definitions and (2) reading the phrase “by the
candidate” into the definitions in effect during the alleged violation. In re Robert,
MUR 5321, SOR at 4 & n.5 (July 13, 2004), available at
http://egs.sdrdc.com/eqsdocs/00001791.pdf. This was wrong, because it referred
to the “tenor” rather than the text of the law. It was also wrong, because the
alleged violation occurred in 2000, id. at 2, yet the statute and regulation did not
include the phrase “by the candidate” until 2002 and 2003, respectively. Id. at4 &
nn.5-6 (quoting 2 U.S.C. § 431(26)(B)(v1) (2002) (referring to “gifts of a personal
nature that had been customarily received by the candidate prior to the beginning
of the election cycle”)); 11 C.F.R. § 100.33(b)(6) (2003) (“Gifts of a personal
nature that had been customarily received by the candidate prior to the beginning
of the election cycle”)). Suggesting that the concept “by the candidate” was
already in the law, id. at 4 n.6, cannot be correct, because it renders the
amendments meaningless. Thus, the fine resulted from retroactive application of
the new definitions, see id. at 4 & n.5, which was erroneous. See Graf, SOR at 3
n.8 (collecting authorities).

Moreover, adding the phrase “by the candidate” to the personal-funds
definition was a mistake, because it narrowed the definition of “personal funds.”
See, e.g., Robert, SOR at 2 (July 27, 2004), available at
http://egs.sdrdc.com/eqsdocs/00001792.pdf. The FEC should urge Congress to
amend the statute to remove this phrase.
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Kennedy Comm., 681 F.2d 1281, 1285 (11th Cir. 1982); see also FEC v. Machinists
Non-Partisan Political League, 655 F.2d 380, 387 (D.C. Cir. 1981) (holding that
enforcement efforts of agencies charged with regulating free speech require “extra
careful scrutiny from the court”).

Follow the Law

The corollary to the principle that FEC procedures must respect first principles
is that they must be faithful to FECA and the case law. For this to happen — and for
the FEC to function less like a prosecutor seeking a conviction and more like a
dispassionate investigator who seeks the truth—commissioners themselves should not
only follow the law but also show by their actions that they follow the law.

They can start by calling a halt to the bragging about the fines the FEC collects.
See, e.g., FEC Annual Report 2006 at .pdf page 6 (June 30, 2007)."” The measure of
the FEC’s success is the extent to which it follows the law, not how much it collects
in fines. Following the law means not only pursuing those who violate the law but
also not pursuing those who do not."

Moreover, following the law means basing analyses on the original
understanding of the law itself, see 2 U.S.C. 437g (2002); ¢f. THE FEDERALIST No.
78 (Alexander Hamilton),"” and not on what someone thinks the law should be,
compare In re Lockheed Martin Employees’ PAC, MUR 5721, SOR at 5 (July 27,
2006) (attempting to limit the best-efforts affirmative defense/safe harbor to
information about a contributor’s occupation and employer)* with 2 U.S.C. 432(i)
(2004) (containing no such limit) and Lovely v. FEC, 307 F. Supp.2d 294, 299 (D.
Mass. 2004) (previously holding that “donor information” is only “one illustration of
the application of this test” (brackets and citation omitted)), or on rules from other
fields of law. See, e.g., In re Gun Owners of Am., Inc., MUR 5874, SOR at 3 (Nov.

Y Available at http://www.fec.gov/pdf/ar06.pdf.

'8See supra at 2-9.
¥See supra at 2-9.

2 Available at http://eqs.sdrdc.com/eqsdocs/0000565D.pdf.
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15, 2007) (conceding that “the rule of lenity” is for criminal law but applying it to
civil enforcement).”’ Nor should the FEC base analyses on negotiation among
commissioners, which can descend into horse trading, see, e.g., Tr. of FEC Open
Session at 23:24-24:5 (Oct. 23, 2008);** Audio File of FEC Open Session (Oct. 23,
2008),” or on multifactor balancing tests that no one could have anticipated and
which can descend into — and at best are little more than — result-oriented reasoning.
See, e.g., In re Kirk Shelmerdine Racing LLC, MUR 5563, SOR at 1-2 (Oct. 16,
2006).*

To see the confusion that arises when the FEC does not follow the law,
consider a recent episode. When FECA bans federal candidates and officeholders
from soliciting nonfederal money’ in connection with nonfederal elections, 2 U.S.C.
§ 441i(e)(1)(B) (2002),>° and clarifies that such candidates and officeholder may still
“attend, speak, or be a featured guest” at a state-, district-, or local-political-party
fundraiser, id. § (e)(3), the clarification cannot mean, as a regulation and an AO
concurrence assert, that such candidates and officeholders “may speak at such events
without restriction or regulation.” 11 C.F.R. § 300.64(b) (2002); AO 2007-11 at 2-3
(California State Party Comms.) (Aug. 3, 2007) (concurrence).”” Whether federal

A Available at http://eqgs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/000067AA .pdf.

2Exh. 1.

¥ Available at http://www.fec.gov/audio/2008/20081023 02.mp3

2 Available at http://eqs.sdrdc.com/eqsdocs/00005877.pdf.

*Nonfederal money is money not subject to FECA limits and bans. 11
C.F.R. § 300.2(k) (2002).

2*Under FECA, election means an election for office, not a ballot measure.
See 11 C.F.R. § 100.2 (1980).

*’FEC AOs and related documents are at the search page
http://saos.nictusa.com/saos/searchao. The FEC should revise its website so that
the URL for an AO or related document brings up the AO or related document.
As of this submission, the URL brings up the search page.
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laws such as Section 441i(e)(1)(B) are “unambiguously related to the campaign of a
particular federal candidate” and are constitutional, Buckley, 424 U.S. at 80; North
Carolina Right to Life, Inc. v. Leake, 525 F.3d 274,281 (4th Cir. 2008) (“NCRL III),
1s of course an entirely different matter. Yet absent intervening authority such as an
injunction or a statutory exception, the FEC is without authority to allow what
Section 441i(e)(1)(B) prohibits. See Shays v. FEC, 528 F.3d 914, 933-34 (D.C. Cir.
2008); c¢f- 2 U.S.C. 437c(b)(1) (1997).

Confusion about Section 441i(e)(1)(B) is understandable given the confusing
AOs on this subject. See AO 2003-03 at 2-9 (Cantor) (April 29, 2003); AO 2003-36
at 2-8 (Republican Governors Ass’n) (Jan. 12, 2004); AO 2003-37 at 16-19
(Americans for a Better Country) (Feb. 19,2004). They are confusing in partbecause
they are not clearly written, which leads to the next suggestion regarding FEC
procedures.

Write Clearly

When one needs to read something multiple times to understand it, or when
something is unclear even after multiple readings, see, e.g., In re Tenafly Democratic
Campaign 2004, MUR 5619, SOR at 3-9 (Dec. 7, 2005),*® something is amiss. Clear
writing is not difficult, yet it does require clear thinking. While FECA’s complexity
can make this a challenge, it is doable. The FEC should not expect the public to
understand what it does not write clearly.

Short sentences and active voice are a good way to start. Avoiding redundancy
i1s another. There is no need to refer to “a deponent’s sworn testimony at an
enforcement deposition ... ,”* because what one says at a deposition is always sworn
and 1s always testimony. Besides, where would a deponent speak other than at a
deposition? See also 11 C.F.R. § 104.20(c)(7)-(8) (2007) (saying “donor who
donated” three times). Moreover, there is no need for silver-dollar words when dime

28 Available at http://eqs.sdrdc.com/eqsdocs/00004D22.pdf.

Notice at 8.
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or nickel words will do. Why say limitation® prohibition,”' advertisement,
practicable, prioritization,” methodology,” or funds** when limit, ban, ad, practical,
prioritizing, method, or money suffice? The FEC once used the phrase at a point in
time immediately prior to. What was wrong with before or just before? Why use
eight words when one or two suffice? And why not avoid double he/she, his/her, and
him/her pronouns, which are cumbersome and unnecessary? Either write them out
of the sentence or make the noun plural. Consider how much better this paragraph
1s without the dead wood:

When [c]Jommission attorneys take a deponent’ssworntestimony-atan
enforeement deposition authortzedbyunder section 437d(a)(4), only the

deponent and hts—or-her-the deponent’s counsel may attend. Under
historical practice, the deponent had the right to review and sign the

transcript; but normally adeponent-wasnotattowed-toobtainrcould not
have a copy of, or take notes on, htsorherown-the transcript until the

fﬁvesﬁgaﬁeﬂ—w&s—eemp}ete—z—e—aﬁer—all depositions-had-been-taken

were complete.*’

Or consider the introduction in the Notice:

SUMMARY: The Federal Election Commission is announcing a public
hearing on the-FEC policies and procedures, oftheFederatFElectron
Commisstorrincluding but not limited to, policy statements, advisory

opinions, and public information, as-wetras-varrousetements-and parts
of the compliance and enforcement processes such as audits, matters

YF.g., id. at 5.

'E.g., id.

*E.g., id. at 14,
SEg. id at 16.
“Eg. id at5, 16, 19.
*Id. at 8.
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under review, report analysis, administrative fines, and alternative[-]
dispute resolution. The [c]lommission also seeks comment from—the
publte-on the-procedures contammed-in the Federal Election Campaign
Act of 1971, asamended;2 U.S.C. 431 et. seq. (“FECA-or*“theAct?),

arweﬂ-as—&re—Gomnnmr&nnp-}emenﬂﬁg-and FEC regulations.

DATES: Comments must be received emrorbefore-by January 5, 2009. ...

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Background and Hearing Goals

The [c]Jommission is eurrentlyreviewing, and seeks public-comment on,
its policies, practices and procedures. The [c]Jommission will use the
comments recetvedto determine whether ttsto adjust policies, practices
or procedures shouldbeadjusted, andfor whetherconduct a rulemaking
tnrthis-areats-advised.’

None of this is mere semantics. It impacts the law. For example, one of the
WRTL II regulations says in unnecessarily complicated language that the FEC will
consider whether acommunication has “indicia of express advocacy” and whether the
communication passes the appeal-to-vote test to determine whether the
communication passes the appeal-to-vote test. In other words, the FEC will consider
whether A is true and B is true to determine whether B is true. See 11 C.F.R. §
114.15(c) (2007). Quite apart from the overall merits of this WRTL Il regulation and
other law, see generally Real Truth About Obama, Inc. v. FEC, No. 08-cv-483 (E.D.
Va.), appeal docketed, No. 08-1977 (4th Cir. Sept. 16, 2008),” this makes no sense.
This is a problem that considering a clearly written version of the regulation may well
have revealed.

Such poor writing leads to unclear boundaries around government authority,
which leads to expansion of regulation and exacerbates the FEC’s tendency to
conduct itself as a prosecutor seeking a conviction rather than as an investigator

Id. at 1-2.

*Filings from this action are at
http://jamesmadisoncenter.org/ObamavFEC/Index.html.
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dispassionately seeking the truth. Moreover, vague law is especially dangerous when
it regulates political speech. When government seeks to regulate something “so
closely touching our most precious freedoms,” regulations must be precise. Buckley,
424 U.S. at 41 (quoting NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 438 (1963)). Vague laws
threaten to “trap the innocent by not providing fair warning,” they give reign to
“arbitrary and discriminatory application,” and they force citizens to ‘““steer far wider
of the unlawful zone than if the boundaries of the forbidden areas were clearly
marked.” Id. at 41 n.48 (quoting Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108-09
(1972)). A vague law “puts the speaker in these circumstances wholly at the mercy
of the varied understanding of his hearers and consequently of whatever inference
may be drawn as to his intent and meaning. [This] blankets with uncertainty
whatever may be said. It compels the speaker to hedge and trim[,]” id. at 43 (quoting
Thomasv. Collins, 323 U.S.516, 535 (1945)), and increases the risk that government
will violate the Supreme Court’s command to assess political speech based only on
its substance, WRTL II, 127 S.Ct. at 2666 (citing Buckley, 424 U.S. at 43-44), and not
on such factors as intent, id. at 2665-66, effect, id. at 2665, 2666 & n.5, impact on an
election, id. at 2667-68, what the speaker does not say, see id. at 2668, what the
speaker said elsewhere, id., timing, id.; see also Media Fund, Tr. of Probable Cause
Hr’g at 35-37 (rejecting a commissioner’s longstanding suggestion that timing
determines whether “Boot Newt” is express advocacy),” or references to other
sources, including sources the speaker prepared. WRTL I, 127 S.Ct. at 2669.

Vague laws compel speakers to hedge and trim in part because speakers fear
FEC enforcement, a danger that is all the greater because “the substantial majority of
the complaints filed with the [cJommission are filed by political opponents of [the]
respondents. These complaints are usually filed as much to harass, annoy, chill, and
dissuade their opponents from speaking as to vindicate any public interest in
preventing ‘corruption or the appearance of corruption.”” In re The Coalition, MUR
4624, Statement for the Record at 2 (Nov. 6, 2001) (quoting Buckley, 424 U.S. at
25).* Even when respondents prevail, complainants may consider their endeavor a
success when it has “forced their political opponents to spend hundreds of thousands,
if not millions of dollars in legal fees, and to devote countless hours of staff,

38 Available at http://eqgs.nictusa.com/eqsdocs/0000668A .pdf.

3 Available at http://eqs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/0000018E.pdf.
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candidate, and executive time to responding to discovery and handling legal matters.”
Id. The “huge costs” of the investigation “will discourage similar participation by
these and other groups in the future.” Id.

Enforcement: Motions*

The Notice asks what motions the FEC should consider, how it should consider
them, and what it should require of movants. Considering motions will expose
commissioners, their staffs, and OGC to the perspective of respondents and thereby
enable the FEC to function less as a prosecutor seeking a conviction and more as an
investigator dispassionately seeking the truth. Whatever motions the FEC considers,
it should consider motions to dismiss, motions to reconsider, and motions to find no
reason to believe a violation has occurred (“RTB”) — whether they are based on the
Constitution, a statute, or a regulation — and set the motions for hearing when a
respondent requests a hearing and four commissioners agree. There may also be
occasions when commissioners or OGC will want to ask a respondent to appear.
Respondents, especially those not from Washington or whose counsel is not from
Washington, should be able to attend by telephone.

As for other questions in the Notice, it is unnecessary to require service of
motions on the general counsel or commission secretary. Respondents should submit
motions as they submit other items, and forward copies to others, including
commissioners, at respondents’ discretion. Nor is it necessary to toll the statute of
limitations, because the analysis that goes into considering a motion to dismiss,
reconsider, or find no RTB —e.g., does the complaint state a violation of law? do the
facts reveal that a respondent violated the law? — is analysis the FEC should do or
should already have done anyway. If the FEC has not done this analysis already, then
it may have been conducting itself as a prosecutor seeking a conviction rather than
as an investigator dispassionately seeking the truth.

Commissioners should consider motions to dismiss, reconsider, or find no RTB
as soon as possible because there is no need to devote (further) resources of the FEC
or respondents to a matter, or parts of a matter, when the FEC may dismiss, or find
no RTB as to, all or part of a matter. Delay in addressing a motion to dismiss or

““Notice at 7.
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reconsider runs the risk of not only exposing respondents to unnecessary lawyers’
fees, but also of unnecessarily extending the personal turmoil that an allegation of
having violated the law, not to mention the investigation and the public release of
private documents, can cause. Being cleared at the end of the day may provide little
comfort to those whom the FEC has wrung through the enforcement process. For
them, the process is the punishment.

Enforcement: Deposition and Document Production Practices”’

During deposition and document production, the FEC should conduct itself,
again, as an investigator dispassionately seeking the truth and not as a prosecutor
seeking a conviction. It should focus on finding out what happened and whether the
facts establish a violation of law, rather than focusing on proving that a violation has
occurred. When the FEC does the latter rather than the former, it may well end up
pursuing matters where there is no violation.

Enforcement: Extensions of Time®*

The FEC should routinely grant extensions of time for responses to probable-
cause briefs. When the FEC can take weeks or months to prepare such a brief, an
extension of the 15 day deadline, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(3), is hardly too much to ask.
Instead of requiring a respondent to toll the statute of limitations, the FEC should
factor a reasonable extension into the weeks or months it takes to prepare the
probable-cause brief.

Enforcement: Appearance Before the Commission®
As with motions to dismiss and reconsider, the FEC should allow respondents

to appear before RTB findings, and committees to appear regarding audit reports,
when a respondent or committee requests a hearing and four commissioners agree.

MId at 7-11.
21d at 11.

“Id. at 11-12.
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There may also be occasions when commissioners or OGC will want to ask a
respondent or committee to appear. An appearance can help commissioners and their
staffs understand issues and is especially important given the enforcement nature of
an audit. Again, respondents and committees, especially those not from Washington
or whose counsel is not from Washington, should be able to attend by telephone.

Enforcement: Timeliness**

The Notice asks if the agency has too few staff. While OGC appears not to be
understaffed,” the offices of commissioners who regularly desire their lawyers’
thorough and candid advice — which has been true of most commissioners, to their
credit — may be understaffed. Each commissioner’s staff may include no more than
two lawyers, or one lawyer and one secretary, except that the chair and vice chair may
have an additional person. Under a recent change, however, there are two additional
positions: One each for the commissioners of each major party. Commissioners
should seek their staffs’ advice about whether this addition allows the lawyers to
advise commissioners fully.

As for commissioners’ offices, commissioners and their staffs should cease
their practice of regularly holding party caucuses before executive and open sessions.
This fosters an “us against them” environment on both sides and discourages cross-
party dialog. Commissioners have even held party huddles on the dais in the
commission hearing room during recesses from open sessions. When this happens,
the partisanship 1s not even subtle, and the FEC should not profess shock over
questions about partisanship and result-oriented reasoning.

“Id. at 14.

**On the subject of OGC staff, it is worth noting that, on occasion, OGC
staff members have left the commission hearing room suppressing tears from the
public berating they have just endured at the hands of a commissioner. Most
commissioners never do this, and none ever should.
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Enforcement: Priorities*

The Notice also asks whether the enforcement-priority system (“EPS”’) should
give lesser or greater priority to matters (1) requiring complex investigations or (2)
involving little consensus about the application of the law. Neither factor affects the
importance of matters. Complexity and importance are independent variables.
Moreover, as previously noted, only statutes, FEC regulations, see id. § 437(b), and
court decisions such as WRTL II establish rules of law. MURs do not. See id. Since
they do not establish rules of law, they cannot establish consensus about the
application of the law.

If the FEC seeks further input about the EPS, it should release the current
system to the public for comment. It is difficult for the public to answer the open-
ended questions in the Notice, or otherwise comment on the EPS, when the system
1s secret.

Enforcement: Memorandum of Understanding with the Justice Department’’

The FEC is the agency with the best understanding of FECA, so it should not
yield to the Justice Department any further than it already has.

Enforcement: Settlements and Penalties*®

The Notice is right that settlements and penalties should be “equitable and
appropriate.” Yet they have not always been. Just as the EPS is secret, so is the full
system the FEC uses to calculate penalties. The FEC should seek comment from the
public on such a system, adopt a system, and release it to the public. See id.
§ 437g(a)(4)(C)(1)(IT) (requiring that the FEC base civil penalties on “a schedule of
penalties” that it establishes and publishes). While the federal sentencing guidelines
are a good model, an FEC system need not be as complex. The Notice asks how

414 at 14-15.
Y1d. at 15.

*Id. at 15-16.
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much consistency the Constitution requires, yet in this respect, the Constitution is the
floor, not the ceiling. The FEC should do what is right, and the Constitution does not
require everything that is right.

Another issue on settlements is their value as precedent. Although their value
is zero, the FEC frequently cites them. The FEC should stop doing so. First,
settlements do not establish rules of law. See id. § 437f(b). Second, even if they did,
they would not be persuasive. Even respondents with meritorious defenses, including
constitutional defenses, have given up and settled, even after defending their First
Amendment rights all the way through to the probable-cause stage. Compare Media
Fund, Tr. of Probable Cause Hr'g (March 21, 2007)* with id., GCR # 8 (Nov. 2,
2007) (settlement) and id., Certification (Nov. 8, 2007).”" While only settling
respondents and their counsel may know the full reasons for settlement, in a sense it
may be understandable for any one respondent — even though it believes in its cause
and in the larger cause of free speech — to conclude, once the enforcement wringer
begins, that it is simply not worth the cost for the one respondent to carry on the fight.

This burden — in addition to highlighting the value of pre-enforcement
challenges in which plaintiffs assert they are chilled from exercising their First
Amendment rights, see, e.g., WRTL II, 127 S.Ct. at 2658-63°* — highlights an
omission in federal civil-rights law. Those who successfully bring constitutional
challenges — whether as plaintiffs or defendants — to law other than federal law may
recover fees and costs. See 42 U.S.C. § 1988 (2000). The FEC should advocate
amending federal law to allow those successfully challenging FECA or FEC
regulations — whether as plaintiffs or defendants — to recover fees and costs as well.

* Available at http://egs.nictusa.com/eqsdocs/0000668A.pdf.

4vailable at http://egs.sdrdc.com/eqsdocs/0000668F.pdf.

1 Available at http://egs.sdrdc.com/egsdocs/00006690.pdf.

**The term pre-enforcement applies before a law has been enforced. The
term chill is a subset of pre-enforcement and applies in the First Amendment
context before a law has even been violated. See, e.g., New Hampshire Right to
Life Political Action Comm. v. Gardner, 99 F.3d 8, 13-14 (1st Cir. 1996)
(“NHRLPAC”).
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Enforcement: Designating Respondents in a Complaint>

The FEC should not require that complainants designate respondents.
Requiring complainants to designate respondents would focus the FEC’s attention on
arespondent and thereby encourage the FEC to conduct itself as a prosecutor seeking
a conviction rather than as a dispassionate investigator seeking the truth. When the
FEC receives a complaint, it should seek to discern what happened and whether there
was a violation of law, keeping in mind that when a complaint does not state a
violation of law, the FEC should find no reason to believe a violation has occurred.
The FEC should not just dismiss the matter. See Policy Regarding Comm’n Action
in Matters at the Initial Stage in the Enforcement Process, 72 FED. REG. 12545,
12546 (2007).

Other Programs

To respond to two questions in the notice about other programs: Yes,
respondents should be able to request to be in the alternative-dispute resolution
(“ADR”) program. And no, it is not sufficiently clear to the public how the FEC
decides to audit particular committees, because this information, like the EPS and the
full civil-penalty schedule, is secret. It should not be.

AOs”’

To respond to several questions the Notice asks about AOs: Commenters
should continue to present their views in writing but should not appear before the
commission, just as amici may file briefs in a federal court but do not appear at a
court hearing. However, the FEC should permit a requestor who asks to appear to do
so if four commissioners consent. There may also be occasions when commissioners
or OGC will want to ask a requestor to appear. Either way, allowing appearances
would be better than the current “system” of either (1) looking to a requestor’s

>Notice at 16-17.
Id. at 17-20.
Id. at 20-21.
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lawyers who are sitting in the commission hearing room and are able to answer an
innocuous question during an open session by nodding or shaking their heads, or (2)
taking a recess™ to talk to the lawyers privately and then, if necessary, disclose a
communication. Ifallowing a requestor to appear causes a problem with the 60 or 20
day deadline, see 2 U.S.C. § 437f(a)(1)-(2), the FEC can work that out with the
requestor. Requestors, especially those not from Washington or whose counsel is not
from Washington, should be able to attend by telephone.

More fundamentally, and as previously noted, the FEC may not cite AOs as
precedent. See id. § (b). The only authority for rules of law are statutes, FEC
regulations, see id., and court decisions such as WRTL II. The only persons who may
rely on an AO are the requestors, id. § (c)(1)(A), and others in the public involved in
transactions or activities materially indistinguishable from those addressed in the AO.
Id. § (c)(1)(B); see also id. § (c)(2). In other words, those who seek to engage in
political speech mayrely on AOs defensively, yet the government, including the FEC,
may not rely on them offensively. The government may rely only on statutes, FEC
regulations, and court decisions.

In addition, FECA requires that AOs issue only by a vote of four
commissioners. See id. § 437c(c) (citing id. § 437d(a)(7) (1986)). Nevertheless, in
AO 2008-15, the requestor heard that, per OGC’s oral consultation with
commissioners, one of the ads in question did not violate FECA. FECA does not
allow this practice.

Another issue involves publicly released AO drafts, and other publicly released
“blue drafts.” They are habitually “submitted late.” The FEC is supposed to release
blue drafts a week before an open session. This allows the AO requestors and
commenters, and the general public for other blue drafts, sufficient time to consider
them carefully and offer comments. Receiving comments can constrain impulses to
ratchet up regulation, or engage in horse trading or result-oriented reasoning.’” It also

**When commissioners take recesses at commission meetings, respect for
the staff and the public requires announcing how long the recess will last and
abiding by the schedule.

’See supra at 11.
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allows the FEC to be away from the document for several days and then proofread it
with fresher eyes before the open session. When the FEC releases documents late,
and then unanimously adopts a motion “to suspend the rules for the timely submission
of documents,” it evinces disrespect and disregard for the public, just as the effective
two-week deadline for comments on this Notice has.”® Late-submitted documents on
which commissioners must act — such as AOs or proposed regulations, see, e.g.,
Agenda of FEC Open Session (Nov. 20, 2007) (containing four versions of WRTL I
regulations, all stamped “submitted late,” one on Nov. 16, one on Nov. 19, and two
on Nov. 20, 2007, the day of the open session)™ — are also more likely to be amended
quickly during open sessions. See, e.g., Audio File of FEC Open Session (Nov. 20,
2007) (adopting WRTL II regulations).®® Such last-minute work cannot be as good
as work done carefully over an extended time. See, e.g., id.®" To be sure, there are
times when blue drafts need to be “submitted late,” but those should be the rare
exception. For years, however, many blue drafts have been stamped “submitted late.”
Who has ever publicly objected to, much less voted against, suspending the rules?
It 1s way past time for this to end.

Additional Items
Three additional sets of items:

® When the FEC cites documents, it often provides no page number, and when
it cites a MUR, which it should not do, see 2 U.S.C. § 4371(b), it often cites the whole
MUR without citing a document, much less a page number. A better practice is
almost always to provide pinpoint cites plus the corresponding URL for the
document; documents available electronically should have active hyperlinks, as these
comments as submitted do. Without pinpoint cites, and perhaps without URLs, the
only person who easily knows what the cite refers to is the author, who over time may
not recall, and the FEC is in effect playing “hide the ball” with the public. While this

*See supra at 2.

*Available at http://fec.gov/agenda/2007/agenda20071120.shtml.

“Available at http://fec.gov/audio/2007/20071120 _00.mp3.

%1See supra at 14.
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may in effect assist the FEC in conducting itself as a prosecutor who seeks a
conviction rather than as an investigator who dispassionately seeks the facts and

dispassionately applies the law to the facts, the public deserves to know where the
ball 1s.

® FEC documents, such as OGC briefs, frequently have a section on facts but
introduce new facts in the discussion section. This should not happen. FEC
documents should include all facts in a section on facts. Moreover, footnotes should
be for supplemental information only. No other information should be in footnotes,
especially not crucial information. In addition, footnotes should be in font the same
size as the font in the text, and the FEC should follow the example of federal
appellate courts by producing documents with, and requiring that submissions to the
FEC be in, an easily readable 14 point font. See FED. R. App. P. 32(a)(5)(A) (2005).

The smaller the font, the harder it is to read.

® Finally, words matter, in no small measure because they reflect whether there
is a presumption of freedom or regulation of speech.

Phrases such as regulated community, which habitually arises orally and in
writing at the FEC,* reflect a presumption of regulation. Worse yet, they may
embody a sense that the nice “community” dutifully obeys, sometimes yielding to
infringement of its First Amendment rights. It is time to abandon such phrases.” The
word public or the phrase general public would be a fine substitute for regulated
community.

Furthermore, the FEC’s perhaps subconscious habit of referring to what
political speech FECA or FEC regulations “permit” or what political speech is
“permissible,” e.g., 11 C.F.R. § 114.15, is offensive under a system of government
where the presumption is freedom of speech. In the United States of America,
persons are free to engage in political speech except when government
constitutionally limits it. The presumption is not that political speech is banned
except when government permits it. Nor 1s the presumption that political speech is

%F.g., Notice at 5, 6.

%See supra at 2-9.
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regulated except when government permits it to occur without regulation. See, e.g.,
Buckley, 424 U.S. at 14-15.* The FEC’s use of the words “permit” and “permissible”
may reflect the FEC’s tendency to conduct itself as a prosecutor seeking a conviction
rather than as an investigator who dispassionately seeks the facts and dispassionately
applies the law to the facts.

Request to Testify

The undersigned requests an opportunity to testify at the January 14, 2009,
hearing.

Respectfully submitted,

s Copoh-

JAMES MADISON CENTER FOR FREE SPEECH
James Bopp, Jr.

%See supra at 2-9.
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PROCEEDINGS

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: All right. Next up, Draft
Advisory Opinion 2008-15 submitted by National
Right to Life Committee, Inc.

Do we have any other late-submitted documents
we need to--

UNIDENTIFIED MALE SPEAKER: Yes,

Mr. Chairman. We'd move for the sustention of the
attorney's--provision for the attorney's
submission of documents to consider, Agenda
Document Number 08-32 and Agenda Document 08-32A.

CHATRMAN MCGAHN: Without objection, so
ordered.

MR. ADKINS: Good morning, Mr. Chairman,
Commissioners. The two draft advisory opinions
before you, Agenda Document 08-32 and Agenda
Document 08-32A, respond to an Advisory Opinion
request submitted on behalf of the National Right
to Life Committee, Incorporated. The NRLC is a
nonstock, 501c4 nonprofit which has produced two
radio advertisements. The NRLC intends to
broadcast these advertisements immediately and
continuously throughout the United States leading
up to the November 2008 general election. The two

advertisements involve a dispute between the NRLC
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and Senator Barack Obama over a vote that Senator
Obama cast as a member of the Illinois legislature
and specifically whether Senator Obama
mischaracterized that vote in subsequent
statements. The only difference between the two
advertisements is that the second advertisement
features a concluding sentence that reads, "Barack
Obama, a candidate whose words you can't believe
in." The committee asks whether the NRLC'S use of
general treasury funds to finance the broadcast of
the advertisements would constitute prohibitive
corporate expenditures or prohibitive
electioneering communications.

The first draft, Agenda Document 08-32,
concludes that the first advertisement does not
contain express advocacy and would be a
permissible corporate-funded electioneering
communication. Therefore, the NRLC would be able
to fund its broadcast with general treasury funds.

Regarding the second advertisement, the draft
concludes that the ad does contain express
advocacy, and therefore the NRLC's funding of its
broadcast with treasury funds would constitute a
prohibitive corporate expenditure.

By contrast, the second draft, which is
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Agenda Document 08-32A, or revised Draft B,
concludes that neither advertisement is an
impermissible electioneering communication or
contains express advocacy. Therefore, the NRLC
would be able to use treasury funds to finance the
broadcast of both advertisements.

However, we received two comments on the
drafts, specifically the first draft, and one
comment on the request. So I'm happy to address
any questions you may have. Thanks.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Thank you. First, I'd like
to thank Mr. Adkins for his work on this.

Whenever we get anywhere near the history of the
agency on issues that involve interpreting Supreme
Court cases is a very challenging area. And the
herding of the cats here has taken up a lot of
time, and I appreciate the effort and various
drafts and--and helping all the commission with
their thinking on this.

Two drafts and on the first ad, my sense 1is
there's some agreement at least as to the
conclusion. And then there's a difference on
the--whether mentioning--whether putting that
extra line in the ad changes the ad. Given that

Draft B is from me, it's pretty clear where I
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stand, but the thing about this is it's an AO
request, and it's a rather targeted request, and
it certainly is a request designed to put a tough
issue in front of the commission. This is not an
easy case. These were ads written in a way to
probably raise a lot of issues. In a lot of ways
this is a law school exam on the meaning of the
Wisconsin Right to Life test. And--and, you know,
it's tough as an agency to look at test cases
because they always raise issues that may not
otherwise be raised, but that's the beauty of the
AO process. We still have to try to answer the
questions as best we can. Any comments, thoughts,
motions? Ms. Weintraub?

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I support the other draft. We
didn't originally have two drafts, so they're
not--one of them doesn't have a letter, and the
other one is just Draft B. I support the
unlettered Agenda Document, 08-32. I think that
it is most consistent with the Wisconsin Right to
Life decision, with our regulation implementing
the Wisconsin Right to Life decision, with our--
with the arguments that this agency has made in

court subsequent to that regulation, and the
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Wisconsin Right to Life decision, and with the
responses that we've gotten back from the court
on--from lower courts on that regulation and on
interpretations of it. I know a lot of people
preferred the magic word test, and, you know,
there were a lot of serious, respected people who
for many years thought that was the end point of
under the constitution of what could be regulated
was magic words. But in the McConnell case the
Supreme Court said that that test is functionally
meaningless and expanded into the area of
functional equivalent of express advocacy.

When we got to the Wisconsin Right to Life
case, the court said, an ad is a functional
equivalent of express advocacy only if the ad is
susceptible of no reasonable interpretation other
than as an appeal to vote for or against a
specific candidate. Under this test, WRTL's three
ads are plainly not the functional equivalent of
express advocacy. First, their content is
consistent with that of a genuine issue ad: The
ads focus on a legislative issue, take a position
on the issue, exhort the public to adopt that
position, and urge the public to contact public

officials with respect to the matter.
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And I'll just interrupt the quote at this
point to point out that the ad in this case--1I
suppose it focuses on a legislative issue. 1It's a
past legislative issue. 1It's a vote that was
taken in the state senate in, I think, 2000, but
it is--it does generally pertain to the issue of
abortion, which clearly is an ongoing public
policy concern that, you know, people get very
animated about, and it's very important to a lot
of people. So I'm, you know, not trying to read
this too narrowly. The ad takes a position on--
certainly on the vote on that issue. Doesn't
really exhort the public to adopt that position or
urge the public to contact public officials with
respect to the matter. So it's not clear out of
the four factors that the court mentioned as being
consistent with that of a genuine issue ad. At
least two of them are clearly missing from this
ad.

Second, going back to the quote, their
content lacks indicia of express advocacy: The
ads do not mention an election candidacy,
political party or challenger, and they do not
take a position on the candidate's character,

qualifications, or fitness for office.
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Now, those factors, those two factors, I
think, are clearly evident. The indicia of
express advocacy, in the ad--in the second ad
which has the tag line--let me find it--"Barack
Obama, a candidate whose word you can't believe
in."

A candidate, mentions that he's a candidate
and says that his word can't be believed in. 1In
the--in a recent case that we litigated, "The Real
Truth About Obama, "--there were same counsel who
has filed the request today--we had a couple of
other ads where the tag line was in one case, "Now
you know the real truth about Obama's Position on
abortion. Is this the change you can believe in?"
The commission took the position that that was not
express advocacy.

The second ad had the tag line, "Obama's
Callousness,"--and I'm going to put in a dot, dot,
dot because the rest--there's a part in the middle
that doesn't really go to the legal issue--Obama's
callousness reveals a lack of character and
compassion that should give everyone pause.

Should give everyone pause was enough for
this commission to go into court and argue that

that's express advocacy.
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Now, the really interesting thing to me
about, "The Real Truth About Obama" case is that
the decision we got back from the Eastern District
of Virginia, not normally a place where one finds
really liberal interpretations of campaign finance
laws, was that both of these ads were express
advocacy; that both of them met the no-other-
reasonable-interpretation test under Wisconsin
Right to Life.

I was stunned and gratified by that because
that actually had been my position all along, but,
you know, I didn't expect them to agree with me.

But if you look at those two tag lines and
say, well, that's express advocacy, I think it's
really hard to come back and say a candidate whose
word you can't believe in doesn't make the cut.

As I said, either under the direct words of
Wisconsin Right to Life or under our regulation,
which the court in "Real Truth About Obama" said,
you know, was a pretty close matchup to the
court's opinion. It pretty much endorsed our
regulation as an accurate and precise reflection
of the Supreme Court's view.

Now, I recognize that the other draft does

attempt to proffer some other explanations for
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what was going on in that second ad. There are--
let's see. Am I on the right draft here? There
are, I think, four different proposed--let's see--
one, two, three, four--five different proposed
interpretations of the ad, none of which go to the
tag line, which is, of course, the difference
between the two ads. That's why I thought the
first draft, the unnumbered--unlettered draft that
I support was a good, narrow interpretation of
Wisconsin Right to Life and our regulation because
even though the ad, I think, does clearly go to
Senator Obama's character, without that tag line I
think it doesn't quite cross over the line that--
the very high bar that the Supreme Court set for
us in Wisconsin Right to Life. And as I said, the
alternative explanations for even the second ad in
the--in Draft B don't address that--that tag line.
What the draft does go on to say is that just
merely referencing Senator Obama as a candidate
doesn't convert the ad into an appeal to vote.
Maybe that's true, but in some hypothetical
context one could call somebody a candidate
without it being an appeal to vote for or against,
but there's no other explanation offered as to why

that word, candidate, is in there otherwise. What
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else does it mean other than here's a candidate;
somebody is running for election that you can't
trust? What would any normal person do with that
information? They would say, well, gee, I don't
want to vote for somebody I can't trust, whose
word I can't believe in.

The draft goes on to say that the ad, even
the second ad doesn't comment on his--Senator
Obama's fitness or qualifications for office.

On the contrary, it takes issue with Senator
Obama's candor with respect to statements
supposedly made by the senator about requester;
hence, the ad does not say that Senator Obama is a
candidate you can't believe in, but instead
remains focused on what he supposedly said; thus
stating that he's a candidate whose word you can't
believe in with respect to what he said about
requester. And I have to say I cannot find the
legal difference or even the factual difference
between those two statements; that he's a
candidate you can't believe in as opposed to a
candidate whose word you can't believe in because
he's not doing mime out there on the campaign
trail. He's using words. If you can't believe

his words, what is it that you could believe about
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this guy?

And it's interesting to me--and I don't know;
maybe this is inadvertent--that the draft says--it
doesn't comment on his fitness or qualifications
for office, but it leaves out the word, character,
which is in both the Supreme Court test and in our
regulation. And I think character is really the
key to this because when you say somebody's word
can't be believed in, that's a very direct attack
on character. You know, you say somebody's word
can't be believed in? In some parts of the
country them is fightin' words.

And certainly, when I try and teach my
children about what it takes to be a person of
good character, what traits they ought to be
adopting, honesty and integrity and
trustworthiness and having a word that people can
believe in are really high on my list of good
character traits. And I'm--I'm willing to bet
that the other parents on this panel teach their
kids the same thing. This does go directly to
character. To say that a candidate is--someone
who is a candidate whose word you can't believe
in, T just don't think there's any reasonable

interpretation of those words other than don't
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vote for this guy. And it's not clear to me
actually whether if the ad said don't vote for him
because he's a candidate whose word you can't
believe in, if that would be enough for my
colleagues to say, that makes the ad express
advocacy; or whether they would still say, well,
there's all this issue talk in there, and that
kind of outweighs the even magic words in the
context of this ad. I'm not really sure what the
end point is of that analysis. I just--I just
don't think it's--it's reasonable. I don't think,
again, if--if--again, looking to the more
conservative of the two ads in, "The Real Truth
About Obama," if Obama's callousness reveals a
lack of character and compassion, that should give
everyone pause is enough to trip the express
advocacy standard, I don't see how saying that
he's a candidate whose word you can't believe in
could possibly be anything other than urging
somebody--urging anybody who hears this to--to
vote against him. And indeed, the fact that he
came in here and said, I want a 20-day AO even
though I'm not entitled to it, and I really
wanted--my colleagues know I really did try to get

an answer as quickly as possible on this. I
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wanted to answer his question quickly because T
always assumed that these ads were all about the
election. You wouldn't need a 20-day AO if it was
just an issue ad, and he wasn't seeking to affect
the election. The reason that he needed to--was
urging us to get him an answer quickly, I think,
is because the election is coming up. And I
think, you know, it would be better if we could
have answered even quicker and even better if we
could agree on the result; although, I'm not--I'm
not optimistic.

So for all of those reasons I support the
first draft, the unlettered draft, and not Draft
B. And I would be happy to move Draft--Draft
Unlettered--it's very confusing; sorry--Draft
08-32 at the appropriate time, or we could have
further discussion, whatever my colleagues prefer.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: The problem I have with the
unlettered draft is--well, essentially the flip
side of the same coin that Commissioner Weintraub
raised, page 8, lines 13 through 19, when we get
into referencing Senator Obama as a candidate,
significantly alters the tone of the
advertisement, focussing it as much on Senator

Obama's bid for the Presidency as his actions as a
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state legislator.

Additionally, the advertisement manipulates
Senator Obama's campaign slogan, "Change We Can
Believe In" to attack his character and call into
question his trustworthiness as a candidate whose
word you can't believe in. The idea that the tone
of the ad is now the standard to me is not a
standard at all, and I think this ends up
devolving into sort of an ink blot test kind of
thing where you either see the vase or the two
people talking to each other; and once you see one
or the other, you're never going to see the other.
To me the issue is whether or not you can read an
ad as something other than an appeal to vote, and
I think that both ads you can. Merely because you
mention that someone is a candidate doesn't
convert the ad into something other than--it
doesn't convert that into an appeal to vote or
preclude reading it as something other than an
appeal to vote. Simply because they want an
answer before the election that somehow we're
going to read some inference into this being
therefore the functional equivalent of express
advocacy to me is a farfetched argument because

folks who want to run issue ads tend to use the
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campaign cycle as the vehicle to bring their issue
to the public attention because, well, that's when
the most people are paying attention. You're not
necessarily going to run an issue ad on an issue
of public in court, you know, the second week of
January or something. I mean, you may run it
during the Super Bowl; but you run it during
election season, and that's when folks have the
most opportunity to be heard. So, of course,
they're going to use it.

And then as far as the issue being a past
legislative issue, the issue that is coming up
apparently constantly all across the country in
state legislatures, when I first read the ad, I
thought, well, okay, these folks are Right-to-Life
folks who 365 days a year care about their issue
set, and now they've found a vote from a current
candidate that illustrates their issue; and they
have been called liars, I guess, and they want to
essentially defend themselves. They want to make
the point that this fellow is a candidate who what
he says about is you can't believe in. And that's
how I read the ad originally, and that's how I
still read the ad.

And it just goes back to what I said
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initially. This is a tough case because these are
essentially a test case. They're very carefully
scripted ads. But when we get into those sorts of
ads, it does become tough. And, you know, when
you get into the tone of the ad and factors and
that kind of thing, I just don't see that as--as
something that provides a sort of bright-line rule
that the Supreme Court thought they were doing in
the Wisconsin Right to Life.

Since it was raised--I wasn't going to raise
it, but "The Real Truth About Obama" litigation,
the end of the opinion, the court says that
plaintiff is free to disseminate their message and
make any expenditures they wish. And so, you
know, it seems--it seems like we may even disagree
over what that district court said or didn't say.

With that being said, I mean, this is--I read
the Wisconsin Right test as a rather simple
bright-line test. And if you can--if you can read
the ad as something other than an appeal to vote,
that sort of begins and ends the analysis. And in
fact, you can't really export the other--the other
analyses without the full--the full package goods
of the Wisconsin Right to Life; and in close calls

the tie goes in favor of the speaker and all that
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sort of thing. And to me I've tried to offer a
variety of other reads of the ad. And whether or
not they're reasonable or unreasonable, have that
debate, that devolves into an issue of fact, and I
don't read this as a fact issue. I read this as

an issue of law; and hence, that's why I support

Draft B.

Other comments?

COMMISSIONER PETERSEN: TI'll just add briefly
that I, too, interpret the Chief Justice's test
that he set forth in Wisconsin Right to Life as
setting a very high bar with regard to which kinds
of ads may be subjected to BCRA'S prohibition
against corporate or labor-funded electioneering
communications. I mean, as has been said already,
Chief Justice Roberts said in that case, "The
Court should find that an ad is the functional
equivalent of express advocacy only if the ad is
susceptible of no reasonable interpretation other
than in its appeal to vote for or against a
specific candidate. The test contemplates that
there may be close calls as we--as--and I agree
with the chairman that this was crafted in a way
to be a close call. And--but the tests set forth

by the chief justice contemplates those close
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calls; that you could have situations where two
people who are reasonable, one could interpret it
as being the functional equivalent of express
advocacy. The other one could think of it as
issue advocacy. And he said when that happens,
the tie goes to the speaker and not the sensor.
So the way I--again, I look at that test as
setting a very high standard. And as the draft--
Draft B shows, there are a number of reasonable
interpretations other than as appeals to vote when
you look at those ads that were proposed by the
requester in this case. And for that reason I'll
be supporting Draft B.

COMMISSIONER HUNTER: Mr. Chairman, thank
you. I support the comments of the chairman and
Commissioner Petersen. Today a non-for-profit
corporation, the National Right to Life Committee,
would like to exercise its First Amendment rights
by running two radio ads 60 days before a general
election regarding an issue that's at the core of
its mission. BCRA states that a corporation may
not pay for advertisements that mention a
candidate within 60 days of the general election.
National Right to Life can attempt to ensure that

the speech doesn't cross the line by expressly
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advocating the election or defeat of a specific
candidate, by analyzing case law, the statute, and
FEC regulations; but if they get it wrong, it's a
potential federal crime.

In this case the National Right to Life
Committee decided to file an advisory opinion, and
we are in the unenviable position of determining
whether an ad should be afforded the protection of
the First Amendment. In June of '07 the Supreme
Court decided the Wisconsin Right to Life
decision, which we have talked about today, and
held that the relevant section of BCRA
unconstitutional as applied to issue ads that a
not-for-profit corporation wanted to air within 30
days of a primary election. So very similar facts
to the Wisconsin Right to Life decision are before
us today, both non-for-profit corporations. Both
would like to air ads within the relevant time
period before the relevant electorate.

The Supreme Court found that an ad is the
functional equivalent of express advocacy only if
the ad is susceptible of no reasonable
interpretation other than as an appeal to vote for
or against a specific candidate.

As has been noted today, Draft B notes that
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there are several other reasonable interpretations
other than of an appeal to vote.

In drawing the line between campaign advocacy
and issue advocacy, the First Amendment requires
us to err on the side of protecting political
speech rather than suppressing it. I will support
Draft B because I believe neither ad before us
today is the functional equivalent of express
advocacy under an analysis of the Supreme Court
precedent or FEC regulations. Thank you.

CHATRMAN MCGAHN: Ms. Weintraub again.

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: Thank you,

Mr. Chairman. I don't want to short-circuit
anybody else who wants to talk. I just wanted to
respond very briefly to a couple of comments that
you made. 1It's true that the "Real Truth About
Obama" decision says that the plaintiff is free to
disseminate their message and make any
expenditures they wish. The next sentence reads,
"Their only limitation is on contributions based
on constitutionally permitted restrictions." And
that's always the case when we have to decide.
Nobody is ever forbidden from speaking. The
question is what kind of money can you use, and

are there going to be any disclosure
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ramifications. So I don't--

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Well, if I could just--

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: Sure.

CHATRMAN MCGAHN: So if a corporation--if a
corporation would be banned from speaking, and
this is a nonprofit entity giving us an Advisory
Opinion request--they're a 501c4; they're not an
MCFL accepted, so they are prohibited from
speaking.

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: Many organizations--
I'm not--in fact, I'm pretty sure this one does,
too--many 501c4's in that position have a PAC, and
they fund these kinds of communications through
their PAC. And I believe this one is one of
those, so, again, it goes to funding.

CHATIRMAN MCGAHN: We agree that the C-4 is a
separate entity from a PAC?

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: Yeah.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Okay. So the C-4 is
banned.

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: The C-4 can't do it
out of their C-4 account. They can do it out of
their PAC.

The only other point that I wanted to make is

that I hear what you're saying about words like
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"tone" and "factors," and I would be happy to
strip all that language out and just go by a
straight meeting of the words if that would gain
any votes on the other side. I'm not optimistic
that it would, but I--I'm happy to make the offer.
CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: I still struggle, though,
with this. We have a requester who is a
candidate--or who alleges that a candidate for
national office called them a liar. And we're not
going to get into what the truth or--I mean, the
requester included all kinds of backup for the ad;
and, you know, for purposes of this, I think you
just take everybody at their word for the purposes
of the AO. We don't need to get into whether or
not who is winning the name-calling contest, but
from a pulpit he wouldn't have had if he wasn't
running for president. So my view is we shouldn't
foreclose a nonprofit from defending itself in the
same arena, which is his candidacy. I mean, if
they want to comment at a time--and to me they
throw out the word, candidate, not only--and I
don't think--obviously, when you mention the word,
candidacy, it has something to do with the
election, right? But to me, that's not the only

reason why they put in the word, candidate. 1It's
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another reason not to believe what he's saying
because here's a situation where the candidate is
saying something about a grass-roots nonprofit
group, and they want to say, well, is he a
candidate whose words you can't believe in? And
the word is that--what he said about this
nonprofit is the way I read it. And I'm not so
sure stripping out the tone language still changes
the end result. If the tag line had said that--
said a politician whose words you can't believe
in, would that change your view?

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: I'm not sure. That
is a much closer call. I'd have to go back and
look at the regulation again and see what--

CHATRMAN MCGAHN: Okay. Well, let's take a
look.

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: It says, "Mentioned
an election, candidacy, political party, opposing
candidate or voting by the general public."

Maybe. I'd want it--I'd want to give it more
than 10-seconds thought.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: So maybe if they changed
that one word, that could--

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: But you still have

the--the very direct attack on character. So like
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I said, I'd want to give it more than 10-seconds
thought here at the table.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Okay. So these are not as
easy calls as some maybe would think. One word
here and there can make a difference in these ads.
But in any event, Vice Chair is looking at the
regs as well.

VICE CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We all have looked at
our regs off and on. I want to say this. I'm
probably the most conservative approach on this
one because I don't--to me, the added sentence in
the second example doesn't make such a difference.
In my own mind it makes one express advocacy, and
the other one not. Everyone knows Obama is a
candidate, so it's not really an issue. And even
if it were an issue, I mean, even under Roberts'
opinion there are minor things that can be
identified and clarified, or interpretation can be
developed through discovery. The whole idea, as I
understand it, is that we don't want to be able to
prevent free speech by engaging in protracted
litigation, and then delay is what prevents it.
But there is not a restriction even engaging in
minor litigation which could clarify enough so

that a decision could be made fairly quickly.
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And I think when you look at this, then the
next question is whose word you can't believe in.
Well, if you read one, you can argue that perhaps
Obama could redeem himself if he made an apology.
But when you look at what's really the message
here is the public would know about his extreme
position that he opposed very defining every baby
born alive after an abortion as deserving a
protection; that what we're talking about is
trying to convey that Senator Obama holds this
position. TIt's unacceptable; and in addition,
he's not telling the truth. And I really think at
this particular point we find enough in it so that
it appears an express advocacy; one is as well.

Because we're in litigation, however, I think
my remarks are minor. I'm inclined to just make
them as truncated as possible because in getting
this interpreted in the next round of our
litigation.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Certainly agree.

Ms. Bauerly?

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY: Thank you,

Mr. Chairman. I share many of Commissioner
Weintraub and a certain amount of Commissioner

Walther's concerns about this draft as well. I'll
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support Draft A because I believe it's consistent
with our regulations and Supreme Court law.

And some of--just some of my concerns about
Draft B include that I agree the Supreme Court set
a very high bar, and I think that the commission
went back and wrote a regulation consistent with
that stringent test. And we could, you know,
disagree whether that's the right test or the
wrong test, but that's, you know, frankly not our
role. But the Supreme Court did give us some
guidance about how to interpret its tests, and in
my view Draft B doesn't fully take account of what
I think are important guidants--guiding factors
that are directly applicable here. The Supreme
Court talks about indicia of express advocacy
including mentioning an election or a candidate
and an attack on character. And I don't have
children, but I agree with you. My mother taught
me that telling the truth was an important thing.

So those are my concerns with Draft B, and so
I will be supporting Draft A, or the unlettered
draft as we refer to it.

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: Make a motion?

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Time for a motion.

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: All right,
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Mr. Chairman. I move approval of Agenda Document
Number 08-32. That's the one without the letter.
CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: That's the unlettered.

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: The unlettered one.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Even though we have a Draft
B, we don't have a Draft A, so that would be
Pseudo A. On that motion all in favor say aye.

VICE CHAIRMAN WALTHER: May I comment before
we vote?

CHATRMAN MCGAHN: Sure.

VICE CHAIRMAN WALTHER: I would just like to
say I would support the portion of the motion that
relates to question number 2, but not with respect
to question number 1; so I'll be voting against
it.

And I also do have problems with the use of
the word, tone. I think that's not the message or
really the appropriate one to make this decision
on.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Okay. All in favor of the
motion say aye.

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: Let me just throw in
one more thought, and that is that I appreciate
the vice chairman's comments. That's why I think

this is the compromised draft because it says one
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is, and one isn't express advocacy. I'm finished
now.

CHATRMAN MCGAHN: Okay. We can vote now?

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: Yeah.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: We're all set?

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: Yeah.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Okay. I'm just looking
both ways before I cross the street here. Okay.
All in favor say aye.

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: Aye.

CHATIRMAN MCGAHN: All opposed?

(MEMBERS VOTE NO)

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: That motion fails 2 to 4
with Commissioners Weintraub and Bauerly voting in
favor, the remainder voting in opposition for
apparently different reasons.

Any other motions?

UNIDENTIFIED MALE SPEAKER: Mr. Chairman, I
would move that we approve Agenda Document Number
08-32-A, otherwise known as Draft B.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: All in favor say aye.

(MEMBERS VOTE AYE)

CHATRMAN MCGAHN: All opposed?

(MEMBERS VOTE NO)

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: That motion fails 3-3 with
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myself, Commissioner Petersen and Hunter voting in
favor; Vice Chair, Commissioner Bauerly and
Commissioner Weintraub voting in opposition. My
sense is we have consensus; however, where five of
us agree that the first ad--and I don't have the
questions in front of me, so I don't want to say.
Depending how you frame the question, do we have
the okay for the ¢4 to run, I think, is the best
way; and the second, we don't have consensus. So
maybe the best thing to do at this point is ask
the counsel to prepare a draft that reflects the
common areas where we have in five on the first ad
and then unable to reach a conclusion on the--with
respect to the second ad. I think that's an
accurate representation of the views up here. If
it's not--yes.

COMMISSIONER WEINTRAUB: I just want to say
to you what I've already said to one or two of
your colleagues, and that is that I'm not--I
haven't decided yet whether I would vote for that
answer. In part, it depends on the legal
rationale, but in part I wasn't actually kidding
that I thought Draft A was a compromise. And I'm
not sure that I'm willing to say, you know, just

to give the permission without the complementary
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restriction on the other ad. So I'm just--I'm
continuing to ponder, and it will depend on the
wording of the draft.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Do we have any management
administrative matters?

UNIDENTIFIED MALE SPEAKER: We do not.

CHAIRMAN MCGAHN: Okay. Anything else for
the good of the order?

Okay. With that, we will adjourn our open
session. Thank you.

(MEETING ADJOURNED)
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STATE OF INDIANA )
COUNTY OF VIGO )

I, Renee R. Dobson, a Notary Public in and for
said county and state, do hereby certify that I listened to
the audiotape recording of a meeting;

That said meeting was taken down in Stenograph
notes and afterwards reduced to typewriting under my
direction; and that the typewritten transcript is a true and
accurate record of said meeting;

I do further certify that I am a disinterested
person in this matter; that I am not a relative or attorney
of any of the parties, or otherwise interested in the event
of this matter, and am not in the employ of the parties.

IN WITNESS WHEREFORE, I have hereunto set my hand

%M%%W ,2008.

7/

My Commission Expires: Renee R. Dobson, Notary Public,
September 6, 2015 Residing in Vigo County, Indiana
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COVINGTON & BURLING LLP

1201 PENNSYLVANIA AVENUE NW BEIJING
WASHINGTON, DC 20004-2401 BRUSSELS ROBERT K. KELNER
TEL 202.662.6000 LONDON TEL 202.662.5503
: - NEW YORK
FAX .778.
FAX 202.662.6291 SAN DIEGO 202.778.5503
RKELNER @ COV.COM

SAN FRANCISCO
SILICON VALLEY
WASHINGTON

WWW.COV.COM

January 5, 2009

BY HAND DELIVERY AND ELECTRONIC MAIL

Mr. Mark Shonkwiler
Assistant General Counsel
Federal Election Commission
999 E Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20463

Re: Comments on Policies and Procedures
of the Federal Election Commission

Dear Mr. Shonkwiler:

I appreciate the opportunity to respond to the Federal Election Commission’s
request for public comment on its policies and procedures. See 73 Fed. Reg. 74494 (Dec. 8,
2008). The Commission’s decision to take the initiative in revisiting its own practices, especially
those relating to enforcement, is a refreshing and important step toward improving the agency’s
effectiveness, as well as bolstering public confidence in the process by which the agency meets
its constitutionally sensitive statutory obligations. Commissioners and staff alike are to be
commended for seeking constructive criticism. Periodically asking outside practitioners to
comment on agency practices and procedures helps overcome the isolation that necessarily
attends an agency whose activities often are required to be conducted out of public view.

The comments I am submitting are my own and are not submitted on behalf of
any client. Nor do my views necessarily reflect the views of any client. By way of background,
I am Chair of the Election and Political Law Practice Group of Covington & Burling LLP.
Covington has one of the nation’s oldest election and political law practices. We advise a wide
variety of corporate and trade association clients, as well as political parties, PACs, lobbying
firms, tax-exempt organizations, and individuals, concerning compliance with the federal
election laws. Our election and political law clients include some of the nation’s leading trade
associations, financial institutions, and manufacturers. We regularly represent clients in
enforcement matters before the Commission.

The Commission sought comments on a broad range of topics, largely related to
the enforcment of the Federal Election Campaign Act (“FECA”). I have chosen to address the

following eight topics:
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Settlements and Penalties

Motions Before the Commission

Appearances Before the Commission

Reports Analysis Division Practices

The “Reason to Believe” Standard

Deposition and Document Production Practices

Release of Documents Following Dismissal of a Complaint
Extensions of Time

I R N

1. Settlements and Penalties

The Commission should make public its methodology for making an initial
assessment of penalties. This would make the enforcement process more fair and transparent,
reduce the risk of improper strategic behavior by enforcement staff during conciliation
negotiations, and greatly increase the incentive for voluntary disclosure of violations to the

Commission.

Numerous federal agencies already disclose their methodologies for determining
penalties. See, e.g., 15 C.F.R. Part 766 Supps. 1 & 2 (Export Administration Regulations); 47
C.F.R. § 1.80 (FCC forfeiture proceedings); Economic Sanctions Enforcement Guidelines, 73
Fed. Reg. 51933 (Sept. 8, 2008) (OFAC economic sanctions programs); Guidelines for
Assessment of Civil Penalties Under Section 16 of the Toxic Substances Control Act, 49 Fed.
Reg. 59770 (Sept. 10, 1980); 2008 Federal Sentencing Guidelines Manual (Nov. I, 2008)>
(criminal proceedings); EPA Section 1018 — Disclosure Rule Enforcement Response and
Penalty Policy (Dec. 2007)* (Section 1018 of the Residential Lead-Based Paint Hazard
Reduction Act of 1992); NRC Enforcement Policy (Jan. 14, 2005)* (enforcement matters
involving public radiological health and safety); RCRA Civil Penalty Policy (June 23, 2003)°
(Resource Conservation and Recovery Act); Combined Enforcement Policy for Section 112r of

! This and all other civil penalty policies issued by the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”) were
modified by Modifications to EPA Penalty Policies to Implement the Civil Monetary Penalty Inflation

Adjustment Rule (Sept. 21, 2004), at
http://www.epa.gov/compliance/resources/policies/civil/penalty/penaltymod—memo.pdf.

2 At http://www.ussc.gov/2008guid/TABCONO8 htm.
3 At http://www.epa.gov/compliance/resources/policies/civil/tsca/1018erpp-1 207.pdf.

4 At http://www.nrc.gov/about-nre/regulatory/enforcement/enforc-pol.pdf. This policy has been updated
several times. Those updates are available on the NRC’s Internet website at http://www.nrc.gov/about-

nre/regulatory/enforcement/enforce-pol.html.
5 At http://www.epa.gov/compliance/resources/policies/civil/rcra/rcpp2003-fnl.pdf. The penalty matrices

for this policy were updated by Revised Penalty Matrices for the RCRA Civil Penalty Policy (Jan. 11,
2005), at http://www.epa.gov/compliance/resources/policies/civil/rcra/rcpprevisedtablesZOO5.pdf.
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the Clean Air Act (Aug. 15, 2001)%; Comptroller of the Currency Administrator of National
Banks, Policies & Procedures Manual 5000-7 (June 16, 1993)7 (civil penalties); Polychlorinated
Biphenyls (PCB) Penalty Policy (Apr. 9, 1990)® (PCB rules).

For instance, the EPA lists on its Internet website civil penalty policies for a
number of the laws it is charged with administering.” One of several such policies sets
settlement penalties in the Public Water System Supervision Program under the Safe Drinking
Water Act (the “SDWA Policy”).lo The 14-page policy was introduced in 1994 and includes a
worksheet for calculating settlement penalties. The policy sets forth the maximum penalties
allowed by statute and then discusses a two-step process for calculating penalties, which includes
a computation of an “economic benefit” component and a “gravity” component. SDWA Policy
at 3. This figure is then adjusted based on a number of factors, including degree of willfulness,
history of noncompliance, litigation considerations, and ability to pay. The policy gives detailed
guidance regarding how the EPA arrives at each of these figures. It also gives the EPA the
flexibility to reduce a penalty amount in exchange for the party completing an environmentally
beneficial project. See id. at 12. The policy makes clear that it applies in settlement negotiations
only and that the EPA will seek the statutory maximum in a litigation proceeding. EPA reserves
the right to “change this policy at any time, without prior notice, or to act at variance to this
policy” and the policy “does not create any rights, implied or otherwise, in any third parties.” Id.

at 14.

The Commission should follow the lead of these several federal agencies that
make public their methodologies for computing penalties. The Commission’s disclosure of its
criteria for assessing penalties will likely give the regulated community a greater sense that the
Commission is acting consistently and fairly. This will positively affect enforcement
proceedings. Under the Commission’s current practice, penalties may vary widely in what
appear to the outside world to be similar cases. This creates an appearance that the Commission
is treating members of the regulated community in an arbitrary and unfair manner. Conciliation
proceedings are likely to progress more smoothly when respondents feel they are being treated
fairly and understand how the Commission arrives at an opening settlement offer.

In addition, signficantly, self-reporting is likely to increase if the Commission’s
methodology is clear. A potential respondent is more likely to make a sua sponte disclosure of a
violation if it can accurately assess its likely penalties prior to contacting the Commission.

8 At http://epa.gov/compliance/resources/policies/civil/caa/stationary/caal 12r-enfpol.pdf.
7 At http://www.occ.treas.gov/ftp/be/be-273a.pdf.

8 At http://www.epa.gov/compliance/resources/policies/civil/tsca/pcbpen.pdf.

? See http://cfpub.epa.gov/compliance/resources/policies/civil/penalty/.

1% 4¢ http://www.epa.gov/compliance/resources/policies/civil/sdwa/sdwapen.pdf.
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In 2007, the Commission adopted a policy statement on voluntary disclosures,
which sought to encourage voluntary disclosures of FECA violations by offering to reduce
penalties by 25% to 75%, if certain conditions are met. See Policy Regarding Self-Reporting of
Campaign Finance Violations (Sua Sponte Submissions), 72 FR 16695 (Apr. 5, 2007). The
Commission’s voluntary disclosure policy is substantially undermined, however, by the fact that
the Commission refuses to make public the methodology by which it makes an initial assessment
of penalties. In the absence of clear and transparent standards for determining this initial
assessment, it is difficult or impossible for the regulated community to predict the impact of the
promised 25% to 75% reduction for a voluntary disclosure. Because the staff can simply adjust
its initial assessment of the penalty upward to “compensate” for the effect of the 25% to 75%
reduction -- and can do so in a manner that is permanently shrouded from public scrutiny -- the
Commission’s voluntary disclosure policy has had far less effect than it otherwise might have.

The Commission may fear that creating a formula and applying it consistently
will impair its ability to exercise discretion to adjust penalties in appropriate circumstances.
However, all of the agency methodologies cited above provide for adjustments based on
mitigating factors, aggravating factors, and/or other circumstances (such as ability to pay). The
Commission’s criteria likewise could incorporate limited adjustments or exceptions the
Commission feels it should have the discretion to apply, as the Commission has already done in
its policy statement on voluntary disclosures.

The Commission also may fear that disclosing its penalty structure will permit
bad actors to calculate the costs of their violations in advance and, thus, to figure them into “the
cost of doing business.” However, the penalty structure itself can take into account such
persons’ knowing and willful intent to violate the law, and any person acting with such intent
may already be subject to criminal sanctions. Moreover, if the Commission believes that its
lawfully authorized civil penalties are not sufficient to deter unlawful behavior when those
penalties are transparent to the regulated community, then the solution is to seek statutory
increases in those penalties, not to cloak the existing penalty regime under a veil of secrecy.’

2. Motions Before the Commission

Currently, Commission regulations provide limited opportunities to submit
motions. See, e.g., 11 CFR 111.15 (authorizing motions to quash or modify subpoenas). Some
parties before the Commission also engage in informal motions practice, even where motions are
not specifically authorized by the Commission’s regulations. Such ad hoc motions are
sometimes used to bring matters to the attention of the Commissioners, where efforts to resolve a
dispute directly with the staff seem futile.

" For example, the Federal Sentencing Guidelines set forth very high but very clear penalties. See 2008
Federal Sentencing Guidelines Manual, supra.
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The Commission should set forth by regulation a standardized procedure for filing
motions to provide greater procedural consistency and fairness. In an investigatory proceeding, a
respondent should be allowed to file a motion, at a minimum, prior to the Office of General
Counsel’s (“OGC”) recommendation that the Commission find “reason to believe” and prior to
OGC’s recommendation of probable cause. Motions also should be allowed during other
proceedings when necessary to resolve an unclear question of law. For instance, a person being
audited should be able to file a motion following receipt of the Preliminary Audit Report in order
to challenge a legal conclusion upon which an audit finding is based.

A party filing a motion should be required to set forth a specific request for
action, such as dismissal of a matter, production of a particular piece of evidence, or a ruling on a
question of law, and should be permitted to submit written argument to the Commission in
support of that motion. At the time the party files the motion, the party could request an oral
hearing on the motion. Following submission of a motion, the OGC should have a set number of
days in which to recommend to the Commission how the motion should be resolved. Upon an
affirmative vote of two Commissioners (the same threshold that the Commission presently
applies to granting requests for probable cause hearings), the Commission should be able to grant
a confidential hearing to question the person filing the motion, if appropriate.

Filing a motion should not permit either OGC or the respondent to delay or
postpone investigation of an alleged violation. OGC could continue to pursue its investigation
while motions are pending, but respondents would not be required to toll the statute of
limitations solely because a motion has been filed.

In addition to promoting fairness among parties before the Commission,
providing a consistent motions practice would promote efficiency. By acting on a motion, the
Commission often will be able to resolve unclear or disputed questions early in a case.
Resolution of a single question may resolve the entire matter or at least bypass a dispute that
otherwise would become a stumbling block to settlement. Although in some cases allowing a
motions practice will slow the Commission’s time to process a particular matter, the
Commission’s overall effectiveness in bringing matters to conclusion will increase if the
Commission can resolve issues as they arise. Allowing a motions practice may understandably
increase staff time in processing cases, but this is a cost borne by both sides. The expense of
having lawyers prepare motions will serve as a constraint on abuse of the practice.

One compelling reason to formalize the Commission’s motions practice is to
ensure that the already existing informal motions practice does not remain an open secret among
experienced practitioners, which tends to create inequities in the due process afforded to the
many respondents who appear before the Commission. The current informal and ad hoc motions
practice tends to favor those with sophisticated and experienced FEC counsel, to the detriment of
those whose access to counsel is limited by cost, geography, and other factors. Any person
reading the Commission’s regulations and policy statements should be able to determine both the
availability of, and procedures for, motions practice before the Commission. For this same
reason, the Commission should ensure that its enforcement policies are readily available and
easily located on its website. This should include the Commission’s internal policy “directives,”
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which are currently available in the Public Records Office at the Commission’s Washington,
D.C., headquarters, but which inexplicably are not available on the Commission’s website.

3. Appearances Before the Commission

The Commission’s current practice of allowing a party to request an oral hearing
prior to the Commission’s vote on a recommendation of probable cause has been a positive
reform. See 72 Fed. Reg. 64919 (Nov. 19, 2007). The Commission also would benefit from
allowing appearances by parties (i) in relation to written motions filed with the Commission (as
discussed above), (ii) during public consideration of advisory opinions, and (iii) during
presentations of Final Audit Reports to the Commission.

Regarding motions hearings, the Commission should be free to grant an oral
hearing on a motion whenever it believes doing so would be helpful to it in understanding the
legal or factual issues presented by the motion. The process for such hearings should mirror the
process adopted with respect to probable cause hearings. See id. A party should request an
appearance at the time it files the motion and should indicate in the request why the hearing is
necessary and what specific issues the party expects to address before the Commission. The
Commission should determine the format and time allotted for the hearing based on the same
factors the Commission uses when authorizing a probable cause hearing. As with probable cause
hearings, hearings on other motions filed in investigatory proceedings should be confidential
unless the respondent requests otherwise, so as to protect a respondent’s rights under 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a)(12). See 72 Fed. Reg. at 64920 (discussing the confidentiality of probable cause
hearings). The Commission can determine on a case-by-case basis whether co-respondents
should be allowed to attend. See id.

The Commission also should create a process whereby it can ask a requester
questions that arise in the course of the Commission’s public consideration of an advisory
opinion. Presently, if Commissioners have factual questions or wish to understand the
implication of changes to language in an advisory opinion submitted by OGC, the
Commissioners either recess the hearing to allow OGC to ask the requester (or requester’s
counsel), look for nods or shakes of the head from the requester in the audience, or have the
requester submit answers to these questions in the form of handwritten notes. This process is
inefficient and the Commission could easily remedy it by providing a process whereby it could,
when appropriate, simply call upon the requester to stand before it and answer the questions (if
present) or contact the requester by telephone.

In addition, the Commission should provide an opportunity for a person being
audited by the Commission to request to appear before the Commission when auditors present
their Final Audit Report. The Commission should also, on a case-by-case basis, consider
whether to offer a similar opportunity to appear to any third party who is not the subject of the
audit but who is referenced in the Final Audit Report in a manner suggesting that the third party
may have violated the law. When findings by FEC auditors suggest potential legal violations,
the auditors may refer those findings to OGC for further investigation, and the Final Audit
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Report may form a significant basis for a later investigatory proceeding or civil action against the
person being audited, or against a third party mentioned in the audit report.

Providing an opportunity to those accused of wrongdoing in a Final Audit Report
to present their position orally will enhance the Commission’s ability to identify and resolve
factual and legal disputes that often are not highlighted in the Final Audit Report. Moreover, it
may obviate the need for subsequent costly and time-consuming enforcement actions, thus
conserving the Commission’s limited resources. Finally, it would eliminate the unfairness
inherent in the current system, in which third parties in particular may learn long after the fact
that auditors have accused them of wrongdoing, and that the accusation is contained in a report
that has already been adopted by the Commission.

The Commission should not be obligated to grant any of these appearances as a
matter of right. However, it should provide a means for a person to appear when doing so will
facilitate the Commission’s collection and distillation of information that will help it fairly and
expeditiously dispose of a matter. The fact that some entities regulated by the Commission are
located away from Washington, D.C. has limited bearing on whether the Commission should
allow appearances in appropriate circumstances. The Commission can follow the modern
practice of many judges and magistrates and conduct hearings by conference call or by
teleconference when a hearing in person is impractical or infeasible. A party’s decision not to
request an oral hearing should not bear on the Commission’s careful consideration of a matter.
See id. at 64920 (“Probable cause hearings are optional and no negative inference will be drawn

if respondents do not request a hearing.”).

4, Reports Analysis Division Practices

The Commission should bring the decision-making process of the Reports
Analysis Division (“RAD”) further into the spotlight. RAD would be required to send fewer
Requests for Additional Information (“RFAI”) if it were to provide consistent, transparent
guidance on how to complete the forms filed with the Commission. Currently, obtaining clear
answers to filing questions can be discouraging for filers. Although RAD analysts are readily
available to discuss filing questions by telephone, a filer may receive a different answer to the
same question, depending on which analyst is assigned to the committee. This is not a criticism
of the highly skilled and dedicated RAD staff, but rather a criticism of the process by which
RAD interacts with the regulated community.

The Commission could alleviate this problem by setting aside a portion of its
Internet website where RAD could provide information on how to comply with reporting
requirements. The Commission’s website currently contains general filing instructions and
deadlines, but it would be helpful to the regulated community to have additional information
providing answers to specific questions that arise. One possibility would be for the Commission
to establish a process through which filers could pose reporting questions to RAD and answers to
those questions would be published for all to see. The website also could contain a list of
frequently asked questions and other guidance helpful to committees and other filers.
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5. “Reason to Believe” Standard

In its 2004 Annual Report, the Commission recommended that Congress change
the phrase “reason to believe” contained in 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(2) to “reason to open an
investigation.” FEC Annual Report 2004, at 42."? The Commission explained that the “statutory
phrase ‘reason to believe’ is misleading and does a disservice to both the Commission and the
respondent” because it “implies that the Commission has evaluated the evidence and concluded
that the respondent has violated the Act” when actually “the Commission has not yet established
that a violation has, in fact, occurred.” Id. (emphasis added). The Commission requested that
Congress “substitute words that sound less accusatory and that more accurately reflect what, in
fact, the Commission is doing at this early phase of enforcement.” Id.

I strongly agree with the Commission that the “reason to believe” language in the
statute is misleading and recommend that the Commission continue to pursue a statutory
amendment to make clear that a decision to open an investigation does not imply a finding --
even a preliminary finding -- of wrongdoing.

(113

The Commission is to be commended for reiterating in 2007 that “‘reason to
believe’ findings indicate only that the Commission found sufficient legal justification to open an
investigation to determine whether a violation of the Act has occurred.” 72 Fed. Reg. 12545,
12545 (Mar. 16, 2007). The Commission should continue to make clear in all its
communications that a reason to believe determination does not constitute a conclusion regarding

underlying facts.

Moreover, because under current practice a finding of reason to believe simply
reflects a finding that there is a sufficient basis to open an investigation, and not “that the
Commission has evaluated the evidence and concluded that the respondent has violated the Act,”
FEC Annual Report 2004, at 42, the Commission absolutely should not express any view
regarding the respondent’s state of mind at the reason to believe stage of the proceedings.
Specifically, the Commission should not issue a statement that it has reason to believe
respondent committed a “knowing and willful” violation. Making even a preliminary
determination of this kind that a respondent may have acted with the specific intent to violate the
law -- a predicate for criminal prosecution -- is flatly inconsistent with the legal requirement, and
conceded position of the Commission, that a reason to believe finding is nothing more than a
decision to open an investigation.

The Commission has in recent years appeared more frequently than before to
include findings of knowing and willful conduct in reason to believe letters. Moreover, OGC
staff have then used the “knowing and willful” language in the reason to believe letter as a

12 4¢ http://www.fec.gov/pdf/ar04.pdf.
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bargaining chip to obtain a larger cash settlement offer from the respondent. That is, staff have
quite transparently offered to delete the “knowing and willful” language if the staff’s desired
cash amount for the civil penalty is agreed to -- again, even though a reason to believe finding is
supposed to be nothing more than a decision to investigate.

The exploitation of premature findings regarding state of mind to facilitate early
and generous conciliation offers is improper. It highlights how, notwithstanding the
Commission’s own supposed position that the term “reason to believe” is “misleading,” the
Commission in fact leverages reason to believe letters for tactical advantage, even going so far as
to suggest criminal intent. The Commission should adopt a policy never to include “knowing
and willful” findings at the reason to believe stage.

6. Deposition and Document Production Practices

In its request for comments, the Commission noted that it generally allows a
deponent to obtain a copy of his or her personal transcript, unless the General Counsel
determines in a particular case that there is “good cause” for withholding the deposition. See 5
U.S.C. § 555(¢c). In addition, after OGC has recommended that the Commission find probable
cause, the Commission normally allows a respondent to request and obtain access to other
documents referenced in OGC’s probable cause brief.

At the latest, once OGC has recommended probable cause, the Commission
should provide all documents referenced in OGC'’s brief to the respondent as a matter of course.
The Commission’s current practice of requiring a respondent to specifically request these
documents following its receipt of the probable cause brief creates unnecessary delay and an
institutional advantage for OGC, especially as OGC is the arbiter of requests from respondents

for extensions.

The Commission is best able to resolve investigations fairly and expeditiously if
both OGC and the respondent are able to brief their arguments fully. To assist respondents in
presenting a complete argument, the Commission should make available to a respondent
transcripts of all other depositions taken during the course of its investigation, as well as witness
statements and other documents collected during the investigation and relevant to the
respondent’s defense, regardless of whether OGC relies on those documents in its probable cause
brief. Understandably, in very limited instances the Commission may have good cause for
withholding certain documents. However, such instances should be the exception and not the
rule, and the Commission should only reach such a decision after giving the respondent an
opportunity to respond to the Commission’s grounds for denying access. Importantly, the
Commission should not deny a respondent access to exculpatory evidence obtained during its
investigation. Cf. Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 87-88 (1963) (“A prosecution that withholds
evidence on demand of an accused which, if made available, would tend to exculpate him or
reduce the penalty helps shape a trial that bears heavily on the defendant.”). Withholding
exculpatory deposition transcripts and interview materials at the probable cause stage raises

serious due process concerns.
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Providing these documents to a respondent does not violate the confidentiality
provision at 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12); if anything, providing these documents furthers the purpose
of this provision, which is to protect those being investigated by the Commission. Subsection
(a)(12)(A) provides that neither the Commission nor any other person may make ¢ public” any
“notification or investigation” absent the consent of the person being investigated.” In other
words, (a)(12)(A) places the right of disclosure squarely in the hands of the person who is being
investigated, not the Commission. OGC has in the past sometimes treated this provision as if it
were intended to protect the Commission, rather than the respondent.

Subsection (a)(12)(A) contrasts sharply with another confidentiality provision in
the same section. 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(4)(B)(i) relates to the confidentiality of conciliation
proceedings and provides that “[n]o action by the Commission or any person, and no information
derived, in connection with any conciliation attempt by the Commission . . . may be made public
by the Commission without the written consent of the respondent and the Commission”
(emphasis added). Congress clearly distinguished between conciliation proceedings and
investigatory proceedings. Confidentiality in conciliation proceedings protects both the
Commission and the respondent while they attempt to reach a settlement; therefore, both must
agree to disclosure. On the other hand, in an investigatory proceeding, the confidentiality
provision protects the person being investigated; therefore, only that person’s permission is
required prior to disclosure. See In re Sealed Case, 237 F.3d 657, 66667 (D.C. Cir. 2001)
(holding that § 437g(a)(12)(A) “plainly prohibit[s] the FEC from disclosing information
concerning ongoing investigations under any circumstances without the written consent of the
subject of the investigation™), quoted in AFL-CIO v. FEC, 333 F.3d 168, 175 (D.C. Cir. 2003).

Because the confidentiality provision is meant to protect the person being
investigated, providing documents obtained in an investigation to that person cannot constitute a
violation of § 437g(a)(12)(A). This is so, regardless of whether a matter involves multiple
respondents. Providing documents containing references to one respondent to another
respondent does not constitute making them “public” in any traditional sense of the word, as a
respondent is one person, not the “public” at large. See Common Cause v. FEC, 83 F.R.D. 410,
412 (D.D.C. 1979) (“The carefully qualified conditions under which certain Commission
materials are made available to [complainant] Common Cause does not make them public within
the meaning of [the confidentiality provision].”). The Commission can help assure that co-
respondents do not make documents public by providing them under conditions of

13 In full, the provision provides, “Any notification or investigation made under this section shall not be
made public by the Commission or by any person without the written consent of the person receiving
such notification or the person with respect to whom such investigation is made.” 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a)(12)(A)-





COVINGTON & BURLING LLP

January 5, 2009
Page 11

confidentiality, and a respondent who violates § 437(a)(12)(A) is subject to penalties under
§ 437g(2)(12)(B)."

The Commission should bear the cost of providing copies of deposition
transcripts. It is the Commission, not the respondent, that initiates an enforcement action, and
the costs of that action should not be imposed on a respondent prior to any determination by the
Commission that the respondent violated the law. The attorneys fees and costs of defending
against a Commission enforcement action are already prohibitive for many individuals and small

political committees.

7. Release of Documents Following the Dismissal of a Complaint

Because the right of confidentiality is meant to protect the respondent, in cases
where the FEC dismisses a complaint against the respondent, the respondent should have the
right to determine whether its response to the complaint or to the OGC’s probable cause brief
should become part of the public record. Otherwise, private parties can use the process of filing
an FEC complaint as a discovery device to extract information about the respondent. Cf AFL-
CIO v. FEC, 333 F.3d at 178 (noting that the Commission’s former policy of automatically
disclosing all documents following the conclusion of an investigation “encourages political
opponents to file charges against their competitors to . . . learn[] their political strategy so that it
can be exploited to the complainant’s advantage™) (quotation omitted). Allowing private parties
to do so encourages frivolous filings and waste of Commission resources.

FECA only requires the Commission to disclose conciliation agreements and
Commission determinations “that a person has not violated the Act,” but the Commission’s
current policy on the release of documents following the closing of an enforcement proceeding
provides for disclosure of respondent’s responses to the complaint, the finding of reason to
believe, and OGC’s recommendation of probable cause. 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(4)(B)(ii); see 68
Fed. Reg. 70426, 70427 (Dec. 18, 2003). However, when disclosing those filings will require
disclosure of information that is politically or personally sensitive to respondent, respondent’s
interest in keeping that information confidential outweighs any FEC interest in disclosure. Cf.
AFL-CIO v. FEC, 333 F.3d at 176 (explaining that courts “facing a constitutional challenge to a
disclosure requirement” must “balance the burdens imposed on individuals and associations
against the significance of the government interest in disclosure and consider the degree to which
the government has tailored the disclosure requirement to serve its interests™) (striking down the
FEC’s regulation regarding disclosure at 11 C.F.R. § 5.4(a)(4)).

In most cases, respondents will likely want to disclose their FEC filings, perhaps
in redacted form, in order to clear their good name. However, where a respondent desires to

' A person who violates § 437g(a)(12)(A) is subject to a $2,200 fine. 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12)(B); 11
C.F.R. § 111.24(b) (adjusting for inflation). The fine increases to $6,500 for knowing and willful

conduct. /d.
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withhold disclosure, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12)(A) should permit respondent to do so. Such a policy
would encourage more comprehensive responses to complaints and would reduce the risk that

frivolous complaints will be filed with the intent of forcing discovery.

8. Extensions of Time

The Commission has requested comments regarding its practice of granting
extensions of time to file a response to OGC’s probable cause briefs. I emphasize at the outset
that the 15-day time period set by statute in which to respond to a recommendation of probable
cause (or, for that matter, to a complaint) is usually grossly inadequate. See 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a)(1), (3). A respondent can rarely, if ever, prepare in 15 days an adequate response to a
probable cause brief that OGC may have spent six to eight months drafting, particularly when the
brief is based on an investigation that may have taken place over the course of years.
Respondents generally have no warning as to when a probable cause brief will appear on their
doorstep, requiring a thorough response within 15 days. Often, the respondent is unaware of
arguments or evidence put forth by OGC until the respondent receives the probable cause brief.

While OGC routinely grants extensions to this 15-day filing deadline, the
requirement of seeking an extension creates unnecessary uncertainty for respondents and also
creates unhealthy incentives for OGC to use the power to grant or deny extensions to obtain
concessions on collateral issues.

The Commission should seek from Congress a statutory change to § 437g(a)(1)
and (3) to extend the period of time in which a respondent can respond to a complaint or to a
probable cause recommendation to at least 30 days. A 30-day time period is consistent with the
time period provided for responding to a brief in federal court. See Fed. R. App. P. R. 31(a).

However, until Congress enacts a statutory fix, the Commission should grant an
extension of at least 15 days as a matter of course and should not require any showing of cause
or any tolling of the statute of limitations before granting such an extension. If a particular
respondent requires additional extensions, the Commission can evaluate on a case-by-case basis
whether granting the extension is reasonable and whether the respondent should be required to
toll the statutory limitations period. In no case should the Commission be permitted to extract
from a respondent a tolling of the limitations period beyond the period of the extension granted.
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* * b
Thank you for permitting me to comment on the above policies and procedures. I

would like to request an opportunity to testify at the Commission’s January 14, 2009 hearing, so
that I may present an overview of these comments and respond to any questions Commissioners

may have.

Respectfully submitted,

(Fl=—

Robert K. Kelner

CC: Mr. Stephen Gura, Deputy Associate General Counsel, FEC






Comments on Federal Election Commission Policies and Procedures
Response to Notice 2008-13

David M. Mason*
Member, FEC 1998-2008

I commend the Commission for offering this opportunity to comment on its
procedures and policies. Procedural changes made during my own tenure, and described
in the “Background” section of the notice, were, in my view, overwhelmingly productive.
My only regret is that we did not accomplish more and do so more quickly. Ata
minimum, a re-examination of institutional procedures every five or six years is entirely
appropriate and productive for any organization.

| offer one bit of personal advice to my successors considering further revisions to
procedures: just do it. It is the nature of bureaucracies, and in particular of a six member
collegial body, to move slowly. The coming year will pass quickly. At some point new
Commissioners will join you, necessitating reviewing any then-pending procedural
changes. No set of procedures is or will be perfect. Due to the requirements of the law
and the nature of the Commission you face a far greater likelihood of failure by inaction
or over-caution than any risk from changing procedures decisively.

To the extent you can reach consensus about desirable changes, | urge you to
move quickly and boldly. Mistakes resulting from action, should you make one, can be
corrected. Mistakes resulting from inaction are difficult even to identify, much less to
rectify.

Set yourselves (and your staff) a short deadline after this hearing, reach consensus
on what matters you can, and adopt and implement those policies within the next few
months. Note also that the 2003 hearing was still bearing fruit several years later: do not
hold hostage procedures you agree on now in order to resolve every issue of interest.

You can certainly make one set of changes right away and others later.

I will offer substantive comments on motions, timeliness, prioritization, penalties
and appearances. To summarize, | recommend that the Commission further clarify the
standards, timing and procedures for a motion to dismiss and that it provide for a motion
for reconsideration at RTB. In general, | recommend the Commission focus formal
motions at the RTB stage, but continue to allow extraordinary motions on an ad hoc basis
as it has in the past. | urge the Commission to reinvigorate the effort to improve the
timeliness of enforcement matters. Finally, | recommend that you expand opportunities
for appearances before the Commission based on the success of the probable cause
hearing experience.

1 I am currently a public policy consultant, and advise some clients on matters related to the Federal
Election Commission. However, the views presented here are my own, and are not offered on behalf of
any client or other person.





1. Motions Before the Commission

The notice (at I.A.) states that the FECA does not provide for consideration of
motions to dismiss (among others). While it is true that the statute does not provide
detailed procedures for consideration of motions to dismiss, the statute mentions
dismissal no fewer than five times in §437g.2 Further, the Commission’s Policy
Statement on Commission Actions at the Initial Stage of the Enforcement Process,
http://www.fec.gov/law/cfr/ej_compilation/2007/notice_2007-6.pdf , provides a
description of the use and import of a motion to dismiss.

This statutory treatment of the dismissal motion shows that the Commission not
only “should”, but in many cases must entertain motions to dismiss or their equivalent.
More broadly, it shows that Congress did not intend to limit the Commission to the
reason to believe, probable cause, and suit motions described in detail in §437g. Note
also that the Commission’s regulations provide a procedure for reconsideration of
advisory opinions despite the absence of any suggestion of such a procedure in the
statute. Compare 2 U.S.C. 437f with 11 C.F.R. 112.6. Further, Commission internal
procedures provide procedures for and limitations on a vote to reconsider on any matter.

It is true that the Commission has exercised flexibility in considering motions
submitted by respondents, however styled. But the question the notice appears to be
raising is not whether the Commission should entertain motions it already uses routinely,
but whether the Commission should establish more formal procedures or guidance for
submission and consideration of such motions by outside parties (respondents), including,
for instance, whether there are circumstances in which the Commission should agree to
formal consideration of such a motion.

a. Motion to Dismiss

Pursuant to the 2007 Policy on Actions at the Initial Stage of the Enforcement
Process, and effectively under Commission practice prior to that time, respondents have
the ability to ask the Commission to dismiss a matter (on prosecutorial discretion
grounds) or to find No Reason to Believe (on substantive grounds) in their statutorily-
protected response (“opportunity to demonstrate ... that no action should be taken.”)
8437g(a)(1). It would be useful to tie the 2007 Policy Statement and the 437g(a)(1)
response right more explicitly together by amending the 2007 Policy Statement to specify
that respondents may request dismissal, No RTB, or pre-probable cause conciliation in
their response.

Whether a respondent’s dismissal request is styled as a “motion” (implying a right
to formal approval or rejection) at the RTB stage is irrelevant substantively because the

2 Allowing no vote “other than a vote to dismiss” prior to 15 day reply period. §437g(a)(1). Providing for
review of “an order of the Commission dismissing a complaint.” 8437g(a)(8)(A). Petition challenging
“dismissal of a complaint [must be filed] within 60 days after the date of the dismissal. §437g(a)(8)(B).
“[T]he court may declare that the dismissal...is contrary to law. 8437g(a)(8)(C). (Emphasis added in each
citation.)





Commission is required by statute to take some action at that stage. Thus, for instance, a
Commission finding of RTB inescapably implies a rejection of dismissal. Explaining in
the “Initial Stage” Statement that the Commission is required to consider any response,
including any specific requested action, would provide some assurance to respondents
that their requests will be considered.

If, however, the Commission wishes to make its assurance of hearing the
respondent more explicit, agreeing to vote on a respondent’s request to dismiss or find
No RTB could be accomplished with no delay and extremely minimal complication. The
Commission could simply announce, by way of policy statement or regulation, that it will
consider any request to dismiss or find No RTB submitted with a timely response.
Obviously, the Commission might agree with such a motion. If not, a motion to reject
the respondent’s motion (to dismiss or find No RTB) could be coupled with a motion to
find RTB. Because similar compound motions are routine at the Commission, such a
process would likely be seamless after a brief adjustment period.

The “Initial Stage” Policy Statement could be further improved by clarifying the
standard for a “No RTB” finding. While the current statement includes examples of
when such a finding would be appropriate, in my experience, Commissioners and the
General Counsel frequently compared the No RTB finding to a motion pursuant to Rule
12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The “fails to describe a violation of the
Act” language of the Initial Stage Statement is already quite similar to the “failure to state
a claim” language of Rule 12(b)(6). Making this parallel explicit in the Initial Stage
Statement or elsewhere would be especially helpful to counsel who do not practice before
the Commission frequently by providing a familiar and precedent-rich analogy to the
standard the Commission already applies.

It would also be helpful to point out the difference in terminology between
Commission practice and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The 12(b)(6) motion is
normally styled as a motion to “dismiss,” the term the Commission normally uses for
prosecutorial discretion decisions. As noted, the “No RTB” standard, a term not used in
civil procedure motions, is equivalent to the 12(b)(6) standard.

b. Motion to Reconsider

In my experience, a reconsideration request arose most often in the immediate
wake of an RTB finding. Because the Factual and Legal Analysis that accompanies the
notice of a finding (required by 8437g(a)(2)) is the first Commission statement on a
complaint, a respondent is sometimes surprised by a legal theory or factual assumption
embodied in the finding. If a respondent believes the Commission has simply overlooked
or misunderstood a critical point, allowing reconsideration in lieu of resolving the matter
through investigation may be useful.

As noted above, the Commission has long had a procedure to reconsider Advisory
Opinions despite lack of specific statutory guidance. That regulation, at 11 C.F.R. 112.6,
may provide a useful model for reconsideration of RTB findings. Both the time for a





motion and the procedure for Commission consideration are limited to avoid the
necessity for Commission action in cases where the outcome would not be changed.

During ten years on the Commission I recall only a handful of reconsideration
motions on Advisory Opinions. Reconsideration was genuinely rare, | suspect, because
requestors recognized that they needed extraordinary reasons to convince Commissioners
who had already considered and voted on the matter to change their minds. Against fears
that allowing reconsideration of an RTB finding would introduce unacceptable delay, I
suggest that the experience with Advisory Opinions suggests that such hypothetical fears
are unlikely to be realized.

Because a probable cause finding is preceded by cross-briefing and the
opportunity to request a hearing, surprise or misunderstanding should be minimal. Thus,
reconsideration of a Probable Cause finding would be less useful and probably more
prone to use for delay.

c. Motions During the Course of an Investigation

Motions made well after RTB in the course of an investigation, while sometimes
styled as motions to dismiss or reconsider, often involved disputes or concerns about the
scope or conduct of an investigation. When such controversies amount to discovery
disputes, mechanisms such as a motion to quash a subpoena, or forcing the Commission
to seek subpoena enforcement, are more apt than a dismissal motion.

In other cases such motions were offered in response to legal developments,
including judicial decisions or the Commission’s own disposition of a legally or factually
similar matter. As with the recent Davis case, the Commission is normally fully aware of
such developments and their bearing on pending cases, and motions by respondents are
not necessary to trigger appropriate consideration by the Commission.

In still other instances, motions in the course of an investigation amounted to
complaints that the matter had simply dragged on too long, or had failed to produce
evidence of wrongdoing. While it is useful for the Commission to understand the degree
of frustration sometimes occasioned by its investigations, such motions were often more
reflective of the contentiousness of the matter than its merits.

In summary, | found motions made, however styled, in the course of
investigations occasionally informative, but rarely useful. In addition, the circumstances
under which such a motion might be meritorious are difficult to predict. Specific rules
governing extraordinary motions might do as much to frustrate as to facilitate justice in
the unusual circumstances in which such motions may be necessary. For this reason, |
recommend that the Commission continue its current, informal practice of receiving and
circulating extraordinary motions, without assuming any obligation to act or respond. As
with all matters before the Commission, if any Commissioner feels the matter deserves
attention, the Commission will consider it.





A policy statement explaining that the General Counsel will receive and circulate
extraordinary motions (and so describing them) without obligation to act may also be
useful. Practitioners would understand that the route was open but extraordinary, setting
realistic expectations.

d. Probable Cause and Conciliation

Respondents again have an opportunity to make the equivalent of a motion to
dismiss at the probable cause stage (if a matter progresses that far) by asking that the
Commission reject the General Counsel’s probable cause recommendation. Further,
respondents engaging in conciliation (including pre-probable cause) have the ability to
suggest dismissal of particular elements of a complaint or particular respondents. Under
Commission practice, Commission staff historically has circulated to Commissioners any
proposal that a respondent wishes to have considered during the conciliation process.
Any single Commissioner who so wishes may then obtain Commission consideration of
the proposal. As with many informal Commission procedures, it may be helpful to
describe this practice in a policy statement or elsewhere for the benefit of less
experienced counsel or respondents who want assurance that Commissioners themselves
will review their submissions.

e. Timing of Motions in General

In addition to considering specific motions, the Commission may wish to focus
more generally on the stage(s) at which motion practice is appropriate. Again by analogy
to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b), respondents should be encouraged to make any
and all claims defenses or motions with their initial response. By focusing potentially
dispositive motions around the statutorily-mandated RTB and PC stages at which the
Commission must act in any case, the Commission can provide greater transparency and
procedural protections without unnecessarily delaying its investigative and enforcement
processes.

2. Timeliness of Commission Action

I share the sense of accomplishment of Commission staff in the significant
improvements in the time for processing enforcement matters made over the least several
years. In my view, however, further significant improvements are still possible. After an
initial dramatic improvement following the adoption of a 90 day target for First General
Counsels Reports (FGCR) the Commission hit a plateau. Early in the Commission’s
history FGCRs were known as “48 hour reports” because they were expected to be
completed in that time frame. Obviously, those reports were not as detailed as the ones
the Commission receives today, but at a minimum they show that a different model,
involving far quicker action, is possible.

Reviewing the time deadlines in 84379 is informative: periods of 5 days, 15 days
(three instances), and 30 days are specified. The only instance of a 90 day period is as an
outside limit (rather than a target or average) for conciliation. | see no reason why the





Office of General Counsel cannot routinely produce an FGCR in the same 15 days
respondents are expected to reply to a complaint or a probable cause brief. Even
allowing extensions similar to those routinely given respondents, 90 days should be an
outside limit rather than a mere target or average. By comparison, the Policy staff and
Commission routinely meet the statutory 60 day deadline for issuance of Advisory
Opinions.

One cause of delay in counsels reports is a continual effort by line attorneys and
supervisors to predict and react to Commissioners’ concerns. While responding to
Commission direction is commendable, predicting it is sometimes impossible. When
complex or closely balanced questions are present, it may be preferable to get the issues
before decision-makers (Commissioners) expeditiously, rather than to attempt too fine a
balancing. Even if a 30 day report timeframe comes at the cost of occasionally sending
one back for further analysis, the net gain will be huge.

The Commission may want to consider specific steps to enforce time deadlines.
For instance, the Commission might require OGC to notify the Secretary of case
activations and then place matters on the agenda for the first meeting following the
expiration of a 60 or 90 day period (if not already forwarded). Matters taking that long at
the FGCR stage would likely benefit from a Commission discussion. More importantly,
knowing that such a discussion would occur would provide the staff a significant
incentive to complete the report in a timely fashion.

3. Prioritization

The Enforcement Priority System was adopted largely to address a problem which
no longer exists: deciding which cases to dump because the Commission could not
address every complaint within the five year statute of limitations. The EPS is still useful
as an objective system for identifying low rated complaints that may be eligible for
dismissal, and for selecting matters appropriate for ADR. The ratings also assist OGC
managers in assigning cases and setting time schedules. So long as the Commission
continues addressing all but the lowest-rated complaints, whether the Commission gives
greater or lesser priority to certain types of cases is not highly significant.

4. Settlements and Penalties

Commissioner Weintraub has long advocated disclosing the Commission’s
internal penalty schedules. | was a skeptic largely because | feared that doing so might
result in extensive arguments with respondents’ counsels about how the Commission
should interpret the Commission’s penalty schedules. Ideally, conciliation should focus
on remediation on the part of the respondent rather than Commission procedures. Late in
my tenure, however, | because persuaded that some disclosure of Commission penalty
expectations could be accomplished without risking most conciliations devolving into a
race to the bottom of a penalty schedule.





The Commission has several starting penalty levels stated as percentages of the
amount in violation for differing categories of violations such as reporting, excessive
contributions, corporate contributions, etc. It also has, in some instances, detailed
processes for incorporating mitigating (mostly) and aggravating (occasionally) factors. If
the Commission were to release a simple list limited to the beginning calculation by
category (10, 20, 30, 50, 75, 100%, etc.), it would serve the useful purposes of identifying
what the Commission considers the relative seriousness of violations and inform
inadvertent violators (who compose the vast majority of respondents) what they can
expect to pay by way of penalty. If the Commission omitted the more detailed (and more
fact specific and judgment laden) exceptions and refinements, it would likely avoid
shifting the focus of conciliation from the respondent’s actions to the Commission’s
schedules.

The Commission should retain flexibility to depart from penalty schedules: while
schedules are useful as a starting point, every case is unique. Because departures were, in
my experience, almost always downward from the base levels, no harm in a due process
sense would result.

5. Appearances—Audits and Advisory Opinions

Given the Commission’s successful experience with oral hearings in the
enforcement process, the commission should consider expanding opportunities for
appearances in other limited circumstances. Specifically, audited committees should be
allowed to request a hearing at the final audit report stage, under procedures similar to
existing probable cause hearings. Such hearings are required in public funding audits,
and are often informative for the Commission. As with enforcement matters, it is likely
that many committees will not request hearings, and the Commission should retain
discretion in whether to grant them for Title 2 audits.

The Commission should also consider allowing appearances by counsel
requesting advisory opinions. The Commission may wish to limit appearances to
instances in which one or more draft opinions would not grant or substantially limit a
proposed activity or where Commissioners themselves have questions. Requesting
counsels’ presentations need be no more lengthy than presentations by the General
Counsel’s policy staff currently are. In instances where Commissioners have questions,
often readily answered, there is no discernible purpose in requiring Commission counsel
to consult privately with requesting counsel and then to report to Commissioners, who are
present in the same room, what requesting counsel said. Requesting counsel is
presumably competent to speak in public on behalf of a client, and no concerns about
improper ex parte communications could possibly arise in the context of an on the record
discussion in an open hearing room.
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RE: Comments in Response to Notice 2008-13, Agency Procedures
Dear Mssrs. Gura and Shonkwiler:

These comments are submitted in response to the December 8, 2008 Notice 2008-13
regarding procedures of the Federal Election Commission (“the Notice™). In addition to the
comments below, | respectfully request the opportunity to testify at the public hearing scheduled
for January 14, 2009 on the issues contained in the Notice.

Before responding to the voluminous number of questions contained in the Notice, |
would first like to address the Commission’s actions since the last hearing on agency procedures
conducted in 2003. At that time, | submitted comments and appeared at the Commission’s
public hearing on this subject. In reviewing the comments submitted at that time, it seems only
appropriate to initially discuss my experiences since the 2003 hearing.

The following is my “grading” of the progress of the Commission since 2003 on the
various points contained in my earlier comments:

1. Overall Approach of the Commission to Procedural Due Process: C

There has been, in my view, a marked improvement in the attitude of the Office of
General Counsel (“OGC”) toward the constitutional obligations of the Commission to protecting
the due process rights of respondents involved in proceedings in and before the Commission.
While there have certainly been instances involving my clients during the past six years in which
that has not been the case, as a general rule it is my considered opinion that those instances are
the exception, rather than the rule. The Commission and the OGC are to be commended for
considerable progress in this important and most fundamental area. However, absent attention to
and resolution of the issues identified below, it is not possible for the Commission to receive
more than a passing grade in the area of protecting and respecting the due process rights of those
appearing in and before the Commission in various proceedings.

Further, the Commission deprives itself of a true opportunity to entertain both sides of any
Matter Under Review (“MUR?”) because the OGC is, seemingly, the sole arbiter of the
information provided to the Commission for its consideration. The Commission should review
its entire process of receipt, review and development of the factual and legal analysis of a case,
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with not only the OGC’s representations and characterizations, but also a more proactive
involvement of the analysis and arguments of Respondents. The Commission should develop
new procedures that are a) reflective of a more balanced approach and b) publicly available.

2. Publication of the Commission’s Enforcement Manual: F

| reiterate and incorporate by reference my comments from 2003 on this subject: The
Commission’s continued failure to publish its enforcement manual warrants ongoing criticism.
The “secrecy’ of the procedural requirements that apparently bind the OGC attorneys in their
negotiations and dealings with respondents is simply unacceptable. One should not have to have
been employed by the Commission in order to have access to information that governs
enforcement proceedings. The absence of a publicly available enforcement manual continues to
be a source of concern and should be remedied.

3. Confidentiality as a protection to respondents, not the Commission: D-

Until the Commission publishes its enforcement manual and provides notice to the public of its
enforcement procedures, “confidentiality” continues to be defined perversely by the
Commission.

4. Commission definition of the roles and responsibilities — and legal liabilities — of
treasurers and others involved in campaigns / committees: A

The Commission deserves praise for its policies and procedures delineating the personal legal
exposure and liability of committee treasurers. The Commission’s policy on this subject has
been extremely helpful in advising individuals considering service as a committee treasurer to
better understand their legal responsibilities and potential liability for failure to properly
discharge their duties.

Questions in the Notice.

With respect to the specific questions posed by the Commission in 2003 and again in the
Notice, | would offer the following comments:

First, I incorporate by reference the entirety of my 2003 comments, particularly insofar as
those comments respond to many of the identical questions posed in the current Notice.

Without re-stating my earlier comments, | would supplement those as follows:

Motions before the Commission and Appearances. To amplify my earlier comments about
appearances and motions before the Commission, the question the Commission should be asking
isn’t whether motions should be allowed (although the answer is yes, they should be allowed).
Because the procedures manual is “secret’, the exact procedures the Commission follows in the
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life of a complaint are not publicly disclosed. But from experience and observation, there
appears to be a fundamental problem in the Commission’s proceedings; namely, that the OGC is
essentially the only voice heard by the Commission in its decision-making points related to
enforcement matters.

A good test of whether this is an accurate observation would be for the Commission to go
back through enforcement actions over the past five years. How many times has the
Commission dismissed a case after an RTB finding? It has never happened to any of my clients
— which causes me to believe that once an RTB finding has been made, the die is cast and there
is no set of facts or legal arguments that can persuade the Commission that, after further
consideration, the MUR should be dismissed. The procedures adopted by the Commission have
essentially collapsed the two-step process into one. My perception is that because the OGC is
invested in a ‘guilty’ verdict after the RTB finding, there is nothing a respondent can argue or
present subsequently to the OGC that results in a decision not to proceed further. Perhaps my
experience is unique and it is common for the Commission to dismiss cases after the RTB
finding, determining upon further review and analysis that there is no probable cause to proceed.
If that is not occurring in at least some considerable numbers of cases, then there is a serious
flaw in either the Commission’s procedures, or else the statute should be amended to eliminate
the two step process because it is a fiction.

One obvious possibility (and, indeed a probability) could be that there is not sufficient
opportunity for true adversarial proceedings in and before the Commission itself. The
Commission should develop a process that fundamentally shifts the process from arguing to the
OGC to submission of arguments to the Commission itself. On more than one occasion | have
experienced the futility of presenting arguments in a brief knowing full well that those arguments
and authorities are essentially being submitted to opposing counsel.

Motion practice and appearances before the Commission are both important aspects of an
adversarial proceeding — but that should be part of an overhaul of the assumptions employed by
the Commission in its approach to consideration of MURs. The OGC should be responsible for
arguing to the Commission its view of the case — and respondents should have that same
privilege without the OGC acting as a filter characterizing respondents arguments and analyses.

The Commission, to my knowledge, has not published data or statistics regarding the number
of appearances and arguments allowed since the Commission authorized such appearances. My
requests for appearances have not been granted, so | cannot speak to the efficacy of the existing
program. Accordingly, | simply reiterate that the Commission should establish procedures for
adversarial proceedings that allow a more thorough development of the presentation to the
Commission of the arguments and positions of respondents.

Deposition and Document Production. In my earlier comments, | discussed the
Commission’s practice of not allowing witnesses to review their deposition transcripts — and the
Commission made changes to that practice. However, since that time, my experience has been
that fewer depositions are taken by OGC. Rather, OGC more commonly now conducts
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‘interviews’...thus avoiding the obligation to furnish copies of a transcript to a witness or
respondent. Again, this question avoids the more fundamental issue of the Commission’s
proceedings: whether the Commission should assume greater responsibility for serving as the
neutral arbiter of facts and the law presented equally by not only the OGC but also respondents.
If considered in that context, it is vital that the Commission establish procedures for making
documents on which the OGC relies available to respondents. It is fundamental to protecting the
procedural due process rights of respondents.

Extensions of Time, Timeliness and Prioritization. It is more than telling that the
Commission’s ‘Overview of Process and Applicable Timeframes’ regarding an enforcement
action leaves blank important timeframe obligations of the Commission, to-wit:

Stage Number of Days
Complaint Received ‘

Complaint Notification ‘5 Days
Response to Complaint ‘15 Days
Reason to Believe Finding ‘
Investigation ‘
Pre-Probable Cause Conciliation ‘60 Days
General Counsel’s Brief ‘

Response to General Counsel’s Brief ‘15 Days
Probable Cause to Believe ‘

Probable Cause to Believe Conciliation ‘30—90 Days
Disposition ‘

http://www.fec.gov/pages/brochures/complain.shtml, accessed January 5, 2009

Note the highlighted areas above: there are no obligations for timely action on the part of
the OGC in the most important aspects of the life of a MUR. The suggestion that the OGC is
‘understaffed’ to properly service its caseload is preposterous. Every attorney representing
respondents before the FEC has multiple cases and clients — and should not be expected to drop
everything else to meet the truncated timeframes allocated to respondents after the OGC has had
months or even years between submissions.
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The “hurry up and wait” approach taken by the OGC is, to put it mildly, one of the single
most infuriating aspects of dealing with the agency. Some suggestions to ‘level the playing
field” between respondents and the OGC:

Respondents should have an equal amount of time, or even some percentage of
the time taken by the OGC since its last submission, for filing respondent’s
responsive pleading. For example, if the OGC has taken six months to submit its
RTB Finding, the Respondent should be allowed extensions equivalent to either
the identical or some substantial percentage of the same amount of time to
respond.

If the OGC has not filed its RTB finding within two years of the initial notice of
the complaint, the MUR should be dismissed. It is ridiculous for committees to
be forced to continue to file reports and remain ‘open’ due to a pending MUR
when the OGC has not seen fit to communicate with the respondent for two years.
A set of criteria related to the timeliness of processing MURs involving losing
campaign committees should be established. It is absurd for the OGC to treat
defunct committees with no assets as it does any other committee - - and to
literally waste the taxpayers money seeking the proverbial blood from the turnip.
The longer a proceeding drags on beyond the election day loss, the harder it is to
expect there will be funds available to pay any penalty — but the OGC is
seemingly oblivious to this reality.

The concern with extensions of time to respondents is, in my view, misplaced. A greater
emphasis on assuring equivalent timeframes to respondents as those enjoyed by the OGC and
attention to expeditious action and disposition of MURs by the OGC are of greater importance to
the regulated community and should be of greater concern to the Commission.

The Commission has made progress in terms of its statistics related to processing and
better prioritization of complaints — and deserves credit for efforts in that regard. Nonetheless,
there are still areas in need of attention as outlined above.

Memorandum of Understanding with DOJ. Has one been adopted since BCRA was
enacted? Is it published? If not, why not? This is important.

Settlements and Penalties. The secrecy surrounding the OGC’s negotiating parameters
makes it difficult to know what the amounts relate to. Having negotiated several, | can honestly
say | have no idea how the OGC arrives at the amounts it demands and receives. Some
seemingly large penalties paid by certain respondents in the past few years nonetheless constitute
a tiny fraction of the amount at issue in the MUR - but it is impossible to know how the number
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was conceived or arrived at by the OGC or whether it is based on a formula that would be
applicable to other similarly situated respondents. Perhaps that is contained in the secret
procedures manual — something to which | am not privy.

Conclusion. The Commission has listed numerous other questions and topics which are
deserving of attention. I will be prepared to answer questions about some of the topics at the
public hearing and may supplement these comments at a later date.

Thank you for the opportunity to submit these comments. | can be reached at (202) 295-
4081 should you have questions regarding this submission or with respect to the hearing
schedule.

Sincerely,
[s|Cleta Mitchell

Cleta Mitchell, Esq.
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Re: Comment on Commission Policies and Procedures
Dear Mr. Gura:

We submit the following comments in response to the notice published in the Federal
Register by the Federal Election Commission (“FEC” or “Commission”) regarding the
Commission’s policies and procedures (Notice 2008-13). 73 Fed. Reg. 74494 (December 8,
2008). Our comments are submitted in our personal capacities, based on our experience as
counsel for entities and individuals regulated by the Commission, and our prior experience as the
Commission’s General Counsel and Deputy General Counsel, spanning the period from 2001-
2007.

The FEC asks a broad range of questions, such as: Should the Commission entertain
motions from those who file complaints and those it investigates (respondents), such as motions
to reconsider, dismiss, or take some other action? Should respondents receive access to all
relevant documents in the agency’s possession, including transcripts of testimony obtained by
investigators from non-party witnesses? Should respondents be entitled to appear before the
FEC before the Commission decides to open an investigation?

We applaud the Commission’s willingness to reexamine its processes and procedures.
Indeed, a similar undertaking in 2003 led the FEC to make several constructive changes to its
internal procedures. While the current initiative is no doubt well-intended, there is a risk that
adopting ever more elaborate processes for investigating potential campaign finance violations
will delay resolution of complaints to the detriment of respondents. The Commission and
respondents have experienced this problem before.

Several years ago, it was common for FEC investigations to languish for years, at times
surpassing the five-year statute of limitations for a court to impose civil penalties. In our first
year heading the FEC’s Office of General Counsel (2001-2002), members of the election bar
commonly complained that enforcement matters would disappear into the ether, with years
transpiring between contacts with Commission staff. We regularly considered staft requests to
negotiate agreements with respondents’ counsel to toll the statute of limitations. And as for the
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few matters that went to federal court, a final ruling could come a decade after the conduct at
issue. Little wonder federal judges gave such cases short shrift. As one former Commissioner
tartly observed, the punishment is the process.

Through a series of common sense management initiatives, strong Commissioner
backing, and the hard work of Commission staff, this situation changed dramatically, so that by
2007 the FEC was resolving 85% of complaints within a two-year election cycle. Tolling
agreements became a thing of the past. Not coincidentally, Commission fines reached record
levels during the same period, owing at least in part to the fact that the fines were negotiated
while the alleged wrongdoing was still relatively fresh.

But what about fairness to respondents? Certainly, it is in everyone’s interest for the FEC
to treat respondents fairly. But in deciding whether to create new procedural rights for
respondents, it is important to keep a few things in mind.

First, the current process already allows multiple opportunities for respondents to address
the allegations and evidence.

Respondents are entitled to respond to a complaint in writing before the FEC can even
open an investigation. If an investigation is opened, the Commission typically authorizes staff to
try to negotiate a settlement before the agency makes findings that a violation has occurred. If
no settlement can be achieved at this stage, the General Counsel must furnish respondents with a
brief, laying out the factual and legal basis for finding probable cause to believe a violation has
occurred, and respondents may then submit a reply brief and request oral argument before the
full Commission. After all of these steps, if the Commission finds probable cause that a
violation has occurred, it must attempt to negotiate a settlement for another 30 days or more —
even if agency lawyers have already tried for months to negotiate a settlement under the same or
similar terms.

Second, unlike many enforcement agencies, the FEC lacks authority to impose fines on
anyone other than late filers. The FEC is an investigator and conciliator, not a judge. In the
ordinary matter, if a settlement cannot be reached, the Commission must file suit in federal court,
where respondents may present their case anew — and where they are entitled to the full panoply
of due process rights.

Third, the FEC’s request for public comment neglects to indicate what perceived
unfairness it is attempting to address. Some of the proposals would no doubt enhance procedural
rights. But absent a record of abuse or unfairness, we wonder whether these are solutions in
search of a problem.

In sum, as the Commission strives to improve, it should consider just how much process
1s necessary to ensure fairness in a proceeding that adjudicates no rights and allows multiple
opportunities to address the evidence. Equally essential to procedural fairness is the interest that
respondents have in the prompt administrative resolution of the allegations against them. New
procedural rights will be of little comfort to respondents if they must endure additional months or
years under a cloud of suspicion.
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While we are skeptical that more process is the answer, opportunities abound to improve
transparency. The FEC could start by more clearly and contemporaneously describing its actions
in audits, enforcement cases, and advisory opinions. Civil penalties and other enforcement
actions are announced in a manner that is difficult to decipher and does little to promote
understanding or deterrence. As a general matter, finding information on the Commission’s
website, about enforcement matters, audits, or advisory opinions, is a challenge - a strange
circumstance for a disclosure agency. The FEC should also examine which internal processing
policies, such as those triggering referrals from the Audit and Reports Analysis Divisions to the
General Counsel for enforcement action, could be made public without compromising statutory
requirements. Modest changes such as these could have a big impact on compliance, as well as
promoting insight into agency functions.

There is a balance to be struck in fashioning a system that is both fair and efficient, and
that promotes compliance with the law. We trust the Commission will be mindful of it.

Thank you for the opportunity to submit these comments.

Sincerely yours,

WOMBLE CARLYLE SANDRIDGE & RICE
A Professional Limited Liability Company

Lawrence H. Norton

AL

James A. Kahl

WCSR 4045640v2
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Stephen Gura, Deputy Associate General Counsel
Federal Election Commission

999 E Street, NW.

Washington, DC 20463

Re: Federal Election Commission [Notice 2008-13], Agency Procedures
Dear Mr. Gura,

OMB Watch is a nonprofit, charitable organization that promotes government accountability and
citizen participation at the national level. We encourage nonprofits' participation in governmental
decision-making, which includes advocacy, lobbying activities, and nonpartisan voter
participation. We advocate for governmental policies that reduce barriers for nonprofits to
engage in public policy debates and help to make nonprofit sector activities more transparent and
accountable. It is for these reasons we appreciate the opportunity to comment specifically on the
Commission's implementation of regulations.

We hope that the Commission will take time in 2009 to address the problem vagueness and case-
by-case enforcement creates for nonprofit organizations in the following areas:

e Electioneering communications rule
e Definition of "express advocacy"
e Definition of "major purpose™

Electioneering Communications Rule: Problems with vagueness and inability to adequately
enforce 11 CFR 114.15

The Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act (BCRA) of 2002 prohibits corporations, including
nonprofits, from airing broadcasts that refer to a federal candidate 30 days before a primary
election and 60 days before a general election. This electioneering communications rule was
modified by the Supreme Court in the case Wisconsin Right to Life v. FEC (WRTL) in 2007 to
limit the prohibition to ads that are "susceptible of no reasonable interpretation other than as an
appeal to vote for or against a clearly identified Federal candidate.™

OMB Watch is particularly concerned with the FEC's ability to fairly and adequately enforce
restrictions on the use of corporate and labor organization funds for electioneering
communications. This is in part due to the lack of clarity in the FEC's rule interpreting WRTL,

1127 S. Ct. 2652 (2007)

Celebrating 2 Years of Promoting Goversment Accowntability and Citigen Participation — 1993 - 2008

1742 Connecticut Ave. NW tel: 202.234.8494 email: ombwatch@ombwatch.org
Washington, DC 20009 fax: 202-234.8584 web: http://www.ombwatch.org





11 CFR 114.15, which fails to clearly distinguish electoral activity from non-electoral activity.
This has generated a multitude of court challenges.

On November 20, 2007, the FEC issued 11 CFR 114.15, Permissible use of corporate and labor
organization funds for certain electioneering communications, defining exemptions from the ban
on corporate funding for non-electoral broadcasts, in order to comply with the Supreme Court
decision. The rule allows broadcasts of genuine issue ads, but does not provide a specific
standard. There is a safe harbor for some grassroots lobbying broadcasts, and the rest of the rule
only lists criteria to be considered. It says a broadcast:

Either: (i) Focuses on a legislative, executive or judicial matter or issue; and
(A) Urges a candidate to take a particular position or action with respect to the matter
or issue, or
(B) Urges the public to adopt a particular position and to contact the candidate with
respect to the matter or issue; or
(ii) Proposes a commercial transaction, such as purchase of a book, video, or other
product or service, or such as attendance (for a fee) at a film exhibition or other event.

This sets up the FEC to decide if a communication is permissible on a case-by-case basis. For
example, in the listing "Rules of Interpretation” for all communications that do not fall within the
limited safe harbor, the Commission says it "will consider whether the communication includes
any indicia of express advocacy."

In comments on the proposed rulemaking, OMB Watch called for the regulation to be more
specific, which would alleviate current confusion and fill a gap to help both organizations issuing
communications and the FEC itself.? A recent Advisory Opinion for the National Right to Life
Committee, where the Commissioners were unable to make a decision, demonstrates that the line
between issue advocacy and electioneering remains indistinct.?

Deciding whether a communication is permissible on a case-by-case basis provides little
guidance as to what is and is not prohibited activity, making it difficult to know how the FEC
will interpret a communication. Such uncertainty may ultimately have a chilling impact on
groups that want to engage in advocacy and release various forms of communications.

The FEC has examples of communications that fall within the safe harbor, however, this overall
approach has the same kinds of problems charities and religious organizations are experiencing
with the vagueness of the Internal Revenue Service's (IRS) "facts and circumstances™ standard
for enforcing the tax code's ban on partisan intervention in elections by 501(c)(3) organizations.
In 2009 the FEC should consider moving away from the safe harbor towards a more explicit rule
that is less ambiguous.

Vague Express Advocacy Definition

2 [Notice 2007-16]
* Advisory Opinion 2008-15 National Right to Life Committee, Inc.





The definition of express advocacy according to 11 CFR 100.22, is any communication, "which
in context can have no other reasonable meaning than to urge the election or defeat of one or
more clearly identified candidate(s), [. . .] When taken as a whole and with limited reference to
external events, such as the proximity to the election, could only be interpreted by a reasonable
person as containing advocacy of the election or defeat of one or more clearly identified
candidate(s)."

This definition is very similar to the standard set in the Supreme Court's opinion in WRTL; "an
ad is the functional equivalent of express advocacy only if the ad is susceptible of no reasonable
interpretation other than as an appeal to vote for or against a specific candidate.” It leaves too
much room for interpretation.

The impact of this vagueness problem is that the FEC cannot fairly or adequately enforce the rule
defining express advocacy. As former Commissioner David Mason said, it may be considered
unconstitutional after WRTL. In a statement of reasons accompanying MUR 5874 (involving the
question of voter guides issued by the Gun Owners of America), Mason noted; "Chief Justice
Roberts explained that speech standards must avoid the "open-ended rough-and-tumble of
factors” to survive constitutionality scrutiny. Considerations such as timing, the intent of the
speaker, the effect of the communication, other speech made by the speaker and different sources
to which the communication refers are excluded contextual reference points. Section 100.22(b)
suffers from the exact type of constitutional frailties described by the Chief Justice because it
endorses an inherently vague ‘rough-and-tumble of factors' approach in demarcating the line
between regulated and unregulated speech."

The current definition of express advocacy is even vaguer than the current electioneering
communications rule in 11 CFR 114.15. As a practical matter, this makes it impossible for
citizens' organizations that want to communicate with the general public to judge whether their
broadcast is allowable or not, requiring risk of sanctions. In these circumstances, it cannot be
enforced fairly. During 2009 the FEC must clarify the line between express advocacy and issue
advocacy. For the sake of future enforcement cases and for continued citizen engagement in
genuine issue advocacy, FEC regulations should outline in distinct language what is electoral and
non electoral activity.

Vague Major Purpose Definition and Determining What Constitutes a Political Committee

Under BCRA and FEC regulations, a political committee is defined as any "group of persons
which receives contributions aggregating in excess of $1,000 during a calendar year." In
Buckley v. Valeo, the U.S. Supreme Court said that a political committee "need only encompass
organizations that are under the control of a candidate or the major purpose of which is the
nomination or election of a candidate."® In addition, the major purpose test, established in
Massachusetts Citizens for Life (MCFL), is also used to determine which organizations should be
considered political committees.” The MCFL decision notes that if the "major purpose” of an

“11 CFR 100.22

> Statement of Reasons of Vice Chairman David M. Mason, MUR 5874 Nov. 15, 2007
® Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1 (1976)

" FEC v. Massachusetts Citizens for Life, Inc., 589 F. Supp. 646 (D. Mass. 1984)





organization is to influence federal elections, it should be considered a political committee

subject to FEC rules. However, the definition of the term "major purpose” is unclear. As a
result, it is difficult to definitively determine when an organization is considered a political
committee.

The 2008 presidential election illustrates the need to clearly define what constitutes a "major
purpose.” During the election season, the American Issues Project (AIP) sponsored an ad in
several swing states questioning Democratic presidential nominee Barack Obama'’s ties to a
controversial professor. The group claimed that a single $2.9 million donation for the ad did not
violate federal campaign finance laws because it was a Qualified Nonprofit Corporation under
FEC rules and was thus exempt from the $5,000 contribution limit.® That logic and AIP's
claimed status that it is an issue advocacy organization are questionable at best.

This case illustrates the need for clarity surrounding what constitutes "major purpose.” It also
shows that consideration may need to be given to both the timing of the electioneering
communication and the timing of past, present, or alleged future issue advocacy. AIP claimed in
media reports that they plan to engage in issue advocacy after the election. Is this sufficient? Is
it issue advocacy if the only activity to date is partisan electioneering surrounding a federal
campaign? Clarity around the "major purpose” definition will help to close a loophole in
campaign finance rules and ensure that all organizations that are acting as a political committee
are treated as such and those that are not are free to speak on public issues.

In light of the AIP case, this standard is not clear. If an ad criticizes a candidate for federal office
within the time frame that triggers scrutiny, how does one determine if the major purpose was
the "nomination or election of a candidate?" Is an attack on a candidate's character and fitness
treated differently than criticism of a member of Congress’ vote on a bill? There needs to be
some type of threshold that organizations can look to in determining if they meet the "major
purpose™ standard.

In Akins v. FEC, which applied the two aforementioned cases, the court held that "the major
purpose test is applicable for determining a political committee status when evaluating an
organization that has only made independent expenditures.”® Thus, clarity surrounding when an
organization is considered a political committee will not come until the ambiguities surrounding
"major purpose” are addressed, and without clarity surrounding when an organization is
considered a political committee, organizations will continue to exploit loopholes in campaign
finance laws to engage in activities that the laws are designed to prevent.

8A "qualified nonprofit corporation™ is an organization in which the only express purpose is the promotion of
political ideas; does not engage in business activities; has no shareholders and no persons who are offered or receive
any benefit that is a disincentive to disassociate from the corporation on the basis of the corporation's position on a
political issue; and was not established by a business corporation and does not directly or indirectly accept donations
or anything of value from business corporations; and is described in the Internal Revenue Code at 26 U.S.C.
§501(c)(4). 11 CFR 114.10(c).

% Akins v. FEC, No. 92-1864 (JLG) (D.D.C. Aug. 11, 1993) (on motion for amended complaint); (D.D.C. Dec. 8,
1993); (D.D.C. Mar. 30, 1994) (opinion); 66 F.3d 348 (D.C. Cir. 1995), rev'd, 101 F.3d 731 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (en
banc), vacated and remanded, 118 S. Ct. 1777 (1998) The FEC has defined independent expenditures as "funds used
for communications that expressly advocate the election or defeat of a clearly identified candidate without
cooperation or consultation with that candidate or his or her committee."





The IRS uses the "primary purpose™ test to determine if organizations have engaged in prohibited
campaign intervention. Organizations that are tax-exempt under section 501(c)(4) of the Internal
Revenue Code, known generally as "social welfare” organizations, are allowed to be involved in
political campaigns, as long as it is not their "primary purpose."

However, similar to the FEC's "major purpose" test, there is no IRS definition that clearly
defines what constitutes "primary purpose.” Due to this similarity, the lack of clarity
surrounding both terms, and the confusion that is sometimes caused due to the FEC and the IRS
using to different standards, the FEC should consider working with the IRS to harmonize the
definitions of "major purpose" and "primary purpose."

Conclusion

FEC actions have impact beyond the highly specialized world of federal elections and campaign
finance regulation, since its rules involve the exercise of First Amendment rights. The vagueness
in the electioneering communications rule and the definitions of express advocacy and major
purpose raise serious constitutional issues. These rules fail to adequately inform nonprofits of
prohibited conduct and give the FEC extremely broad discretion in its enforcement activities.
This raises both procedural due process and free speech issues.

In 2009 the FEC has the opportunity to address these flaws in the rules, before the 2010 election
season. We urge you to do so.

Sincerely,

s Blon

Amanda Adams, Nonprofit Policy Analyst

Lateefah Williams, Nonprofit Policy Analyst
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January 5, 2009

Stephen Gura, Esq.

Deputy Associate General Counsel
Federal Election Commission

999 E Street, N.W.

Washington, DC 20463

Re: Agency Procedures

Dear Mr. Gura:

On behalf of the Perkins Coie LLP Political Law Group, we write in response to the
Commission’s December 8, 2008, notice of public hearing and request for public
comments. Our comments reflect our experience as practitioners over many years; we
are not expressing the views of particular clients. We appreciate the opportunity to make
our views known on the subject of the agency’s procedures.

INTRODUCTION

We are pleased that the Commission has chosen to undertake a critical review of its
current practices. Like other agencies, it has always been obliged to follow basic norms
of reasoned decision-making in accordance with the law. See, e.g., Chamber of
Commerce v. FEC, 69 F.3d 600 (D.C. Cir. 1995), reh’g at 76 F.3d 1234 (1996). But it
also routinely — even necessarily — acts in matters of “constitutional significance”, FEC
v. Machinists Non-Partisan Political League, 655 F.2d 380 (D.C. Cir. 1981), and it must
be particularly attentive to the challenge presented by the growing complexity of the law
for effective, cost-efficient compliance by candidates, political committees, and others
engaged in political speech and association.

Because the Commission regulates core First Amendment activity — and not merely “fair
dealings in commerce ... adequate corporate disclosures, or ... fair labor standards,”
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Machinists, 655 F.2d at 387 — those whom it regulates should enjoy robust procedural
safeguards. They should be able to make reasonable decisions about compliance now,
without fear of penalties and litigation costs later.

DISCUSSION
A. The Enforcement Process

The Federal Election Campaign Act implies, and the Commission has always assumed,
that the civil enforcement process is an impartial exercise in reasoned agency decision-
making. As an expert, independent agency, the Commission is supposed to reach
decisions on the dispassionate advice of its general counsel, while affording respondents
the opportunity to present facts and arguments at various stages of the process.

In our experience, however — and there are sometimes exceptions — the process is
functionally adversarial. More often than not, on a close, controversial question, the
respondent will vigorously assert its innocence; the general counsel will vigorously assert
its culpability; and the Commission will have to sort the matter out.

The adversarial nature of the process lends itself poorly to a scheme in which respondents
are expected to funnel their arguments to the Commission through the general counsel, as
1s now the case. At no point — even under the recently adopted procedures for oral
hearing at the probable cause stage — is the Commission presented with an equal, direct
exchange of opposing viewpoints, as a court sees in litigation. One need not discredit the
professionalism and integrity of the Commission’s career lawyers to see how such a
process might be deficient for the resolution of charged, complex questions, often with
First Amendment implications.

We would respectfully submit that —

. Respondents should have the opportunity to communicate directly, formally and
transparently with the Commission at all stages of the enforcement process. While limits
on private or individual ex parte communication remain appropriate, there is simply no
reason why a respondent should not be able to file a brief or memorandum in a matter,
knowing that it will be read and reviewed by the trier of fact.

. At both the reason-to-believe and probable cause stages, respondents should have
the opportunity to review and respond to any adverse course of action that the general
counsel would urge upon the Commission.

91004-1400/LEGAL15121126.1
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. Respondents should have the opportunity to review and respond to the information
on which the general counsel relies in making adverse recommendations. This includes,
but is not limited to, being able to review deposition transcripts and documents produced
through discovery.

. The general counsel should be expected to address and respond to legal arguments
made by respondents at the reason-to-believe and probable cause stages. If the office

disagrees with the respondents” arguments, then it should be expected to say so clearly,
and to say why.

. The Commission should take pains to avoid “short-circuited” outcomes, which can
occur from time to time under current processes. It should never find reason to believe
that a violation occurred, without first giving the respondent the opportunity to respond to
the underlying complaint. Nor should it admonish a respondent for a supposed violation,

without first giving the respondent the opportunity to review and oppose the basis for
admonishment.

. The Commission should be leery of using the enforcement process to “make law.”
Its efforts to propound and enforce an “electioneering message” standard in the 1990s
were unsuccessful, with great resulting cost to the respondents who were burdened with
opposing it in administrative and court litigation. See, e.g., Colorado Fed. Campaign
Comm. v. FEC, 518 U.S. 604, 613 (1996); Clifion v. FEC, 114 F.3d 1309, 1316 (1st Cir.
1997). Its more recent efforts to use a disclaimer case, FEC v. Survival Educ. Fund, Inc.,
65 F.3d 285 (2d Cir. 1995), as the basis to impose political committee status on
unregistered nonprofit organizations, seems similarly flawed.

In its request for public comments, the Commission sought discussion of a number of
particular aspects of the enforcement process:

With regard to motions, we have found these desirable, and often necessary, and favor
expanded opportunities for their consideration. This is especially true when it comes to
motions to vacate or reconsider. Thus, for example, when a court invalidates a
Commission rule — as recently happened with the “Millionaire’s Amendment” — or when
the Commission later rejects the legal reasoning that led initially to an adverse finding, it
would be appropriate for the Commission to vacate a finding that was based on the
invalidated interpretation.

91004-1400/LEGAL15121126.1
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On depositions and document production practices, as indicated above, we favor
granting respondents the opportunity to review and respond to evidence relied upon by
the general counsel in propounding an adverse finding. In one recent case, for example, a
respondent client sought a copy of a document for which it had allegedly paid. We were
told no, although we were given the opportunity to inspect the document in the
Commission’s offices.

On extensions of time, our experience is that the Commission grants them generously at
the initial complaint processing stage, somewhat less so at the reason-to-believe stage,
and least of all at the probable cause stage. We have found that the process benefits from
reciprocal comity between respondents’ counsel and the general counsel on such matters.
Especially at the probable cause stage, where matters are most highly charged and the
issues most complex, the process benefits from the fullest possible presentation of
information, and it is rare in our experience that the extensions requested, undoubtedly
helpful to the presentation, would in any way inconvenience the agency or create
untenable delays of consequence to the agency's fulfillment of its mission.

On appearances before the Commission, we have found probable cause hearings to be
useful; they are now the only available means of direct dialogue with the Commission
itself in the enforcement process. Similar opportunities at the reason-to-believe stage, or
in the consideration of motions, would be useful, especially when complex legal issues
are involved.

On pre-election sensitivity, the Commission should be guided to the greatest extent
possible by the need to avoid distorting electoral outcomes. The Justice Department
describes i1ts own role as “prosecution, not intervention.” See Craig C. Donsanto and
Nancy L. Simmons, Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses 9-10 (7th ed. 2007). The
Commission, too, should continue to enforce and adhere to a policy whereby it
“minimizes the likelihood that the investigation itself may become a factor in the
election.” Id. at 9.

On the Memorandum of Understanding with the Justice Department, the Bipartisan
Campaign Reform Act of 2002 expanded the possibilities for criminal enforcement of the
FECA. The Commission should consider that this expansion is apt to affect how
respondents and witnesses will react to the administrative process, and especially to
subpoenas for testimony. Also, there have been some recent instances where the
simultaneous consideration of matters through the criminal and civil processes have
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created confusion and affected respondent rights. A clear, renewed MOU would be
helpful to bring clarity to the enforcement process.

On settlements and penalties, the manner by which the Commission reaches proposed
civil penalties is impossible for outsiders to discern, and seems tethered to no fixed
principle. When negotiating penalties in conciliation, respondents are repeatedly told that
they are being given discounts, or that the Commission “cannot go lower.” And yet these
assertions can never be verified, and indeed are occasionally contradicted by the
resolution of other, similar matters.

There is actual law, outside the FECA, that exists to guide the calculation of penalties.
See FEC v. Furgaich, 869 F.2d 1256 (9th Cir. 1989). When imposing penalties under the
FECA, courts are supposed to consider: (1) the good or bad faith of the defendants; (2)
the injury to the public; (3) the defendants’ ability to pay; and (4) the necessity of
vindicating the Commission’s authority. See id. at 1258. The Commission should
consider including in each proposed conciliation agreement — or in a separate submission
to the respondent for discussion — a clear indication of how the penalty proposed fits with
these standards. This would serve the objective of efficiency, and it would be fairer than
the opaque procedure now followed.

On designation of respondents, while the Commission’s recent, more careful review of
this process has been effective, respondents still do not always enjoy so-called “pre-
RTB” opportunities to respond to basic allegations, especially when the proposed finding
is initiated internally by the Commission. As discussed above, a respondent should never
face a reason-to-believe finding without having first had the opportunity to answer the
allegations in question.

B. Other Programs

The Commission sought comment on its alternative dispute resolution, administrative
fine, reports analysis and audit programs. Each program relates to the enforcement
process to some degree, and thus implicates the same concerns discussed above. In no
case should any program operate to curtail respondent rights in the enforcement process.
One example is confidentiality. A respondent defending itself privately in a MUR should
not see the same allegations surfaced publicly through the audit and reports analysis
processes, which happens from time to time.
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1. Audit

The audit and enforcement processes have become closely interconnected in practice. In
recent years, the Commission has come to use audit findings as the basis for a reason-to-
believe finding, and to adopt the final audit report as the factual and legal analysis while
advancing a proposed conciliation agreement. There is no reason for the respondent to
think that the audit findings have received any real, subsequent review. The
Commission’s past action provides the sole, apparent basis for its new one.

This might be appropriate, if the audit process involved the same safeguards as the
enforcement process. But often, it does not. Our experience is that the audit process all
too often results in faulting committees for having failed to comply with norms not
clearly understood at the time; and it features, also too frequently, radical changes in
findings and theories between the interim and final stages of the process.

The audit process offers only three opportunities for respondents to affect the outcome:
fieldwork, the exit conference, and the interim report. We have seen some instances
where the principal finding is developed even after the interim report has been provided
for comment. In this case, the respondents’ only chance to avert a hostile finding and
later enforcement is to try and intervene before the final report is adopted. This is a poor
process for a number of reasons. The Commission may not be closely engaged with the
audit at that time. The respondents may not, in fact, have the opportunity to engage
before the final report is adopted. And audits can involve a large number of complex
1ssues, making the process burdensome for all involved.

The Commission should understand that the audit process is functionally a part of the
enforcement process. And it should add the same sorts of safeguards to that process as it
should to enforcement. An audited committee should be able to make arguments directly
to the Commission. It should be able to have its representatives appear before the
Commission before adoption of the final report. It should not be presented with new or
radically different findings after presentation of the interim report, at least without a
renewed opportunity to respond. And the audit process should not serve as the
opportunity to “make new law.” Committees that acted reasonably at the time should not
face the possibility of paying penalties because their decisions are later second-guessed
by the auditors.
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2. ADR

With respect to the alternative dispute resolution program, we have found it to be an
efficient way to resolve low-level matters, with an eye toward future committee
compliance. In recent years, the Commission has seemed more inclined to view ADR in
relation to the conventional enforcement process, especially in terms of penalties. The
Commission should resist that temptation. If ADR is expected to impose the same sorts
of penalties as in the regular enforcement process, or to seek penalties in all instances,
then it will cease to be an efficient forum for resolving matters.

3. RAD

The purpose of the Reports Analysis Division should be to assist filers with accurate,
complete disclosure. Yet, RAD has served with some frequency as an unreviewed forum
to impose new and functionally binding norms on reporting committees. Committees
will receive requests for additional information that fault reporting practices in which
they have engaged for years, with no intervening change in the statute or rules. (Some
recent examples include the specificity to be used in describing payments for consulting
services, and the practice of reporting reimbursements made to individuals.) Moreover,
in our experience, there is not always consistency in the advice RAD provides, even on
the same particular question.

Such instances can be gravely consequential for reporting committees. Requests for
additional information can trigger audit and enforcement, and can invite political attack
and press scrutiny. The Commission should take steps toward greater standardization
and transparency in the requirements asserted by RAD. For example, if RAD wishes to
change substantive reporting requirements, then there ought to be a process for public
review and comment.

C. Advisory Opinions and Policy Statements

The essential condition of the advisory opinion and policy statement processes is that
they should not serve as vehicles to enforce new, binding norms on the regulated
community. It remains true that rulemaking is not the preferred means of imposing new
norms; it is the only means.

Often, the Commission sees requestors who use the AO process as an offensive weapon
against political adversaries. They have no genuine intention of engaging in proposed

91004-1400/LEGAL15121126.1
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conduct, but rather seek to advance the enforcement process against a political
competitor. Still, from time to time, the Commission will consider and adopt opinions in
response to such requests. The Commission should take special care to avoid prejudging
pending enforcement actions through the AO process.

On the other hand, we also see instances from time to time where the Commission will
initially decline to take up a valid advisory opinion request, on the pretext that it has not
presented “a complete written request” under 2 U.S.C. 437f(a)(1). These decisions seem
affected principally by the seeming difficulty of the request. The Commission and the
regulated community would benefit from the publication of transparent criteria for the
completeness of a request.

Finally, the most serious deliberations in the advisory opinion process often occur at the
meeting itself, on drafts that have not been available for public comment. The
Commission should give requestors and their counsel the opportunity to answer questions
at the meetings at which requests are considered, to ensure that their views are fully
known and available to the Commissioners.

We appreciate the opportunity to discuss these matters, and would like the opportunity
for Bob Bauer, Marc Elias and Brian Svoboda to testify in open hearing.

Very truly yours,

PERKINS COIE LLP

§ /\4\ W\
Robert F. Bauer
Judith L. Corley

Marc E. Elias
Brian G. Svoboda
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George Phillies To agencypro2008@fec.gov
<phillies@4liberty.net>

01/03/2009 10:45 AM

cc

bcc
Subject Improving what you do

1 shall offer one suggestion, namely that the PDF output from an
electronic filing should stop requiring vastly more pages to print than
does a printout of the screen-viewable report on your web pages. You
really should be able to get more than two or three disbursement reports

on a page. It"s waste of paper.






"Rodriguez, Lilian" To <agencypro2008@fec.gov>

P <Irodriguez@PattonBoggs.co
m> cc
12/22/2008 10:12 AM bcc

Subject Suggestions

I think more classes should be available on the bookkeeping level.
Basic how-to"s.

DISCLAIMER:

This e-mail message contains confidential, privileged information intended
solely for the addressee. Please do not read, copy, or disseminate it unless
you are the addressee. |IT you have received it in error, please call us
(collect) at (202) 457-6000 and ask to speak with the message sender. Also,
we would appreciate your forwarding the message back to us and deleting it
from your system. Thank you.

This e-mail and all other electronic (including voice) communications from the
sender"s firm are for informational purposes only. No such communication is
intended by the sender to constitute either an electronic record or an
electronic signature, or to constitute any agreement by the sender to conduct
a transaction by electronic means. Any such intention or agreement is hereby
expressly disclaimed unless otherwise specifically indicated. To learn more
about our firm, please visit our website at http://www.pattonboggs.com.
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Edie Atkinson-Bukewihge

P O Box 10073

Newport Beach, California 90058

(949) 306-1356 E-mail: edie@voteedie.org

January 2, 2009

To: Honorable Stephen Gura, Deputy Associate General Counsel and
Honorable Mark Shonkwiler, Assistant General Counsel, Office of
General Counsel:

999 E Street, NW., Washington, DC 20463
(202) 694-1650 and (800) 424-9530 - E-mail: agencypro2008@fec.gov

Re: Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971, as amended,
2 U.S.C. 431 et. seq. (“*FECA’’ or “‘the Act”):

Opening Comments:

“The Federal Election Campaign Act of 1971 (FECA, Pub.L. 92-225, 86 Stat. 3,
enacted February 7, 1972, 2 U.S.C. § 431 et seq.) is a United States federal law, which
increased disclosure of contributions for federal campaigns, which was amended in 1974
to place legal limits on campaign contributions. This amendment also created the Federal
Election Commission (FEC).

This ‘Act’” was also amended in 1976, in response to the provisions ruled
unconstitutional by Buckley v. Valeo and again in 1979 to allow parties to spend
unlimited amounts of hard money on activities like increasing voter turnout and
registration. In 1979, the Commission ruled that political parties could spend unregulated
or "soft" money for non-federal administrative and party building activities. Later, this
money was used for candidate related issue ads (ex: initiatives and referendums), which
led to a substantial increase in soft money contributions and expenditures in elections.
This in turn created political pressures leading to the passage of the Bipartisan Campaign
Reform Act ("BCRA"), banning soft money expenditure by parties. Some of the legal
limits on issuing and receiving "hard money" were also changed in the BCRA.”

If transparency is going to be an issue with the election process, a certain consequence of
this transparency will have an effect on many contributors with respect to publication,
whereas, the negative effect on the contributor, may be his or her loss of employment.
Public information and contributor-lists are widely available on the “Internet”, and,
potential contributors will not contribute out of reluctances to the various hidden
scrutinies of their employers. Their employer may find out about the contributions and
issue pink-slips for a host of unrelated circumstances, therefore, it is possible that these
contributions will be the cause of many adverse situations that will occur on the job due
to this transparency. An employer can release an employee for any reason that would not
relate to the contribution, and who is to say the contribution is the case, these are blanket
issues and no one can prove what the employer did other than look at the nationwide stats
and assume this is what is happening. An employees’ will, to survive his or her livelihood

is the varied issue here, and good candidates will suffer.
Page 1 of 2





Campaigns are not legally required to report contributions but are asked to make every
attempt to retrieve information on its contributors if the contributions are $200 and above
on the Federal circuit and in the state elections, | believe $100 and above; with respect to
Article 1V of the Constitution of the United States, and charging that the Constitution
represents the work of aristocratic politicians bent on protecting their own class interests,
I am inclined to sit with the Amendments 5 through 11 of the “Bill of Rights”, and
would love to discuss and argue my points.

No matter what the proposal to coerce the judicial to put down the law as to whom can
contribute to any campaign other than foreign contributions, and raising any amounts of
contributions that are so stipulated in today’s rules and regulations that guide the FEC or
the FPPC for that matter in the United States; in a free society it’s ludicrous. If anyone
wants to contribute their entire life savings, they should be allowed to do so, for whatever
drives them, and that no accounting other than a possible limit on what a candidate can
raise in an election should be pursued by the FEC or any other agency, based on per
capita within the areas covered in an election, and that reporting would be limited to
twice in a calendar year no matter the election — provided the funds raised are not private
funds of the candidate, whereas then, the candidate must prove where he or she earned
their funds to contribute to their own campaign.

In addition, regarding to the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. 551 et seq.
(‘“‘APA’"), which does not require the agency to be subject to availing motions in non-
adjudicative proceedings, whereas the Commission has reviewed motions on a case-by-
case basis or not, | am against the waste of time and the audacity of such an action
altogether; this is more cost to the tax payers and | am against judiciary actions being
subjected to non-judiciary venues, it is not Constitutional to begin with. Though I believe
such hearings are moot based on my previous statement it is equally wrong to not allow
all defendants and plaintiffs before the Commission to speak, and should all have access
to all documents in such meetings or hearings, based on everyone’s Constitutional right
to fairness, and privacy is also a right for any of those involved in these hearings,
however, whereas the candidates are seeking public office, that venue in which they
sought office and all voters voting in such an election should be privileged to view all
documents as well. Transparency is obliterated by the clicks in government and at some
point, the elected officials need to understand that they work for the People of this
country and they are not elected to nobility, pointedly I respect everyone, but enough of
the craftiness, and even this event is a sign of someone wanting transparency and | agree.

I, Edie Atkinson-Bukewihge am asking to discuss and argue my points, on January 14,
2009, and would appreciate a response if you are inclined to believe that my statements
are worthy to be heard. Please notify me, if you are going to comply with my wishes, that
I can plan to attend and be heard. If I am not invited, allow me the privilege of
acknowledging my peers who are addressing my issues.

Sincerely,

Lave A wson B a&a//éfxe

Edie Atkinson-Bukewihge
Page 2 of 2






DICKSTEINSHAPIROuwr

1825 Bye S N
3

AL 1iY 1, DC 20006

January 5, 2009

Stephen Gura, Deputy Associate
General Counsel

Office of General Counsel

Federal Election Commission

999 E St., NW

Washington, DC 20463.

Re:  FEC Notice Seeking Comment on Policies and Procedures

This is in response to the December 8, 2008 Federal Register Notice seeking comment on
various policies and procedures of the Federal Election Commission. I make this submission in
my individual capacity and not on behalf of any client or other person.

The Commission is to be commended for seeking ways to improve its policies and procedures.
On balance, I believe the Commission’s procedures reflect a proper balance between the needs of
the agency for dispatch and the needs of the regulated community for fairness.

While there are many issues raised by the Notice, this comment is focused on just a few topics.
1 Motions in the enforcement process to reconsider

I believe it would be appropriate to allow motions to reconsider a “reason to believe” or a
“probable cause to believe” determination, but only if this is coupled with appropriate standards
and time frames to discourage mere dilatory tactics. It would seem reasonable to insist that any
motion for reconsideration be based on new facts or new legal guidance not otherwise available
to the Commission, and to require that the motion be filed within, say, 14 days of notice of the
FEC’s determination being sent.

1l Deposition practice

I believe the respondents’ rights to deposition transcripts are being adequately handled under the
current procedures. It is critical that witnesses be given an opportunity to review and correct the
transcripts because, experience shows, the transcriptions are sometimes not reflective of what
actually was said. No system has yet been devised that allows even the most skilled transcriber
to get everything right, so having a review process available to facilitate corrections is essential.

IlI. Extensions of time

If the Commission is concerned about extensions of time affecting statute of limitation concerns,
it would be prudent to require that the respondent involved agree to waiver of the statute for the
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amount of time sought for an extension. To avoid disputes over this policy, perhaps the
Commission could limit its application to the last year before the expiration of the statute of
limitations.

1V. The personal appearance option

The current policy of allowing a respondent or counsel to appear at a probable cause hearing
offers advantages that warrant continuing this practice, I believe. In some complicated legal
areas, the legal and factual analysis can be aided by a question and answer format that allows
commissioners to get at the point of most interest. The one complication that can arise is how to
deal with what are truly factual questions not answered by the record thus far. This is a problem
that exists also with an attempted resolution solely on the written materials available. Perhaps
the procedures could be amplified slightly so that precise written follow-up questions (approved
by a Commission vote) could be directed to the respondent or counsel to get prompt written
answers within a prescribed, short time frame. Apart from that slight modification, the
Commission should continue to use the personal appearance option sparingly. It might have
some use in stages of the presidential public funding audit process that do not yet involve a
repayment determination, such as the initial eligibility determination phase. See 11 C.F.R. §
9033.10.

V. Timeliness issues

The Commission has great responsibility to provide prompt action on all pending matters. This
is a basic function of serving the public that relies on the FEC to enforce and administer the law.
In years past, the FEC occasionally faced criticism for asking for additional staff resources it
believed necessary to move enforcement cases quickly. I would urge commissioners to never be
timid about asking for the resources truly needed to do the job. At the same time, commissioners
need to always be looking for ways to streamline operations and become more efficient.
Meanwhile, staff need to be given deadlines for pending work assignments so that everyone
understands that performance is being measured. These are not new concepts, and I have little
doubt that commissioners all have ideas of how to best make this work. The key is getting
everyone to ‘buy in’ with the understanding that everyone then gets credit for the good results.

VI Prioritization of enforcement cases

The prioritization process, as originally envisioned, primarily was to identify cases that would be
low-rated and that would not be allowed to impair the ability of OGC staff to work on more
important, timely matters. I believe that approach is still sound. The FEC will only be
successful in the minds of the public and the regulated community if it focuses on the cases that
really matter. While respondents may hope that the FEC will go easy on them in a particular
matter, the reality is that most players in the political process want the rules effectively enforced
against the opposition. The most significant cases will often involve the most complex issues
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(coordination, express advocacy, Wisconsin Right to Life analysis, etc.), but the FEC should not
retreat from dealing with these matters simply because they are difficult.

VII. Civil penalty policy

Traditionally, I have opposed making public the Commission’s calculation formulas for civil
penalties. In my view, giving potential respondents a precise cost for violating the law makes it
too easy to determine if the penalty is worth paying. There is an element of deterrence that
comes with leaving the potential penalty somewhat mysterious.

VIII. RAD referral process

Currently, a potential respondent in a RAD referral doesn’t have a good idea of whether the
matter in fact will move to the enforcement track. It might be appropriate to generate a trial
program whereby such potential respondents are provided at least a written summary of the
matter, and an opportunity to respond in writing, before the Commission makes its “reason to
believe” determination. If nothing else, in appropriate cases this would put potential respondents
on notice that they should get counsel to assist with a response. More importantly, this notice
probably would generate a more thorough, helpful analysis to the Commission before it makes
its initial determination. While most such matters involve clear-cut legal and factual issues, a
respondent’s extenuating circumstances may assist the Commission in formulating a better
conciliation posture or other means of resolving the case. If the Commission adopts such a trial
program, it should confine it to a written process and should only allow the potential respondent
a fairly short time frame for providing a response.

I hope the foregoing comments are helpful. I would like to testify on January 14, but would not
be offended if the witness list is too crowded to allow for this.

Sincerely,

Scott E. Thomas
(202) 420-2601
thomasscott@dicksteinshapiro.com

ST/st






Ellen S. Miller

Co-Founder and Executive Director
The Sunlight Foundation

1818 N Street, NW

Suite 410

Washington, DC 20036

January 5, 2009

Stephen Gura

Deputy Associate General Counsel
Federal Election Commission

999 E Street, NW

Washington, DC 20463

Via Email: Agencypro2008@fec.qgov

Dear Mr. Gura:

Attached please find the comments of the Sunlight Foundation, pursuant to the Federal
Election Commission’s Notice of Public Hearing and Request for Public Comment,
posted in the Federal Register, VVol. 73, No. 236 on December 8, 2008.

We respectfully request that Ellen S. Miller, the Executive Director of the Sunlight
Foundation, be given an opportunity to testify at the hearing on this issue on January 14,
2009.

If you have any questions or need any additional information, please contact Lisa
Rosenberg at 202-360-7894 or via email at Irosenberg@sunlightfoundation.com.

Sincerely,

Ellen S. Miller
Executive Director

The Sunlight Foundation





Comments of the Sunlight Foundation Pursuant to the Federal Election Commission’s
Notice of Public Hearing and Request for Public Comment

The Federal Election Commission (The FEC or Commission) is charged with the
disclosure of campaign finance information, the enforcement of the provisions of the
Federal Election Campaign Act, and the oversight of the public funding of Presidential
elections. The comments of the Sunlight Foundation address the FEC’s mandate to
disclose campaign finance information to the public. Outlined below are
recommendations to make the FEC Web site user-friendly; provide new Web services;
update FEC data architecture; improve electronic filing procedures; and provide online
disclosure of significant agency contacts. If adopted, these recommendations will
improve the public’s knowledge of campaign finance information. Strengthening public
access to campaign finance data will increase the scrutiny of campaign finance activities,
thereby improving compliance and enforcement of the law.

Make the FEC Web Site User-Friendly

The FEC’s Web site is the most important tool the agency has to fulfill its mandate to
publicly disclose campaign finance information. Certain aspects of the site, such as the
maps on the homepage, embrace the creative and interesting ways the Internet can be
used to inform the public. However, much of the Web site uses technical or legal
language that is difficult for the average citizen to understand. In other cases, data is
provided in cumbersome, outmoded ways that fail to take advantage of the dynamic
nature of the Internet.

The FEC should never lose site that its Web site is supposed to provide a gateway for
curious citizens, and is not simply a resource for accountants and lawyers already versed
in the finer details of campaign finance law and technical jargon. To improve the
accessibility of its Web site, the FEC should undertake a review of the language on the
site and define, revise or rewrite it in a manner a lay-user can understand. Legally
accurate terms such as “24 hour notice of disbursements/obligations for electioneering
communications” or “24 hour notice of independent expenditures or coordinated
expenditures” are meaningless to most casual users and definitions, where provided, are
often vague and confusing. Links to plain language definitions should be provided to
make the site more accessible to casual users.

Beyond improving the language, the FEC’s Web site must be structured to incorporate
the ways people have come to expect to use the Internet. A prime example of the
confusing and outmoded way the FEC site functions can be found in the section that
shows the latest electronic filings from candidates. After selecting the candidate name,
the user sees a long list of filing reports. Selecting a report at random — for example, the
latest monthly filing of contributions — a user must choose “Schedule A filings
(Itemized Receipts)” to find the contributions. At that point, he or she must select from
the following choices:

For all Line Numbers





For Line Number: 17A
For Line Number: 17C
For Line Number: 20A
For Line Number: 21

Virtually no one other than a trained campaign worker would know that line number 17A
is the one that holds the information they want. In this day and age, that kind of
“interface” is not just confusing, but ludicrous. It sends an abrupt message to the casual
user that they have entered territory reserved for experts, not lay people.

A Web site designed for use by the public should not require that mysterious references
be deciphered or a legal dictionary at the users’ fingertips. Clear definitions, plain
language and intuitive use of links and other tools are the hallmarks of a user-friendly site
and should be primary considerations as the agency undertakes a redesign of its site.

Provide New Web Services

At its best, the Internet allows users to add value to data available on one site and make it
available on other sites. The New York Times and OpenSecrets.org provide users with
the ability to use FEC data outside the confines of the particular site from which it was
retrieved. But, because the FEC is the primary source for the data, and because it is the
FEC’s duty to publicly disclose the data, the FEC should not leave the responsibility of
making the data usable to outside companies or not-for-profit organizations.

In particular, the FEC should provide Web services that allow data from an official FEC
search to be syndicated on other Web sites or used programmatically by other software.
All search queries should provide a permanent RSS feed that can be used to syndicate the
results to other clients. The FEC should develop an API (Application Program Interface)
that will allow programmers to interact with FEC data. End-users of outside Web sites
should be free to use the FEC’s APIs to obtain, display and reuse FEC data in their own
applications. The technologies adopted should not be complicated or proprietary, nor
should they be likely to become quickly outdated.*

The FEC should also update the technology it uses for search queries so that end users
have the ability to link to search results in emails and other Web sites.?> The ability for
users to link to search results is so commonplace as to become mundane, yet this standard
feature of today’s technology is not available to someone trying to link something so
fundamental as a search result on FEC contribution data to an online article.

'Sunlight recommends XML and JSON as well as a REST-based API for search queries because these
technologies, along with open standards, are likely to result in Web services are easy to consume and that
will not be quickly outdated.

2 The FEC currently uses an HTTP POST request. It should instead use the GET query method for
searches, which makes it possible to link to a results page for an individual search.





Improve FEC Data Architecture

Underpinning the agency’s ability to make more information public in a timely, user
friendly manner is the data architecture employed by the FEC. As the agency looks to
provide the most meaningful data to the public, it must restructure the way the data is
stored and how it flows outward. Currently, much of the information contained in
campaign finance reports is truncated or lost by the time it reaches the public. For
example, the COBOL-based official database is published in a fixed width format,
allowing for 35 characters in the occupation/employer fields which are collapsed into one
column. The result is that occupation/employer information that is reported as “Associate
Director of Mid-Atlantic Sales/Wal Mart, Stores Inc.” is transformed and reported to the
public as “Associate Director of Mid Atlantic.” The precise title as well as the entire
employer is missing, providing little relevant information in the public database. Over
500,000 of 2,328,000 records, or more than 20 percent, are truncated in this manner.

Similarly, a user trying to download files of individual contributions runs into this caveat:

The amount field is in COBOL format and may contain a special
character (see table below) if the amount is negative. To convert
these to standard negative integers you will need to replace the
right most character with its associated integer and then multiple
the number by negative 1. For example, if the amount it 20]
replace the ] with 0 and to get 200. Then multiple by negative 1.
The correct amount is —200.

Even someone well-versed in the intricacies of the FEC’s disclosure system will find this
explanation daunting. The answer to solving this problem is to abandon the outdated tools
the FEC is currently using and to adopt a more modern format.’

The agency should also address the way it stores and manages data relating to
enforcement matters, creating a system to describe the type of violation alleged to have
occurred. Categorizing enforcement matters by issue such as excessive contributions,
contributions from foreign nationals, contributions from a straw party, etc. would provide
a structure that could then be used to inform the public as to the type, frequency and
severity of various campaign finance violations and facilitate the use of enforcement data
in innovative ways that take advantage of Web 2.0 capabilities.

The concerns surrounding the usability of the FEC’s Web site and data architecture
reflect an overarching concern that the FEC’s site is not fully integrated with the mission
of the agency. In every agency, but especially those where public disclosure is part of the
agency’s mission, the Web site should be viewed as more than a place to publish data. It
should be recognized as a valuable strategic asset that is instrumental to the agency in

® Currently available formats that would alleviate the problem of fixed-width formats include JSON, XML
or SQL formats. These formats are not likely to be outdated in the near term. Sunlight notes that the FEC
must retain the ability to alter its formats as new and better technology becomes available and that any new
data format is usable by any campaign as well as by the public who are viewing the data.





fulfilling its mandate. The FEC must ensure that its Web team is recognized as more than
providing a support function. Just as attorneys are essential for the FEC’s enforcement
duties and accountants are critical to the FEC’s compliance mandate, the FEC’s Web
staff is instrumental to the core disclosure mission of the agency and must be provided
with the skills and authority to make disclosure on its Web site equal with other core
agency functions.

Improve Electronic Filing Procedures

The FEC has implemented rules to facilitate electronic filing of campaign reports,
including data formats for information such as donor name and occupation/employer.
Unfortunately, it is extremely common for report data to be missing, incomplete or
jumbled. Data that is filed in non-standardized formats is difficult to manage, may not be
accurate and must be cleaned up to make it useful to the public.

The FEC could mitigate much of the work currently required to clean up data by
enforcing software standards more strictly and refusing to certify campaign packages that
do not comply with such standards. In specifying filing information as well as
structuring its own data, the FEC should look for opportunities for interoperability with
other government data sets, such as the data found on FedSpending.gov and the emerging
Securities and Exchange Commission's interactive data filing requirements.” In pursuing
interoperability, the FEC reduces the financial burden on filers and consumers of
supporting multiple, non-standard data formats.

In addition to enforcing current electronic filing standards more stringently, the
Commission should consider expanding the number and types of documents that are
required to be filed electronically. The agency should require electronic filing of
complaints (and related documents) alleging campaign finance irregularities. Electronic
filing would facilitate prompt online disclosure and allow the documents to be searchable
by text, thus providing the public with a more complete and accurate survey of the
campaign finance activities that are monitored and regulated by the Commission.

Provide Online Disclosure of Significant Agency Contacts

As part of the FEC’s enforcement and compliance duties, senior staff and FEC
Commissioners routinely meet with individuals representing candidates, PACs, campaign
committees, corporations or other entities that are being investigated or have knowledge
of possible alleged campaign finance violations. To address the appearance of undue
influence or corruption, the Commission should draft regulations that would require
Commissioners and certain senior officials (defined by SES level, policy or decision
making authority, etc.) to report, online, within 72 hours, any significant contact relating
to a request for FEC action. If the Commission finds that it does not have the ability to
draft such regulations, it should design a system of voluntary reporting of significant
contacts. In either case, a “significant contact” is an oral, written or electronic
communication that is made to senior FEC staff or Commissioners, that seeks to

* These systems rely on the open business reporting XBRL markup tags.





influence any official action, including any advisory, regulatory or enforcement action
pending before the Commission.

The reports should contain the name of the FEC official, the name of each private party
who had a significant contact with that official, and a summary of the nature of the
contact, including the date of the contact, the subject matter of the contact, and if the
contact was made on behalf of a client, the name of the client. Information that would be
exempt from disclosure under FOIA would not have to be disclosed.

The Sunlight Foundation

The Sunlight Foundation was founded in 2006 with the non-partisan mission of using the
revolutionary power of the Internet to make information about Congress and the federal
government more meaningfully accessible to citizens. Through our projects and grant-
making, Sunlight serves as a catalyst for greater political transparency and to foster more
openness and accountability in government. Sunlight’s ultimate goal is to strengthen the
relationship between citizens and their elected officials and to foster public trust in
Congress. We are unique in that technology and the power of the Internet are at the core
of every one of our efforts.

Our work is committed to helping citizens, bloggers and journalists be their own best
congressional watchdogs, by improving access to existing information and digitizing new
information, and by creating new tools and Web sites to enable all of us to collaborate in
fostering greater transparency. Since our founding in the spring of 2006, we have
assembled and funded an array of web-based databases and tools including
OpenCongress.org, Congresspedia.org, FedSpending.org, OpenSecrets.org,
EarmarkWatch.org and LOUISdb.org. These sites make millions of bits of information
available online about the members of Congress, their staff, legislation, federal spending
and lobbyists.

By facilitating the creation of new databases, and the maintenance and expansion of pre-
existing ones, along with the application of technologies that free data from its silos, we
have liberated gigabytes of important political data from basements, paper, .pdfs and
other non-searchable and non-mashable formats. These efforts, combined with our own
distributed investigative research projects, community-based engagement with Congress
to bridge its technological gaps and lobbying to demand changes in how and what
Congress makes publicly available online, have created an unprecedented demand for
more: more information, more transparency and more easy-to-use tools.

Underlying all of Sunlight’s efforts is a fundamental belief that increased transparency
will improve the conduct of Congress itself and the public’s confidence in government.






"Diane Valentino" To <agencypro2008@fec.gov>

P <dianevalentino@GANAHL.co
m> cc
12/18/2008 10:34 AM bce

Subject hearing comments

This whole system needs to be revised, the rules are mountainous....

As a local grassroots Democratic club,for us, the rules, regulations,
paperwork, filings are so complex,

and if something is missed, fines are issued...this makes it impossible for a
group of volunteers

to operate in a relatively small way in the process, without expensive,
professional assistance

from one of few professionals who understand it....

please consider this as you meet, and help make this a democracy that works
for the average

person , organization...and focus the controls on those with millions, with
which they abuse power

thank you,
Diane Valentino

Laguna Beach, Ca 92651
714-865-6462






"virginia red state" To agencypro2008@fec.gov
P <varedstate @gmail.com>

12/17/2008 05:25 PM ce

bcc
Subject FEC Policies & Procedures

Hello,

I have just started a political action committee. The record-keeping burden is simply
unbearable!

I believe this red tape has the effect of deterring grassroots participation in the political process.

If 1 did not have hours to volunteer to the PAC, we just could not participate. This favors the
large PACs that can hire professionals to run the PAC.

Please consider increasing the limits for initial reporting from $1000 to $5000.

Also, please consider allowing small PACS to submit financial statements instead of using the
FEC forms.

Thanks,

Jason Eugene Call
Chairman & President
Virginia Red State

2140 Paramont Avenue
Chesapeake, VA 23320
757 403-2331






Hans A. von Spakovsky
1000 Pruitt Court
Vienna, VA 22180
vspakovsky@aol.com
Tel. 202.608.6207

January 5, 2009

Stephen Gura

Deputy Associate General Counsel
Federal Election Commission

999 E Street, NW

Washington, D.C. 20463

Mark Shonkweiler

Assistant General Counsel
Federal Election Commission
999 E Street, NW
Washington, D.C. 20463

Re: Notice 2008-13 Agency Procedures
Dear Sirs:

This letter responds to the Federal Election Commission’s request for public
comments on it review of the policies and procedures of the agency. I am not
representing any client or organization, but am filing my comments as a private citizen.
My recommendations are based on my experience as a Commissioner from 2006 to 2007,
and my general experience as an attorney for the Justice Department.

In general, I believe that the FEC has made significant progress over the last few
years working towards two laudable goals: improving its internal procedures and the
speed of its enforcement process, and making its policies and practices more transparent
to the regulated community. A good example of this is the policy the FEC adopted in
2007 providing targets of agency investigations (“ Respondents™) with the opportunity
for an oral hearing before the Commission at the probable cause stage of a matter under
review. The lack of such a hearing was a basic violation of due process and the
American Bar Association had recommended that the FEC provide such a procedure for
more than 25 years.

The FEC has also borne the brunt of a great deal of unfair and vitriolic criticism
by some who disregard the practical problems involved in investigating possible





violations of the Federal Election Campaign Act (“FECA”) and enforcing an overly
complex and at times ambiguous and confusing statute. These critics tend to confuse
disagreements over substance and procedures. Your hearings and subsequent
consideration of these issues will be most fruitful if procedural considerations are kept
free of substantive and ideological quarrels.

This point is well illustrated by an example of which I have personal knowledge.
The 2006-2007 conciliation agreements in the various “527” cases prompted loud
protests from the FEC’s most frequent and consistent critics who claimed the resolutions
of these cases were “too little, too late.” The issue of “too little” is, of course, an issue of
substance. The issue of “too late” is one of procedure. I encourage the Commission to
consider at length the issue of whether its enforcement process results in matters being
resolved “too late” and what if anything, can be done to correct any perceived problems
in that area. I would also encourage the Commissioners to keep in mind that most of the
“too late” critics have never represented any actual Respondents before the FEC in
enforcement actions and, therefore, have no firsthand knowledge of how the enforcement
process works (or should work).

To the extent that issues of substance and procedure are treated as one and the
same, you should keep in mind that the First Amendment rights of Respondents ri ghtfully
trump any sense of the Commissioners that they should mete out swift justice for the sake
of discouraging others to not undertake similar political activities. The speech and
associational rights of Respondents entitle them to a careful and considered hearing,
which necessarily takes time and resources.

It should also be kept in mind that even experienced attorneys within the Office of
General Counsel (“OGC”) and the six Commissioners that head up the agency sometimes
reasonably disagree on what the law and regulations require. When the agency charged
with enforcing a statute cannot itself agree on the meaning of its provisions, it is unfair
and an abuse of the law enforcement process for a federal agency to prosecute individuals
in the regulated community for supposed violations.

Some of the “too little, too late” criticisms of the FEC also show a cavalier
disregard for the First Amendment. When carrying out its enforcement responsibilities,
the FEC must always be sensitive to its responsibility to protect the First Amendment
rights of individuals, candidates, and organizations to engage in unfettered political
speech and political activity. FECA comes dangerously close to (and, in my opinion, in
many instances crosses over the line of) violating fundamental rights to participate in the
political arena. This brings up a very basic issue: When there is disagreement within the
agency or when there is any doubt over what the law requires, the agency should always
err in favor of allowing political activity that is protected by the First Amendment.
Indeed, this is not just a sound policy position for the FEC to assume, it is what the First
Amendment requires in a close case. As the Supreme Court correctly said in the
Wisconsin Right to Life decision, when there is any doubt, you must err in favor of free
speech.






That said, there are a number of areas where the FEC could improve its
procedures, particular when it comes to protecting the due process rights of individuals
who are targets of enforcement investigations or who are otherwise interacting with the
agency.

Adyvisory Opinions.

The FEC should revise its procedures to allow the Requestor of an Advisory
Opinion (“*AQ”) to appear before the Commission at the time that the draft AO is being
considered at a public meeting.

As you know, under it current procedures, the FEC posts draft AO’s prior to its
meeting on its website. The public may submit written comments on the draft AOQ. At
the public meeting, OGC makes a presentation explaining the Advisory Opinion request
and the legal reasons for the draft response according to the General Counsel’s
interpretation of applicable law and regulations. The Commissioners then ask questions
of the General Counsel and discuss among themselves the validity of the draft AO.
Finally, a vote is taken on whether to approve the draft, which may incorporate
amendments made at the table.

In my experience, there were times when factual questions arose that the General
Counsel could not answer, but that the Requestor or the Requestor’s counsel could have.
In many instances, the Requestor’s counsel was actually sitting in the audience at the
public meeting but unable to directly answer the question because the FEC’s procedures
do not currently allow the Requestor to appear before or address the Commission. This
puts the agency in the awkward and incongruous position of having the individual who
could answer Commissioners’ questions present but not allowed to speak.

The FEC should allow the Requestor of an AO (or his counsel) to make a short
presentation to the Commissioners following the General Counsel’s presentation. This of
course would not be required, but would be an option made available to the Requestor
that would give the Requestor the opportunity to further engage the Commissioners, to
state whether he agrees with the General Counsel, and if he disagrees, to explain why the
General Counsel’s interpretation of FECA as applied to the facts in the request is
incorrect. This would also allow the Requestor to answer any other questions that the
Commissioners have about the AO request or comments received from the public. While
the Requestor currently has the opportunity to submit written comments in response to
the draft AO, this opportunity is inadequate for two reasons. First, Requestors often are
not provided with adequate time to respond in writing to draft AO’s. Second, there is no
substitute for an oral presentation and a direct exchange between Commissioners and the
Requestor.

This process would improve the quality of the Commission’s work. It would
ensure that the Commissioners have all of the relevant facts they need to make an
informed decision when voting on the AO. Additionally, it would ensure that the
Commissioners have heard and considered all of the Requestor’s legal arguments, and






that those legal arguments were not the product of a hurried last-minute written response
to a late-submitted document.

Other individuals and organizations do not need to be permitted to appear - they
have already had their opportunity to weigh in on the AO request and the draft response
through written comments. Rather, the Requestor’s oral presentation is simply an
extension of the correspondence that Requestors typically have with OGC staff.

Such a procedure would in no way delay the AO process. It fact, it could prevent
the delays that occur when AQ’s are tabled until the next public meeting of the FEC
because questions raised by the Commissioners about the request cannot be answered by
the General Counsel. This change is well within the general authority of 2 U.S.C. §437d
and can be made by the Commission without any requirement for a legislative
amendment to FECA.

The Commissioners should consider implementing a trial program, as it did with
probable cause hearings.

Motions Before the Commission.

As the Commissioners know only too well, the very formal procedural process set
out in §437g of FECA makes it extremely difficult for the target of a complaint to have a
frivolous complaint dismissed before incurring a great deal of time, resources, and
attorneys’ fees responding to the complaint and an FEC investigation. It is also virtually
impossible for a Respondent to bring to the attention of the Commissioners mistakes,
errors, or abuses that the Respondent believes are being made by the attorneys in OGC
who are investigating a complaint.

The FEC should establish a formal policy allowing the subjects of FEC
investigations to communicate directly with Commissioners early in the investigative
process. The optional written response to the complaint is Respondent’s opportunity to
argue against an RTB (“Reason To Believe” that a violation has occurred) finding, but it
does not offer the Respondent the opportunity to argue about the investi gative process
itself (which necessarily begins only after Respondent’s written response is received).

Due process considerations call for Respondents to have a limited opportunity to
file procedural motions of the type that parties can file in federal court, including over the
actual investigation of the complaint by FEC staff. Respondents should be given the
ability to respond to the “scope” of an OGC investigation. Specifically, they should be
afforded the opportunity to file “motions” similar to motions to dismiss if they assert that
even if all of the facts asserted in a complaint are assumed to be true, there is no violation
of FECA.

Respondents should also be able to file motions similar to motions for protective
orders when investigations or requests for depositions may be too broad, too voluminous,
abusive or seek information not relevant to the merits of a particular complaint. Such






motions should be served on both OGC and the Secretary of the Commission so that both
the General Counsel and the Commissioners are immediately notified of such motions.
Respondents should not be entitled to an oral hearing on a motion unless the
Commissioners decide to grant one.

In my own experience, OGC staff usually acted in good faith when conducting
investigations. However, current procedures vest considerable discretion with the staff
with respect to conducting investigations. In my view, discretionary decision making is
properly vested in the Commissioners rather than staff. The procedures outlined above
would afford the Commissioners an opportunity to resolve some of the discretionary
decisions and issues that arise during investigations.

This is another basic procedural due process step that would improve the fairness
of the Commission’s investigative and adjudicative process. This step would also have
the added benefit of better involving the Commissioners in what is, in many cases, the
most sensitive part of the enforcement process. Finally, it should actually increase the
efficiency of the agency’s enforcement. While it will take time for the Commissioners to
respond to these motions, it nonetheless should provide for speedier resolution of
genuinely frivolous complaints and curtailment of overly expansive discovery. This will
save both time and staff resources.

Deposition Practices.

The FEC change of policy in 2003 regarding depositions was a much needed
change. Prior to 2003, the FEC would not provide a deponent with the transcript of his
own deposition until an investigation was completed. The FEC initiated a new policy,
however, that provides a copy of a transcript to the deponent upon request unless the
General Counsel specifically certifies that withholding the transcript is necessary to the
successful completion of the investigation (something that rarely happens). The FEC’s
prior policy on this issue was a basic deprivation of due process rights.

A further change is needed. Currently, when the FEC sends a Respondent a
probable cause brief, Respondents are generally provided (upon request) the documents
and depositions that are referred to in the General Counsel’s brief and that form the basis
of the General Counsel’s conclusion that a violation of FECA has occurred. However,
Respondents should also be entitled to receive any other exculpatory documents and
depositions that may provide a defense to the claimed violation of FECA or that create a
reasonable doubt that any violation has occurred. For example, documents or testimony
obtained from other witnesses should be available to Respondents, as it is in any judicial
proceeding.

While the Office of General Counsel carries out a civil law enforcement
investigation of a complaint that FECA has been violated, the entire adjudicative process
as set out in FECA is very similar to an administrative law court proceeding. The
Commissioners act much like administrative judges in deciding whether a violation of the
law has occurred and whether a civil penalty and a settlement should be negotiated with a





Respondent. Under such circumstances, it is a basic due process requirement that a
Respondent receive any information developed or discovered by the FEC that shows that,
in fact, no violation of the law occurred. OGC should be prepared to forward all such
information to a Respondent.

Releasing Documents or Filing Suit before an Election.

The Commission should not allow pending elections to influence the timing of its
release of documents regarding a closed enforcement matter or the filing of an
enforcement action in federal court. The agency should follow its internal procedures as
strictly as possible and release all such files as soon as possible after a case is closed or to
file suit as soon as settlement efforts have failed. The agency has had a very good history
of not allowing partisan considerations to influence its enforcement practices. During my
time on the Commission, and in fact during the overall history of the Commission, the
number of times that votes on enforcement matter have resulted in a split vote is less than
1%. The vast majority of votes on enforcement matters are unanimous. Any
consideration of election matters would damage the nonpartisanship of the enforcement
determinations and open up the agency to accusations that it is timing its actions to
influence the outcomes of elections. This should be avoided at all costs.

Memorandum of Understanding with the Department of Justice.

This memorandum should be amended to strengthen (and require) cooperation
and coordination between the FEC and the Department of Justice. The agencies have not
always conducted joint investigations in the past when such joint enforcement actions
would have benefited both agencies, as well as improved the efficiency (and speed) of
enforcement, while minimizing duplicative actions.

Additionally, the Department of Justice has unfortunately been too reluctant in the
past to forward information to the FEC on a timely basis that is developed through its
criminal investigations, sometimes waiting until after a defendant has been convicted and
sentenced.

With some rare exceptions, DOJ has also not been willing to seek court orders
within the exceptions provided in Rule 6(e)(3) of the Federal Rules of Criminal
Procedure to provide the FEC with information of FECA violations obtained as a result
of grand jury investigations.

DOJ prosecutes criminal violations of FECA; the FEC prosecutes civil violations
of FECA. Often, and certainly more frequently since the passage of the Bipartisan
Campaign Reform Act, a Respondent violating FECA incurs both criminal and civil
penalties. But DOJ often waits too long to inform the FEC of information relevant to its
civil enforcement responsibilities that is obtained during a criminal investigation, and will
not provide information that it claims is privileged or protected by grand jury secrecy
requirements. This substantially hobbles the FEC’s civil enforcement process including
making it impossible for the FEC to request that the judge in the criminal prosecution





consider the imposition of civil penalties at the same time as criminal penalties during
sentencing.

This problem must be remedied and can be done by amending the Memorandum
of Understanding to mandate better cooperation and to require DOJ to request courts to
grant exemptions under Rule 6 for the FEC.

Settlements and Penalties.
Letters of Admonishment

Section 437g of FECA provides authority for the FEC to impose civil penalties
through a conciliation process or by filing suit in federal court if no settlement can be
reached. The statute does not provide any authority for the agency to send letters of
“admonishment” to targets of its investigations. The agency, however, has an
unfortunate practice of sending out such letters.

I would recommend that the agency cease issuing any admonishments or other
such findings or letters of rebuke. Either an individual or organization has violated
FECA and incurs a financial penalty or it has not. If the Commissioners believe a
violation has occurred, then they should vote to find a violation and determine the
appropriate amount of a civil penalty. Otherwise, the matter should be dismissed. The
agency should not attempt to occupy a middle ground by imposing an indeterminate
penalty that is not specifically authorized by the statute.

The Use of Sampling

Another area of concern is the calculation of fines based on sampling used by the
Audit Division when it audits campaign organizations and their activities. Sampling may
be an appropriate analytic tool to determine if a violation of the law has occurred. It may
also be a sufficient basis on which to make an RTB finding by the Commissioners.
However, it is not an appropriate basis on which to calculate the amount of the civil
penalty generated by violations of the law. With sampling, there is no actual knowledge
of the exact extent of the violation — just an estimate based on the problems found within
the sample. It can never be guaranteed that the sample itself accurately represented the
full data set.

If a federal law enforcement agency such as the FEC is determined to fine an
individual or an organization engaged in political activity protected by the First
Amendment, it should only do so based on a complete and thorough review of all of the
materials and information in the case. No penalty should be calculated based on only a
sample and an estimate of the amount of wrongdoing. The calculation of a civil penalty
should be based only on actual evidence found by the agency’s lawyers, investigators,
and auditors.






Reports Analysis.

The regulated community’s most common interaction with the agency on a day-
to-day basis is with the Reports Analysis Division (“RAD”). RAD regularly issues
Requests For Additional Information (“RFAI’s™) based on its analysis of submitted
financial disclosure reports. RAD operates under the guidelines approved by the
Commissioners. However, in my own experience, there is relatively little supervision by
the Commissioners of RAD’s activities.

As was the case with OGC, my experience indicated that RAD staff act in good
faith when conducting reports analyses and applying the guidelines approved by the
Commissioners. However, current procedures vest considerable discretion with the staff
with respect to this analysis. As I mentioned before, discretionary decision making is
properly vested in the Commissioners rather than staff, particularly since it is the
Commissioners who are ultimately answerable to both Congress and the public for the
enforcement of FECA.

I recommend that the Commissioners form a separate internal committee, similar
to the long-standing committees that the Commissioners utilize to monitor other areas
such as litigation and regulations, to more closely monitor and supervise RAD. This
committee could meet on a regular basis to review all RFAT’s that have been issued. This
sort of review would give the Commissioners a better sense of what reporting problems
are most common, which would allow the Commission to then be more proactive in
terms of fixing reporting problems before they occur. Commissioners would also be able
to put an end to the issuance of RFAI’s that seek information the Commission deems
unnecessary. I believe the regulated community would be well served by, and grateful
for, such efforts.

I want to compliment the Commissioners on initiating this review of the FEC’s
internal procedures and their goal of improving the functions of the agency to the benefit
of the public and the regulated community. If the Commissioners would like oral
testimony on these issues, I would be happy to provide it when it holds its public hearing
on these very important matters on January 14, 2009.

Sincerely yours,

Hans A. von Spakovsky j %
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VIA E-MAIL (AGENCYPRO2008@FEC.GOV)

Stephen Gura, Esq.

Mark Shenkwiler, Esq.
Federal Election Commission
999 E Street, NW
Washington, DC 20463

Re:  Comments to FEC Notice 2008-13 (Agency Procedures)
Dear Messrs. Gura and Shonkwiler:

On behalf of the Election Law and Government Ethics practice group of Wiley Rein
LLP, we welcome this opportunity to respond to the Federal Election Commission’s
request for comments regarding its policies, practices, and procedures and request
an opportunity to testify at the accompanying hearing.

These comments and any accompanying testimony are our own and are based on
our experience observing and practicing before the Commission. These comments
are based on our collective observations and experiences and do not necessarily
reflect the views of any client.

Our comments, which follow, are generally organized to correspond with the topics
raised by the Commission in the above-captioned Notice.

1. Enforcement Process
(a) Initial Complaint Processing

The FECA requires that a complaint filed with the Commission be: (1) filed by a
person who believes a violation of the FECA has occurred; (2) in writing; (3) signed
and sworn to by the person filing the complaint; and (4) notarized. 2 U.S.C.

§ 437g(a}(1). These requirements are all embodied in the Commission’s
implementing regulations. 11 C.F.R. § 111.4{a)-(c). The implementing regulations
also list the following four additional criteria to which a “complaint shouid
conform™

(1) It should clearly identify as a respondent each
person or entity who is alleged to have committed a
violation;
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(2) Statements which are not based upon personal
knowledge should be accompanied by an
identification of the source of information which
gives rise to the complainants beliefl in the truth of
such statements;

(3) It should contain a clear and concise recitation of
the facts which describe a violation of a statute or
regulation over which the Commission has
jurisdiction; and

(4} It should be accompanied by any documentation
supporting the facts alleged if such documentation is
known of, or available to, the complainant.

Id at § 111.4(d). The Office of General Counsel has explained that it “strongly
encourages” compliance with these criteria, but does not require it when initially
processing complaints. See MUR 4979 First General Counsel’s Report at 11 (Sept.
30, 2003).

The Commission should make compliance with these factors mandatory and should
not accept complaints that fail to satisfy them. The FECA, fundamental fairness
and respect for respondents’ rights, and preventing abuse of the complaint process
are all factors that support this recommendation.

First, the FECA requires that complaints be filed by persons who believe a violation
has occurred and the Commisston must determine — based on the complaint and, if
one is filed, a response by persons named in the complaint — whether there is
“reason 1o believe” a violation was committed. 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)X1), (2). The
FECA puts the onus on the complainant to file a complaint if he or she “believes™ a
violation has occurred. If that belief is not corroborated with adequate facts and
supporting information, the Commission cannot carrvoul its statutory duty to judge
the merits of legal claims contained in the complaint.

Second, fundamental fairness to respondents and respect {or their rights seemingly
compels complainants to provide sufficient facts and support so that respondents
can adequately respond to a complaint, The Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are a
useful guide for these concepts. The Supreme Court of the United States has
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recently recited the long accepted requirements that a complaint in federal court
include “[flactual allegations™ that “raise a right to relief beyond the speculative
level,” Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 1965 (2007). Furthermore,
a complainant alleging fraud or mistake “must state with particularity the
circumstances constituting” the claim. Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). By mandating
compliance with the factors of 11 C.F.R. § 111.4(d), the Commission will bring its
pleading standards in line with those required by other forums.

The Commission should also be mindful of the relevant First Amendment
implications when respondents are submitting information to the Commission in
response to a complaint. The U.S. Court of Appeals for the D.C. Circuit has
explained that information provided to the FEC m the course of an investigation “is
of a fundamentally different constitutional character from the commercial or
financial data which forms the bread and butter of SEC or FTC investigations, since
release of such information to the government carries with it a real potential for
chilling the free exercise of political speech and association guarded by the first
amendment.” FECv. Machinists Non-Partisan Political League, 655 F.2d 380, 388
(D.C. Cir. 1981). Moreover, information is subject to statutory confidentiality
requirements both during and after investigation. See AFL-CIO v, FEC, 333 F.3d
168 (D.C. Cir. 2003); In re Sealed Case, 237 F.3d 657 (D.C. Cir. 2001).

When a respondent is presented with a complaint devoid of facts or support. it 1s left
with a dilemma. The respondent could refuse {0 substantively respond, thereby
preserving the First Amendment rights cited by the D.C. Circuit in Machinists, but
waiving a statutory right to respond to the complaint and risking adverse inferences.
Alternatively, the respondent could exercise that statutory right by providing
relevant information about its activities, but in so doing, it will be forfeiting its First
Amendment rights. For example, if a respondent does not know the facts — or the
support for such facts — it must refute, the respondent is left to guess at what
information it must provide to adequately respond to the complaint. This will result
in disclosing more than what might otherwise be necessary because the respondent
has no way of calibrating its response to facts and support provided in the
complaint. Mandating that complaints comply with the provisions of 11 C.F.R.

§ 111.4(d) will significantly reduce this First Amendment damage by providing
respondents with the information necessary to appropriately respond to complaints
filed against them.
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Third, filtering out complaints that do not contain sufficient facts or support will
prevent political abuse of the complaint process.’ In our observation and
experience, there is an inverse relationship between factually complete and
supported complaints and political motivation — as opposed to a genuine law
enforcement concern — for filing the complaints. In the run-up to an election,
complaints are often filed for the sole purpose of issuing an accompanying press
release accusing a political opponent of violating the law. Even if the Commission
ultimately determines that the complaint is baseless, the complainant’s political
goals will have been satistied because the Commission is not in a position to
dismiss the matter until months after the election. As a result, the respondent has
the specter of a legal complaint hanging over its head through clection day that the
complainant often exploits for political purposes.

1f' the Office of the General Counsel is tasked with screening complaints for
compliance with 11 C.F.R. § 111.4(d) and returns deficient complaints pursuant to
11 CF.R. § 111.5(b), the Commission can remove the political incentives for filing
baseless complaints. 11 C.F.R. § 111.5(b) requires that the Office of General
Counsel notify both the complainant and any respondents named in the complaint
that the complaint failed to comply with the Commission’s pleading standards and
that no action will be taken on the complaint. The notification must be sent within
five days of receipt of the complaint and must include a copy of the complaint.
Faced with the potential political backfiring that could stem from having a
complaint immediately rejected, complainants will be less inclined to attempt to co-
opt the Commission for their own political purposes by filing baseless complaints.

(b} Motions Before the Commission

The request for comments asks about the Commissions procedures for consideration
to motions to dismiss and motions to reconsider and states that “the Administrative
Procedure Act ... does not require that agencies entertain such motions in non-
adjudicative proceedings” while at the same time admitting that the Commission
has reviewed motions on a case-by-case basis. We urge the Commission to adopt a
policy of considering such motions and issue a set of procedures by which the entire

! In fact, it is because complaints of fraud and mistake are easy to allege and, therefore, can

be abusively filed that the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure include the heightened pleading standard
discussed supra. See SA Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure
§ 1296 (3d ed. 2004).
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regulated community may understand the process for having the Motions
considered. Considering such Motions on a case-by-case basis, without guidance
may be arbitrary. Further, the Commission should not leave this decision 1o the
General Counsel’s Office which generally has a vested interest in the position it has
laid out. However, the Factual and Legal Analysis issued by the General Counsel’s
Office and adopted by the Commission gives respondents the first glimpse into the
Commission’s analysis and the facts upon which the analysis is based. It is only at
this point that the respondent can reply in an educated manner to the facts and
analysis put forward. Allowing a Motion to Dismiss or a Motion for
Reconsideration at this point in the process can save the respondent time and money
in discovery costs and can also save the Commission lost time in pursuing a theory
based on inaccurate or simply incorrect facts. This will allow the Commission to
reassess the use of its resources.

Further, there is nothing in the Administrative Procedures Act that would preclude
an agency from allowing Motions to Reconsider or to Dismiss. Indeed, the fact that
the Commission already does this on a case by case basis underscores that it has the
ability to do so. Moreover, there have been many occasions in the past when the
Commission, after making a reason to believe finding never gets to the probable
cause stage, but rather, after further inquiry, determines to take no further action on
a case. This is not specified by the Act or Commission regulations, but has become
commonplace. Thus, since the Commission has already determined that it can
short-circuit the probable cause stage of the procedures, it would make sense to
include the ability to file Motions after a “reason to believe” finding.

We recommend that the window for such Motions should be after the reason to
believe finding. Requiring such motions within 30 days of notice of such a finding
would appear to be reasonable. Further, it would make sense to require that the
Motions highlight either an error in the factual presentation found in the Factual and
Legal Analysis or give the respondent the ability to respond to legal inquiries raised
in the factual and legal analysis.

Finally, we see no need for tolling the statute of limitations since such motions
would be entertained early in the process when the statute of limitations should
presumably not be an issue.





Stephen Gura, Esq.
Mark Shonkwiler, Esq.
January 5, 2009

Page 6

(c) Appearances Before the Commission

The Commission notes that it recently began permitting respondents in enforcement
proceedings to personally appear before the Commission prior to its vote on
whether there is probable cause to believe a violation has occurred. We suspect that
this development has been a positive one and recommend that the Commission
formalize a process by which it may exercise its discretion to permit personal
appearances before the Commission in other situations as well.

The vast majority of the Commission’s enforcement matters are resolved by the
Commission and only rarely result in judicial proceedings to enforce violations of
the Act. Accordingly, the Commission is almost always acting as both prosecutor
and judge. In this latter role, it seems only fitting that the Commission adopt
procedures like that of a court, the most basic of which would be to hold hearings
on matters that respondents and the Office of General Counsel dispute. The power
of the Commission to do so should be discretionary so that it may consider, on a
case-by-case basis, whether a hearing would be productive. We can certainly think
of a number of situations where it would. For example, if during pre-probable cause
conciliation a respondent and the Office of General Counsel reach a stalemate, a
hearing could certainly accelerate resolution of the maiter which would, ultimately,
save both the respondent’s and the Commission’s resources.

In addition, hearings need not be limited to the enforcement context. Advisory
opinion requests present another opportunity for the Commission to hear directly
from an interested party. We have observed numerous Commission meetings where
the Commission raises questions that we could easily answer during the meeting if
given the opportunity to do so. Permitting requestors or their counsel to personally
appear during consideration of an advisory opinion will seemingly only increase the
efficiency of the process.

(d) Deposition and Document Practice

We recall when counsel did not have the right to obtain the depositions of its clients
prior to responding to the General Counsel’s Probable Cause Briefs. We are
appreciative that we no longer need to make the case to obtain these documents in
order to file a response to probable cause briefs. We believe that the Commission
should take the next step and make all documents upon which the General
Counsel’s Brief relies available to respondents in order to enable the respondent to
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fully respond to the brief. Without the full documentation, the Commission is
asking a respondent to reply to a brief with one hand tied behind her back. There
are many occasions when the counsel’s office interprets something said by a
deponent a certain way when there could easily be an alternative fashion of
interpreting the same material. We do not fault the Office of General Counsel for
the interpretation, but want the opportunity to explain the materials in another
fashion. Without being given access to the materials, there is no way to address
these issues without going directly to the deponent, a process which could be more
time consuming than simply being given the deposition.

While we understand the Commission’s concern that this could delay the process,
we believe this can be dealt with by simply providing the documentation
contemporaneously with the General Counsel’s Brief. Full access to the transcripts
of others would not increase the likelihood of public disclosure in violation of 2
U.S.C. 437(g)(a)(12). Indeed, for years the Commission has concluded cases
against respondents in the same enforcement action at different times, and there is
no evidence that this has lead to the premature disclosure of Commission notices or
materials. Rather, the Commission simply notifies respondents that the matter has
not been closed as to all respondents and that there is a continuing requirement of
confidentiality. The same procedure could be put in place when materials are
provided to respondents in connection with the probable cause stage of the
proceeding.

In addition, we recommend that respondent’s counsel be allowed to attend
depostitions of other respondents or witnesses. If the role of the Commission is to
discover actual facts, respondent’s counsel can help facilitate that role by being
allowed to develop the facts as they know them. Here again, our experience has
been that the counsel’s office typically ask questions based on its theory of the case
and attempts to discover the facts that will enable them to make the case. By
enabling respondent’s counsel to participate in the proceedings, other pertinent facts
can be discovered giving the General Counsel’s office a more complete look at the
case.
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2. Other Programs
(a) Reports Analysis

The Commission’s notice requesting comments asks: “Some RFATI's seek
information which is not required [to be] reportied]. Is this practice consistent with
the law?” In our experience, these types of RFAIs have grown in recent vears
which is a troubling development.

Initially, these RFAIs could be counted on once every two years stating:

Clarification regarding administrative expenses
should be disclosed during each two-year election
cycle beginning with the first report filed in the non-
election year. Please verify that all expenses
referenced above (i.e., rent, salaries, utilities, etc.)
have been adequately disclosed. If volunteers have
provided these services, please confirm this in
writing,

Though we were never aware of the authority for this requirement, compliance with
it was never terribly onerous. In our experience, the FEC’s Reports Analysis
Division (RAD) has recently begun issuing RFATs with remarkably increased
frequency that request confirmation of the accuracy of other information previously
reported to the FEC. Three examples follow:

Please clarify all expenditures made for “Event
Catering,” “Fundraiser Invitations,” and “Fundraising
Consulting Expenses™ on Schedule B, If a portion or
all of these expenditures were made on behalf of
specifically identified federal candidates, this amount
should be disclosed on Schedules B or E supporting
Lines 23 or 24 and include the amount, name, address
and office sought by each candidate. 11 CFR
§§104.3(b) and 106.1.

11 CFR §100.24 defines as Federal Election Activity,
services provided by an employee of a State, district
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or local party committee who spends more than 25
percent of their time during that month on activities in
connection with a Federal election. You are advised
that payments for salaries and wages for employees
who spend more than 25 percent of their compensated
time in a given month on Federal Election Activity or
activities in connection with a Federal election must
be made with Federal funds only. Please provide
clarification regarding the lack of payments for salary
and wages disclosed by your committee.

Please clarify all expenditures made for [Beverages,
Event Beverages, Event Food, Event Invitations,
Event Music, Event Tents/Chair, and Event Venug]
on Schedule B. If a portion or all of these
expenditures were made on behalf of specifically
identified federal candidates, this amount should be
disclosed on Schedules B, E or F supporting Lines 23,
24 or 25 and include the amount, name, address and
office sought by each candidate. 11 CFR §§104.3(b)
and 106.1.

Notably, none of these RFAIs state that the disclosures were incomplete or
improperly made. Rather, they all seek “clarification” that the manner in which
they were originally disclosed was what was intended. On its face, this does not
appear to be terribly burdensome. But the RFAlSs all include language that a failure
to respond or an inadequate response could result in audit or enforcement action.
This threat almost always compels a response which, like any filing with the federal
government, could expose the respondent to liability for making a false or
incomplete statement. For these reasons, it has been our experience that RFAISs
generate a fair amount of concern with the recipients and are taken very seriously.
Furthermore, they remain a matter of public record and give the incorrect
impression that the recipients may have violated the law or improperly reported.

Accordingly, RAD should refrain from sending RFAIs that, without a basis for
apparent inaccurate or incomplete disclosure, seek nothing more than confirmation
that information originally reported was accurate. At the very least, RAD should
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cease making them a matter of public record. The reporting form already requires a
signature after the statement: “I certify that [ have examined this Report and to the
best of my knowledge and belief it is true, correct and complete.” See also 11
C.F.R. § 104.14(d) (imposing personal responsibility “for the timely and complete
filing of the report or statement and for the accuracy of any information or statement
contained in 1t.”) These RFAls are redundant and impose significant burdens on the

recipients.

Furthermore, several times this past election cycle letters from RAD did not reflect
changes to election dates or electoral developments. For instance, RAD issued

letters related to several elections stating the following:

Schedule B supporting Line 23 of your report
discloses one or more contributions to a candidate(s)

for the 2008 Primary election; however, the funds

were disbursed after the election date(s) (see
attached). Please note that contributions may not be
designated for an election which has already occurred
unless the funds are to be used to reduce a candidate
committee’s debts incurred during that election

campaign.

If any apparently impermissible contribution in
question was incompletely or incorrectly disclosed,
vou should amend your original report with clarifying
information. If the contribution(s) in question should
have been designated for debt retirement, you should
amend your report to indicate “debt retirement,” along

with the year of election.

If you have made an impermissible contribution, vou
must request a refund or provide a written
authorization for a redesignation of the contribution

pursuant to 11 CFR §110.2(b) within 60 days of the

freasurer’s receipt.
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If the foregoing conditions for redesignations were
not met within 60 days of the treasurer’s receipt, your
committee must obtain a refund.

Please inform the Commission of your corrective
action immediately in writing and provide a
photocopy of the refund or redesignation request sent
to the recipient committee(s). In addition, any refunds
should be disclosed on Schedule A supporting Line 16
of the report covering the period during which they
are received. Any redesignations should be disclosed
as memo entries on Schedule B supporting Line 23 of
the report covering the period during which the
redesignation is made. 11 CFR § 110. I(b)

Although the Commission may take further legal
action regarding this impermissible activity, your
prompt action in obtaining a refund and/or
redesignating the contribution(s) will be taken into
consideration.”

In issuing these letters, RAD should first confirm that the information in the letters
is accurate and up-to-date, and second, should agree to remove the letters from the
public record when an obvious mistake has been brought to its attention. Filers
should not be told to amend a report while the Commission is making a
determination as to whether the RAD letter was correct. This muddies the public
record and potentially makes filers report inaccurate information. Further, filers are
very sensitive to the appearance on the public record that they have made a mistake
when, in fact, no mistake was made and the record has not been cleared. A series of

2

- These RFAIs were issued in clear error but remain part of the pubiic record. Louisiana
moved its 2008 congressional primary date due to a hurricane. The FEC website reflected the
change in date of the primary election to October 4, 2008. See hitp://www.fec.gov/pages/
report_notices/State Notices/laprim2.shtm]. Notwithstanding that fact, RAD sent RFAls to
numerous committees that had contributed 1o candidates after the original primary election date. but
before the new October 4 primary date. The letter accused the committees of making impermissible
primary election contributions because the primary election had already passed. Even after RAD
was apprised of its error and directed to the FEC webpage indicating that the primary election had
not passed, the RFAIs remain part of the public record.





Stephen Gura, Esq.
Mark Shonkwiler, Iisq.
January 5, 2009

Page 12

letters like the ones identified above make it appear as though the filer has made
repeated mistakes, when in fact, not a single mistake has been made and RAD is
seeking information either not required or which is inaccurate.

(b) Administrative Fines

As a technical matter, the Commission’s administrative fines program only applies
to violations of the 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) reporting requirements. See 11 C.F.R.

§ 111.31(b). However, reporting requirements for independent expenditures,
electioneering communications, and other types of activities exist in sections of the
FECA other than that codified at 2 U.S.C. § 434(a). See, e.g., 2 US.C. § 434(c)
(independent expenditures by persons), (f) (electioneering communications), (g)
(independent expenditures by pelitical committees); 2 U.S.C. § 431(9)(B)(ii1)
(internal communications containing express advocacy). We are not aware of any
policy reason that would justify not including all reports filed with the Commission
within the administrative fines program and believe that the benefits that have
accrued in connection with 2 U.S.C. § 434(a) reporting would also accrue if all
other reports are also subject to the administrative fines program.

3. Advisory Opinions

As noted in the Commission’s request for comments of the agencies policies and
procedures, the Commission’s policy has been to post one or more draft opinions on
the Commission website for comment. Further, Requesters are sent a copy of the
draft opinions for comment as well. While this is an excellent policy in theory,
unfortunately in practice there have been many occasions when the drafts are issued
so late as to give the requestors only one or two days to respond. It can be difficult
to draft a response and have a client consider and approve the response within the
time frame allotted. The requestor can often shed light on the issue at hand once a
draft opinion is issued. Thus, we recommend that the Commission adopt a policy of
providing at least five business days notice to Requesters (and the public at large) in
order to file responses to the Commission’s drafts. This would enable the
Commission to review all of the facts and circumstances surrounding an Advisory
Opinion request and consider the input provided after a draft opinion has been
issued. Given that the Commission has a staff of professionals dedicated to the
drafting of Advisory Opinions, it should be the rare occasion that the Commission
uses all 60 days to respond to an Advisory Opinion request.
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We look forward to discussing these and any other comments submitted to the
Commission during the January 14, 2009, hearing.

Sincerely,

fén Witold Baran
On behalf of the Wiley Rein LLP Election Law and Government Ethics group






From: Gloria Bram
To: agencypro2008@fec.gov

Subject: Commission's policies, practices and procedures
Date: 02/11/2009 04:37 PM

Stephen Gura, Deputy Associate General
Counsel, or Mark Shonkwiler, Assistant General
Counsel,

As a treasurer of a county party, and an accountant
for the past 40 years, | thought I was capable of
handling the reporting and record keeping
requirements for a Congressional candidate. 1 was
wrong and my efforts to learn were severely
hampered by the east/west time differential and the
unwieldy reporting program.

There is no training or assistance located on the west
coast. Due to a disability, 1 am limited to working only
3-4 hours in the afternoon. Training over the phone, |
was frequently stopped in the middle by the FEC
employee’s requirement to quit work at 5 pm, 2 pm
my time. | was also hampered at times by the
employee’s poor communication skills. They knew the
program, but hot how to best communicate in other
areas.

The sample formats for transmitting data were poorly
explained, the program was extremely convoluted and
not user friendly. It shouldn’t require a Master’s
degree in both Accounting and Systems Analysis to
use it. And the experience required to use the
program severely hampers the ability of new
candidates with limited funds to run for public office.

These are the specific actions that would have allowed
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me to do accurate and timely filings:

1. Having an online course for campaign treasurers,
broken into sections for each type of transaction
and available at will.

2. Having a small group of FEC employees located in
each time zone who are available to answer
guestions. They can be located in existing Federal
offices or by renting storefront offices from
January 1St until October 31st,

3. Have an experienced campaign treasurer (or get
a group of them to make their own suggestions)
work with your programmers to simplify,
streamline and make your reporting program
more user friendly.

Thank you,
Gloria Bram, 360-385-4274

6411 State Route 20, # 5, Port Townsend, WA 98368
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Recommendations of the Center for Responsive Politics for Improved Management

of Federal Election Commission Data and Disclosure

There are a number of things that can be done to make the important information
gathered by the Federal Election Commission (FEC) more meaningful, accessible and
accurate, and to convey that the FEC is listening to the public and wants its input. To that
end, the Center for Responsive Politics has formulated a list of improvements that the
FEC could and should make to the current system of campaign finance disclosure,
improvements that we think would be most beneficial for the public, and relatively
simple for the Commission to enact. They are as follows:

1.

Add individual donors of $200 or less to the “master individual donations” file
(i.e., ITCONT). In some respects, this recent presidential campaign has ushered us
into a new age — the age of the small and medium donor. The cumulative power of
many people of relatively modest means has been proven and we have modern
technology to thank. Now, the FEC must update its disclosure system to capture the
information that the public expects about the people providing hundreds of millions
of dollars (and the winning edge) for political campaigns. The FEC’s current practice
of excluding small donations that aggregate to more than $200 from the public
record—even though they are reported by the candidates to the FEC—is outdated,
ignoring the need to provide this information, even now that technology makes it
simple to do so. These small donations that aggregate to more than $200 per recipient
are reported and should be included in the official individual donor “master file” of
the FEC — not just the electronically filed reports as they are now.

Require disclosure of the summary amount from unitemized individuals on FEC
Form 3P. We do have summary “unitemized individual donations” (for individuals
giving $200 or less) as a line item—FEC Form 3, Line 11(a)(ii)—on all candidate
campaign reports, except for the ones we need most: presidential. This should be
changed. The FEC should also consider using a single form for all types of
candidates—Congress and presidential—although we understand that the presidential
public financing system imposes additional disclosure requirements that may
necessitate the continued use of a separate form for presidential candidates.

Provide and require the use of relevant expenditure categories. How is all this
money spent? The source of the money has long been the main focus, out of concerns
about corruption, but there is the potential for corruption (and there has been real
corruption) on the spending side too. There's too much latitude in how campaigns can
describe their spending. To one campaign, flowers are a "fundraising expense." To
another, they're "event production." To a third, they're simply "flowers." Presidential
candidate John Edwards's $400 haircuts were described as "consulting/events." A
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menu of standardized terms, along with clear guidelines for how to interpret those
terms, would allow for easier, more meaningful classification of campaign spending.

4. Create a ‘““service ticket system” for tracking errors and corrections that both
the FEC staff and the public can monitor. There needs to be a uniform and official
method to report and track corrections to the public record. In any given year, CRP
reports to the FEC’s Data Systems staff errors that may affect dozens, or hundreds—
even thousands—of records. Some of these corrections are made quickly. Most of
them are made eventually after some delay (for verification, presumably). However,
too many of them disappear into the ether — we never hear back. Maybe the errors get
fixed, maybe not, but we’ve had to move on and may not circle back until it comes to
our attention again that the data is still wrong. There should be a more efficient and
effective method to report and track these errors to be certain they are reviewed and
corrected. This would be enormously helpful to our organization and, ultimately, to
the common goal of providing the public with reliable data.

5. Add a “Country” field. Because a substantial and increasing number of campaign
donations come from overseas (most legitimate, some not), and many if not most of
these are simply designated as being from the ‘“ZZ” state, meaning that they come
from abroad, it would be beneficial to add a “Country” field to the forms.

6. Require information on the means by which campaign contributions are raised.
How much of this money is raised over the Internet? Everyone wants to know —it’s a
valid new measure of this critical, and newly empowered, group. We should ask
federal political campaigns to collect this information by including a new field on the
disclosure forms.

7. Increase frequency of master data updates. Currently master files are uploaded to
the FEC’s FTP site weekly. This has created many inconveniences for CRP and other
data users. Is it possible to provide this automatically on a nightly basis?

8. Investigate whether the FEC needs to impose new restrictions on donor
verification. Surely, in this day and age, given how pervasive Internet fundraising
now is, we can and should place restrictions on filers to require donor verification.
Systems should not allow donors using clearly false identities like “Doodad Pro” or
“Daffy Duck” from making any contributions, much less sizable or excessive
contributions. The public should also have confidence that the campaigns are raising
this money responsibly and securely, with guaranteed verification (name and address
to match the credit card number, etc.) in place to prevent fraud. There should be no
doubt about whether the campaign is turning a blind eye to (or even enabling) donors
to give excessive contributions through multiple identities. Because, for example,
while we assume the fraud among President Obama’s 2008 donors cannot possibly be
massive enough to cause concern about corruption, the truth is that no one really
knows (except, presumably, the campaign, the vendor and maybe the FBI). Of course,
there will still be attempted fraud, and, naturally, the FEC must calibrate how much
regulatory burden to put on campaigns. And there could be unfortunate side effects of
putting restrictions for how contributions are verified (i.e., if we “freeze technology”
according to today’s standards, it will be superseded or hacked). However, there is
serious concern and many questions about whether anyone can really tell how much
of any candidate’s contributions may be coming from donors using fake or multiple
identities.
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While offering several suggestions for improving the FEC’s data operations, we do also
want to commend the FEC on steps it has taken recently to make campaign finance data
more transparent and easily accessible. Offering basic data, searchable and downloadable
through FEC.gov’s graphic “map” interface is a terrific way to “meet people where they
sit” and we hope that this is just the beginning of similar new features to come.

Additionally, we would like to commend the FEC for selecting Bob Biersack as Special
Assistant to the Staff Director. Bob will be a wonderful “translator” for the FEC,
transmitting problems that users are having to the FEC staff and seeking out display and
data transfer solutions that meet the needs of the public. Bob is an incredible asset — to
the FEC and, especially, to the press, researchers and the public, and it seems that the
FEC understands that, too, so we are very pleased.

Submitted February 18, 2009

Sheila Krumholz

Executive Director

Center for Responsive Politics
1101 14" St. NW, Suite 1030
Washington, DC 20005

(202) 857-0044 x104
skrumholz@crp.org

ABOUT THE CENTER FOR RESPONSIVE POLITICS

The Center for Responsive Politics is the nation’s premier research group tracking money
in U.S. politics and its effect on elections and public policy. Nonpartisan, independent
and nonprofit, the organization aims to create a more educated voter, an involved
citizenry and a more responsive government. In short, CRP’s mission is to:

¢ Inform citizens about how money in politics affects their lives
e Empower voters and activists by providing unbiased information
e Advocate for a transparent and responsive government

We pursue our mission largely through our award-winning website, OpenSecrets.org,
which is the most comprehensive resource for campaign contributions, lobbying data and
analysis available anywhere. And for other organizations and news media, CRP’s
exclusive data powers their online features tracking money in politics—counting cash to
make change.

CRP relies on financial support from a combination of foundation grants and individual
contributions. The Center accepts no contributions from businesses, labor unions or trade
associations.






From: Rob Jorgensen

To: agencypro2008@fec.gov

Subject: RE: Federal Election Commission Seeks Comment on its Activities and
Procedures

Date: 01/16/2009 09:10 AM

Suggestions for enforcement of your campaign spending laws. First if
candidates go

past the spending limits the law mandates they should be diqualified for office
as

this sets the tone for their adminstration. They are probaly not going to follow
other laws if they can't stick to campaign laws. Imposing fines are not
effective at

all' Money is not a obstacle for corrupt candidates. Stick to principals and
appeal to

the press and the FBI (DOJ) for enforcement. Clearly Bush is corrupt and is
passing

the Presidency to Obama (harvard lawyer from Chicago) Fighting corruption is
not

easy but that is why we have the Federal Election Commision. GOD BLESS
AMERICA Rob Jorgensen

From: Rob Jorgensen

To: agencypro2008@fec.gov

Subject: FW: DAV: February 2009 eNewsletter
Date: 02/12/2009 07:04 PM

| thought the best way to enforce the campaign finance limits\laws the FEC mandated is to involve veterans in this
process

of enforcement. If the FEC makes laws and candidates disreguard the laws and blow past the finance limits, certainly they
should be disqualified as candidates. The DAV with their experience fighting communism and corruption may be a
partner in restoring fairness and honest democracy in lieu of golden rule politics.

RCJ

Date: Tue, 10 Feb 2009 04:00:27 -0600

From: eDonorRelations@davmail.org

To: rcjorgensen@msn.com

Subject: DAV: February 2009 eNewsletter

Can't view this email? Click here to view it online. Forward to a Friend.

HOME @ ABOUT US VOLUNTARY SERVICES @ BENEFITS ASSISTANCE @ DONATE

Dear Rob,

I recall these immortal words from Abraham Lincoln, "to care for him who
shall have borne the battle, and for his widow, and his orphan." As
we celebrate Presidents Day this month, | think of how you live up to the mighty
spirit of these words each time you give to our Disabled American Veterans.
Each of the stories below shows some aspect of how you serve our nation’s
disabled defenders and their families through the Disabled American Veterans.
Each is an example of your kindness in action, changing the lives of our heroes
for the better.

With my deepest thanks!

Arthur H. Wilson, National Adjutant

Disabled American Veterans

Free DAV services for disabled veterans

While suffering physically and mentally as a result





of their military service, many veterans need a
helping hand to get on with life. Yet they don't know
where to find earned benefits and services. Here's
how you can direct veterans to free assistance from
the DAV!

Outraged by shredded veterans' documents
The DAV was outraged when documents needed
for veteran's claims were found in VA shredding bins.
DAV National Adjutant Art Wilson explains why many
veterans view the VA with "suspicion and outright
skepticism."

Protecting widows & orphans of disabled heroes
The DAV's work with disabled veterans is what
garners the most attention, but we never lose sight of
those left behind when a sick or injured hero passes
away. See how the DAV saved the day for this
widow, whose husband suffered severe wounds in
World War II.

Powerful photos show your kindness in action
Check out these inspiring photos, showing how you
help severely wounded veterans gain strength and
confidence at the Winter Sports Clinic, sponsored
annually by the DAV and VA. The 2009 clinic is
coming up, and this newsletter will take you to the
Rockies for the action!

Urgent needs grow as combat increases
As our troops take on a rising tide of Taliban and Al-
Qaeda terror in Afghanistan, combat casualties come
home from that war-torn country every day. You and |
must meet the needs of the sick and newly wounded,
even as we care for disabled heroes from wars long

past.
HOME | ABOUT US | VOLUNTARY SERVICES | BENEFITS ASSISTANCE | DONATE

DISABLED AMERICAN VETERANS

P.O. Box 14301 | Cincinnati, OH 45250-0301

OUR MISSION:

Since its founding more than 80 years ago, Disabled American Veterans has been
dedicated to a single

purpose: Building Better Lives for America's Disabled Veterans and their families.
Please thank a disabled veteran for their sacrifice and service!

Update Email Preferences

Unsubscribe

Stay up to date on your PC, the Web, and your mobile phone with Windows Live. See Now






From: Sheryle Milmont

Reply To: monarck47@yahoo.com
To: agencypro2008@fec.gov
Subject: McCain/Feingold

Date: 02/18/2009 10:25 PM
Dear sirs;

I am writing to you in regard to the reporting of non commited pacs.

I am a volunteer for our local democratic club here in Oxnard, CA. | was
elected Treasurer for the club. | have been reading up on thr reporting of
McCain

/Feingold and wish to put my two cents in.

For many years | was involved in PTA and was also treasurer for a few of
them. the one thing | appreciated was that the reporting of our income to
the IRS didn't happened until our gross receipts reached $25,000.

I would hope that you recognized that small grass roots club or PACs that
we have to call ourselves now are still run by volunteers. | would like to
recommend that you would put your minimum amount to be reported on
at $10,000 instead of $1,000 or if a contributor gives 10% of the total
gross receipts

Thank you for your time,

Sheryle Milmont
Treasurer
Greater Oxnard Organization of Democrats
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WHITNEY WYATT BURNS
P.O. Box 1174
Springfield, Virginia 22151

Telephone 703/658-4356 Facsimile 703/658-2904

Email wburns@patriot.net

January 5, 2009

Mr. Stephen Gura
Deputy Associate General General

Mr. Mark Shonkwiler
Assistant General Counsel

Federal Election Commission
999 E Street NW
Washington, DC 20463

SUBMISSION BY EMAIL (Adobe Acrobat .pdf format)

Dear Mr. Gura and Mr. Shonkwiler:

I am writing in response to the Commission's request for public comments on policies and procedures
of the Federal Election Commission (FEC) promulgated in the Federal Register on Monday, December
8,2008. I would be glad to provide testimony to the Commissioners at the hearing scheduled for
January 14, 2009.

As a professional specializing in financial compliance and public disclosure for political committees
for the last twenty-five years, [ have worked in all areas of disclosure and enforcement with the FEC
staff on behalf of numerous clients. I have worked with numerous authorized committees, connected
and non-connected political committees, and national, state and local party committees registered with
the FEC. I have also worked with federal committees with nonfederal accounts, and non-federal
political organizations not registered with the FEC.

The comments presented below concern the review and enforcement process and standards with
respect to the Reports Analysis Division, the Alternative Dispute Resolution, and the Audit Division. I
have direct experience working with all three entities. The request is clear that comments should be
limited to "structural, procedural and policy issues" and should not address individual staff members or
specific cases. I note that in practice the regulated community is often judged based on the subjective
opinions and biases of the staff rather than on compliance with the standards presented in the
applicable statues and the Commission's regulations, particularly a committee that has been selected
for an enforcement action.





My first general comment concerns the lack of public access to standards the Commission's divisions
and programs use to judge compliance. My second general comment concerns a committee's lack of
recourse when selected for enforcement action when there are substantive disagreements on basic
factual information and legal interpretation between a committee and the Commission's staff. Once a
committee is in an enforcement program, the Commission's staff controls the dissemination of the
committee's communications and responses to the Commission and other branches of the FEC.

Reports Analysis Division (RAD)

In recent years, RAD Requests for Additional Information (RFAI) have become more consistent across
the board, but remain deficient in three regards. First, requests are not always clear to the regulated
community, or contain misleading or incorrect text. Often it is not until a later enforcement stage that
a committee learns or recognizes an analyst was expecting an answer to a question that was not evident
to the recipient from the words printed on paper. Second, RFAIs may request information not required
by the applicable statutes or governing regulation, or contain information that is misleading or
incorrect about the requirements as set out in the statutes and regulations. Both of these situations
permit committees unknowingly to file detailed responses that may be considered inadequate by
analysts and lead to misapplication of later enforcement actions.

Third, the tone in RFAI language is unnecessarily inflammatory and presumes serious violations of the
law when the premise of a RFAI is to seek clarification or notify a committee that there may be a
deficiency in the data reported. Since RFAIs are published on the internet at the time they are issued,
and often before a committee has received the mailed letter, much less evaluated and begun to prepare
a response, this has the effect of publicly disseminating negative information about a committee prior
to providing the committee a sufficient time to post a response.

Frequently RAD directs a committee to a campaign guide for more information, yet there are areas in
which the campaign guides contain information that is not consistent with the disclosure regulations,
despite Commission approval. This puts a committee in the position of either complying with the
regulation or complying with a campaign guides. RAD should not score RFAI responses based on the
campaign guide, particularly if a committee indicates in a response that a transaction conforms to a
specific regulation that appears inconsistent with the campaign guide.

This being said, there are several regulations that are so poorly constructed, for example Sec.
110.6(c)(2)(i1)(B) concerning reporting earmarked contributions by recipient committees, that they
defy a method of practical compliance. Senior RAD staff members are generally in agreement that this
particular regulation and other specific regulations that pose reporting problems. The Commission is
to be commended for seeking this inquiry on procedures and policies, and I would humbly suggest that
a next step would be to address these regulations and determine if a rulemaking process in order.

These problematic regulations periodically create a lot of RFAI traffic and lead to enforcement actions
for (often minor) infractions that might be avoided with better worded or more practical regulations.

It is impossible for the public to make informed comment concerning RAD referral policies because
the internal standards guidelines are not available to the public. From a practitioner's perspective it
appears to be hit or miss, based on some combination of "audit points," inadequate responses to RFAIs
per an analyst's opinion, the number of and substantive nature of amendments filed, and RAD staff
subjectivity. It would be helpful if the regulatory community had access to the standards, and I think it
could be presented in a manner as to avoid what the comment request notice terms "without providing
committees a road map on how to violate the law just enough to avoid being audited..." Furthermore,
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I believe that more communication by RAD with the regulated community as a whole about its
expectations (one avenue could be through the FEC Record) would foster a higher general standard of
compliance and more accurate and complete reports.

Committees that are referred by RAD for enforcement should be provided with clear and precise
reasons for the referral, and there should be a process for a committee to challenge the referral if there

is a substantive difference concerning the alleged areas of inadequate compliance or reporting.

Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR)

This program is not helpful and should not be expanded. It currently appears to be a mechanism for
punishing minor reporting infractions and generating inequitable fines to permit the FEC to measure
the quality of enforcement in simple quantitative dollar signs. It would be more useful if it the
program was structured to be a process whereby committees are encouraged to correct compliance
rather than to punish past problems.

Once a committee is offered the opportunity to participate in the ADR program, the committee is in the
basic position to admit violations and pay up or risk the expense of being audited. The ADR program
does provide a committee with specific areas of alleged non-compliance or inadequate reporting
compiled from the RAD referral, but negotiations begin with the assumption that the alleged violation
is valid. Unlike the RAD RFAI process or the audit process, which invite committees to explain
perceived violations, committees in ADR are discouraged from providing mitigating factual and legal
information. This puts a committee in the position of negotiating a fine and future compliance
requirements for a violation that the committee does not believe to be well-substantiated. If agreement
is not reached with ADR, there is no recourse for the committee except move on to a more costly stage
of enforcement.

There do not appear to be standards or guidelines in setting the fines or compelling other forms of
compliance. The fines seem to be purely subjective, and can jump up based on unexplainable factors
after a committee has come to terms with a verbal agreement. Committees that have self-corrected
processes and procedures after an infraction or violation occurs, but prior to referral, seem to receive
harsher treatment since there is no new easy corrective action to implement to improve future
compliance. Frequently I have been asked to come up with a "creative" remedy. I would like ADR to
require that referred committees to be compliant and file complete reports in the future. ADR has
become more amenable to considering committee edits to the conciliation agreements. But on the
whole, there does not appear to be adequate oversight of this program by the Commission.

Audit

Audits are very costly for committees. The audit division should provide committees selected based
on an internal referral a clear rationale as to why it was selected for audit. As with other internally
generated enforcement actions, the committee has no recourse to challenge the referral, and unlike the
ADR process whereby specific information is provided, a committee has no information to even
understand the assumptions that generated an audit referral. As an interested member of the public and
an experienced practitioner I have no sense of what the standards for referral are. And echoing my
earlier concerns, there is no way to judge whether the referral process is neutral or fair because we do
not know what it is. However, referral standards are primarily a RAD function, and the audit begins
after the referral.





Findings are alleged violations of law. And regardless as to whether a finding is considered
"enforcement" or not, the Conciliation Agreement that comes from the Office of General Counsel
(OGC) with a fine attached after Commission approval of an audit is certainly enforcement.

If the Commission approves a limited scope audit, the committee should be apprised of the scope and
the audit should be focused on that area. Increasingly audits seem to become fishing expeditions to
uncover every flaw in a report and a committee's financial management, rather than to assess if the
reports, as amended, are reasonably correct.

The audit process breaks down when there is substantive disagreement between the committee and the
audit staff concerning factual and legal matters. The audit staff controls the board, and the committee
has no recourse to object to any audit demands deemed unreasonable, and are subject to penalization.
The standards that the auditors require a committee to meet in response to their requests and the burden
of proof of challenging findings do not appear to be set by consistent internal policies or adherence to
the regulations, but by whim.

The audit division is also in control of a committee's responses to the AR, and can totally disregard a
committee's position or misinterpret the contents. A committee's response to the potential findings
presented at an exit conference and the response to the AR contain important and detailed information
that should be available to the Commission as the FAR is considered. Frequently the FAR will state
"the committee had no response" concerning a matter that the committee expounded on at length, or
will summarize a complex narrative into a sound bite that misrepresents the committee's position
through omission, or will completely misstate a committee's response on a finding because of a
disagreement or a misinterpretation of the committees position.

The committee has no sanctioned method of communicating its positions to the Commission, and risks
violating ex parte regulations if it does. In an audit more so than other enforcement procedures, a
committee's investment in the process should not be diminished or disregarded because an auditor
determined it wasn't significant. The Commission should rectify this lapse in the process, first so that
the Commissioners receive the unedited views and presentation submitted by a committee, and
secondly, if there is still substantial disagreement with the findings and language in the FAR, that the
committee has the opportunity to bring these matters to the Commission's attention and receive a fair
hearing.

Thank you for this opportunity to comment.

Sincerely,

Whitney Burns






Kragen Javier Sitaker
Rivadavia 2318

Piso 4 Dept. B
Capital Federal
C1034ACP
Argentina

February 18, 2009

Mr. Stephen Gura

Deputy Associate General Counsel
Mr. Mark Shonkwiler

Assistant General Counsel

Federal Election Commission

999 E Street, N.W.

Washington, DC 20463

Via email: agencypro2008@Qfec.gov

Dear sirs:

Attached please find my comments pursuant to the Federal Election Commissions Notice of Public Hearing
and Request for Public Comment, posted in the Federal Register, Vol. 73, No. 236 on December 8, 2008.

As a US citizen living abroad, my primary concern is with the interests of the public, not with the interests
of the regulated community. While I recognize that transparency, effectiveness, and fairness in enforcement
proceedings are a sine qua non of the FEC’s mission, it is my view that they are not sufficient; rather, the
Commission also has an obligation to provide the information gathered through its enforcement activities to
the public in order to serve the purpose for which the Commission was created: ensuring the fairness of our
Nation’s electoral process, and allowing the public to take political action to correct problems in the process.

My work with the FEC’s data has been as a consultant under contract with Watchdog.net, LLC, which is
funded by the Sunlight Foundation. However, these comments are on my own behalf; I am not representing
either of these two organizations.

Thank you for soliciting our comments on these important issues.

Sincerely,

Kragen Javier Sitaker





Comments to the Federal Election Commission

We thank the Commission for requesting public comment on its policies and
procedures, particularly with such a broad ambit.

Our expertise is limited primarily to the Commission's disclosure of filing
information, and our comments are accordingly limited in scope.
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Importance of Disclosure; Context

The FEC was established in 1975 to stop certain financial abuses of the
federal electoral system, and to justify and reestablish the public's
confidence in that system. Accordingly, public disclosure of funds
raised and spent to influence federal elections is a key part of its
mission, and the Commission already publishes a great deal of data on
its World Wide Web server for that purpose.

However, this disclosure falls short of the ideal, in a number of ways
which substantially limit public accessibility of the data. The Sunlight
Foundation's comments describe some of the shortfalls, and they are
substantially correct.





Since the Commissioners and their staff spend most of their time
taking enforcement actions and interacting with members of the
regulated community, it is not surprising that the Commission's request
for public comments concerns primarily issues of enforcement and
issues of interest to the regulated community rather than issues of
interest to the public at large. However, we would like to request that
the Commission also start to take its public disclosure mission
seriously. The Commissioners' comments on this matter in the January
hearing were very encouraging.

The Sunlight Foundation's comments discuss the importance of a user-
friendly web site for searching and viewing FEC disclosures. Mr. Clay
Johnson's testimony in the January 14™ hearing says, “Your number 1
priority in fulfilling your mandate to publicly disclose campaign
finance information should be to provide high-quality and accurate
data to citizens in a way that is comprehensive and understandable.”
He is correct.

These are both important goals, but as Mr. Johnson emphasizes in his
testimony, “understandable” is of secondary importance to
“comprehensive,” that is, complete and documented. As Mr. Johnson
explained, there are a number of web sites that already provide
interfaces for querying and reporting on the data, using the
downloadable data files. It is much easier for a member of the public to
build a user-friendly web site, if they can download comprehensive
data, than for a member of the public to extract comprehensive data
from a web site built only to be user-friendly.

Accordingly, our comments focus primarily on what is necessary for the
data available to the public to become comprehensive.

Procedural Aspects of Filing Disclosure

There are a variety of nontechnical measures that would substantially
improve public accessibility of filing data.

A. Old Forms, Schedules, and Instructions

The original electronic filings from previous years constitute an
important public record, both because of the problems with the COBOL
master data files described in the Sunlight Foundation's written





comments and testimony, and because of the general principle that
public records should be available to the public in the form in which
they were originally created.! Unfortunately, the filings are not self-
contained; the data in them represent answers to specific questions on
FEC forms and schedules, and must be interpreted in light of the forms
and schedules and their corresponding instructions.

Proposal

These forms are available from the Commission's web site, but
apparently only in their current forms. For reasons of public access, we
propose that the Commission maintain a web-accessible archive of all
old versions of each form, schedule, or set of filing instructions, with
information about when they were valid. This should represent a
minimal administrative burden, since presumably fewer than 40
versions of each have been created, and none of them should be
difficult to find a copy of.

Additionally, for the benefit of members of the public who are reading
old versions of these forms, the Commission should maintain on its
web site a chronological list of changes to all of these artifacts — if not
since the inception of the Commission, at least for recent years.
Presumably this list of changes already exists in some form, however
fragmentary, because it is needed by filers as well as those seeking to
understand old filings. Without such a list of changes, a reporter or
other member of the public needs to wade through an overwhelming
amount of repetitive information in order to understand a series of
reports from several previous years.

B. Old File Formats

The Commission documents the electronic filing format on its web site?
— however, this information is designed for vendors of electronic filing
software, not members of the public seeking to exercise their right to
access public information. Accordingly, it only includes full
documentation for the latest format. Over the years, the filing format
has changed a number of times (the current filing format is Version

1 Of course, this does not imply that the data should not also be available in more convenient or consistent formats.
2 http://www.fec.gov/elecfil/vendors.shtml





6.2.1.2 of the format), but apparently the old filing formats are not
documented on the Commission's web site, nor is there even a list of
old filing formats.

There is a limited amount of information in the vendor information file
about recent obsolete format versions, going back only to version 5.3.
Through other channels, we have been able to obtain documentation of
old filing formats going back to version 3, but we have no way of
validating that the documentation is authentic, and we have no
documentation at all for filing format version 2.

Without this information, it is very difficult to make sense of old
electronic filings, and information obtained from guesses at their
formats must be treated as unreliable.

Proposal

We request that the Commission consider the right of the public to
access historical filing data to be as important as the need for vendors to
produce filings in the current format, and accordingly that the
Commission provide a list of all historical file formats on its web site,
linked to complete documentation of those formats. As with old
versions of the forms and instructions, this information already exists; it
is just a matter of finding it and putting it online.

. Filings Not Originally Filed Electronically

Original filings from before the year 2000, and some filings since then,
are not online, because they were not originally filed electronically. For
these filings, we have only the processed COBOL data, which is known
to differ from the information in the original filings in any number of
ways, such as field truncation and omission of pre-amendment filing
information.

Proposal

We request that the Commission make these filings available online if
they still exist in some original form, which may involve scanning a
large amount of paper, and that the Commission minimize the number
of future filings that are not filed electronically. Although this is a larger
project than finding the few dozen pages of old file format





documentation and the few hundred pages of old forms and
instructions and putting them online, it should still be feasible for
around a penny per scanned page.

D. Correspondence from the FEC to Regulated Entities

Although the Commission has ex parte rules that prohibit covert
contacts between Commissioners or senior staff members and entities
under investigation, there are a large number of contacts between the
Commission and regulated entities, even when those entities are not
under any kind of investigation. Many F99 filings with the Commission
consist of textual responses to such contacts. In principle, these
correspondences between the Commission and regulated entities are a
matter of public record. However, only the filings by the regulated
entities appear to be available on the Commission's web site. The
consequence is, in effect, that the public can only hear one side of the
conversation.

Proposal

We propose that the Commission make all such correspondence
available, with the date and FEC ID of the correspondent in machine-
readable form.

Technical Aspects of Filing Disclosure

A great deal of effort has clearly gone into the Commission's electronic
tiling software, but despite this, technical aspects of filing disclosure
pose many unnecessary problems.

A. Data Formats

According to the January testimony, the Commission is currently
planning to adopt new data formats based on modern standards such
as XML. This is a good idea, but it will not necessarily solve the data
format problems even for new data, and of course it cannot change the
format in which electronic filings from years ago were submitted.





The current data formats are unnecessarily complex and error-prone.
Mr. Johnson and Ms. Miller's comments have already discussed the
problems with the COBOL data format — for example, that it is fixed-
width, and uses a surprising encoding for negative numbers — so we
will discuss some examples of problems with the filing formats.

All of the filing formats are positional rather than name-value oriented;
the 33" field on a given line has a certain meaning which is not
necessarily related to the 32" or 34" fields, and which must be looked
up in a separate document. This process is error-prone and
unnecessarily difficult to reverse-engineer. These formats take up less
space than name-value formats, but even for high-volume filers such as
MoveOn and Obama, the size is not significant with modern
technologies.

The filing data formats before version 6.1 were comma-separated, with
the exception of a few lines that were not comma-separated, such as
those representing file headers in versions before version 3.0, and those
representing text attachments. This creates the complication that
standard libraries for comma-separated data files have difficulty
handling them. XML or JSON would avoid this problem.

In versions prior to 5.1, the format included fields for people's names
that were internally structured by separating parts of the name with a
“~” character. However, the format included an option to separate
parts of a person's name with another character, which increases the
complexity of software that deals with data written in the format for no
increase in power. For example, filing 31454 uses the “>" symbol to
separate parts of names; however, filing 33818 claims to use the
character “0” to separate parts of names. In fact, the names in this filing
are separated with “*”; for example, “Allyn~Margaret”Ms.”. The
FEC appears to have accepted this filing.

In other cases (for example, filing 23422) instead of the usual maximum
of four “/”-separated segments to a name, we find as many as 32, most
of them empty. The FEC appears to have accepted filing 23422 as well.

Version 6.1 uses a control character, instead of a comma, to separate
data fields, avoiding the need for quote marks. This makes the file
harder to process in some ways (for example, some programs for





handling text decide that the file is not text and refuse to display its
contents; and the particular character chosen is erroneously coded as a
line separator in the Unicode standard) but does simplify the format.

Finally, in all of the format versions before version 6.1, according to the
specification, an amount field coded as “100” means $1.00, not $100.00.
The latter amount is to be coded as “100.00” or “10000”. Given this
bizarre design choice, it is not surprising that there are a large number
of filings in which contributors appear to have donated $1.00 or $2.00 to
a PAC or candidate committee.

A simple conversion of the format to XML (or JSON, or SQL, or BER, or
RFC-822, or S-expressions, any of which would be preferable to the
current ad-hoc CSV dialect) would not solve most of these problems,
except for the problem of commas. A poorly-designed XML format
could define that <amount>100</amount> encodes a dollar amount
of $1.00, or that a candidate name of “Joseph Biden” should be coded as
<name>Biden”Joseph</name>.

. Data Format Documentation

Although the Commission has highly-skilled technical experts on staff,
it appears that the Commission did not consider the task of designing
and documenting the electronic filing formats sufficiently important to
warrant the attention of these experts. This is a mistake. Without clear
definitions of the syntax and semantics of these filing formats, filers
and filing-software authors will make errors that change the meaning
of their filings; and members of the public afterwards will not be able to
ascertain the intended meanings of the filings with any certainty.

The avoidable mistakes in the design of the filing formats described in
the previous section would not be nearly as serious if the
documentation of the filing formats were clear, readable, and
unambiguous, and corresponded to how the filings were actually
processed. However, the format documents contain errors and
ambiguities at every level, from simple spelling errors (“carridge-
return”, “hexidecimal”, from FEC_v520.doc) to major conceptual
omissions.

By way of example, here is a list of some of the biggest unanswered
questions, mostly from FEC_v520.doc.





* If “tields may not begin with blanks”, as it claims on p.2, why are
there so many electronic filings containing fields that begin with
blanks?

* What is the algorithm to construct an amended filing, given an
original filing and an amendment? Do amended schedules simply
replace the original schedule with the same tran 1id, or are they
merged somehow?

* In one of the 6.x format documents, it is explained that tran_idis
becoming case-insensitive — that is, that tran_ids that differ only
by letters in one being uppercase where they are lowercase in the
other, will be considered equivalent in the future. When did this
change become effective? Could it change the meaning of
amendments?

* P9 says there is an example of a header record. Where is the example?

* P9 references the “Rpt Id” of the original report. What is the format
of this Rpt Id, and where is it obtained? Different filing software
seems to format this field very differently.

* Only printable ASCII characters will be accepted, according to p.3.
What about filing 181941, then? It contains text encoded in
Windows-1252. There are other filings that contain non-ASCII text in
other encodings or character sets. How are they to be interpreted?
Why were they accepted by the Commission?

* What exactly is the delimiter that ends a free-form text section in an
F99 tiling? The document claims that it ends at an “[ENDTEXT]
record” or an “[EndText] record”, and provides an example, but never
defines the delimiting record clearly. In accepted filings, we have seen
“[ENDTEXT]” on a line by itself, “[ END TEXT]” with a space,
“[ENDTEXT]” with a quote character after it, “[ENDTEXT]” on the
end of a line after hundreds of characters of text, and several other
variations.

In format version 6.2, there ASCII-only requirement is loosened; there is
some text written under the misapprehension that ASCII (a code that
was standardized in 1963 and updated in 1967, and is used to represent
nearly all English text in nearly all computers) has code points past 128.
Unfortunately, the description of the allowed characters and code
points does not match any character set we know of: not ISO-8859-1, not





CP857 not Windows-1252, not Unicode, not UTF-8. The reader is left to
guess which encoding is meant, and different readers will presumably
guess differently.

There are well-known rigorous formalisms for file formats dating back
to the 1950s, such as Backus-Naur form and context-free grammars.
They are well-understood, and everyone who has read a standard for a
programming language such as C, Fortran, or COBOL has seen one.
There are software tools to automatically analyze the structure of a file,
given a BNF or CF grammar for the file format. Such a grammar would
be a small fraction of the size of the FEC file format specification
document and would leave no doubt about the intended structure of
the file. They do not explain semantic issues like some of the problems
cited above, but the syntactic ambiguities cited above are entirely
unnecessary.

Proposal
We propose:

* that the Commission document how each of these ambiguities is
resolved inside of its own systems, and disclose any communications
with software vendors clarifying these issues;

* that the Commission define a new filing data format without the
unnecessary complexity of the original filing formats, and which is
tlexible enough to be used into the future without backwards-
incompatible changes;

* that it document this format properly, with as little ambiguity as is
practical;

* that it require new electronic filings to be in this format;

* and that it write and publish software to translate all old filings to
this new format.

However, transparency dictates that the old versions remain available

as well, so that errors in the translation process can be uncovered.

. Software

The Commission provides software known as FECFile and FECheck to
electronic filers. FECFile is an interactive program for creating
electronic filings, while FECheck verifies that an electronic filing is





properly formatted, whether that filing was created by FECFile or by
some other software. The Commission also appears to use FECheck to
verify that electronic filings are in the correct format and automatically
reject them if not.

These programs are written by employees of NIC Technologies under
contract with the Commission, and are apparently not used by any of
NIC's other customers; in particular, NIC does not appear to use its
copyright in this code to provide value-added FEC filing software to
filers. The public funded the development of these programs, and the
integrity of our elections depends, in part, on the correct processing of
information through them. Despite this, the only version of the
programs that seems to be publicly available is a “compiled” format in
machine code for a single kind of computer running a single operating
system.

This limits the transparency of the process, requires vendors of
electronic filing software to duplicate development work already
performed and paid for by their tax dollars, and requires electronic
tilers to obtain and maintain a computer running that operating system,
paying that operating system vendor for the privilege of participating
in our political system.

The duplication of effort is not merely a waste of money for the
vendors. It also results in each vendor interpreting the format
specifications in different ways, introducing unnecessary variation in
the format of electronic filings. This makes it more likely that the
Commission's software, or other software written to interpret publicly
disclosed electronic filings, will interpret an electronic filing differently
than the filer intended.

From a casual glance, FECheck at least appears to be written in Micro
Focus COBOL. Although COBOL has its technical disadvantages, it has
the advantage of being well-standardized, widely-known, and highly
human-readable, so the source code would be very useful.

Proposal

We suggest that the Commission negotiate with NIC to obtain full
human-readable source code to the current and all past versions of
these programs under an “open source” license approved by the Open





Source Initiative, and make that code publicly available. This would
enable the public to inspect how they work (and how their
interpretation relates to the written English format specifications), and
it would enable electronic filing software vendors to reuse the work
already done where it is applicable.

Sometimes negotiations like these are complicated by a secondary
revenue stream from non-governmental customers, who buy licenses
from the original software vendor for an “enhanced” version of the
software, but NIC does not seem to have any such secondary revenue
stream.

Web Site Searchability and User-Friendliness

As we have said, improvements to the structure of the FEC's web site
are of secondary importance to improvements to the available data.

Proposal

However, if the Commission chooses to devote resources to improving
the user-friendliness of its web site, we concur with the
recommendations in Ms. Miller's written comments and Mr. Johnson's
testimony:

* provide a single search box for all data and group search results by
type;

* provide RSS feeds;

* provide “box score” summary information;

* explain the technical language;

* provide JSON APIs designed in accordance with REST for third-party
applications, or XML if JSON is not acceptable;

 use HTTP GET for searches.
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Irving D. Warden
Attorney-at-Law
990 Harrison Circle
Alexandria, Virginia 22304
(703) 850-7843
wardenlaw@comcast.net

February 17, 2009

Stephen Gura, Deputy Associate General Counsel
Mark Shonkwiler, Assistant General Counsel
Federal Election Commission

999 E. Street, NW

Washington, DC 20463

Re: Comments in response to Notice 2009-2 (Agency Procedures)
Dear Messrs. Gura and Shonkwiler:

These comments are submitted in response to the notice published on
January 23, 2009, reopening the comment period on the Commission’s review of
its own Agency Procedures.

In the first round of comments, including of those of Mr. Mason and Ms.
Mitchell, and in Ms. Mitchell’s testimony on January 15, the issue of the
timeliness of the Commission’s actions was discussed. | suggest that the most
effective way to address this issue is for the Commission to establish and enforce
deadlines on its own its own actions, as well as on the actions of other
participants in its proceedings.

A good example of the positive influence of firm deadlines on an
administrative agency’s deliberations is the record of the Postal Regulatory
Commission (PRC). Since 1970, the PRC has conducted a large number of
proceedings on a wide variety of issues. As most of these proceedings were
conducted under statutory deadlines with limited, and rarely exercised, provisions
for extensions of time, the PRC and all of the parties which appear before it,
including the United States Postal Service, have a record of prompt completion of
cases.

Before statutory changes in 2006, the PRC (then named the Postal Rate
Commission) spent much of its effort on omnibus rate cases submitted at one to
four-year intervals and subject to a 10-month statutory deadline. The last such
case, Docket No. R2006-1, included 64 participants who sponsored 139 pieces
of testimony from 99 witnesses that were heard during 34 days of hearings and
finished within the deadline. After the 2006 changes, the PRC has heard more
rate cases of a more limited nature, with shorter deadlines, in addition to other
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types of cases including rulemaking, complaints, etc. All of these later
proceedings have been completed on time.

While the PRC has the advantage of statutory deadlines, this
Commission could benefit from imposing its own deadlines on its proceedings.
Implementing and enforcing firm deadlines would force this Commission, its staff,
its regulated community (or whatever term passes Mr. Bopp’s First Amendment
scrutiny), and the members of the bar who practice before the Commission to
complete proceedings promptly. My experience before the PRC suggests that
because everyone involved knows that the deadlines are firm, they simply get
things done on time. By instituting and enforcing its own deadlines, this
Commission could establish such a culture of timeliness for its proceedings.

While the PRC and this Commission have many differences, they have
many similarities, e.g., they each have a heavy workload and a relatively small
staff (the PRC had a staff of fewer than 60 during R2006-1).

| encourage the Federal Election Commission to consider establishing

deadlines for its proceedings, in an effort to have positive effects similar to those
generated by the PRC'’s statutorily mandated deadlines.

Sincerely,

Irving D. Warden






Bill Roth To agencypro2008@fec.gov
<bill.roth@gmail.com>

12/18/2008 07-:30 AM ce

bcc

Re: Federal Election Commission Seeks Comment on its

Subject Activities and Procedures

To Whom It May Concern:
There are 4 things the FEC could to improve transparency:

1. Improve the tools for filing. The current tools for filing are hard to use, and antiquated. Make
it easy to file reports, with a Web 2.0-like web based filing system that could import Excel or a
standard XML format files.

2. Make the filing appear on-line faster. One suggestion is to make the initial filings available
on-line immediately, with appropriate legal language that states that the data has not been
reviewd.

3. Provide open-source public APIs (application Programming Interfaces) so that other on-line
web sites can download the data. Make sure these are in the most popular programming
languages, like PHP, Java, C#.

4. Make the search page more searchable by Search Engines like Google and Yahoo so that the
data is available via natural search.

I would be happy to testify and/or provide more information,
Sincerely
William G. Roth

Treasurer, Catholic Democrats Political Action Committee
Phone: 408-876-0111

Federal Election Commission wrote:

Federal Election Commission
www.fec.gov / 800-424-9530 / info@fec.gov

The Federal Election Commission will hold a broad ranging public hearing on January
14, 2009, to obtain public comment on how the Commission might improve





transparency, fairness and efficiency in the way it applies and enforces the campaign
finance laws over which it has jurisdiction and the regulations it has adopted. The scope
of the public hearing will encompass an evaluation of the Commission’s compliance and
enforcement process, including audits, matters under review, reports analysis,
administrative fines and alternative dispute resolution, as well as other policies, practices
and procedures, such as policy statements, advisory opinions and the Commission’s
education and information programs.

The Commission invites you to provide written comment and to participate during the
public hearing. A copy of the announcement published in the Federal Register on
December 8, 2008 is attached. The Commission is not seeking suggestions on
improvements or amendments to the substantive provisions of the laws over which it has
jurisdiction; it seeks comment only on the manner in which the Commission may
improve on its enforcement and administration of them, which may include, however,
suggestions for revisions to or adoption of regulations or procedures to meet those
objectives.

A similar hearing, narrower in scope, was held in 2003 by the Commission. That hearing
was very instructive, and several of the recommendations made arising out of that
process have been implemented. In view of the many changes that have taken place
since the adoption of the Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act of 2002, the changes made in
the Honest Leadership and Open Government Act of 2007, as well as recent campaign
events and experiences, the Commission plans to review again, with greater breadth than
before, its processes.

The Commission welcomes and invites your participation. Written comments must be
received on or before January 5, 2009, and may be submitted by e-mail to
agencypro2008@fec.gov. Persons seeking to testify at the hearing must file written
comments by the due date and must include in their written comments a request to testify.
Detailed instructions for submitting comments are provided in the attached Federal
Register announcement and on the Commission’s website.
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Via Electronic Mail

Mr. Stephen Gura

Deputy Associate General Counsel
Mr. Mark Shonkwiler

Assistant General Counsel

Federal Election Commission

999 E Street, N.W.

Washington, DC 20463

Re: Center for Competitive Politics Comments on Notice 2008-13: Agency Procedures
Dear Messrs. Gura and Shonkwiler:

These comments are filed on behalf of the Center for Competitive Politics (“CCP”) with
respect to the Notice on “Agency Procedures” published by the Federal Election Commission on
December 8, 2008. See Notice 2008-13: Agency Procedures, 73 Fed. Reg. 74494 (Dec. 8, 2008)
(hereinafter, “Notice”). CCP applauds the willingness of the Commission to examine and
evaluate its current “policies, practices and procedures,” id. at 74495, and welcomes the
opportunity to provide comments and testimony to aid the Commission in that process. As a
result, in addition to the submission of these written comments, CCP respectfully requests the
opportunity for a representative to testify at the Commission hearing scheduled for January 14,
2009, on these issues.

Introduction

Since its inception, the Federal Election Commission, and its policies, practices, and
procedures, have been the subject of much discussion and debate both in and outside of the
regulated community. As a task force of the American Bar Association’s Committee on Election
Law observed more than twenty-five years ago:

The Federal Election Commission is unique in many ways, but particularly in two
respects. First it is unique by virtue of the conduct that it regulates — political
speech. The Supreme Court has noted that regulation of campaign financing
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affects core first amendment freedoms of political expression and association.
Buckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 14-15 (1976). For this reason, the Commission has
“the weighty, if not impossible, obligation to exercise its powers in a manner
harmonious with a system of free expression.” Federal Election Comm’n v.
Central Long Island Tax Reform Immediately Comm., 616 F.2d 45, 55 (2d Cir.
1980) (Kaufman, C.J., concurring). The Commission is also singular in its
enforcement procedures, which reflect an amalgam of investigative, prosecutorial,
and de facto adjudicative phases and functions. In addition to conducting
investigations, the Commission “has the sole discretionary power ‘to determine’
whether or not a civil violation has occurred or is about to occur, and
consequently whether or not informal or judicial remedies will be pursued.”
Buckley, 424 U.S. at 112, n153.

American Bar Ass’n, Section of Administrative Law, Comm. on Election Law, Report on
Reform of the FEC’s Enforcement Procedures, at 2 (available in Annual Reports of Committees,
Vol. 19, 1982, at 229).

Supplementing its enforcement powers, the Commission monitors compliance through its
Reports Analysis Division, as well as through the exercise of its power to audit members of the
regulated community. And, the Commission also possesses the power to prospectively address
and determine the application of the law to members of the regulated community through the
issuance of advisory opinions.

Through each of these means, the Commission has a profound and direct effect on the
meaning and application of federal election law, as well as the exercise of the constitutional
rights of political speech and association by members of the regulated community. Indeed,
although members of the regulated community are entitled to de novo review of the
Commission’s determinations in a court of law, the realities of the enforcement process, politics,
and political campaigns is such that the Commission is usually the first and only place where
members of the regulated community have their political rights determined and adjudicated. As
then Commission Vice Chairman Bradley Smith noted in Congressional testimony in 2003: “99
percent of all cases before the FEC and over 96 percent of those in which [the FEC] find[s] a
violation are adjudicated without going to court.” Hearing on Fed. Election Comm’n
Enforcement Procedures: Hearing Before the Comm. On House Admin., 108th Cong., at 13
(Statement of Vice Chairman Bradley A. Smith, Fed. Election Comm’n) (Oct. 16, 2003).

Thus, the determination of the Commission is generally the last word as to the just how
freely the regulated community may participate in the electoral process. Such a reality makes it
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especially important that members of the regulated community enjoy a fair and adequate
opportunity to be heard by the Commission as it determines what the Federal Election Campaign
Act (hereinafter, the “Act”) means and how it applies to those who subject to its requirements.
This is why, for more than two-and-a-half decades, members of the public and regulated
community have advocated that the Commission become more transparent, give more notice,
and provide more process for those who are subject to its jurisdiction.

In fact, such additional transparency, notice, and process can be helpful to all, including
the Commission, and would promote, rather than threaten, compliance with and enforcement of
the law. In response to the Commission’s review of its enforcement proceedings initiated under
then Chair Ellen Weintraub in 2003, some commentators argued that respondents already
enjoyed too much process in proceedings before the Commission. These commentators also
claimed that providing additional transparency, notice, and process, such as that recommended in
the American Bar Association’s Report, would hinder the Commission’s enforcement of the Act.
However, the exact opposite has occurred, demonstrating that there is no conflict between
enforcement of the law and basic norms of due process. Since the reforms that followed that
2003 hearing, processing and closure times for Matters Under Review have continued to decline,
and the Commission has levied record levels of fines. CCP believes that this is both because
basic due process norms (whether or not constitutionally required at the Commission level in the
unique enforcement process prescribed by the Act) provide a framework best suited to the
adjudication of complaints, and because a regulated community that perceives the process is fair
is more likely to cooperate in the investigatory process.

The Commission has made many improvements over the years, especially since 2003
when the Commission last invited and acted upon comments about its enforcement procedures.
CCP’s comments submitted here provide additional suggestions as to how the Commission could
further improve its policies, practices, and procedures so that its interpretation and enforcement
of the Federal Election Campaign Act is fair and just for those who must abide by the law.

I Enforcement Process
A. Motions Before the Commission

In the Notice, the Commission acknowledges that “attorneys have occasionally submitted
motions for the Commission’s consideration,” and that “the Commission has reviewed these
motions on a case-by-case basis.” 73 Fed. Reg. 74496. The Commission further states that it
has done so despite the fact that “neither the FECA nor the Commission’s regulations provide for
consideration of such motions, and the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 551, et seq.,
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does not require that agencies entertain such motions in non-adjudicative proceedings.” Id.
Nevertheless, the Commission’s practice of considering motions is useful and valuable both to
the parties and to the Commission, and is sound administrative policy.

Indeed, motions can be, and are, useful and valuable to the parties and the Commission
with respect to both discovery (e.g., subpoenas and privilege) and quasi-adjudicative findings
(e.g., “reason to believe” and “probable cause”). With respect to discovery, motions can help to
avoid court action, which would be necessary to enforce or quash a subpoena or to resolve some
other discovery dispute, such as whether privilege applies. And, with respect to quasi-
adjudicative findings such as “reason to believe” or “probable cause,” motions to dismiss or to
reconsider can help to ensure the enforcement process is considering all relevant and material
information, and is proceeding in a focused manner. For these reasons, and others, motions
serve, rather than hinder, the efficiency and effectiveness of the enforcement process. Therefore,
not only should the Commission continue to entertain motions, but the Commission should also
make public its practice and procedure for such motions so that all counsel know and understand
the process.

Specifically, CCP suggests that the Commission should examine the range of motions it
has considered in the past, as well as the range of motions available in adjudicative proceedings,
to determine which motions would serve the parties’ and the Commission’s interest in fair,
efficient, and effective enforcement proceedings. With respect to the specifics of practice and
procedure, there is no reason that motions need to threaten to significantly lengthen the
enforcement process. Indeed, the fact that the Commission has accepted and considered motions
in the past has demonstrated that motions can be submitted by the parties and be resolved by the
Commission effectively and efficiently as a part of the enforcement process.

While CCP does not express opinions on exactly which motions should be provided for,
at a minimum a process should be provided for motions to quash subpoenas. The Commission,
to speed the enforcement process, often provides the Office of General Counsel with blanket or
discretionary subpoena and discovery authority. While CCP believes that this is a worthwhile
approach to expedite case handling, it makes it more important that a method be in place for
respondents to raise objections to specific requests or subpoenas before the Commission, rather
than being forced to court in the first instance to fight discovery.

The Commission should not, as a general or routine matter, condition the consideration of
motions on a respondent’s tolling of the statute of limitations. Instead, the Commission should
request that a respondent toll the statute of limitations only in the unusual event that a motion
would seriously prejudice the Commission’s interest in enforcing the Act. The five-year statute
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of limitations provided for in the Act provides sufficient time for the Commission to fully
investigate and prosecute an enforcement matter, even when the proceeding necessitates the
filing of motions. Depending upon the complexity and sensitivity of each matter, the
Commission, as well as its Office of General Counsel, should contemplate and account for the
possibility of motions being filed when budgeting the amount of time necessary for the
completion of the investigation and enforcement proceedings. In other words, respondents
seeking to protect their rights through motions should not be forced into the Hobson’s choice of
either having to toll the already adequate five-year statute of limitations or having to forego
filing a necessary motion.

Finally, in considering motions, the Commission should seriously consider allowing an
appearance by the party or counsel for the party if the Office of General Counsel is also going to
present its position in person. Such an appearance should not create timeliness issues since the
hearing could occur at the meeting at which the Commission is going consider the motion.

The permanent policy adopted by the Commission with respect to hearings before the
Commission at the “probable cause” stage would provide a good model for when a hearing
would be appropriate for a submitted motion. As the Commission knows, under that policy, a
respondent must make a request for a hearing — which is “voluntary and no adverse inference
will be drawn ... based on ... [the] request ... or waiver” — and “[t]he Commission will grant
[the] request ... if any two Commissioners agree that a hearing would help resolve significant or
novel legal issues, or significant questions about the application of the law to the facts.” Notice
2007-21, Procedural Rules for Probable Cause Hearings, 72 Fed. Reg. 64919 (Nov. 19, 2007).
Additionally, such hearings are not conducted as “mini-trials” or evidentiary hearings, rather
they are more akin to oral arguments on motions in courts of law. Such a procedure would seem
to be particularly well-suited to hearing motions at the Commission, and CCP recommends that
the Commission consider adopting — or at least experimenting with — such a policy and
procedure for hearing motions that are submitted.

B. Deposition and Document Production Practices

When the Commission last sought comments on its enforcement procedures, see Notice
2003-9: Enforcement Procedures, 68 Fed. Reg. 23311 (May 1, 2003), this issue generated some
of the most numerous and vigorous responses from the regulated community. See generally
Comments on Notice 2003-9: Enforcement Procedures (available at http://www.fec.gov/agenda/
agendas2003/notice2003-09/comments.shtml). Not only did the regulated community comment
that the Commission should change its policy so that deponents could obtain a copy of their
deposition transcripts, but also that the Commission should provide respondents with access to
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the depositions taken and documents produced during the investigation of their enforcement
matters. The regulated community commented that access to such evidence was essential in
mounting a fair and adequate defense, specifically at the “probable cause” stage of the
enforcement proceedings.

In response to those comments, the Commission “published its new deposition policy,”
see Statement of Policy Regarding Deposition Transcriptions in Nonpublic Investigations, 68
Fed. Reg. 50688 (Aug. 22, 2003), under which “the Commission allows deponents in
enforcement matters to obtain ... a copy of the transcript of their own deposition unless ... the
General Counsel concludes and informs the Commission that it is necessary ... to withhold the
transcript until the completion of the investigation.” 73 Fed. Reg. 74496. However, the
Commission did not issue a policy regarding respondents’ access to other depositions taken and
documents produced during the enforcement process. Rather, the Commission has maintained
its practice of “generally provid[ing]” respondents, “upon request, ... the documents and
depositions of other respondents and third party witnesses that are referred to in the General
Counsel’s [ ‘probable cause’] brief.” Id. The Commission should now take this opportunity to
make it clear that respondents should be routinely granted access to all depositions taken and
documents produced in their enforcement matters when the investigation is complete.

Specifically, CCP recommends that the Commission adopt a policy that, absent objection
by the General Counsel submitted to the Commission, respondents should be granted access, at
their own expense, to all depositions taken and documents produced at the point when the
investigation is complete, and before the General Counsel submits its “probable cause” brief.
Access to documents should only be denied when the General Counsel demonstrates that access
to full records would prejudice ongoing investigations, or that the information in the documents
would be protected from disclosure under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in the event that
the MUR should proceed to suit.

In order to ensure a transparent and formal timeline for such access, CCP further suggests
that the policy instruct the Office of General Counsel to notify the respondent of such available
access no later than 10 days prior to submitting its “probable cause” brief pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §
437g(a)(3). Such a policy will not only provide respondents and their counsel with the
information they need to fairly and adequately defend at the “probable cause” stage of the
enforcement proceedings, but it will also assist the Commission by ensuring that all issues of fact
and law are raised so that the Commission can make a fully informed decision about whether to
proceed with enforcement, including understanding the strengths and weaknesses of filing suit if
that is necessary.
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Indeed, at the point at which the investigation is complete, there is no longer any
investigatory reason to prevent respondents and their counsel from having access to these
materials. Confidentiality really should not be a major concern since the confidentiality
provision in the Act is intended to protect respondents, see 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12), and since, in
most cases, the respondents already are aware of each other and who else has been accused. But
if confidentiality is a concern, the Commission should consider whether it could deal with that
concern through other means, such as through an agreement by respondents to keep such
information confidential unless and until it is made public by the Commission, or through a
voluntary waiver of confidentiality.

Moreover, by providing access to these materials at the point at which the investigation is
complete, but before the General Counsel commences “probable cause” briefing, any timeliness
concerns are reduced since respondents and their counsel will have time to access and familiarize
themselves with the depositions and documents while the General Counsel is preparing its
“probable cause” brief — before the statutory 15-day period for the response brief begins to run.

It is important the Commission recognize the necessity of granting respondents and their
counsel access to all of the depositions taken and documents produced during the investigation
— rather than just the depositions and documents relied upon by the General Counsel. The point
here is that, by the “probable cause” stage, both respondents and the Commission should want a
complete airing of the enforcement matter. The respondents desire such a complete airing —
including a fully informed defense — because, for most, this will be the only adjudication they
will ever receive. Again, as then Vice Chairman Smith advised Congress in the 2003 oversight
hearing, “99 percent of all cases before the FEC and over 96 percent of those in which [the FEC]
find[s] a violation are adjudicated without going to court.” Smith, supra, at 2. And, while the
Commission should want such a complete airing for this same reason of basic fairness, providing
respondents with access to all possible information for their defense is also helpful to the
Commission because it ensures that the Commission proceeds with further enforcement, and
possible suit, with its eyes wide open.

In other words, it is not enough to grant access only to the materials relied upon by the
General Counsel in its “probable cause” brief, or even the materials identified by the General
Counsel as exculpatory, because respondents and their counsel might find other information
relevant and material to their defense. By the “probable cause” stage, the Office of General
Counsel is clearly in an adversarial position vis-a-vis respondents, and only respondents and their
counsel truly know and understand the theory of their defense. Since the investigation is
complete by this stage of the enforcement proceedings, respondents and their counsel should be
permitted to make their best defense with all of the information available.
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C. Extensions of Time

The 15-day statutory period respondents have to respond to the Office of General
Counsel’s “probable cause” brief is inadequate. See 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(3). Indeed, the
Commission and the Office of General Counsel seem to recognize this fact since, as the Notice
explains, “the Office of General Counsel typically will grant an extension upon a showing of
good cause.” 73 Fed. Reg. 74497. Of course, the propriety and length of any extension will
depend upon the enforcement matter involved, but 15-day extensions should be granted to
respondents as a matter of course.

The Office of General Counsel should, at the outset of an investigation, budget for such a
15-day extension in the enforcement schedule so that the statute of limitations does not become
an issue. Except in rare cases where respondents’ own dilatory behavior raises statute of
limitations issues, respondents should never be asked to toll the statute of limitations to obtain a
15-day extension for responsive “probable cause” briefing. After all, by the time an enforcement
matter reaches the “probable cause” stage, the Office of General Counsel will have already had
months, if not years, to investigate the mater and draft its “probable cause” brief, so it is entirely
reasonable for respondents to have the benefit of a month to respond. Indeed, the Commission
and its Office of General Counsel can be proactive in reducing the length of necessary extensions
by notifying respondents when an investigation is complete and by providing access to all
depositions taken and documents produced before the Office of General Counsel submits its
“probable cause” brief. See Section I.B. supra. By doing so, respondents and their counsel will
be able to familiarize themselves with the facts and law at issue and begin the process of
developing their “probable cause” response before their statutory time period begins to run, thus
having the effect of reducing any extension that would be necessary if respondents could only
begin that process after the Office of General Counsel filed its “probable cause” brief.

In short, the Commission and its Office of General Counsel should be cognizant and
permissive of the fact that extensions will be routinely required, and that such a fact is entirely
reasonable and should not operate to the detriment of respondents.

D. Appearance Before the Commission

Appearances before the Commission have been valuable if for no other reason than that
they have provided respondents the opportunity to see and perceive that they actually have been
heard — an opportunity that, in practice, they receive at no other time. Indeed, appearances
before the Commission are helpful to both respondents and the Commission, and accomplish far
more than providing just the simple appearance of fairness.
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Appearances before the Commission give both respondents and the Commission the
opportunity to address issues that may not have been perfectly clear in the written submissions,
and also provide the opportunity for a back-and-forth dialogue so that all sides can explore their
theories and understandings of the matter. In fact, appearances before the Commission may be
most helpful to the Commissioners, themselves, because such appearances may provide the only
opportunity for the Commissioners to probe and inquire about the strengths and weaknesses of
an enforcement matter so that the Commission can make a fully informed decision as to the
proper and best way to proceed. Moreover, there is no reason that appearances before the
Commission need to lengthen the time that enforcement matters will be under review. The
Commission can schedule such appearances at the time of the meeting at which the matter will
be considered. For these reasons, CCP suggests that the Commission should expand the
opportunities for respondents to appear before the Commission.

The Commission’s policy providing for appearances before the Commission at the
“probable cause” stage of the enforcement process has been a success, and predictions that it
would drain Commission resources and slow case processing have been proven wrong.
Therefore, CCP commends the Commission on making that policy permanent, and suggests that
the Commission consider ways to increase use of the procedure at the “probable cause” stage,
thus providing more respondents with the opportunity to appear and be heard in their Matters
Under Review. See Notice 2007-21: Procedural Rules for Probable Cause Hearings, 72 Fed.
Reg. 64919 (Nov. 19, 2007).

Moreover, CCP recommends that the Commission experiment with expanding the
possibility of appearing before the Commission to both the “reason to believe” stage and in
connection with motions submitted. Such a change would be relatively easy since the
Commission has already developed a policy and procedure providing for appearances before the
Commission at the “probable cause” stage, see id., and similar practices could be adopted for the
“reason to believe” stage and for motions. It is not clear how often parties would request to
appear before the Commission at either the “reason to believe” stage or in connection with
motions. However, if the Commission were to experiment with such a possibility through the
adoption of a pilot program similar to that used for the “probable cause” stage, then the
Commission would not only be able to gauge interest in and usefulness of such appearances, but
would also retain discretion as to whether to provide such hearings on a case-by-case basis. See
id.; see also Notice 2007-04: Policy Statement Establishing a Pilot Program for Probable Cause
Hearings, 72 Fed. Reg. 7551, 7552 (Feb. 16, 2007). As with “probable cause” hearings, no
adverse inference should be drawn from the fact that a respondent does not wish to appear in-
person before the Commission or cannot answer a question during the appearance. And, as
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stated above, these appearances could be scheduled for the meeting at which the Commission is
considering the matter, thus not lengthening the process for a Matter Under Review.

Additionally, CCP recommends that the Commission provide for appearances in both the
audit and advisory opinion processes for similar reasons. These recommendations are discussed
further below. See Sections I1.D. and IIL.A., infra.

E. Releasing Documents or Filing Suit Before an Election

While CCP applauds the fact that the Commission is cognizant and concerned that its
release of documents or reports related to closed enforcement Matters Under Review could have
the effect of influencing an impending election, CCP believes that the Commission’s current
policy of doing so in the normal course of business is correct. Not only is the Commission on
firm ground in observing that it could not prevent such information from becoming public
pursuant to a Freedom of Information Act request, see 73 Fed. Reg. 74497, but there is also the
problem that there are always two sides to any such release.

In other words, if the Commission adopted a blanket policy that it would not release any
documents or reports for some period preceding an election, that policy would have the effect of
not only protecting those candidates or committees who would be tainted by such release, but it
would also have the effect of preventing the vindication of those candidates and committees who
would be cleared by such release. For this reason, CCP believes the best policy is the one
already followed by the Commission, which is to release information from closed enforcement
Matters Under Review in the normal course of business. In doing so, the Commission should
neither attempt to speed up nor slow down that process, but should simply release the
information in the time and manner it would regardless of the proximity of an upcoming election.

However, an exception to this policy should be when the Commission is going to file suit
in order to prosecute an enforcement matter. In that case, the Commission should seriously
consider whether it should wait to file suit until after the election occurs. Indeed, this is
consistent with the careful guidelines adhered to by the U.S. Department of Justice in election-
related matters, and CCP suggests that the Commission should consider those guidelines in
framing its own policy with respect to filing suit close to an election.

F. Timeliness

The Commission and its Office of General Counsel should be commended in the strides
they have made over the past five years, and certainly over the past decade, in resolving
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enforcement Matters Under Review in a more timely manner. That said, however, timeliness
remains a problem with the enforcement process. The resolution of enforcement matters
continues to take months, if not years, which is a particular problem for all involved, including
the respondent candidates and committees, the necessary witnesses, and the Commission and its
Office of General Counsel.

As everyone understands, campaigns and elections come and go. This means that
pursuing an enforcement matter, from either a prosecutorial or defense standpoint, gets more and
more difficult as time passes. Not only may the candidate and committee no longer continue to
operate, but the people who were involved move on, as well. Additionally, memory and
recollection of what occurred diminishes with the passage of time. In other words, it is to
everyone’s advantage that enforcement matters be pursued in a timely and efficient manner.

It is true, of course, that anyone and everyone can always say that more could be
accomplished with greater resources, but limited resources are simply a fact of life. Thus, in the
end, the Commission and its Office of General Counsel must continue to seek to expedite the
timely resolution of enforcement matters within current budgetary and resource constraints.
Unfortunately, there are no easy recommendations or quick fixes in this area.

However, one mechanism that can, and should, be used by the Commission, as well as its
Office of General Counsel, to ensure timeliness is to prevent investigations from becoming
unfocused and running amok, thus threatening all those involved with unnecessary and
unfounded fishing expeditions. There remains a perception among the regulated community —
one that is all too often a reality — that the Commission, and/or its Office of General Counsel,
uses a narrowly focused complaint as an excuse for a full-scale and wide-ranging investigation
into the actions and practices of designated respondents. This obviously increases the resources
required and time needed to conclude the investigation, and unnecessarily and inappropriately so.
Thus, if both the Commission and its Office of General Counsel were to ensure investigations
remain properly focused and circumscribed, that vigilance and oversight would go a long way
toward improving timeliness. We ultimately believe, however, that this is a matter of internal
management not susceptible to a quick fix simply through announcement of some rule.

Beyond that, the more general answer when it comes to timeliness continues to be that
both the Commission and its Office of General Counsel need to concentrate their efforts and use
all available resources in pursuing that goal. We believe that the suggestions here, by shedding
light on the process, increasing the amount of information available to the public and to the
Commission, and helping to weed out flimsy cases at an early stage, or prevent them from being
filed, contribute toward that goal.
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G. Prioritization

Through the Enforcement Priority System, the Commission seems to have a reasonably
well-established sense of its enforcement priorities. CCP recommends that the Commission
maintain its focus on rapid adjudication of matters raising settled issues of law, rather than
expend substantial resources to test novel enforcement theories or stretch the boundaries of the
Act. Such expeditions use up tremendous resources that are better spent elsewhere, and often
create a climate of uncertainty that chills speech and association that is clearly protected by the
Constitution.

H. Memorandum of Understanding With the Department of Justice

The Memorandum of Understanding with the Department of Justice, which is now more
than three decades old, continues to serve its purpose well and needs to be neither revisited nor
revised. Nothing in the Bipartisan Campaign Finance Reform Act of 2002 altered or amended
the balance of responsibilities for enforcement of the Act between the Commission, which is
vested with “exclusive jurisdiction” for “civil enforcement,” 2 U.S.C. § 437¢(b)(1), and the
Department of Justice, which is, and has been, the executive agency charged with criminal
enforcement of federal law. Indeed, in just the past year, two U.S. Courts of Appeals have
carefully examined and favorably cited the Memorandum of Understanding as support for
dismissing claims that the Department of Justice could not pursue criminal investigations or
prosecutions of federal campaign finance violations without referrals from the Commission. See
generally Fieger v. U.S. Attorney General, 542 F.3d 1111 (6th Cir. 2008); Bialek v. Mukasey,
529 F.3d 1267 (10th Cir. 2008).

Not only should such judicial approval of the Memorandum of Understanding send a
strong signal that revisiting or revising that document is unnecessary, but also the fact that there
has been little conflict or confusion concerning the Memorandum more than suggests that no
change should be made. The Fieger and Bialek courts — as well as the Ninth Circuit in United
States v. Int’l Union of Operating Eng’rs, Local 701, 638 F.2d 1161 (Sth Cir. 1979) —
harmonized the statutory language of the Act, its legislative history, interpretative cases, as well
as the Memorandum of Understanding, providing a clear (although not entirely separate)
demarcation of the enforcement responsibilities of the Commission and the Department of
Justice. Given the continuing validity of the Memorandum implied by these decisions, along
with the state of relative clarity and stability as to the enforcement responsibilities of the two
agencies, both at present and historically, the Commission should simply maintain the
Memorandum of Understanding as it has since 1977.
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I Settlements and Penalties

For many years portions of the regulated community have urged the Commission to make
public a schedule of penalties, similar to that done in the realm of the Administrative Fines
program. While this holds superficial attraction, CCP believes that ultimately the public and the
intent of the Act is best served by the Commission’s current practice. Therefore, CCP
recommends that the Commission not publish its settlement and penalty schedule.

First, we note that there is already much greater transparency with respect to settlements
and penalties since the Commission began indexing closed enforcement matters and making
them available to the regulated community, as well as the public, via the Enforcement Query
System on the Commission’s website. Nevertheless, many factors go into the settlement process
that are not susceptible to a hard and fast schedule of penalties or even penalty guidelines. Here
it should be noted that while settlement amounts are routinely referred to as “penalties” and in
reality function as such, the Act does not anticipate a rigid system of penalties. Rather, the Act
specifically requires the Commission to attempt to, “correct or prevent such violation by
informal methods of conference, conciliation, and persuasion, and to attempt to enter into a
conciliation agreement with the person involved,” for a period of at least 30 days. 2 U.S.C. §
437g(a)(4)(A)(i). As with any settlement discussions in litigation, arbitration, or other
proceedings, numerous factors must go into the Commission’s decision on what is a proper
conciliation penalty, including the financial status of the respondent, the Commission’s own
resource allocation and the probable cost of proceeding to trial, the Commission’s assessment of
the likelihood of prevailing at trial given the available evidence, the perceived level of
negligence or culpability of the respondent, whether or not the respondent is a repeat violator,
and many, many more. This is not the same as, for example, sentencing guidelines that exist in
some court settings, because there has been no judicial finding of liability. Rather, both the
Commission and respondent must factor into the conciliation process the cost of litigation and
their perception of the odds of winning. In summary, a published set of penalty guidelines would
not be able to capture all the different factors that should — that the law anticipates will — go
into conciliation discussions. The end result is not only contrary to statutory intent, but likely to
be perceived as more arbitrary than the present system.

The statute provides for a range of specific monetary penalties available to the
Commission in conciliation, see 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(5), and within this framework the
Commission should have, and is expected to have, maximum flexibility to reach conciliation
agreements with respondents.
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The bigger problem when it comes to settlements and penalties is how the Commission
calculates the amount involved. The Commission frequently fixes its sights not on the actual
amount expended, but instead on the expected or realized value of the expenditure to a
campaign. For example, if an individual spends just $100 but raises $5,000 for the campaign
based on that $100 expenditure, the Commission often concludes the matter is a $5,000 case
when it comes to enforcement.

The purpose of the Act, however, is to regulate money, not political influence per se.
Thus, with the exception discussed below, the fine should not be based on some subjective
(expected) value to the campaign, or even objective (realized) value to the campaign, but on the
actual expenditure of money by the respondent. This proposition is in harmony with the general
rules for allowable activity. For example, if an individual donates a used computer to a
campaign with a value of $400, the campaign does not have to report an in-kind contribution of
$1,200 just because that is what the campaign would have had to spend to buy another computer
if the individual had not made the donation. Nor should the campaign have to report the value of
the contribution as $30,000 (obviously in excess of the legal limits) because that is the amount
the campaign was able to raise using the donated computer. In other words, “value” or amount
of a violation is, and should be, based on actual amount spent, not value expected or realized by
the campaign. That is how legal behavior is determined, and that is how illegal behavior should
be determined when it comes to enforcement matters.

The exception to this rule would come only where the Commission finds a “knowing and
willful” violation. The reason for an exception in these cases is to prevent dishonest actors from
engaging in a cost-benefit analysis that leads them to intentionally violate the law. This
consideration is absent in the vast majority of enforcement actions that are based on errors,
negligence, or honest misunderstanding of the law.

The Notice also inquires as to whether “admonishments [are] allowed by the statute,” and
whether such “admonishments” would constitute “a civil penalty.” 73 Fed. Reg. 74498.
Nothing in the Act suggests that the Commission cannot admonish respondents, but such
admonishments could be deemed a civil penalty, which means that the Commission must be
especially careful and sparing in using admonishments pursuant to its enforcement powers.
Many in the regulated community already believe that the Commission essentially does use the
enforcement process to attempt to discourage respondents from engaging in future activities
without having to demonstrate that the activities are in fact illegal. Specifically, there are times
when the Commission finds “reason to believe” a respondent has violated the Act, but then votes
to “take no further action.” In doing so, the Commission appears to the regulated community
and the public to be “admonishing” such a respondent for violating the Act, while not pursuing
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any additional civil remedy or punishment. It is important to note that to the average citizen
engaging in political activity, a finding that a government agency has “reason to believe” that the
citizen violated the law is a very big deal, indeed. It is not within the general knowledge of
citizens, or newspapers that may report the release, that the “reason to believe” finding is a low
threshold merely intended to suggest that an investigation could be opened.

It would be preferable and more straightforward for the Commission to actually
admonish a respondent if that is the intent of the Commission, but only if such admonishment is
warranted by the established facts, circumstances, and law for the enforcement matter. Thus, the
Commission would be justified in finding “reason to believe,” as well as issuing an
admonishment letter, when the facts stated in the complaint and not denied in the response are
sufficient to carry the “probable cause” burden, but the Commission decides per Heckler v.
Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985), not to pursue further enforcement action. On the other hand,
where the Commission believes that the complaint and the response justify an investigation but
are insufficient themselves to find “probable cause,” and that resources suggest that dismissal per
Heckler is the better course, then the Commission should only issue a “cautionary” letter at most
(e.g., “The Commission found ‘reason to believe’ that this conduct may have violated FECA, but
has chosen not to open an investigation per Heckler v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821 (1985). In finding
‘reason to believe,” the Commission has made no determination that the allegations in the
Complaint are true or that you have violated the Act. The Commission cautions you that
[describe alleged misconduct in statutory terms] may be illegal pursuantto 2 U.S.C. § __.”).

Of course, if the complaint and the response, as well as any other considered facts, are
insufficient for the Commission to find “reason to believe,” then the Commission should dismiss
the complaint and take no further action whatsoever. Nothing requires a “reason to believe”
finding (or any other finding) before dismissing a case. However, CCP also believes that the
Commission should be dismissing more complaints with a finding of “no reason to believe” both
before and after receiving responses pursuant to 2 U.S.C. §437g(a)(1), either because the
complaint itself fails to state or adequately support a claim or because the response demonstrates
that there is no claim to pursue. See Section 1], infra. In such cases, the respondent should be
vindicated by the Commission through a dismissal as soon as possible, and the Commission
should be sure not to take any action that could be interpreted as impugning the respondent.

J. Designating Respondents in a Complaint and other pre-RTB Actions
This is yet another issue that has appeared to improve since the Commission received

comments and held a hearing on its enforcement procedures in 2003. However, there remains
some room for more improvement.
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For a person or entity to be designated as a respondent, the facts alleged in the complaint
should, either on their face or through clear implication, allege a violation of the Act as well as
provide sufficiently detailed facts to support the allegation that such a violation has occurred. If
the complaint either does not state such an allegation or does not include sufficient detail to
support the allegation, then the Commission should not name other persons as respondents

More generally, in determining whether or not a complaint is sufficient to find “reason to
believe” and to open an investigation, the Commission should use a standard similar to that used
to determine whether a plaintiff has met his burden to survive a motion to dismiss under Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6) or for judgment on the pleadings under Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 12(c). However, the standard should be somewhat more rigorous because the
complaint should be required to allege enough facts and circumstances to support moving
forward with an investigation.’

Additionally, the Office of General Counsel should not engage in any preliminary
investigation — including searching the Internet or news stories — before the Commission finds
“reason to believe.” Indeed, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(2) precludes such investigations (regardless of
whether they are preliminary or informal) unless and until a majority of the Commission has
voted in favor initiating an investigation.

It is true that the law also allows the Commission to open investigations based on
information “ascertained in the normal course of carrying out its supervisory responsibilities,” 2
U.S.C. § 437g(a)(2), but the Commission has internal directives for opening complaints on this
basis, and those directives do not, to CCP’s knowledge, allow the Commission to open
investigations based on staff attorneys rummaging through news accounts and online sources.
Allowing a complaint to trigger even a “preliminary” or “informal” review of news reports or
other items to support a “reason to believe” is to obliterate the distinction between the two.

Furthermore, the statute requires, in pertinent part, that, “before the Commission
conducts any vote on the complaint, ... any person ... shall have the opportunity to demonstrate
... that no action should be taken ... on the basis of the complaint.” 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1).
Respondents attempting to address a complaint cannot respond to allegations or information that
are not included in the complaint and that they do not know is being considered by the

' This is because, unlike a civil proceeding in which the plaintiff must bear his or her own costs of
litigation, including frivolous or weak cases, at the Commission the complainant may file a complaint known to be
weak or even frivolous, but the government will then assume all costs of investigating the complaint. Meanwhile,
the respondent, almost always a political adversary of the complainant, is saddled with considerable costs in
defending against the weak or frivolous complaint.
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Commission. The purpose of the mandatory response to a submitted complaint is to allow
Commission to hear from respondents before opening an investigation. But if Office of General
Counsel gathers, and the Commission reviews, material beyond the submitted complaint, then,
contrary to the statute, the respondent has no chance to respond to those allegations and
information. Therefore, the complaint, and the clear implications derived from it, should be able
to stand on their own with sufficient detail in order for the Commission to make the
determination that the enforcement process should proceed.

Putting an end to these pre-RTB investigations would also, CCP believes, speed up the
enforcement process.

The Notice also inquires about the Office of General Counsel’s practice of sending *“pre-
RTB letters” to respondents identified at a later stage of the enforcement process. 73 Fed. Reg.
74498. Providing such “pre-RTB letters” is good practice, ensuring that additional respondents
have the opportunity to respond before the Commission finds “reason to believe” that they
violated the Act, thus triggering an investigation aimed at them. Indeed, whenever a respondent
is not specifically identified in a complaint, it would be good practice to provide such persons or
entities with the factual basis for why the Office of General Counsel intends to recommend that
the Commission find “reason to believe” a violation occurred. However, regardless of when and
how a respondent is identified as a potential respondent by the Office of General Counsel, that
potential respondent should receive a copy of the complaint that led the Office of General
Counsel to such a conclusion. Confidentiality should not be a concern here, as it is no different
than when multiple respondents are provided with copies of a complaint after it is first filed.

K. Confidentiality of the Complaint Process

At the time of the Commission’s 2003 hearings on enforcement, several commentators
noted that the Commission had traditionally used the mandatory confidentiality of the Act as a
sword, rather than for its intended purpose as a shield for respondents, using it to intimidate
respondents and hinder them in their efforts to speak to witnesses or other respondents. In
response, the Commission changed the language in its confidentiality notice and has become
more sensitive to the proper use of confidentiality. Nevertheless, the Commission has still failed
to protect the confidentiality of respondents in the most obvious way.

Pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12), no person may make public “any notification or
investigation” without the written consent of the person receiving the notification or to whom
such an investigation is made. Unfortunately, for 30 years the Commission has failed to enforce
this provision against complainants themselves. The Commission should make it clear to those
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filing complaints that they should not make such filings public and instead should keep that
information confidential. The point of the confidentiality provision is to protect respondents, and
2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12) prohibits making public any notification or investigation made under the
section. When a complaint is filed, 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(1) mandates that the Commission
“notify, in writing,” the person alleged to have committed the violation. Given this legal
mandate, for a complainant to state publicly that he or she has filed a complaint with the
Commission is to state that the Commission has notified the respondent of the complaint. They
are one and the same. As such, complainants that publicly tout the complaints they have filed
with the Commission appear to be doing precisely what the confidentiality provision found at 2
U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12) was designed to protect against.

Under the Commission’s longstanding practice of not enforcing Subsection 437g(a)(12)
against complainants, the entire confidentiality regime makes little sense. Complainants can
publicly announce that a complaint has been filed with the Commission, and the Commission
cannot publicly address the ensuing press speculation. The respondent is often made worse off
than if no confidentiality provision existed at all. The purpose of confidentiality is to prevent the
public besmirching of a candidate or committee and to prevent the use of the Commission’s
enforcement process for political gain. The Commission’s failure to enforce 2 U.S.C. §
437g(a)(12) against complainants defeats this purpose and encourages frivolous complaints, as
the complainant gets the story in the news knowing that the accused is unlikely to be vindicated
until after the election, no matter how frivolous the complaint. This also then works against the
Commission by producing a greater workload and causing a slower processing time for
legitimate complaints. In other words, it would be best for both the Commission and the
regulated community if the Commission would seriously consider cautioning complainants that
the Act prohibits them from making their complaints public.

We note that enforcing Subsection 437g(a)(12) against complainants no more violates
their free speech rights than does the existing interpretation of 437g(a)(12). As it now stands,
complainants are not free to comment on ongoing investigations except to note their initial filing
of the complaint. Applying the statute to prohibit their commenting on the original complaint
violates no First Amendment principle not already at issue. In other words, either Subsection
437g(a)(12) can and should be constitutionally extended to complainants’ publication of their
own complaints, or the Subsection is not constitutional in its entirety. Note that under this proper
reading a complainant would still be free to claim that his opponent (or any respondent) was
engaged in illegal conduct. What he could not do is comment on his complaint to the
Commission or publish the complaint (though, of course, the respondent could choose to make
the complaint public). CCP believes this simple step would go a long way to fulfilling
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Congress’s original goal that the Act not be used for political witch hunts and vendettas, but
rather to police serious violations of the law free from political hoopla.

II. Other Programs

A Alternative Dispute Resolution

The Alternative Dispute Resolution program has been a positive step made by the
Commission in enforcing the Act. Not only has the Alternative Dispute Resolution program
been a benefit by lessening the burden on the enforcement process, but it has also been a benefit
by helping the Commission pursue one of its core goals, which is to ensure future compliance
with the Act. In light of the success of the program, as well as the fact that the Commission
should continue to prioritize proactive compliance with the Act, CCP recommends that the
Commission explore ways in which the Alternative Dispute Resolution program could be
expanded. Specifically, CCP suggests that respondents should be able to request participation in
the Alternative Dispute Resolution program, and that those requests should be considered
seriously and favorably. In such cases, respondents are showing a desire and willingness not
only to resolve their matters through a less complex process but also to commit themselves to
future compliance. As such, resolving their matters through a less burdensome and more
collegial process is not only appropriate but achieves the goals of all parties involved. Indeed,
even when a respondent has not specifically requested participation in the Alternative Dispute
Resolution program, the Commission should always consider that process when future
compliance, rather than punishment for past action, is the predominant interest to be pursued.
The Alternative Dispute Resolution program is also an attractive option for matters where the
time and cost of pursuing the traditional and formal enforcement process would be unreasonably
high given the potential violation and possible punishment at issue.

Given the success of the ADR program, the Commission may wish to consider ways to
utilize the Office of Alternative Dispute Resolution in other settings, most notably the audit
process.

Finally, it is important that the Commission understand that the success of the Alternative
Dispute Resolution program is dependent, at least in part, upon its independence from the
traditional enforcement process and the Office of General Counsel. Only with such
independence — through which respondents can feel comfortable enough to be candid in
negotiations — can the program succeed. Indeed, if there is always a lurking fear on the part of
respondents that information learned through the Alternative Dispute Resolution program could
be used against them by the Office of General Counsel in the enforcement process, then the
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program will not foster the collegial atmosphere required to ensure the matters are completely
resolved and the shared goal of future compliance is fully realized.

B. Administrative Fines
CCP has no substantive comments on the Administrative Fines program.

C. Reports Analysis

The major concern with the Reports Analysis Division is that far too often the Division
acts in an investigative and enforcement capacity that is unnecessary and even inappropriate.
With few exceptions, those filing reports with the Commission are attempting to comply with
their obligations under the Act, not trying to disguise violations. Given this, as well as the fact
that the reports are often confusing and burdensome, the role of the RAD should not be
adversarial, but instead should be to ensure that those filing reports have done so correctly and
completely. (CCP understands that a specialized section of the RAD staff is tasked with
enforcement, and that this enforcement arm is to find and address reporting violations. While
this is necessary and appropriate to ensure enforcement of the Act, both the Commission and the
RAD should be careful that the adversarial nature of the enforcement arm does not become the
standard operating procedure for the RAD as a whole.)

In other words, the RAD should not only ensure compliance with the reporting process
but also should aid and assist those filing reports in complying with the requirements. Indeed,
one aspect of the RAD that should be commended is that experienced candidate and committee
treasurers often know their assigned RAD analysts, and have called them to receive help in the
reporting process. Such assistance is helpful both to the regulated community and the
Commission in proactively ensuring complete and accurate reporting consistent with the Act,
and the Commission should do its best to foster this collegial relationship between the RAD and
the regulated community.

Unfortunately, to the regulated community, in recent years it has sometimes appeared that
the RAD sees its role as to catch filers in some mistake in reporting, or worse in some attempt to
violate the Act. Such a “gotcha” mentality makes the already confusing and burdensome
reporting requirements perilous for the regulated community, especially for many candidates and
committees that are relatively unsophisticated when it comes to the numerous requirements
under the Act.
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The RAD has sometimes propounded Requests for Additional Information that reach
beyond the information and explanation required by the statute and regulations. This is not only
unnecessary, but it is also inappropriate. In ensuring compliance with the reporting
requirements, the RAD should be limited to examining the reports submitted for substantial
compliance, including in the information and explanation provided. The RAD can, of course,
request additional information if that information and explanation is, on its face, required by the
reports. But the RAD should, and must, be careful not to take on an adversarial investigative and
enforcement mentality that would only provide disincentive for the regulated community to
cooperate in the reporting process. In fact, it would help the reporting process for all involved if
the RAD concentrated its efforts on assisting the regulated community in complying with the
reporting requirements, rather than focusing on uncovering possible avenues for pursuing
investigation and enforcement.

D. Audits

The problem with the Audit process is that it operates as enforcement of the Act through
other means. The Final Audit Reports are, of course, approved by the Commission and made
public, and it is not at all unusual for those Final Audit Reports to state that the audited candidate
or committee had violated one or more provisions of the Act. Thus, in approving these Final
Audit Reports and making them public, the Commission is, in essence, finding and even
“admonishing” the audited candidates and committees for violating the Act. At least this is the
appearance created by the Commission’s approval and publication of the Final Audit Reports.
However, it is important to keep in mind that the Audit process is separate and different from the
enforcement process. Indeed, the Audit Division is not staffed by lawyers, and audits can be
used by the Office of General Counsel to trigger further investigation and enforcement
proceedings. Thus, the Commission should consider whether and when it is appropriate to
approve and make public a Final Audit Report that alleges a violation of the Act.

Specifically, CCP recommends that the Commission consider all audits in closed session
until such time as the Commission makes a final determination on whether to launch any
enforcement action based on the audit. Indeed, nothing in the statute requires the Commission to
consider the audits in public session before then. See 2 U.S.C. § 438(b). The Commission
already makes many audit decisions in closed session, including at the Interim Audit
Report/Preliminary Audit Report stage. Quite simply, an audit report should not be considered
“final” until the Commission has made any decisions on whether to launch an enforcement
action based on the audit, and concluded any such enforcement actions so begun. To make the
audit process public before such enforcement decisions are made, especially when the audit
report alleges a violation of the Act, blurs and obscures the line between the enforcement and
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audit processes, and the Commission needs to more clearly separate and mark the line between
its exercise of those two different powers, especially given the confidentiality required by 2
U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12). After all, when the Commission makes public its approval of a Final
Audit Report that states a purported violation of the Act, the appearance is that the Commission
has found and concluded that the candidate or committee has violated the Act. Such an
appearance puts both the Commission and the audited in a bad position, especially when the
Commission does not pursue further enforcement action. The audited party suffers from the taint
of such legal conclusions, and the Commission suffers from the possibility of being accused that
it did not pursue further enforcement with respect to the violations explicitly found and approved
in such Final Audit Reports.

In other words, if the Commission approves an audit report that suggests violations of the
Act, the Commission is making the equivalent of a “reason to believe” finding. That is because
what the public sees reported is a staff recommendation of violations, the Commission’s
acceptance of the report, and a referral to the Office of General Counsel. Not only does that
sound like, but it also appears to be, a finding of “reason to believe” and an investigation. See 2
U.S.C. § 437g(a)(2). And, pursuant to 2 U.S.C. § 437g(a)(12), such enforcement actions should
be confidential and not be public. Moreover, there is no reason the Commission cannot protect
the confidentiality of the audited party until the enforcement decisions are resolved because there
is no requirement that the auditor’s report be received in open session any more than that the
Interim Audit Report/Preliminary Audit Report be received in open session. Indeed, the
Commission already has a policy not to consider the audit process publicly until the Final Audit
Report is considered. Thus, CCP suggests that an audit should not be viewed as completed until
these final enforcement decisions are made, any more than the Commission should opine
publicly, on the basis of news reports or other information, that political actors have violated the
law. At the true conclusion of the audit and enforcement process, then the Final Audit Report
could be made public.

In addition, CCP recommends that the Commission should allow those being audited the
possibility of having a hearing before the Commission in advance of the Final Audit Report
being made public. Indeed, given the possibility of enforcement emerging from the audit
process, it would seem most logical for the hearing to occur after the audited party has responded
to the Interim Audit Report/Preliminary Audit Report so that both the Audit Division and the
Commission can consider the hearing before having to produce and accept the Final Audit
Report, as well as before proceeding with the enforcement process. Such a hearing would go a
long way toward providing transparency, as well as an opportunity to be heard, by those being
audited. It would also assist the Commission to understand the perspective of the audited party,
as well as address any lack of clarity present in the written papers submitted by the Audit
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Division and the audited party. And, since the Commission has already crafted a policy and
procedure for hearings at the “probable cause” stage of its enforcement proceedings, the
Commission could use or borrow from those practices. The main point here is that, because the
audit process can taint an audited party in the same way the enforcement process can, the audited
party has no lesser interest in having the opportunity to appear before the Commission than that
present in the enforcement process. Thus, the Commission should not only provide such a
meaningful opportunity to be heard, but should use that process frequently so that all involved
ensure the audit matter is completely and fully aired before final decisions are made by the
Commission.

Finally, CCP suggests that the Commission should consider making public the
guidelines, standards, and methodology used to determine which candidates and committees will
be audited. Insiders understand that there is a point system used to determine which candidates
and committees will be subject to audit, but beyond those who have worked for or extensively
with the Commission there is little understanding of how that process works. Thus, it would
shed useful light on the process to make it public so that everyone can understand why certain
candidates and committees are audited and others are not. Indeed, by releasing this information,
the Commission will help to dispel any belief that the audit process is haphazard or inconsistent.
Moreover, the Commission should not be concerned that releasing the methodology would
“provid[e] committees a road map on how to violate the law just enough to avoid being audited.”
73 Fed. Reg. 74499. After all, if committees intentionally take advantage of such information to
skirt the Act, they would face far bigger enforcement problems — including the probability that
they would have committed a knowing and willful violation.

I11. Advisory Opinions and Policy Statements
A. Advisory Opinions

In general, the Commission’s Advisory Opinion process works quite well and efficiently.
One improvement that could be made is allowing the requestor to have an appearance before the
Commission. Specifically, CCP recommends that the Commission adopt — or at least
experiment with — a policy of allowing the requestor to appear before the Commission at the
time when the Commission considers the advisory opinion request. Such timing for the
appearance would benefit both the requestor and the Commission without threatening to
significantly lengthen the time the request is under consideration. The requestor would gain the
benefit of having the opportunity to respond to the various draft advisory opinions being
considered by the Commission, and the Commission would gain the benefit of being able to hear
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and question the requestor about those drafts, as well as clear up any facts or issues that may not
have been considered or addressed in the written submissions.

Indeed, since the Office of General Counsel appears before the Commission in the
advisory opinion process, it really seems strange that the person requesting the advice, and who
has the most knowledge about the facts raised by the request, is excluded from participating in
the meeting at which the Commission considers the request. It has not been unusual, during
discussion of an advisory opinion, for questions to arise to which requestor’s counsel, often
sitting in the audience, could provide an answer but instead must simply sit silent and frustrated
as the Commission proceeds, sometimes on an incorrect or incomplete understanding. To allow
an appearance could help prevent such problems while promoting the efficiency and
effectiveness of the advisory opinion process.

The Act does not appear to bar an appearance by the requestor, but merely requires that
the request must be “complete” and “written.” 2 U.S.C. § 437f(a)(1). Thus, the Commission
should establish its own supplementary policy allowing, but not compelling, a requester to
appear before the Commission. Indeed, even a practice of permitting the questioning of
requestor’s counsel, with or without the possibility of opening or closing argument as to the
action the Commission should take, would be an improvement. Of course, since the
Commission has already crafted a policy and procedure allowing for appearances before the
Commission at the “probable cause” stage of the enforcement process, the Commission could
reference or borrow from that policy in providing for appearances in connection with considering
advisory opinions.

B. Policy Statements and Other Guidelines

In general, CCP believes it best for the Commission to keep the number of policy
statements and other guidelines to a minimum because they often can add only further
complexity and confusion — not to mention further material that must be referenced. However,
this is not to say that the Commission has not been correct and helpful in issuing the policy
statements and guidelines that it has in the past. The issues dealt with in the Commission’s
policy statements have been those that required additional clarity, and that further clarity and
transparency is appreciated. What CCP would suggest is that any policy statements or guidelines
issued by the Commission should be readily available to the public and the regulated community,
and that the Commission should do its best to ensure that the materials are consolidated to the
extent possible so that the public and regulated community does not have to worry that they are
missing some significant piece of information about practicing before the Commission or
interpreting the Act and its regulations.
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Indeed, perhaps the most helpful information the Commission could, and often does,
issue are comprehensive manuals that provide “one stop shopping” for information. Thus, it may
again be time for the Commission to at least consider whether it would be in the interest of both
the Commission and the regulated community to issue an enforcement procedures manual that
provides detailed and explicit information about the enforcement process. Of course, many in
the regulated community are aware that the Commission has such a manual available internally,
and it would go a long way to providing transparency for the enforcement process if such a
manual was publicly available to all those who practice in this area.

Again, the Center for Competitive Politics applauds the Commission for providing this
opportunity to comment on its policies, practices, and procedures. And, CCP looks forward to
the opportunity for its representative to testify before the Commission on these issues at the
hearing scheduled for January 14, 2009.

Sincerely,
/s/ Reid Alan Cox

Reid Alan Cox
Legal Director






"Tim Cox" To <agencypro2008@fec.gov>
<timcoxx@sbcglobal.net>

12/19/2008 11:56 AM ce

bcc

Subject FEC Public Hearing

You should not require filings for organizations that raise less than a small, predetermined amount in a
quarter. For example, if less than $5,000 is raised, it is probably not worth our tax dollars to monitor the
groups and probably not worth the effort to have them file.






Peter d'Errico To agencypro2008@fec.gov

P <derrico@legal.umass.edu>
Sent by: Peter d'Errico cc
<derrico@wildblue.net> bec
12/19/2008 12:03 PM Subject Re: Federal Election Commission Seeks Comment on its

Activities and Procedures

To the Federal Election Commission:

I am responding to your December 17, 2008, email invitation to provide written comment "on
how the Commission might improve transparency, fairness and efficiency in the way it applies
and enforces the campaign finance laws over which it has jurisdiction and the regulations it has
adopted."

I was Campaign Treasurer for a candidate challenging an incumbent Senator in primary and
general elections of 2008. The candidate was a new entry to the federal electoral process. He was
proceeding on the basis of a statewide grassroots effort with minimal staffing and little outside
funding.

In my experience with this campaign, the single most important way the FEC may "improve
transparency, fairness and efficiency in the way it applies and enforces the campaign finance
laws over which it has jurisdiction and the regulations it has adopted" is to provide a much better
software package for filing reports.

The current software provided -- FECFile -- is clunky and confusing and runs only on a
Windows platform. Entries that require input to more than one schedule are not linked, so double
(and sometimes triple) input by the user is required. Entries that involve the same date or other
field data are not able to be set once, so repeated input of the same data by the user is required.
These two examples alone affect almost every item -- contributions, expenditures, loans, etc. --
required for inclusion in quarterly reports.

The free FEC software need not be as fully-featured as commercial packages available to
campaigns, but it should be easy to use so that low-budget candidates and committees are able to
file reports without recourse to prohibitively expensive applications that include organizing
features not needed by such campaigns.

I would like to say that FEC staff were uniformly helpful when I needed to speak with them.

Regards,
Peter d'Errico

Initial Campaign Treasurer, Ed O'Reilly for Senate
Campaign Committee 1D: C00435263

Senate ID: SSMA00201

Peter d'Errico, Professor Emeritus

Legal Studies Department

University of Massachusetts / Amherst
01003 USA






U.S. Department of Justice

Criminal Division

Washington, D.C. 20530

JAN =5 2009

Mark Shonkwiler

Assistant General Counsel
Federal Election Commission
999 E Street, NW
Washington, DC 20463

BY: E-Mail
Dear Mr. Shonkwiler:;

This comment is submitted in response to a notice of public hearing and request for
comments (the request) that the Federal Election Commission (FEC) published in the Federal
Register on December 8, 2008. Federal Register Vol. 73, No 236, Pp 74494 through 74500.
Among other issues, subsection 1(H) of the request seeks comments concerning the impact of the
Bi-Partisan Campaign Reform Act of 2002 (BCRA) on the 1977 Memorandum of Understanding
between the FEC and the Department of Justice (MOU), and in particular those provisions
currently contained in Section 2 of the MOU that address the duty of the FEC to refer potential
criminal violations of the Federal Election Campaign Act (FECA) to the Department for
prosecutive evaluation.

Section 2 of the 1977 MOU provides that the FEC will refer violations of the FECA to
the Department when it finds (presumably be an affirmative vote of at least four Commissioners
pursuant to 2 U.S.C. 437c¢©) that such violations were committed “knowingly and willfully,” and
then only when a particular violation is “significant and substantial and which may be described
as aggravated in the intent with which [it was] committed, or in the monetary amount involved.”
Of course, even under the MOU the Department retained the right in its discretion to initiate a
federal criminal investigation when presented with information warranting such action.

In view of significant enhancements to the criminal penalties for knowing and willful
violations of the FECA that Congress enacted through BCRA, we believe these current standards
and processes represent neither an adequate nor an appropriate demarcation of our respective
responsibilities for enforcing the various sanctions for violations of the FECA.





Prior to BCRA, criminal violations of the FECA were misdemeanors, 2 U.S.C. 437g(d) -
2001 Supp., and there was no sentencing guideline to guide the imposition of sanctions for this
type of crime. BCRA changed this significantly.

Specifically, BCRA Section 312 raised all “knowing and willful” violations of the Act
that involve aggregate values of at least $25,000 in a given calendar year to the status of federal
felonies punishable by imprisonment for up to five years. 2 U.S.C. 437g(d)(1)(A) — 2002 Supp.
BCRA Section 315 raised all “knowing and willful” violations of the FECA’s prohibition on
conduit contributions (2 U.S.C. 441f) that involved aggregate values of over $10,000 in a given
calendar year to the status of felonies punishable by up to two years imprisonment, in addition to
severe mandatory minimum fines. 2 U.S.C. 437g(d)(1)(D) — 2002 Supp. BCRA Section 313
raised the statute of limitations for FECA criminal violations from three to five years. 2 U.S.C.
455 — 2002 Supp. Finally, BCRA Section 314(b) required the United States Sentencing
Commission to promulgate a sentencing guideline specifically applicable to FECA crimes and
carrying a number of statutorily-mandated enhancements to reflect Congress’ stated view that
this sort of crime should be accorded treatment as a serious offense. The resulting Guideline,
2C1.8, currently carries a base leve] of 8, with enhancements based on the fraud-loss table in
Guideline 2B1.1(b)(1), and with additional statutorily-mandated two- to four-level enhancements
for various other aggravating circumstances.

As a practical matter, these changes to the FECA legislated through BCRA have resulted
in an offense level of 14 for knowing and willful FECA violations that aggregate at least $30,000
in a calendar year. See Chapter Six of Federal Prosecution of Election Offenses, 7th Edition
(August 2007). A crime possessing an offense level of 14 is punishable by a minimum of 15
months incarceration.

Additionally, in the recent past the Department has often been required, during pre-trial
litigation in FECA criminal cases, to square the facts involved with administrative dispositions
taken by the FEC in compliance matters (“MURs”) of which the Department had no knowledge
and on which the Department had no input. In our view, such a circumstance is not consistent
with the fair and efficient administration of penal justice.

We believe that these significant recent developments reflect a congressional intent that
violations of the FECA that the Commission or its staff recognize may suggest evidence of
potential FECA crimes be evaluated by the competent prosecutorial authority - - in this case by
the Department -- before any alternative administrative disposition is considered, and that in such
situations all administrative dispositions be coordinated with a federal prosecutor.

We urge the FEC to join with us in amending the 1977 MOU accordingly.





Thank you for soliciting our views on this important issue.

Sincerely, -
4 S~
Craig C”Donsanto
Director, Election Crimes Branch
Public Integrity Section
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January 5, 2009 Of Counsel

Steven Gura, Deputy Associate General Counsel
Mark Shonkwiler, Assistant General Counsel
Federal Election Commission

999 E Street, NW

Washington, DC 20463

Re: Notice, “Agency Procedures,” 76 Fed. Reg. 74494 (Dec. 8, 2008)
Dear Mr. Gura and Mr. Shonkwiler:

I comment below on the Commission’s unprecedented and ambitious request for
comments on virtually every aspect of the Commission’s operations. 1 do so as a regular
practitioner before the Commission in my respective capacities as Associate General Counsel of
the AFL-CIO and as counsel to numerous organizations and individuals who engage with the
Commission and whose activities are routinely regulated by the Federal Election Campaign Act
(“the Act”) and the Commission’s regulations. First, however, let me briefly reiterate some of
the points I made in a December 17, 2008 letter to the Commissioners that sought an
enlargement of the comment period.

The Commission’s notice solicits comments concerning 16 distinct areas of Commission
operations, and asks, by my count, 130 specific questions about them, as well as “welcomes
comments on other issues relevant to these enforcement policies and procedures, including any
comments concerning how the FEC might increase the fairness, substantive and procedural due
process, efficiency and effectiveness of the Commission.” 73 Fed. Reg. 74494, 74500.

I welcome this initiative and believe that many aspects of the Commission’s enforcement
and administrative practices merit review and change. But I believe the Commission’s abrupt
timetable for public input does not do justice to the undertaking. The Commission’s appeal to
practitioners, candidates, political parties, political committees, other regulated organizations and
the general public was unexpected and provided only a 30-day comment period that included the
holiday season and ended today, the first regular business day of the New Year, to be followed
by a hearing in nine days. Yet no court order, statutory directive or other external command
required this review or its timetable, and, while the matters presented in the notice are important,
none of them is especially urgent to address. More time to comment would have been
appropriate and useful.





[ recommend that the Commission instead treat the current comment period and the
January 14 hearing as the first step of an ongoing review, and afford further opportunities this
year for written comments and public hearings in order to secure adequate public participation
and enable full and fair consideration by the Commission. On the point, my first substantive
comment on the notice is that the Commission should provide as much opportunity for public
comment on matters before it as possible in light of the scope and time sensitivity of the subject
matter.

In response to the current notice, [ also submit the following comments in the form of
recommendations that, due to time constraints, I do not elaborate upon further here. I request the
opportunity to testify at the public hearing on January 14. As the notice requests commenters to
specify, see 73 Fed. Reg. 74494, 74496, 1 believe that all of the recommendations in this letter
are compatible with applicable statutes and would not require legislative action.

1. The Commission should accord greater enforcement priority to matters that concern
more objectively determinable violations of the Act, such as excessive or otherwise prohibited
monetary or in-kind contributions. The Commission should afford lesser priority to matters that
concern less objectively determinable violations, such as alleged unlawful coordination and
alleged violations of other speech and associational restrictions, including express advocacy and
solicitations.

2. The Commission should modify the respondent-designation procedures that it adopted
after its public review in 2003, discussed at 73 Fed. Reg. at 74498, by requiring a complainant to
clearly identify, in so many words, who the intended respondents are. If a complainant fails to
do so, then the Commission should require that it do so in writing before processing the
complaint further.

3. The Commission should seek notice and comment for a policy statement that sets
forth with clarity and explanation the meaning of the statutory “reason to believe” standard, 2
U.S.C. § 437g(a)(2), the critical threshold finding that triggers an investigation. The
Commission has treated this standard inconsistently, and has even sometimes termed it a “reason
to investigate” standard, which the Act does not support.

4. Respondents and others who file motions to quash subpoenas should be provided with
a copy of any submission by the Office of General Counsel (OGC) to the Commission regarding
the motion, an opportunity to reply to OGC, and, if requested, an opportunity to present
argument before the Commission. The Commission should provide the respondent with a
written explanation of its disposition of the motion, rather than, as is current practice, a terse
denial (and I believe it virtually always is a denial).

5. If OGC recommends a finding of probable cause to believe that a respondent has
violated the Act, then at the very least OGC should be required to cite the investigative materials
that OGC relied upon, as well as the materials that OGC acknowledges do not support such a
finding, and the respondent should be provided either copies of those materials or sufficient
access to them in order to prepare an informed and useful response to OGC’s recommendation.





6. Extensions of time to respond to probable cause recommendations (as well as to other
notifications) should be freely granted, in light of the usual factual and legal complexities that
attend such matters. No tolling of the limitations period should be required as a condition to
granting such an extension except in unusual circumstances, such as an extension of more than
40 days or perhaps an imminent termination of the limitations period.

7. The notice asks questions about the timelines of the Commission’s processing of
enforcement matters, see 73 Fed. Reg. at 74498, but public information about Commission
staffing and other resource allocation is scant, so an informed recommendation is difficult to
make. The Commission should disclose detail about both its staff and other resource allocations
to its various functions and programs (OGC, for example, should be broken down in that
manner). The Commission should facilitate better contact with practitioners and regulated
committees and groups by publishing a staff directory that contains names, positions, phone
numbers and email addresses.

8. Many of the instructions for completing Form 3X are difficult to comprehend,
inadequate or missing key information. The Commission should undertake a thorough review of
the instructions through a public process. Meanwhile, committees should not be treated
adversely or subjected to requests for additional information (“RFAIs”) as to matters where the
instructions provide inadequate guidance.

9. The Commission’s Statement of Policy Guidance, “Purpose of Disbursement Entries
for Filing with the Commission,” 72 Fed. Reg. 887 (Jan. 9, 2007), updated March 5, 2007, merits
review because, for the most part, it does not reflect explicable or useful distinctions between
adequate and inadequate descriptions of purposes of disbursements.

10. The Reports Analysis Division’s (RAD) practices warrant a through reexamination
and overhaul, as this division’s operations are inscrutable at best. Here are a few suggestions.
The form RFAI letters should be rewritten for clarity and brevity. RFAIs should precisely
identify every assertedly deficient entry in a committee’s report rather than leave the committee
to figure out which entries the RFAI is addressing. RAD should reply to any response to an
RFALI that challenges the RFAI’s legal presumption rather than ignore the response, as RAD
customarily does. And, RAD should never send an identical RFAI about a different report that
ignores the pendency of such an intervening submission. OGC should be engaged as necessary
on such matters, and in each such instance OGC at least informally should directly engage with
the committee on the issue at hand. If RAD accepts a legal position expressed by a committee, it
should say so rather than, as now, rarely if ever acknowledge that it has done so. RAD should
reply quickly to committee responses. If RAD refers a matter to OGC, ADR, the Audit Division
or elsewhere, it should immediately notify the committee of that referral, and in a letter that is
not posted on the Commission’s website. RAD should not repeatedly request that the same
committee state its “best efforts” policy simply because an RFAI addresses a different report.

11. The Commission’s system for determining “threshold requirements for substantial
compliance with the Act” related to audits, 2 U.S.C. § 438(b), should be published, subjected to
public review and comment, and then, as revised, incorporated in either a regulation or a policy





statement. The public availability of these requirements would foster, not reduce, compliance by
committees. There should be greater proportionality between the scope of an audit and the
reporting deficiencies that prompted the audit.

12. The Commission should extend the administrative fines program to so-called 24-
hour and 48-hour reports.

13. OGC draft advisory opinions should be made available for public comment at least
seven days before the deadline for comments, except in circumstances when the advisory opinion
has been accorded expedited consideration; and, even in those circumstances, the Commission
should use its best efforts to provide a seven-day comment period.

Thank you for your consideration.

Yours truly,
—

Laurence E. Gold
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This Federal Register notice provides
detailed information concerning the FEC's
request for comments and public hearing on
agency policies and procedures.

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
[Notice 2008-13]

Agency Procedures

AGENCY: Federal Election Commission.
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ACTION: Notice of public hearing and
request for public comments.

SUMMARY: The Federal Election
Commission is announcing a public
hearing on the policies and procedures
of the Federal Election Commission
including but not limited to, policy
statements, advisory opinions, and
public information, as well as various
elements of the compliance and
enforcement processes such as audits,
matters under review, report analysis,
administrative fines, and alternative
dispute resolution. The Commission
also seeks comment from the public on
the procedures contained in the Federal
Election Campaign Act of 1971, as
amended, 2 U.S.C. 431 et. seq. (“FECA”
or ‘“the Act”), as well as the
Commission’s implementing
regulations.

DATES: Comments must be received on
or before January 5, 2009. A public
hearing will be held on Wednesday,
January 14, 2009, from 10 a.m. to 5 p.m.
at the Federal Election Commission, 999
E Street, NW., 9th floor Hearing Room,
Washington, DC 20463. Anyone seeking
to testify at the hearing must file written
comments by the due date and must
include in the written comments a
request to testify.

ADDRESSES: All comments must be in
writing, must be addressed to Stephen
Gura, Deputy Associate General
Counsel, or Mark Shonkwiler, Assistant
General Counsel, and must be submitted
in either e-mail, facsimile, or paper copy
form. Commenters are strongly
encouraged to submit comments by
e-mail to ensure timely receipt and
consideration. E-mail comments must
be sent to agencypro2008@fec.gov. If e-
mail comments include an attachment,
the attachment must be in the Adobe
Acrobat (.pdf) or Microsoft Word (.doc)
format. Faxed comments must be sent to
(202) 219-3923, with paper copy follow-
up. Paper comments and paper copy
follow-up of faxed comments must be
sent to the Federal Election
Commission, 999 E Street, NW.,
Washington, DC 20463. All comments
must include the full name and postal
service address of the commenter or
they will not be considered. The
Commission will post comments on its
Web site after the comment period ends.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT:
Stephen Gura, Deputy Associate General
Counsel, or Mark Shonkwiler, Assistant
General Counsel, Office of General
Counsel, 999 E Street, NW.,
Washington, DC 20463, (202) 694—1650
or (800) 424—-9530.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:

Background and Hearing Goals

The Commission is currently
reviewing, and seeks public comment
on, its policies, practices and
procedures. The Commission will use
the comments received to determine
whether its policies, practices or
procedures should be adjusted, and/or
whether rulemaking in this area is
advised. The Commission has made no
decisions in this area, and may choose
to take no action.

The Commission conducted a similar
review of its enforcement procedures in
2003. See Enforcement Procedures, 68
FR 23311 (May 1, 2003). Comments
filed in the 2003 review, as well as a
transcript of the 2003 public hearing,
are available on the Commission’s Web
site at http://www.fec.gov/law/
policy.shtml (see bottom of page).
Subsequent to that review, the
Commission formally adopted several
new policies, including a policy on
deposition transcripts, a “fast track”
policy for sua sponte matters, a policy
clarifying treasurer liability, and an
interim disclosure policy for closed
enforcement and related files. See
Statement of Policy Regarding
Deposition Transcriptions in Nonpublic
Investigations, 68 FR 50688 (Aug. 22,
2003); Statement of Policy Regarding
Self Reporting of Campaign Finance
Violations (Sua Sponte Submissions), 72
FR 16695 (April 5, 2007); Statement of
Policy Regarding Treasurers Subject to
Enforcement Proceedings, 70 FR 3
(January 3, 2005); and Statement of
Policy Regarding the Disclosure of
Closed Enforcement and Related Files,
68 FR 70426 (Dec. 18, 2003). These
policy statements and supporting
documents are available on the
Commission’s Web site at http://
www.fec.gov/law/policy.shtml.
Additionally, in 2007 the Commission
created a new procedure within the
enforcement process that affords
respondents the opportunity for an oral
hearing before the Commission at the
probable cause stage of a matter under
review. See Enforcement Procedural
Rules for Probable Cause Hearings, 72
FR 64919 (Nov. 19, 2007), available on
the Commission’s Web site at hitp://
www.fec.gov/law/cfr/eLcompilation/
2007/notice_2007-21.pdf. The
Commission has also adopted several
internal procedural changes, which are
mentioned in this notice.

The FECA grants to the Commission
“exclusive jurisdiction with respect to
civil enforcement” of the provisions of
the Act and Chapters 95 and 96 of Title
26. 2 U.S.C. 437c¢(b)(1). Enforcement
matters come to the Commission
through complaints from the public,

referrals from the Reports Analysis and
Audit Divisions, referrals from other
agencies, and sua sponte submissions.
Enforcement matters are generally
handled by the Office of General
Counsel pursuant to the procedures set
forth in 2 U.S.C. 437g.

During the administrative
enforcement process, the Office of
General Counsel reviews and
investigates enforcement matters, and
makes recommendations to the
Commission regarding the disposition of
matters. Stages of the enforcement
process include Reason to Believe
(RTB), probable cause, and conciliation.
A full description of the Commission’s
administrative enforcement process is
available on the Commission’s Web site
at http://www.fec.gov/pages/brochures/
complain.shtml.

The Commission brings de novo
enforcement suits in U.S. District Courts
when matters are not satisfactorily
resolved through the administrative
enforcement process; it also initiates
legal actions to enforce administrative
subpoenas during the investigative
process.

The Commission also enforces the
FECA through its Alternative Dispute
Resolution (ADR) and Administrative
Fine programs. The ADR program was
established at the Commission in 2000
to promote compliance with the law by
encouraging settlements outside the
traditional enforcement and litigation
processes. ADR results in an
expeditious resolution that allows
participants in the program to have an
active role in shaping the settlement,
and, as a result, reducing costs for
respondents and the Commission. The
Interest-based negotiations focus the
process on respondents’ future
compliance with the FECA. A full
description of the Commission’s ADR
program is available on the
Commission’s Web site at http://
www.fec.gov/pages/brochures/
adr.shtml.

The Administrative Fine Program was
established by Congress with the intent
of streamlining the enforcement process
for violations involving late and non-
filing of reports. The Commission
believed that the addition of this
authority (to assess fines for these
violations subject to a reasonable appeal
process) would introduce greater
certainty to the regulated community
about the consequences of
noncompliance with the Act’s filing
requirements, lessen costs, and lead to
efficiencies for all parties while
maintaining an emphasis on the Act’s
disclosure requirements. Since its
inception in 2000, the Commission has
made adjustments to its fine schedules
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and the list of acceptable defenses. A
full description of the Commission’s
Administrative Fine program is
available on the Commission’s Web site
at http://www.fec.gov/pages/brochures/
admin_fines.shtml.

Additionally, the Commission
administers the Act through a review of
all disclosure reports that are filed with
the FEC. These reports are reviewed by
the Commission’s Reports Analysis
Division (RAD) for compliance with the
Act and to ensure that the information
reported is both accurate and complete.
When review of a political committee’s
disclosure reports reveals that the
reports appear not to have met the
threshold requirements for substantial
compliance with the requirements of the
Act, the Commission will conduct an
audit of the committee to determine
whether the committee complied with
the Act’s limitations, prohibitions and
disclosure requirements. 2 U.S.C.
438(b). In addition, the Commission is
required by law to audit presidential
campaigns and convention committees
that accept public funds.

Finally, the Commission issues
additional guidance through advisory
opinions, policy statements and other
guidelines.

In the course of addressing its
administrative responsibilities, the
Commission periodically reviews its
programs. The purpose of this Notice of
Public Hearing is to reexamine the
Commission’s practices and procedures,
some of which have been in place since
the Commission was founded, and to
give the regulated community and
representatives of the public an
opportunity to bring before the
Commission general comments and
concerns about the agency’s policies
and procedures regarding compliance,
enforcement, public disclosure,
advisory opinions and any other matter.

The Commission requests those who
submit comments to be cognizant of the
fact that statutory requirements, such as
confidentiality and privacy mandates,
may be implicated by certain proposals.
Thus, the Commission would appreciate
if participants would specify in their
written remarks whether their proposals
are compatible with applicable statutes
or would require legislative action.

The Commission specifically seeks
comment on issues confronting counsel
who practice before the Commission,
complainants and respondents who
directly interact with the FEC,
treasurers, witnesses, other third parties,
and the general public. The Commission
seeks general comments on how the
FEC’s enforcement and other procedures
have facilitated or hindered productive
interaction with the agency. The

Commission is not interested in
complaints or compliments about
individual FEC employees or matters,
but it seeks input on structural,
procedural and policy issues. The
Commission also seeks comment about
practices and procedures used by other
civil law enforcement agencies when
acting in an enforcement (i.e., non-
adjudicative) capacity. For example, do
such agencies provide greater or lesser
transparency? What opportunities exist
for presenting or addressing issues,
evidence, or potential claims that might
be the basis of a subsequent adjudicative
proceeding? The Commission is also
interested in any studies, surveys,
research or other empirical data that
might support changes in its
enforcement procedures.

General Topics for Specific Comments

The Commission welcomes input on
any aspect of its policies and
procedures. Among the topics on which
the Commission will accept comment
are those below. However, the list is not
exhaustive and comments are
encouraged on other issues as well.

I. Enforcement Process

A. Motions Before the Commission

Both complainants’ and respondents’
attorneys have occasionally submitted
motions for the Commission’s
consideration, including motions to
dismiss and reconsider. Although
neither the FECA nor the Commission’s
regulations provide for consideration of
such motions, and the Administrative
Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. 551 et seq.
(“APA”’), does not require that agencies
entertain such motions in non-
adjudicative proceedings, the
Commission has reviewed these
motions on a case-by-case basis. The
Commission requests comments on
whether its procedures for consideration
of motions should be modified. Should
the Commission entertain motions? If
yes, what types of motions should be
considered? What should be the time
frame for consideration of motions
generally? Should the motions be served
on the Commission Secretary or the
General Counsel? Should the movant be
granted an oral hearing before the
Commission? Should there be
substantive or procedural requirements
that must be met in order to trigger the
Commission’s review? Should the
motions be considered even though this
would extend the time that a MUR
remains active? Should parties be
required to toll the statute of limitations
for periods in which motions are under
consideration by the Commission?

B. Deposition and Document Production
Practices

When Commission attorneys take a
deponent’s sworn testimony at an
enforcement deposition authorized by
section 437d(a)(4), only the deponent
and his or her counsel may attend.
Under historical practice, the deponent
had the right to review and sign the
transcript, but normally a deponent was
not allowed to obtain a copy of, or take
notes on, his or her own transcript until
the investigation was complete, i.e.,
after all depositions had been taken. On
August 22, 2003, the Commission
published its new deposition policy.
See Statement of Policy Regarding
Deposition Transcriptions in Nonpublic
Investigations, 68 FR 50688 (August 22,
2003), available on the Commission’s
Web site at http://www.fec.gov/
agendajagendas2003/notice2003-15/
fr68nl63p50688.pdf. Under this policy,
the Commission allows deponents in
enforcement matters to obtain, upon
request to the Office of General Counsel,
a copy of the transcript of their own
deposition unless, on a case-by-case
basis, the General Counsel concludes
and informs the Commission that it is
necessary to the successful completion
of the investigation to withhold the
transcript until completion of the
investigation.

If the General Counsel decides to
recommend that the Commission find
probable cause to believe a respondent
has violated the Act, the Act requires
that the General Counsel so notify the
respondent, and provide a brief on the
legal and factual issues in the case. The
Act entitles respondents to submit,
within 15 days, a brief stating their
position on the factual and legal issues
of the case. 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(3).
Although nothing in the FECA requires
that documents or deposition transcripts
be provided to respondents at this stage,
respondents are generally provided,
upon request, with the documents and
depositions of other respondents and
third party witnesses that are referred to
in the General Counsel’s brief.
Respondents, however, may deem other
information that the Commission does
not disclose as valuable to the
respondents’ defense. Note that this
practice can cause delay because, upon
receiving these documents and
depositions, respondents’ counsel often
seek an extension of time since counsel
must submit the reply brief within 15
days of receiving the General Counsel’s
probable cause brief.

The Commission’s practice in
providing depositions and documents to
respondents contrasts with the practice
of some other civil law enforcement
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agencies during the investigative stage
of their proceedings, in which the only
deposition transcript supplied to the
respondent is the respondent’s own
deposition. Further, during the
pendency of an investigation, section 6b
of the APA, 5 U.S.C. 555(c), grants
investigative agencies the right to deny
the request of a witness for copies of
transcripts of his or her own testimony
based on “good cause,” in light of
concerns that witnesses still to be
examined might be coached.
Commercial Capital Corp. v. SEC, 360
F.2d 856, 858 (7th Cir. 1966). On the
other hand, it has been suggested the
Commission’s practice contrasts with
procedural rights afforded in litigation
matters under the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, which give litigants the right
to attend the depositions of all persons
deposed in their case and obtain copies
of all deposition transcripts.

The Commission seeks comment on
whether counsel should have access to
all documents prior to having to
respond to a recommendation by the
Office of General Counsel. Should
deposition transcripts of the respondent,
other respondents, and witnesses be
released, and if so, when and to whom
should they be released? Should
respondents be allowed full access to
the depositions of all other respondents,
including those with the same and those
with competing interests? At what point
in the enforcement process should this
occur? Would full access to the
deposition transcripts of all other
respondents increase the likelihood of a
public disclosure in violation of 2
U.S.C. 437g(a)(12)? Would such release
itself violate 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(12)? If full
access were to be granted prior to the
probable cause stage, would it
compromise the effectiveness of the
Commission’s investigations? Should
respondents or respondent’s counsel be
allowed to attend depositions of other
respondents or witnesses, including
those with the same and those with
competing interests? If so, under what
circumstances? Again, would such
access be consistent with 2 U.S.C.
437g(a)(12)?

Similarly, the Commission seeks
comment on whether all relevant
documents required to be disclosed in
civil litigation pursuant to Federal Rule
of Civil Procedure 26(a) should be
provided with the probable cause brief.
Is the Rule 26(a) model appropriate for
a proceeding that is investigative, rather
than adversarial? Would it be practical
(or, in cases with multiple respondents,
legal) to do so in cases involving
voluminous records and multiple
respondents? Who should bear the costs
of copying documents and ordering

deposition transcripts from court
reporters? Would providing all such
materials and allowing time for their
review further delay the submission of
responsive briefs? Would doing so
compromise investigations? Would
doing so compromise the Commission’s
ability to obtain and share information
with other governmental agencies?
Should this be done on a case-by-case
basis? Would some standard other than
Rule 26(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure provide a more workable
standard?

The Commission seeks comment on
these or other approaches to balancing
its need to conduct effective
investigations with the interests of
respondents seeking to support their
positions before the Commission.

C. Extensions of Time

Respondents have 15 days to respond
to the General Counsel’s probable cause
brief. 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(3). Although the
Commission does not have any
regulations addressing whether and
under what circumstances an extension
of this 15 day deadline is warranted, the
Office of the General Counsel typically
will grant an extension upon a showing
of good cause. Should the Commission
provide more explicit guidance
regarding when an extension is
warranted? If so, under what
circumstances, if any, should extensions
of time be granted to respondents to
respond to the probable cause brief? Are
there particular situations in which
extensions of time should be denied? If
extensions were granted, should they be
contingent on respondents’ agreements
to toll the statute of limitations for the
extension period?

D. Appearance Before the Commission

Under FECA, respondents are
currently permitted to present their
position through written submissions in
response to the complaint and the
General Counsel’s probable cause brief,
and generally they may do so at the RTB
stage pursuant to Commission practice.
The Commission also allows oral
presentations prior to voting on a
recommendation by the General
Counsel to find probable cause. See
Enforcement Procedural Rules for
Probable Cause Hearings, 72 FR 64919
(Nov. 19, 2007), available on the
Commission’s Web site at http://
www.fec.gov/law/cfr/eLcompilation/
2007/notice_2007-21.pdf. Has the
opportunity for oral presentation been
helpful? Can the process be improved
and, if so, how? Has the opportunity to
appear in person before the Commission
at the probable cause stage changed

respondents’ interest in conciliating at
an earlier stage, and if so, how?

The Commission also seeks comment
on whether respondents should be
entitled to appear before the
Commission, either pro se or through
counsel, at other times such as when the
Commission is considering motions (see
I-A, above), audit reports that state
violations of law, or prior to finding
RTB. If so, should appearances be
limited to certain types of hearings and
cases? If so, what should be the limiting
criteria? What should be the scope and
form of the personal appearance?
Should the Commission be permitted to
draw an adverse inference if
respondents decline to answer certain
questions or do not fully answer them?
Allowing counsel to appear would add
an additional procedural right, but
could also lengthen the enforcement
process. How would this additional step
be balanced with the timeliness of
completing a MUR? Is the Commission
justified in prolonging the process?
Would this complicate the process or
add unnecessary time constraints?
Would it place respondents with limited
resources, or those located far from
Washington, at a comparative
disadvantage, and if so, is this a valid
reason to restrict personal appearances
for all respondents? In cases involving
multiple respondents, how would the
Commission protect the confidentiality
of other respondents also wishing to
appear? The Commission would also
benefit from hearing about whether
other civil law enforcement agencies
provide for personal appearances before
agency decision-makers.

E. Releasing Documents or Filing Suit
Before an Election

While an enforcement matter is
pending, the matter remains
confidential pursuant to 2 U.S.C.
437g(a)(4)(B). The Commission’s
regulation at 11 CFR 5.4 mandates that
files be publicly released within 30 days
of notification to the respondents that
the matter is closed. Once an
enforcement matter is closed, the
Commission’s practice is to publicly
release documents related to the matter
in the normal course of business, even
if this occurs immediately prior to, or
following, an election that may involve
one of the respondents in the matter.
Upon resolution of an enforcement
matter, the Commission could not deny
a Freedom of Information Act, 5 U.S.C.
552 et. seq., request for disclosure of
conciliation agreements or other
dispositions simply because of the
proximity of an upcoming election.
Furthermore, the FECA provides for
expedited conciliation immediately
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prior to an election, which allows voters
to consider a Commission determination
that a campaign has not violated the
FECA as alleged in a complaint, or
alternatively, that a campaign has
accepted responsibility for an election
law violation. 2 U.S.C. 437g(a)(4)(A)(i).

On the other hand, the Commission is
sensitive to the fact that releasing
documents, reports, or filing suit before
an election, even when it occurs in the
normal course of business, may
influence election results. The
Commission seeks comment on whether
consideration of an upcoming election
should or should not be considered
when releasing documents. In
particular, should the Commission
adopt a policy of not releasing outcomes
of cases for a specific period
immediately preceding an election? If
so, should that policy apply only to
violations from a previous cycle? Would
such a policy invite respondents to
employ dilatory tactics for the apparent
purpose of keeping information
confidential until the election is over?
Should the same considerations apply
when the Commission has completed
the administrative process and is
prepared to file an enforcement action
in federal court? What if the statute of
limitations is due to run before or
shortly after the election? Would the
policy expose the Commission to
criticism that it was withholding from
voters information that it would
normally make public precisely when
that information is arguably of greatest
interest to the electorate?

F. Timeliness

From the end of fiscal year 2003 to the
end of fiscal year 2007 the Commission
improved the overall processing time for
Enforcement matters by 64%, while at
the same time doubling the number of
matters it closes on a yearly basis.
Nonetheless, it has still been criticized
in some quarters for lack of timeliness.
Are there specific practices or
procedures that the Commission could
implement, consistent with the FECA
and the APA, which could reduce the
time it takes to process MURs? Does the
agency have too few staff assigned to
handle its workload? Can the
Commission afford respondents with
more procedural rights without
sacrificing its goal of conducting timely
investigations? Should respondents be
afforded more process than is required
by the FECA or the APA when the likely
result will be longer proceedings? How
should a respondent’s timeliness in
responding to discovery requests and
subpoenas and orders, or the lack
thereof, be weighed in the balance? Has
any particular stage of the enforcement

procedure been a source of timeliness
problems?

G. Prioritization

The Commission has adopted an
Enforcement Priority System to focus
resources on cases that most warrant
enforcement action. Should the
Commission give lesser or greater
priority to cases that require complex
investigations and/or raise issues where
there is little consensus about the
application of the law—such as
coordination, qualified non-profit
corporation status, and express
advocacy/issue ad analysis? Since cases
involving these issues often involve
large amounts of spending, and hence
large potential violations, should these
be the cases given high priority? If not,
what cases should be given high
priority?

H. Memorandum of Understanding With
the Department of Justice

The Commission for years has divided
responsibility for the enforcement of
FECA with the Department of Justice. A
1977 Memorandum of Understanding
contemplates that the Department of
Justice should handle “‘significant and
substantial knowing and willful”
violations, and that where the
Commission learns of a probable,
significant and substantial violation, it
will endeavor to expeditiously
investigate the matter and refer it
promptly to the Department upon a
finding of probable cause. Is this still a
valid demarcation of responsibility?
Does anything in BCRA suggest a
different approach would be
appropriate?

I. Settlements and Penalties

Settlements and penalties are a
sensitive and difficult area for both the
Commission and the public. It is vitally
important that settlements and penalties
are equitable and appropriate. The
Commission seeks comment on any
systematic settlement or penalty issues
that have arisen in the Commission’s
enforcement of the FECA. How can
these issues be resolved? The
Commission seeks comment on several
issues in particular. Has the
Commission’s practice of approving
proposed conciliation agreements as
opening settlement offers been helpful
in facilitating discussions? Have the
civil penalties accurately reflected the
underlying issues? Are admonishments
allowed by the statute? Are
admonishments a civil penalty? Is it
appropriate to base penalties and
disgorgements on extrapolations of
violations in a sample to the entire
universe of funds in question? Is the

public aware of how the FEC calculates
fines and other penalties? Should the
Commission provide this information to
the public? Specifically, do other
agencies make public their methodology
for determining the agency’s opening
offer in settlement negotiations, which
is the purpose for which the
Commission’s guidelines are used? If
the Commission were to publish those
guidelines, would they be applicable
without exception or with only a few
specified exceptions? Should the
Commission retain its discretion and
flexibility to depart from its guidelines
in instances when it feels that fairness
or public policy requires another result?
Would such guidelines minimize or
even eliminate negotiations over what
constitutes an appropriate penalty?
Have fines and other penalties been
consistent? How much consistency is
required under the APA, equal
protection and due process? Are there
other directives or guidelines that
should be publicly available, pertaining
to enforcement procedures?

J. Designating Respondents in a
Complaint

When the Commission last conducted
a public review of its enforcement
procedures in 2003, one of the topics
that generated the most comments was
with regard to designating respondents
in a complaint. As a result of those
comments, the Commission established
two new practices. First, the Office of
General Counsel modified how it
identified respondents upon the initial
review of an external complaint.
Specifically, the Office of General
Counsel used to notify any party
mentioned in a complaint, or
attachment to a complaint, where they
could be inferred to have violated a
provision of the FECA. Following the
2003 public review, the Office of
General Counsel curtailed its
notification practice to include only
those parties that were either
specifically identified by the complaint
to have violated the FECA or were
shown to have a clear nexus to the
alleged violation in a complaint.
Second, in instances where the Office of
General Counsel identifies additional
respondents at a later stage in the
enforcement process, OGC now sends
the potential respondent a “pre-RTB
letter” notifying them of OGC’s
intention to recommend that the
Commission find reason to believe a
violation occurred, setting forth the
factual basis for the recommendation,
and inviting the potential respondent to
respond to OGC prior to making its
recommendation to the Commission.
Have these two procedural changes
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effectively addressed the due process
issues raised in 2003 about designating
respondents in a complaint? Are pre-
RTB letters useful to the enforcement
process? Are they consistent with the
statute? Should OGC provide potential
respondents with a copy of the
complaint or, in sua sponte matters, a
copy of the sua sponte submission?
Would the provision of these documents
to someone who has not yet been named
as a respondent violate 2 U.S.C.
437g(a)(12)?

II. Other Programs
A. Alternative Dispute Resolution

Has the ADR program been helpful? If
so, in what ways has the program been
helpful? Should it be expanded? Should
the referral policies the Commission
currently uses be modified so that the
ADR program can handle more cases? If
so, what cases are most appropriate for
ADR? Should a respondent be able to
request participation in the ADR
program?

What are the perceived advantages or
disadvantages of the ADR process
compared to the regular enforcement
process? What can be done to ensure
uniformity of treatment of respondents
between the ADR program and the
traditional enforcement process? Is the
Commission doing an adequate job of
ensuring that civil penalties agreed to in
ADR are actually paid by respondents
and that other agreed upon remedial
actions (such as annual internal audits
or attendance at an FEC conference) are
completed?

Currently, in most instances penalties
and other remedial actions are
negotiated independently of the Office
of General Counsel. What are the
perceived advantages or disadvantages
of the ADR negotiations being
independent of the Office of General
Counsel? If the ADR program were to
negotiate in coordination with the
Office of General Counsel, would that
provide a disincentive for respondents
to disclose confidential information for
fear that the information would be
available to the Office of General
Counsel in the event that ADR does not
result in a successful resolution of the
matter?

What else can the Commission do to
improve the ADR process?

B. Administrative Fines

Has the Administrative Fine program
improved consistency of civil penalty
amounts? Are the schedules of the
administrative fines published in the
Commission’s regulations (11 CFR
111.43 and 111.44) useful?

What else can the Commission do to
improve the Administrative Fine
process?

C. Reports Analysis

All persons and entities who file
disclosure reports with the Commission
must interact with the RAD. All reports
filed with the Commission are reviewed
by RAD. The RAD will attempt to
acquire information through a Request
for Additional Information (RFAI) if an
error, omission, need for additional
clarification, or prohibited activity is
discovered in the course of reviewing a
report. Are the RFATI’s clear and
understandable? Do RFATI’s provide
sufficient time to respond? Should the
times vary based on the nature of the
request? Are RFAI’s consistent in the
information they seek? Some RFAT’s
seek information which is not required
by the report. Is this practice consistent
with the law?

If a potential violation is discovered
and the committee fails to take
corrective action or provide clarifying
information to adequately address the
issue, the committee may be referred for
enforcement or audit. Has the
Commission appeared to have been
consistent in its approach to RAD
referrals? What steps could the
Commission take to increase
transparency and improve the RAD
referral procedure?

What else can the Commission do to
improve the RAD’s processes?

D. Audits

While presidential campaigns that
accept matching funds are audited
automatically, other committees are
only audited based on Commission
procedures that set audit priorities. The
committee has the opportunity to
respond confidentially to the Interim
Audit Report/Preliminary Audit Report,
and changes from the IAR/PAR in the
Final Audit Report can result from
information provided by the audited
committee in that response. These final
audit reports are made public. This
process raises several questions upon
which the Commission seeks comment.
Is it sufficiently clear to the general
public how the Commission decides to
audit a particular committee? If not,
should more information be made
public? If it should, what information
should be made public? Is it possible to
release the specified information
without providing committees a road
map on how to violate the law just
enough to avoid being audited? Does the
selection of committees for audit have
the appearance of being done in a
neutral manner? What can be done to
improve public confidence in the

neutrality, fairness and relevancy of the
audit selection process? What is the
significance of an audit finding that a
violation of law has occurred? Does
such a finding in an audit report
constitute “enforcement?”” What is the
public perception of such a finding?
Does such a finding have immediate
punitive and other adverse
consequences for the committee,
including candidate committees?

Are committees being given sufficient
opportunity to be heard by the
Commission, particularly prior to the
release of audit reports reaching legal
conclusions that the committee violated
the law? If not, what is the best way to
ensure that committees have
appropriate and full due process before
the Commission? Should audited
committees be allowed to file a written
brief in response to the audit report?
Should audited committees be allowed
to have a hearing before the
Commission? Should this hearing be at
the time of the interim audit report, the
final audit report, or both? Please note
as well that many of the questions
raised in Part I.D., pertaining to
appearances before the Commission in
the enforcement process, apply as well
to the question of appearances in audits.

What else can the Commission do to
improve the audit process?

III. Advisory Opinions and Policy
Statements

A. Advisory Opinions

Currently, advisory opinion requests
are submitted in writing and posted on
the Commission Web site for comment.
Typically, one or more draft opinions
are proposed and posted on the Web site
for comment and the Commission
adopts one of the draft opinions or an
amended version of one of the drafts. As
part of this process, should the
requestor be permitted to appear before
the Commission before or at the time the
Commission considers a request?
Should commenters get a similar
opportunity? How would allowing
requestors or commenters to appear
before the Commission affect the
statutory requirement that the
Commission render an opinion within
sixty days of a complete written
request? If the Commission were to
allow requestors to appear, should they
be required to waive the sixty day time
period? Given the statutory reference to
“written comments,” would a legislative
change be required to permit requestors
or commenters to appear before the
Commission?

Furthermore, have advisory opinion
requests generally been resolved in a
timely manner? Have requesters
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experienced a time lag between the time
they file a request with the Commission
and when the request is deemed
submitted for the purpose of beginning
the 60-day clock? How can the
Commission improve on rendering
advisory opinions promptly?

What else can the Commission do to
improve the advisory opinion process?

B. Policy Statements and Other
Guidelines

In recent years the Commission has
issued a number of policy statements,
which are available on the
Commission’s Web site at http://
www.fec.gov/law/policy.shtml. Have
these statements helped increase the
transparency of the Commission’s
practices and procedures? How can the
transparency of the Commission’s
practices and procedures be improved?
Are there substantive or procedural
flaws in any of these policy statements
that the Commission should address or
revise? Should any of these policy
statements be embodied in regulations
to provide better clarity and access to
the public? Are there additional policy
statements that the Commission should
consider issuing? If so, what
Commission practices and procedures
should be addressed in the policy
statements? Should policy statements,
directives and guidelines be placed on
the Web site?

What other policy statements could
the Commission issue that would be
helpful to the public?

IV. Other Issues

As noted above, the Commission
welcomes comments on other issues
relevant to these enforcement policies
and procedures, including any
comments concerning how the FEC
might increase the fairness, substantive
and procedural due process, efficiency
and effectiveness of the Commission.

On behalf of the Commission.

Dated: December 2, 2008.
Donald F. McGahn II,
Chairman, Federal Election Commission.
[FR Doc. E8-28896 Filed 12—-5—-08; 8:45 am)]
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PROCEEDINGS

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Good
morning. The special session of the
Federal Election Commission for
Wednesday, January 14 and Thursday
January 15, 2009, will please come to
order. I'd like to welcome everyone to this
hearing on the Commission's policies,
practices and procedures.

I'm Steve Walther, Chairman of
the Commission. | will begin by
introducing my colleagues at the table.

On my left is Vice Chairman Matt
Petersen. On my right is Commissioner
Cindy Bauerly. Further on the left is
Commissioner Caroline Hunter and further
on the right is Commissioner Ellen
Weintraub, who presided over our hearing
in 2003 when she was Chair of the
Commission. On the far left, or far right,
however you want to look at it, is the
immediate past chair, Commissioner Don
McGahn.

Also sitting with us on the right,
the far right, is General Counsel Tommie
Duncan, and on her left is Ann Marie
Terzaken, from our Office of General
Counsel. And on my far left is Joseph
Stoltz, who is our Acting Staff Director.

The issues we are discussing
today were included in a notice of public
hearing and request for comments
published in the Federal Register on
Monday, December 8, 2008. The notice
was signed by our immediate past
chairman, Don McGahn, who is a strong
supporter of this initiative.

The Commission plays a unique
role in administering and enforcing the
federal campaign finance laws and is
considering this review -- conducting this
review to consider issues that require
reexamination or adaptation of our policies,
practices and procedures.

This hearing is the second of its
kind. The Commission conducted a similar
review of its procedures in 2003, although
narrower in scope. That particular hearing
was conducted, as | mentioned, by our

current commissioner, Ellen Weintraub.
The comments received during the 2003
review were considered by the Commission
and as a result, the Commission adopted a
number of new policies and procedures,
some of which are referenced in the
Federal Register Notice for this hearing.

We are here today to continue that
process, asking once again for feedback on
how we have been fulfilling our mission
and more importantly, how we can improve
it going forward. The three basic questions
for which we seek answers are, how can we
make our process more transparent? How
can we make it more fair? And how can
we make it more efficient?

This hearing invites comment on
the broadest scope of Commission
activities since its inception over 30 years
ago. It is fitting that we do this now. The
Commission has the benefit of realizing
how helpful a hearing can be from its
previous experience in 2003.

But much has changed since then.
With the passage of the Bipartisan
Campaign Reform Act, the passage of the
Honest Leadership and Openness in
Government Act, the advent of new uses of
the Internet and new ways of funding
campaigns, and the welcome explosion in
the number of contributors, we must
constantly look at new ways to ensure our
mission is being fulfilled.

The fact that we have the most
new Commissioners at one time since the
formation of the FEC is further reason to
take a fresh look at all our operating
components from A to Z. This is the start
of such a process.

In addition to this exercise by
which we hear from the public, | have
asked Mr. Stoltz and Ms. Duncan to review
our internal procedures in the areas of their
respective jurisdictions within the agency
so that we will contemporaneously have
the benefit of our internal expertise on how
to improve this agency. They readily
agreed to do so and have already
undertaken to form internal committees to
accomplish a complete review of our
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procedures. This will be done in time for
consideration as part of this proceeding.

We appreciate all of the people
who took the time and effort to comment
and particularly those of you who are
appearing here today as witnesses to give
us the benefit of your expertise and
experience. We are aware the timing of
this initiative has been inconvenient for
some and appreciate very much the time
you have taken to be here today. It will
make a difference.

In consideration of the issues of
hardship and inconvenience, and to be
assured we will be able to receive input
from those who were unable to participate
because of the holidays, | am asking for a
re-opening of the time for written comment
until midnight Wednesday, February 18,
2009. This will allow the commenters to
have the benefit of the written comments
received so far and an opportunity to
review the transcript of these proceedings,
which should be on our website by January
30.

So without objection from my
colleagues, | will ask the Office of General
Counsel to prepare a notice to that effect to
be placed in the Federal Register as soon as
possible.

We have already received pointed
criticism and strong suggestions in written
comments that precede this hearing and we
will hear more of the same today, as we
should, and we ask that no quarter be
given. We also accept favorable comment
whenever possible. | note that some was
given, for which we express appreciation.

However, as we go forward today,
let me note at the outset my view, one that |
am confident is shared by all the
Commissioners. We have the benefit of
the most loyal, dedicated and professional
staff members that any agency could ask
for. There are people here who have been
at the Commission their entire professional
lives, ever since the days of the inception
of this agency, such as Joe Stoltz. Also
Scott Thomas, who only recently left the
agency, is here today to help improve the
Commission. Mary Dove, our Commission
secretary, has been here for many years,
but we are not counting them.

They love this agency. Any
criticism, many of which are well deserved,
or shortcomings, of which there are many,

are those of the Commissioners and the
Commissioners alone, not those of the
staff. They operate at the direction of the
Commissioners and we take total
responsibility for our operation. 1 ask your
comments today will take that into
consideration.

I would like to describe briefly the
format we will be following today and
tomorrow. We expect a total of 16
witnesses who have been divided into six
panels. Each panel will have five to ten
minutes to make an opening statement. We
have a light system at the witness table to
help keep track of your time, but we will
not use it unless our internal discipline
breaks down.

The balance of the time is
reserved for questioning by the
Commissioners, our General Counsel and
our staff director. It is our hope that the
panelists will have roughly an equal
amount of time to provide their views. We
have a busy day ahead of us and appreciate
everyone's cooperation in helping us stay
on schedule.

And with that, once again, I'd like
to welcome you. Thanks for being here.

I'd like to introduce our first panel,
Jan Baran, Robert Bauer and James Bopp,
Jr. Again, thanks for being here. We will
begin alphabetically with Mr. Baran.

MR. BARAN: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and good morning,
Commissioners and Counsel and Mr.
Stoltz, who | remember from my brief
tenure here at the Commission back in the
Stone Age. It's always been an honor to
have worked at the Commission,
particularly in the formative stages of the
agency.

I would like to acknowledge the
presence of one of my partners, Carol
Laham, who also worked here at the
Federal Election Commission and is part of
the Wiley Rein Election Law and
Government Ethics Group, which -- which
submitted the comments in this proceeding.

As some of you may know, for me
this is déja vu not only having worked here,
but also having testified on the subject
matter six years ago when Commissioner
Weintraub was chairing the proceedings.
As part of that, | sort of reviewed what |
said then, what subjects were covered in

that proceeding, and there is an element of
familiarity.

I remember there was a topic of
how respondents should be designated
when a complaint is received, whether the
complaint should be distributed to anybody
whose name was mentioned in the
complaint at all or whether they ought to be
a little more focused. Of course, as a result
of those hearings, the Commission did
adopt a new procedure focusing on who
would be receiving a copy of the
complaint.

Also six years ago, we talked
about whether there ought to be
opportunities for hearings before this
agency, particularly with respect to
probable cause proceedings and the
Commission, in my opinion, wisely
decided to experiment with that and has
adopted procedures for opportunities for
probable cause hearings.

A third topic that was discussed
six years ago was whether to allow motions
and if so, under what circumstances, and |
see that that topic is covered again in the
Federal Notice for this hearing. As we
urged the Commission then and urge again
today, there ought to be opportunities for
motions to be filed before the agency.

Finally, even six years ago, we
had discussions about access to the
depositions and document production in the
course of investigations and allowing
respondents to have access to the material
that the Counsel’s office would be relying
on for any recommendations for probable
cause.

There has been progress in that
area. | know that there's more access to
deposition transcripts today than there was
then.

A lot of the proceedings six years
ago did focus also on a series of
recommendations that were promulgated
by the American Bar Association in 1982.
Some of those may be a little outdated,
may not be relevant, but I urge the
Commission just to take a look at some of
those issues that were addressed by the
ABA Section of Administrative Law,
which | note at that time was chaired by a
then relatively obscure law professor by the
name of Antonin Scalia, and it was his
group that approved those
recommendations.
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Our purpose is today, | don't want
to repeat, we've already submitted in our
written comments. But | look forward to
discussing those and answering any
questions that any of the Commissioners
may have on them. But we did try to
repeat some of our recommendations and
improve on those and also focus on some
of the additional topics that were raised in
the notice, particularly with respect to the
Reports Analysis Division.

I look forward to your questions.
Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you, Mr. Baran. Mr. Bauer?

MR. BAUER: I'm not quite sure
how this works. I'm trying to -- the
microphone.

Thank you very much. |
appreciate the opportunity to testify. As
you know, our group, the Political Law
Group at Perkins Coie, filed comments,
detailed comments and | want to make a
few preliminary remarks that are not
duplicative, that don't go over the same
material that you have before you in
writing.

First of all, I want to thank the
Commission for holding this hearing,
commend the Commission and the staff for
working hard on these issues. | note that
the agenda has been -- the witnesses have
been carefully and the panel carefully
organized by age in descending order. | am
here on behalf of the three grumpy old men
to talk about our extensive experience with
these issues that are before the agency.

But I did want to make a few
general remarks that are not reflected in the
partner submission on behalf of the
Political Law Group. What | wanted to do
was to try to address the view that
somehow there is a tension here, sort of a
fatal tension between, on the one hand,
enforcement, and on the other hand, this
sort of procedural reforms and due process
concerns that dominate so much of the
commentary before the Commission in this
proceeding.

It seems to me that that is -- has to
be seen in a different perspective, which is
to say, | do not believe that the
Commission faces a stark choice between
effective enforcement on the one hand and
plentiful due process protections on the
other. In fact, the view that I'd like to put

before you is that at the end of the day, the
viability of the campaign finance regime,
the sustainability of the regime for reasons
that I'll just very briefly mention, really
depends on very rich procedural
protections and that it will enhance the
Commission's enforcement effort to have
those protections in place.

I received some e-mail traffic,
because on my site | posted some
commentary about this proceeding and
some of the comments that have been filed
with the Commission. I've received some
e-mail traffic suggesting that by arguing
due process issues, defense counsel come
in here essentially with the view that they
can hobble the Commission's enforcement
mission, that everything here is sort of a
plot to make it impossible for you to put
our clients away for life, which some
people believe they richly deserve. And
that is --

MR. BARAN: Your clients.

MR. BAUER: Well, your clients
too, frankly.

(Laughter.)

MR. BAUER: My clients only do
the things that your clients have blazed a
trail on.

(Laughter.)

MR. BAUER: The pioneer law
breaker on my left here. And the person
who then couches a defense in First
Amendment terms on my right.

In any event, the long and short of
it is, the agency finds itself in this difficult
position where it's an administrative agency
like any other which tries to fill in the gap.
It takes a congressional enactment and then
it applies it and stretches it and expands it
as new facts and circumstances develop
and new forms of conduct emerge in the
political process.

But that's what makes this such a
delicate task, because as we all know,
campaign finance enactments really take
place by wide consensus. There are always
significant partisan and ideological
divisions in the enactment of campaign
finance reforms because they touch so
actively a political nerve.

So the administrative filling-in
process is necessarily contentious and it's
particularly contentious because that which
the regulatory community finds hard
enough being delivered to it by the hand of

3

the Congress, they find especially hard
delivered to it by the hand of
administrators.

And when | say filling-in, I'm not
talking only about law being made by
rulemaking. I'm talking about, frankly, the
de facto rulemaking that takes place in the
enforcement process and in the advisory
opinion process, and some would say
elsewhere in the operation of the agency.
This filling-in takes place in areas of
considerable sensitivity to the political
process: fundraising and get-out-the-vote
activity and issue advertising and so forth.

And so there is a natural resistance
that develops to having the agency starting
to move beyond what people believe the
statute on its face or the regulations on
their face plainly prescribe and expand the
reach of the law into these delicate areas of
political activity.

The only way to make that
bearable, if you will, and I think that really
the future viability of campaign finance
regulation depends upon it, is for the
agency to have a set of procedures,
procedural protections, transparency
protections, and due process protections
that I think will ultimately make it much
easier for that filling-in process to take
place and be accepted by the regulated
community and help the statute both grow
and at the same time grow in a fashion that
people believe to be fair and orderly. So |
don't see a conflict between the filling-in
activity on the one hand and the due
process concerns that are so pronounced in
this proceeding before you on the other.

There is one piece of this in
particular I just wanted to address in
closing, which is the piece of due process
argument and the reaction to it that centers
on the risk of delay. Very often what you
hear is that everything defense counsel
comes before you and asks for, you know,
hearings and additional extensions of time,
and the opportunity to file motions and
whatever, means that wrongdoing gets
punished late.

There is obviously in some places
a tremendous hunger to see campaign
finance violations, if they are perceived to
be occurring, addressed immediately, if
possible in the same cycle they're
occurring, so that those who engage in this
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conduct don't wind up getting away, if you
will, with regulatory murder.

I think that that is a mistake in
view of what this agency can accomplish.
To the extent that the agency has been
successful and the statute has been
successfully administered, it is because
over time in the aggregate with cumulative
impact, the decisions that the agency has
taken in a variety of areas, including
through this filling-in process, has taken
hold in the regulated community and has
served to mold compliance behavior.

It may be that every now and then
there is some pioneering scofflaw that you
have to chase and you catch up with the
scofflaw late and the penalties that you
assess strike people as being too small, but
you will have made your point. You have
marked the ground. You will have
changed the calculus, if you will, by which
actors make choices about what they can or
cannot do, and it does mean that, in the
aggregate over time, the enforcement
behavior, the enforcement program of the
agency does, | think, become an effective
one.

So yes, a process with oral
hearings and motions and sort of more
flexibility, the extensions of time and a
variety of things that you see before them,
will mean more time built in for the
resolution of cases. But getting it right and
then ultimately making the decision that
you make, will mean the regulated
community you're addressing will accept it
more. There will be less confrontation
with the agency, more acceptance of the
mission and over time, the rules that you
articulate, the legal standards that you are
sort of broadcasting to the community and
making known, will have an impact on the
conduct of political actors.

Those are my few opening
remarks and with that | close and thank you
again for having us.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. Mr. Bopp. Thank you for
coming as far as you did and glad you
could be here today.

MR. BOPP: Thank you very
much, Mr. Chairman, Commissioners. |
appreciate the opportunity to testify today
and I also particularly appreciate your
willingness to consider comments and

testimony regarding how this agency may
better serve its important function.

Introspection is often not easy and
some people interpret it as hey, come and
criticize us. 1 don't look at it that way. |
see us as trying to help you with an
important -- important job and we
appreciate the opportunity.

I'd like to start with first
principles, not to disappoint Bob Bauer,
and that is, this agency operates within the
context of the First Amendment, which
says Congress shall make no law abridging
the freedom of speech and association and
press and the right as citizens to petition
the government.

Much of that activity is subject to
regulation under the Federal Election
Campaign Act and, of course, the courts
have made clear that in order to subject that
activity to regulation, it requires a
compelling justification. So regulation is
the exception, not the rule, under the First
Amendment and so | think terminology
such as regulated community or the FEC
regulations permit speech or assembly or
petitioning the government reflect a
mindset that is not in accordance with the
First Amendment and the law as the
Constitution requires this agency to
conduct itself.

Now it is true that we got off track
with McCain-Feingold. Ninety pages of
statutes, 1,000 pages of FEC regulations
and their justifications, much of which was
upheld in McConnell, suggests -- it might
suggest that the regulated community and
the Commission permitting certain speech
may be more in accord with what the court
is looking for at this situation.

I mean those were the sort of
glory days of the regulators. Well, I think
the court is getting back on track with a
faithful interpretation of the First
Amendment and the cases Randall v.
Sorell, Wisconsin Right to Life v. FEC and
Davis v. FEC. One of the statements that |
think should be a watchword for this
Commission and for the
way we look at campaign finance
regulation is a statement by Chief Justice
Roberts that "the tie goes to the speaker" in
this regime of the First Amendment.

Now in addition, we need to
recognize that procedure is punishment.
The classic example, of course, is this

Commission's investigation and ultimate
prosecution of the Christian Coalition in a
case culminating in 1999, which during the
investigation stage and ultimately the
litigation stage, involved 81 depositions
ranging from Ralph Reed, who was
executive director of the Christian
Coalition, his temporary secretary, to the
then past-President of the United States,
and frankly, everyone in between.

There's no question that -- and of
course, ultimately the result was
vindication of the Coalition in court. So in
that case is a stark example of how the
procedure itself is punishment.

I think derived from these first
principles, a couple of operating principles,
if you will, one is the Commission should
apply the law only in the most compelling
circumstances, and secondly, that they
should take every effort to relieve the
regulatory burden of the process in which
the Commission subjects the people in
seeking to enforce the law.

Now let me comment on
investigations, rulemakings and motions.
First, investigation. What | found is that
there is a culture in the General Counsel’s
office that they take the decision of the
Commission to find "reason to believe"
seriously, not as an institution of an
investigation, but as a mandate for the
General Counsel’s office now to prove that
a violation has in fact taken place.

They also may approach these
matters with a certain preconceived idea
about a set of facts that they believe
occurred in the circumstance and they set
about to prove that those facts actually did
occur. It seems to me the proper mindset
of people who have been asked by this
Commission to investigate potential
violations of the law is not to act as a
prosecutor during the investigation so you
can prove a preconceived set of facts, but
should be seeking out the truth as to what
actually occurred and then apply the law to
those -- to that discovered -- those
discovered facts.

I think this will enhance the ability
of the Commission to actually find actual
violations of the law while at the same time
relieving the regulatory burden on those
falsely accused and of course, we all know
that in -- there's a chapter in every
candidate's manual on how to conduct your
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campaign, which is when to file your
federal election complaint and how to get
the maximum advantage by the accusation.

So the Commission is often being
-- attempted to be used for partisan political
purposes to win elections during a
campaign and as a result, many of these
accusations are simply political posturing
and the Commission needs to approach that
with the understanding that that is
something that may very well occur.

The second thing is rulemaking.
Now here | think the Commission needs to
take the current state of the law seriously
and I think there have certainly been
examples where the Commission -- and
there seems to be in fact, | would say, a
mindset of the Commission historically --
I'm not saying this Commission, but the
Commission historically -- which is to
always expand its jurisdiction, to always
take court cases to -- as another opportunity
to expand the jurisdiction, prepared to rest
the FEC regulations on the slimmest reed
of possible constitutional justification.

A classic example, of course, is
100.22(b), which has been struck down by
the 4th Circuit and the 1st Circuit and the
Southern District in New York. The
Commission in dealing with those cases
said well, we won't enforce it in the 1st
Circuit and the 4th Circuit and the Southern
District of New York, relying upon, of
course, a 9th Circuit decision, Furgatch v.
FEC, which you now decide to apply
throughout the United States.

I mean, | wonder why -- wasn't it
that they -- the 9th Circuit decision in
Furgatch was treated as only the law in the
9th Circuit as opposed to historically. And
then, of course, that error was compounded
when the 9th Circuit itself explained in
California Pro-Life Council that Furgatch
required "explicit words" of advocacy of
election or defeat, which the Commission
just has treated as a non-case.

I mean, you have the 9th Circuit
explaining that its own precedent that this
Commission has relied upon requires
explicit words and again, nothing happens
as far as the Commission is concerned.
The regulation still is sitting there being
employed when | suppose some apt
opportunity or possible excuse of
constitutionality can be found.

Second is that the only way that
this Commission can adopt a rule of law is
by rulemaking. Of course, 437f(b)
provides that "any rule of law which is not
stated in this Act or in Chapter 95, or
Chapter 96, of Title 26 may be initially
proposed by the Commission only as a rule
or regulation pursuant to the procedures
established in Section 438(d) of this title.

Now looking at many of the
writings of the Commission, you would not
know that, of course, is part of the law that
binds this Commission, because the
Commission is often through various
mechanisms citing as if they are, you
know, court precedents: advisory opinions;
conciliation agreements; statements of
reasons; Office of General Counsel reports;
as if they establish rules of law that are
precedent in future -- in future
considerations of the Commission, and
nothing could be further from the truth.

None of those are law. None of
those are precedent. None of those
establish law that binds anyone, including
those who want to exercise their First
Amendment free speech rights.

Now it is true that it is appropriate
to cite an advisory opinion when we're
considering -- considering one to cite a
previous one and say well, the facts -- are
the facts similar enough that we have
already created a safe harbor for this set of
facts? But -- or are the facts sufficiently
different that we have a new question
before the Commission? Because that's all
AOs do is if the facts are materially
identical, you've created a safe harbor that
other people can rely upon. But it states no
rules.

Now also in this regard, recent
Statements of Reasons | think misdirected
criticism, and the criticism was directed at
some members of the Commission who
apparently have voted not to, in the
Statements of Reasons opinions, to
continue to apply the enforcement policy
on tax status that the Commission applied
according to the Statements of Reasons in
investigations resulting out of the 2004
election.

Now | say this is misdirected for
several reasons. First, if the Commission is
relying upon an enforcement policy, well
then that enforcement policy is going to be
changed at any time. And of course under
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the rules that govern this Commission, if
three members decide they're not going to
enforce a particular enforcement, a policy
that has been enforced in the past, it's
changed, and that's perfectly appropriate --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Mr.
Bopp, you're a little over the 10-minute --

MR. BOPP: Okay, can | have one
more minute?

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Of
course, sure.

MR. BOPP: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Anybody that comes from Indiana --

MR. BOPP: Thank you for your
indulgence. So there was nothing improper
or untoward in a change in enforcement of
policy that some Commissioners who have
the authority to do so have in fact
implemented.

But the criticism really should
have been directed at the failure of this
Commission to adopt PAC regulations. In
other words, that was the thing that should
have happened. If this Commission had
adopted -- and this is one of the few times |
agree with the regulators, because the
Shays lawsuit was trying to get the
Commission to adopt regulations in this
area -- that would have been the proper
way to establish an enforcement policy,
would have been by establishing
regulations.

Then of course those regulations
would have bound all Commissioners to
apply until changed. So | consider that a
good example of the Commission’s
thinking or at least some Commissioners’
thinking that rules of law have been
established by conciliation agreements, by
enforcement policies, rather than rely on
rulemaking, which I think needs to be
done.

So I'll defer other comments and |
appreciate the opportunity to speak.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much, Mr. Bopp. We appreciate
your being here.

At this time, let me call on the
Commissioners who may have questions of
any of the panelists. I'm just going to
suggest it is possible, but not always, but
be mindful of when you're asking questions
not to -- and I'd like to hear from each of
the panelists -- unless it's important -- so
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that we can continue to direct questions in
a more precise way.

Let me start with Vice Chairman,
any questions?

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Baran, I'm
interested in the recommendation that you
had in your written comments that four
additional criteria should be included in the
complaint, namely that it should clearly
identify each person or entity who has
alleged to have committed a violation,
statements not based on personal
knowledge should be accompanied by an
identification of the source of information,
that a clear -- excuse me, a clear and
concise recitation of the facts which
describe a violation of a statute or
regulation should be included, and that
there should be documentation of the
supporting facts alleged.

Currently under our regulations,
those are discretionary, recommended but
not mandatory, and you recommended
those should be made mandatory.
Addressing an issue that Mr. Bopp brought
up that in order for the Commission to
focus on the cases that are most compelling
and also to relieve the regulatory burden,
it's certainly been a concern of mine that
are there -- are the resources and the time
of both the Commission and respondents
being wasted as a result of politically
motivated and otherwise frivolous
complaints?

| first of all just wanted to ask
from your experience if the abuse of the
complaint process through frivolous and
politically motivated complaints, is it a
serious, wide-ranging and extensive
problem?

MR. BARAN: 1 think it's a
serious problem. I think that there is with
some regularity, and | think Bob Bauer
even suggested that complaints get filed in
the heat of a campaign in order to grab a
headline. | mean, we've all seen that. A
complaint appears on page one of the local
paper and two years later the dismissal, if it
appears at all, is buried in the back of the
paper.

Now the fact that a complaint may
be politically motivated does not
necessarily mean it has no merit and our
recommendations are geared towards
requiring a complainant to demonstrate that

there is some plausible merit to a particular
complaint.

In that regard, it would be nice if
they would provide the Commission and
the respondent who has to respond to the
complaint with some specifics, with some
support, with some actual facts, and in fact,
a direct allegation that a particular person is
alleged to have violated the law.

We have represented clients who
were the subject apparently of some
complaints where the allegations were so
ambiguous, so amorphous and so
unsupported that it really puts the
respondent and their counsel in a difficult
position when responding and it puts the
Commission in somewhat of a difficult
position as well.

So everybody wants to
concentrate on complaints that raise issues
of merit. That will trigger the use of the
Commission's resources. It will require
respondents to pull their attention from
either campaigning or whatever else they're
doing, if they're not politicians, and it
would be nice to tell a complainant who
doesn't provide a sufficient complaint,
here's your complaint, here's our
requirements. If you add some more beef -
- you're not rejecting it forever; you're just
saying, please resubmit with the criteria
that we have in our regulation.

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
If I might ask the other panelists as well,
are there other suggestions that you may
have or recommendations that the
Commission ought to consider on how to at
the outset be able to filter out those that are
non-meritorious and clearly frivolous from
those that really do demand Commission
attention and that should proceed; are there
any suggestions you have on how we -- are
there any policies we may want to institute
in order to filter out those more effectively
and efficiently?

MR. BOPP: | do think the
presumption that the Commission employs
should not be that there's a violation
because somebody's filed a complaint. So |
do agree with Jan that there needs to be
significant factual support that is verifiable
that -- in order to institute an investigation.

So presumptions often help, you
know, sort of positive purposes and the
positive purpose of presumptions here
would serve that because you filed a
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complaint there is not a violation. Because
it would serve both the legal purpose of
protecting First Amendment rights that
cannot be abridged except for compelling
justification and would not drag people into
a process where the process itself is the
punishment.

MR. BAUER: | agree with the
suggestion that complainants have to be
specific and it ought to be very clear that
they have a responsibility to bring
something before the Commission that is
adequately supported by criteria that are
well advertised in advance.

I also think that to the extent that a
complaint kind of squeezes right through, it
sort of barely passes that threshold that
there is before you, at least in my
experience, are relatively easily identified.
And it would be helpful to the respondent
to have those disposed of very quickly
because | think it will be very clear which
ones can be quickly disposed of and that
helps with the problem that Jan suggested
that the complaint gets the headline and
then many years pass before it turns out
that it wasn't given much credence by the
agency.

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Okay, thank you. If I can just ask another
question of Mr. Bauer. In the comments
that were submitted by you and your
colleagues, it was repeated often that the
enforcement process, the Audit process and
also through RAD, that they should not be
making law through those processes.

I was just wondering if you might
expand upon that comment and explain to
us the extent to which that's been a problem
in the past?

MR. BAUER: Well, let me be
very clear about one thing. What | tried to
say in my opening remarks is that | think
that this particular complication is built
into your mission. It's just something you
have to manage. | don't think that our
suggestion was that people were running
amuck and making law left and right
everywhere without regard to what their
statutory responsibilities were.

But there is and needs to be, |
think -- and part of the answer of this is
making sure that there are very, very clear
procedures with respondents giving
adequate notice of exactly what's taking
place. That works in some phases of what
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you do and there were some areas of where there between process and the speed with
you operate, and it's probably less of an which a respondent in that type of situation
answer in others, but | do think people do  might want to have a matter addressed.
have to be mindful, the various So I'd like some additional input
departments need to be mindful. on what does that option look like? Is it --
| believe our perception -- some of is a motion to dismiss appropriate at the
us in the defense bar who represent -- that  time the response is due? Is it in addition
Jim did not like -- have referred to as the to the response? Because | can envision a
regulated community, | think if you keep situation where a motion to dismiss is filed,
on saying that, people will be demanding ~ the Commission thinks there may be a little
refunds shortly, so stop. Stop. more meat to the complaint than that and
But in any event, | think mindful ~ wants to look at it in the reason to believe
that the way in which rules are made does  stage and a response at that point in time
matter. Jim says, | think correctly, that would be helpful to a quick dismissal.
rules are supposed to be made through the So yes, I'm curious as to what you
rulemaking process. Now the reality is that -- how you envision that process would
in the world of administrative law making, look like, if there would be alternatives, if
there is regulatory creep from a number of  they would be staggered -- about what that

directions and it's not always contained process might be.

through the formal rulemaking process and MR. BARAN: I'll be glad to

it's fundamental to the way that respond first. Our approach was bifurcated

administrative agencies operate. in the following fashion. Number one, we
But a key sensitivity to that, | think that part of this problem can be

think, is required and so what we're calling addressed by adopting formally those
on the agency, in our comments, to do isto  criteria as to the sufficiency of a complaint

raise the awareness that we sometimes so that you basically return a complaint that

perceive expectations articulated to us that  simply doesn't meet that criteria.

sound very much like an expansion of Now that presumably would be a

existing rules, so the new standards of very prompt response if that were the case.

liability are not processed in the ordinary ~ You get a complaint in here. Within five

course, as we would see it, not with days you determine it's insufficient. You

opportunities for us to participate in return it to the complainant. If need be,

commenting on what's emerging. you make an announcement, the complaint
VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN: was not accepted without prejudice.

That's all I have for right now. In terms of a motion, we focused
CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank further on the process in the following

you. Commissioner Bauerly, any fashion. Number one, the Commission

questions? under the procedures has a right to accept a

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:  complaint, review the complaint, review
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My question is, the respondent's response and then
each of you commented on motion practice determine whether there's a reason to

and the area that 1'd like to discuss in a believe a violation has occurred.
little bit more specificity is with respect to We all know that that is simply a
the suggestion of a motion to dismiss or threshold decision to initiate some inquiry
some very early-on dispositive type to get more facts. And as the Commission
motion. itself has recommended to Congress, that

I think it addresses one of the terminology is bad, reason to believe. In
concerns you raised, both Mr. Bauer and fact, it imparts to the public that there has
Mr. Baran, about the complaint gets the been some formal determination of guilt
headline and the dismissal comes much and the Commission has recommended that
later. And if we're really arguing with that terminology be changed.
politically motivated complaints that don't But let's assume that that doesn't
have any merit, that are only politically happen. And so you have a respondent
motivated, as opposed to perhaps with this reason to believe finding and at

politically motivated and have substantive  some point, either because the respondent
merit, it seems to me that there is a tension  receives the explanation of the basis for the
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reason to believe finding, with the factual
determination, and the respondent says
well, this reason to believe finding was
based on a misunderstood predicate. We'd
like to file a motion to the Commission to
reconsider that finding because they went
off into this direction.

We think that a motion would be
appropriate, for example, under those
circumstances. And secondly, as | testified
six years ago, there also is perhaps an
opportunity for a motion, an appropriate
motion, when the Commission, after
having found reason to believe, and then
for whatever reason decides to take no
further action in that case, for the
respondent to file an appropriate motion
and say we would like you to reconsider
your reason to believe finding because
perhaps you have found that it's invalid, it's
unsupported after acquiring some more
information.

So those are two circumstances
where we think it would be appropriate for
a respondent to have an opportunity to file
a motion and for the Commission to
provide for such motions in its regulations.

MR. BAUER: 1 think both those
suggestions are constructive. | think that
there are -- there's obviously the danger, |
can see, from the regulator's point of view,
that you have a flood of motions coming in
and it complicates the good business of
actually processing a case to a conclusion
and you've referred to that by saying, you
know, if you give us a response, rather than
filing a motion, we might be in a better
position to actually get to the end of the
case. So | think that is certainly the case.

But | think as with any other
reform, you are going to test what works
and what doesn't. And so it seems to me
that beginning by identifying some types of
motions that you will entertain for
reconsideration, for dismissal, a motion
like the one that Jan suggested actually
wipes the slate clean, if there was no basis
for RTB as subsequently determined, so
that the respondent doesn't wind up quite
frankly having that reflected in the
television advertisement later, I think
would be helpful and I think it would have
a salutary effect on Commission practice
and | think it would also reduce some of
the unintended consequences of what the
agency does for political actors who kind
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of get bruised by this process and
unnecessarily tarred by it.

MR. BOPP: | think those are very
useful suggestions, but | see it as a way of
cutting short an investigation during the
reason to believe stage in order to reduce
the situations in which the procedure is the
punishment. Because right now it's really
hard to stop an ongoing investigation.
There's no actual direct mechanism and the
direct mechanism would be a motion to
dismiss or maybe more properly a motion
for summary judgment, as we experience in
civil procedure in federal court and state
court.

In other words, it's a way to stop
open-ended investigations because they are
not fruitful, and of course, those motions
are utilized in order for that very purpose in
court. Discovery is burdensome. It can be
a punishment itself. You need to pass
certain thresholds in order to do that and |
think that the -- I think people would
benefit and the Commission would benefit
by cutting short investigations that are
obviously not fruitful.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Okay,
at this time, let me call on Commissioner
Hunter.

COMMISSIONER HUNTER:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My question is
for Mr. Bauer. In response to something
Vice Chair Petersen asked you, you said a
little while ago that it's anticipated that in
administrative agencies, there will be
regulatory creep, but that the agencies
should have a keen sensitivity to what is
emerging with respect to civil law and that
sort of thing.

My question for you is, that seems
to make sense particularly for the defense
counsel who's involved in that matter. But
what about those who aren't -- don't have a
seat at the table, who weren't provided an
opportunity to give comment for that issue
that's emerging, should that emerging legal
theory be then precedential on the rest of
the so-called regulated community?

MR. BAUER: Well that's
obviously one of the problems with having
rules start to sort of fully develop through,
for example, the MUR or the enforcement
process. | remember years ago when | first
practiced, as a matter of fact, it was in -- it
was one of the first cases | handled before
the Commission in '77 or '78, a particular

theory was advanced against an early client
of mine and the -- a then- member of the
General Counsel’s office, long departed --
by the way, not from this world, but from
the agency -- said to me at the time that --
when | expressed a surprise because | didn't
see any basis in the regulations for what
was being argued. He said well, the
conduct of your client has become grist for
the regulatory mill. Those were his exact
words, the conduct of your client has
become grist for the regulatory mill.

And the notion was, we're
educating ourselves about how people are
sort of finding their way around what
appears to be the barriers in the law and
this enforcement process is one of the ways
that we're doing that. We may come to a
conclusion that we can fairly say that even
though technically speaking you have a
defense, it's not an adequate defense and
for our purposes, we're going to try to force
a settlement.

That is obviously very dangerous
territory. | think when | say that -- and this
is a very large topic -- the Commission has
to be keenly sensitive to that. If it appears
that this is what has taken place, | think the
Commission has to step back and bring the
entire topic up for the regulated community
as opposed to, if you will, have a black
market of lawmaking develop where at
some point everybody wakes up and says
hey, we thought that X was permissible and
now it turns out through a rulemaking
process -- excuse me, through an
enforcement process, that actually it's
prohibited, and by the way, because it
emerges from the enforcement process that
X is prohibited, the actual contours of the
prohibition may not be terribly clear.

I mean, it doesn't emerge the way
a rule does and there's an awful lot of
uncertainty about how what the
Commission articulates in one enforcement
action is likely to be applied in future cases
with similar conduct. So | think the agency
needs to have a sensitivity that in a
particular area, sensitivity to the possibility
that it is engaged in setting to chart new
rulemaking paths.

And then the second point | made
was obviously for the purposes of that
immediate respondent who's facing that
sort of quasi-rulemaking activity around a
particular enforcement action, conducted
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through an enforcement action, that is
where this importance of due process
becomes so critical.

You actually got -- delays, but it is
crucial to the acceptance of what the
agency is doing that there be a sense that
the respondents are being fully heard and
not being sort of rushed into a position
where it has to accept because, for
example, it doesn't wish to litigate liability
based on rules that are essentially being
promulgated post-hoc.

COMMISSIONER HUNTER: If
I could follow up, so maybe I -- but how
would that affect -- so let's assume that the
agency is aware, they are keenly aware that
they are in unchartered grounds, that they
proceed and there is, let's assume,
sufficient due process and the defense has a
seat at the table and all those sorts of
procedures that you have taken care of;
we're still dealing with the situation that
there is some law being created in the
regulatory context.

MR. BAUER: Yes, and it seems
to me that the Commission needs
periodically to take stock of that and
initiate proceedings that the entire
regulatory community can participate.

COMMISSIONER HUNTER:
Okay. Thank you.

MR. BOPP: Can | comment on
that? | think it has to go farther that. |
mean, what Bob Bauer has described is
absolute antithetical to the First
Amendment. And this -- as opposed to
other agencies, this Commission operates
under the strictures of the First Amendment
because if you are being subject to a
proscription by law because of your
conduct that you don't know about and
you're just getting hammered post -- you
know, ex post facto, and in some cases,
post-hoc as well, that chills political
speech.

There's a First Amendment value
that's at stake here and | think a classic
example is the use of the enforcement
mechanism to establish PAC status. | think
that's been a classic example that this
Commission -- has occurred at this
Commission. And then ultimately using
conciliation agreements as precedent for
rules of law that are now going to be
applied in 2008 and 2010 and whatever.
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Number one, it chills political someone in the bar come in and actually
speech and number two is its inherent want to rely on Furgatch.
complexity, that is, people like Bob or Jan But it touches on an area that you

may know about this regulatory creep and  know is near and dear to my heart, which is
can advise people, that people that don't bringing greater transparency to the penalty
hire them -- and of course that throws just ~ system. You have recommended that
another blanket of chill on everybody's drawing on Furgatch when imposing
activity. penalties, that we make clear how we are
Well gee whiz, something can be  considering each of the four factors that are
happening out there we're just not familiar  laid out in that case, the good or bad faith

with, which means we're going to be of the defendants, the injury to the public,
hammered further. And I know in my own the defendant's ability to pay, the necessity
practice, how can a lawyer from Terre of vindicating the Commission's authority.
Haute, Indiana with a 13-member law firm And as you also know, I've been

and I have no clients in Terre Haute? It's  an advocate of actually publishing the

because people seek out experts and that whole penalty schedule. So I'm wondering

itself is a burden on the First Amendment.  how this suggestion interacts with that.
COMMISSIONER HUNTER: Would this be in place of publishing a

Thank you. penalty schedule? You think we should do
MR. BARAN: Can | briefly also  this or at least do this even if we don't do
add my two cents, which is that that? Or would it be something that we
enforcement is the worst vehicle to create would do in addition to that? Help me out
new legal principles because you're not here.
articulating the specific standards if you do MR. BAUER: No, it's a good
that, and number two, the object of question. I'm not even sure all my
enforcement basically on both sides is colleagues at the firm would answer it the
settlement. same way.
So you have respondents, a COMMISSIONER
respondent, or maybe a handful of WEINTRAUB: I'll ask them all.
respondents perhaps after an election, MR. BAUER: You'll have that

perhaps they've lost and they've got this opportunity. | think that at a minimum this
FEC enforcement case and they're basically makes sense, because we're dealing here
responding by saying what's it going to cost with how the penalty would be applied in a
me to get this off my back and hopefully I  particular case. | understand the agency
have enough money in my campaign fund  may confront other issues in determining
to pay you so you'll go away. whether its full set of sort of formal

Now that's not a way to enunciate policies and procedures for applying the
rulemaking and rules. The correct way is  penalties, the penalty schedule and the
the way that Jim has articulated which is criteria for applying them sort of
you have a rulemaking proceeding and then generically where they're making that

everybody gets to comment. Then the available, is acceptable.

Commission can publish a final rule that I know there are a whole host of

everyone knows what the rule is. issues -- articulated by Commissioners over
MS. HUNTER: Thank you. time about publishing the penalties, the
CHAIRMAN WALTHER: At actual sort of whole process that you have

this point, let me move through the internally for applying penalties. But at

Commissioners if | can. Because of time  least in the individual case, | think having
limits we only have 20 minutes left. It's some -- and over time by the way, that will
moving along pretty fast. Commissioner help people sort of somewhat decide for
Weintraub? your penalty schedule, | assume, or your

COMMISSIONER penalty process, | assume, having some
WEINTRAUB: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. explanation of how it was arrived at in the
It's déja vu all over again, gentlemen. Nice particular case.

to see you. | wanted to ask -- | can't resist I think a measure of transparency
asking you, Mr. Bauer, about your citation  would be greatly appreciated. There are a
of Furgatch, which is so unusual to see lot of questions about how the Commission
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winds up arriving at one number rather
than another and again, from the standpoint
of shoring up the agency's credibility on
these sorts of issues, just sort of having
people feel the processes -- they can touch
and that makes sense to them, | think that
would be a useful step forward.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: And would it -- and I'll
actually toss this one out to anyone who
wants to answer it -- would it make it easier
for us to conciliate if people actually
understood the basis of the penalties, if
they could see it in black and white?

MR. BAUER: In my view it
might cause -- panel members here can
obviously add if they will. My view is it
would because anything that reduces
appreciably the feeling that you are
dealing, if you will, out of the shadows, is
going to reduce some of the tensions that |
think can complicate the negotiation and
retard progress toward a settlement.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Any of your colleagues on
the panel want to comment?

MR. BARAN: | think you can
look to your late filing penalty system and
ascertain how respondents react to that
compared to your regular process. You
have the flexibility to impose these
penalties. You have a very detailed
regulation that says if you do X, this is
going to be the penalty, this is the way we
calculated it, and so there is a sense of
predictability and a lack of any feeling that
the Commission is being arbitrary.

Now you have to reconcile the
desire of having predictable penalties with
the nature of the statute which says you're
supposed to negotiate and conciliate, which
suggests that there is supposed to be a back
and forth. It's sort of like purchasing a
house, I'll offer you this, no I'm going to
accept that and so forth.

But I think in general my reaction
after all these years is that it would be a lot
easier to have some published document
that articulates what the basis is for
penalties on the part of the Commission, in
lieu of requiring all of us private
practitioners to research all of your
conciliation agreements and try and discern
which cases are similar to the ones that
we're involved in and how were the
settlements and conciliation agreements
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resolved in those other cases and try and
put together a chart of what we think are
comparable penalties.

I mean, that's a lot of make work.
You probably have all that here internally,
so you might as well --

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: | hope.

MR. BARAN: -- share it with the
world.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: But you raise an
interesting issue which is does that then
interfere with our statutory obligation to
conciliate, if they publish a schedule and
say well, here are the penalties and then
we're forced to conciliate but we're going to
have to depart from the schedule?

MR. BARAN: You can always
conciliate without penalties --

(Laughter.)

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: And sometimes we do.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Mr.
Bopp, you can add to that.

MR. BOPP: No, | agree.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Commissioner, are you done?

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: 1 just wanted to, one
follow-up on the cost of doing business
argument, which is a counter argument that
is raised and has been raised by some of the
commenters, at least one of the
commenters of this proceeding, that if we
let everybody know exactly what the
penalty is, roughly what the penalty is, then
they will just kind of calculate that in as a
cost of doing business and it will not have -
- our penalties will cease to have a
deterrent effect.

MR. BAUER: First of all, it
depends on what the penalty is. Some
people will calculate the cost of doing
business and find it high. | also think -- |
don't think enough very good sort of
empirical work has been done on this, but |
really do think that if you have somebody
who is charged with writing the history of
federal campaign finance law enforcement,
which Jan has indicated he would like to do
in retirement, by the way, and we're
looking forward to that multi-volume
treatise --

MR. BARAN: Yes, exactly right -

MR. BAUER: --that you would
find that it is just -- it is a popular myth to
say that the agency over time doesn't have
an effect on how compliance practices
evolve and how organizations comply. It's
simply not true.

Look at the expansion of the
campaign finance law. | mean, since you
have the grumpy old men in front of you, |
can tell you we came to town in 1977.
There's no bar. Thirty-one years later,
there are a significant number of
practitioners and firms in this town and
what do they do? They advise people on
the federal campaign finance laws.

They do so because their clients
are trying to understand what the agency’s
expectations are and conform their
expectations -- conform their conduct to
those expectations. So | think this whole
cost of doing business, wrongdoers try to
figure out what they can get away with,
they pay the ticket and then they go about
doing what they're going to do, is a very
primitive picture of how things operate in
the real world.

I'm sure you can find examples of
it, but I can give you my impression that
the examples of the opposite far outweigh
them.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Do
you agree?

MR. BARAN: | agree --

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: About Washington?

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: The
three nods from three grouchy old men.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: 1 just want to compliment
Mr. Bopp on his font, 14-point font, very
nice.

MR. BOPP: It's the only way |
can read it.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Commissioner McGahn?

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Thank you. I'd like to shift topics and then
come back to some of the discussion we
had on RTB. But before we get to the RTB
threshold, a lot of cases come out of Audit
or out of internal referrals and that sort of
thing and we read your comments, there's
some common themes there.

Audit is a division that has to do
quite a bit. It has to look at the public
financing of presidential campaigns, which
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is one sort of standard. It also has to look
at private campaigns, which some would
argue may be a little bit different standard.
The one theme I've seen pop out of the
comments is the notion that maybe some
sort of hearing in the audit stage would
make sense because inevitably an audit has
to audit the campaign through some sort of
legal lens.

The question really isn't so much
that there has to be some legal lens but who
decides the legal lens and then when? And
I think we've all seen situations where an
audit report comes through and there's a
disputable question of law. Without sort of
spending all the time talking about what is
the problem, I think we all see that that is
something that no one really wants to have
happen.

How do we correct that and --
well, first, do we need to correct it? And
two, if we think we do need to correct it,
how do we -- how do we ensure that Audit
is not being seen as doing things other than
auditing? They need to do their job and it's
sometimes troubling that they get blamed
for essentially doing their job on some
legal framework that is fuzzy, which is
much more to blame to me of others in the
building, not necessarily the auditors.

So any thoughts on audit? Why
don't | start with Mr. Baran, who has been
through some audits.

MR. BARAN: | can tell you that
from my experience, | really don't enjoy
representing clients in audits. | can recall
when the audit of the 1988 Bush Campaign
was completed and we had a very thorough
meeting with your highly professional and
qualified auditors for about three hours
sometime in 1989 or 1990, and after
listening to all the recitation of all the
issues that came out of that audit,
notwithstanding our years of trying to
comply with all your rules, | just got up
and said, can we take a break? The one
reaction | had was, thank God, we won.
Because | can't imagine going through that
process having lost.

In terms of the legal issues that
come up in the course of an audit, my only
suggestion is that if there are disputed legal
issues, they really ought to be referred to
the General Counsel’s office for separate
consideration, which | think the
Commission is able to do in the course of
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its powers to consider from internal
information whether or not there is a
violation of a legal issue that needs to be
pursued. If there's a potential violation, it
goes through the MUR process. If there's a
disputed legal issue, it presumably goes
into the rulemaking process so you can
resolve the legal issue, if that's the problem.

I think the danger with trying to
do it in some other fashion through the
audit procedure itself is that it encumbers
the audit report. It creates issues that
should be resolved in other proceedings
and it probably makes it much more
contentious and problematic for both the
Commission and the persons or
organizations being audited.

MR. BAUER: | agree with those
comments.

MR. BOPP: To take it a little bit
further, 1 would say that it's almost literally
impossible for any campaign or PAC to
comply with FEC requirements. If they
were -- and if audited to the degree that |
have seen on some occasions, wanting to
see every check of every donor over the
last X number of years, which is often
hundreds of thousands, that a -- that the
rules have become so difficult and complex
and the time frames so narrow and
demanding that an organization that wants
to conduct its activity in an efficient and
cost-effective manner cannot comply, and
that the cost of compliance is nearly
prohibitive.

So | think what the audit process
has shown in addition to your point, which
is a very valid one, I think that it has
demonstrated that the complexity of the
record keeping and reporting requirements
have reached the point where very few
entities can ever be expected to pass a real
thorough audit.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Which transitions to the step before you get
to Audit, the Reports Analysis Division.
Mr. Baran, you had quite a few comments
about some things. Again, it hits a theme
that seems to go across party lines and
what law firm you're with, but the notion of
-- reports and this notion of “please
confirm that your report is correct as filed”
and that sort of thing, could you elaborate
on that a little bit?

MR. BARAN: We focused on a
couple of issues. And by the way, there are

many, many inquiries from Reports
Analysis which correctly and reasonably
point out discrepancies of somebody's
report. You've got one total figure reported
in one report and that figure changes in
your next report, can you please explain?

That's not what our comments
were directed at. What our comments were
directed at were those two occasions in
which RFAIs are sent out, which don't
seem to be based on any discerned
discrepancy with the complaint or which
are sent out with an inaccurate premise.
The two examples that we provided in our
comments was number one, the habit of
RAD, the Reports Analysis Division,
sending out inquiries to all committees on
some periodic basis, perhaps every year or
every other year, that asks the committee
repeatedly over the course of many years,
please confirm that what you have said in
your reports is accurate.

There's no suggestion that there's
any contradiction or inaccuracy internally
with the report, but just kind of please once
again, that apply, that you don't have
certain administrative costs, for example.
So that -- we don't understand the reason
for that. It alarms committees who get this
in large part because the, again, regulated
community -- | use that term with some
trepidation having heard Jim -- knows that
part of your mysterious audit criteria is
RFAIs, and a number of RFAISs, they go
out to these reporting committees and so
the treasurers get all freaked out and they
say well we're getting these RFAIs and
they don't seem to be pointing to any
problem in our report and they're just
basically asking us to respond again, which
we will gladly do with some burden or
inconvenience that we have. On the
record, everyone can see there is an RFAI
which was not prompted apparently by any
mistake.

And the second type of inquiry
that we pointed out in our comments was
one which was based on an inaccurate
premise. In this recent election, several
committees received inquiries based on the
making of a contribution allegedly after the
primary date of a Louisiana election, even
though that Louisiana election date was
subsequently postponed, as announced
elsewhere on the Federal Election

11

Commission's website, to a later date
because of a hurricane.

Once the recipients of these
inquiries from Reports Analysis called up
their analysts and said well, our
contribution is valid, it wasn't made after a
primary date because the primary date was
changed, so therefore, your question was
inaccurate based on the Commission's own
information, they were instructed, you still
have to respond.

And again, the committee says
well oh my God, we've got an RFAI here,
it's going to be part of your audit criteria
and it shouldn't have been sent out in the
first place and Reports Analysis wouldn't
retract the letter or the inquiry as well.

So | don't know what the
resolution to any of those issues are.
Perhaps calming people down and saying
well, don't worry about these redundant or
inaccurate requests, they don't affect
whether or not you get audited is one
answer. The other is, is there a procedure
in which these types of inquiries can be
retracted? But they are causing some alarm
and confusion in the community.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN: Is
there a concern that audit points are being
accumulated for these sorts of requests that
don't seem, based on your comments, to
have a statutory or regulatory basis --

MR. BARAN: Absolutely,
because the community believes that one
basis for an audit is the frequency and the
nature of these so-called RFAIs. Thatis a
concern, especially when they don't believe
that the inquiry is warranted in the first
place.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
What -- in your experience, what is the
course of action that if you are in a
situation where you feel like maybe there's
been some audit points assessed that maybe
shouldn't have been assessed and you end
up in an audit and that sort of thing and you
think that maybe there was some -- there's
no procedure, motion or anything where
you can actually get to the Commission
currently, correct?

MR. BARAN: Correct. Well, we
don't know what the audit criteria are to
begin with. That's not shared. I'm not
suggesting that that ought to be shared. It's
not necessarily something that has to be
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publicized. The Internal Revenue Service
certainly doesn't.

But it seems to me that this issue
is one for internal review by the
Commission to examine the circumstances
under which these types of letters are going
out, perhaps categorize them so that they
don't wind up being sent out if they are
inaccurate, number one, and number two, if
they are sent out, don't incorporate that into
your audit criteria, whatever that
mysterious standard may be.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: | have
a question. We have five minutes left.
Commissioner, are you done?

COMMISSIONER McGAHN: |
guess | am now, yes.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: My
questions will be short. Go ahead. Go for
it.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Mr. Bopp --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: --
back.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
What's precedent and what's not precedent?
Is there such a thing as a precedent in the
administrative world? Let me come at it
from a different perspective. | agree that
merely because one settles a case should
not create a binding norm on the next
fellow who comes through because there's
all kinds of reasons why. You can't
necessarily make new rules of law that then
people are supposed to know about because
they go through MURs on our website,
which now, post-AFL-CI10, should be
redacted, but which contained not a lot of
information.

So now looking at old MURs, or
at least more recent MURSs that have gone
through the AFL-CIO-style scrub,
sometimes is -- it's easier to sort of
ascertain the future from the Quatrains of
Nostradamus than figuring out what a
certain MUR means because of the
redactions.

But you have a situation where
there is a statement of reason and you
mentioned those are not -- those are not
precedent. But let's say you have a
situation, and I'm thinking of a couple
different cases, where a certain fact pattern
comes before the Commission and the
Commission maybe rejects a Counsel’s
recommendation unanimously. I'm

thinking of the case where it's a solicitation
of soft money by federal officials on the
website of a gubernatorial candidate.

There was a contribute link and
then the solicitation actually occurred on
the next page once you went through the
contribute page. There's a 5-0 statement --
a 5-0 vote for -- four people joined a
certain Statement of Reasons. Does that
create a new rule that then the regulated
community or those who are not political
committees and that are not yet regulated
or do not choose to be regulated so thus
they're not in the regulated community, is
that now a binding norm? That's actually
the distinction I'm hearing.

I mean, when you argue about this
on a campaign, you're a political committee
already, so the regulated community tag
doesn't offend. When you represent
primarily grassroots organizations, you
don't want to be regulated. But anyway,
does that create a binding norm that now
folks can rely on and say this is now a
permitted course of conduct that we can act
on this and this is something we can take to
the bank?

MR. BOPP: No. No, and |
certainly wouldn't advise a client to rely
upon it, that sort of development. Under
the law there's only two things you can rely
upon. One is the statute and regulations
and the second is if your fact pattern fits a
safe harbor that has been adopted through
an advisory opinion.

Those are the only things that you
have legal -- you can rely upon legally. Of
course, the Commission, through changes
of persuasion or changes of personnel, their
approach is varied on all of these issues
historically and I'm, of course, aware of
many of those changes.

So no, and though I do think that
the Commission seems to think that we
ought to view it that way to a certain
extent, | think that's erroneous. | think the
Commission should be very forthright in
saying that they -- that these do not create
precedence, that unfortunately the opposite
is true.

MR. BAUER: Chairman Walther,
do you mind if | --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Nota
bit.

MR. BAUER: | apologize. |
couldn't disagree with Jim more. | think if
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-- and that's one of the reasons why I'm
worried to some extent that this whole
discussion does wind up getting
oversimplified.

It seems to me, number one, in the
ordinary course and the course of the
enforcement process, there are going to be
decisions reached which may not be
technically precedent, but they are going to
be viewed as setting up standards of
conduct or setting out for this prohibited
zone, and they're going to be read that way
by the regulatory community, they should
be read that way by the regulatory
community, they should have an impact on
how they conduct themselves.

Obviously as these standards
develop, the agency has to be sensitive to
the potential that there's been significant
new rulemaking in an area. That is to say,
when | say rulemaking, I'm talking in the
fashion in which you were just describing
the 5-0 vote, that is to say, it has some
effect on how people view where the law is
going and they -- the Commission may be
at that point, 1 think, well advised to look at
-- starting to look more formally and
systematically what they're doing through a
rulemaking process.

But | don't see how | can't tell my
clients if you reach a judgment on a
relatively simple set of facts -- and by the
way, | recall that MUR very clearly,
because | had a client, as a matter of fact --
I commend you for your sense of decision-
making in the process.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN: |
was not here.

MR. BAUER: That's true. Now
that | think about it, it could have turned
out differently. But in any event --

(Laughter.)

MR. BAUER: But in any event,
my --

COMMISSIONER McGAHN: 1
guess it would have been 6-0.

MR. BAUER: Exactly correct.
But | think that there is something there
that the Commission should prescribe to
that I think is meaningful and I'll just -- |
believe whether it's a 5-0 vote to enforce or
a 5-0 vote to decline to enforce, it's a
meaningful event and it clearly constitutes
what Commissioner Hunter referred to as
sort of regulatory creep we're starting to see
evolve.
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I close with simply a comment
that Jan Baran made in my presence many
years ago when Commissioner Aikens was
here and the Commission decided that the
Commissioners would issue Statements of
Reasons, which was brand new, and we
were chatting about this with
Commissioner Aikens and Mr. Baran said,
I'm going to open up new -- a new three-
ring notebook, meaning I'm going to start
collecting Statements of Reasons and
putting them in a three-ring notebook.

Why would he put together a
three-ring notebook? Because he was
going to advise clients on the basis of what
he read in the Statement of Reasons.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
The point of my question was not the
Statement of Reasons versus a new rule.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Our
time is up too, so let's -- the answer will
have to be pretty quick, because we only
get a five-minute break.

MR. BOPP: | think the problem
with the approach of Bob is two things.
One, you do have a way of announcing a
rule. If the Commission is unanimous,
adopt a regulation and then everyone would
know it. You wouldn't have to go
searching through Statements of Reasons.

But the other thing is, is that
makes -- Statements of Reasons become
meaningful then in terms of future conduct
of people potentially subject to the law.
That makes this inside baseball. In other
words, you have to hire expensive D.C.
counsel in order to find out if you can
mention a candidate’'s name. You have to
hire expensive D.C. counsel if you want to
talk about issues.

Let's say that you're in 2008
election and some are going to rely on this
tax status thing and ran screaming from our
democracy and be fearful that they'll be
hammered as a PAC, but the insiders know
there's been a change on the Commission
or Statement of Reasons or a General
Counsel report that means that actually you
can do it now, as has been suggested
apparently by some Commissioners that
there's been a change in enforcement
position.

That couldn't be a worse possible
situation when you're talking about the
First Amendment and the involvement of
300 million people in our political system.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you, Mr. Bopp. We're out of time. Let me
ask the General Counsel and the staff, the
staff director, if you have any quick
questions. We'll need to make it quick
because it's important to stay on time. Ms.
Duncan?

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. | do have just a few quick
questions. Welcome to the panel.

I wanted to follow-up and explore
a bit more the conversation that we've been
having about motions and your
recommendations to expand the
Commission's motions practice. If the
Commission does decide to expand its
practice, given the five-year statute of
limitations and the limited resources of
OGC and the Commission, how would you
as regular practitioners before the agency
advise the Commission about preventing a
culture of motions practice? And by that |
mean a culture in which it becomes
standard to file every motion because your
clients expect you to file every motion
because your colleagues are filing every
motion that might be available to you?

The second part of that question,
and perhaps you can answer it together, is
if in fact again, the Commission adopts an
expanded motions practice, would you be
supportive of an aspect of that practice that
required consultation between respondent's
counsel and the Office of General Counsel
prior to the filing of motions so as to
narrow the issues or to even come to a
determination that the motion is
unnecessary or could be unopposed?

MR. BARAN: | would --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: I'll
remind you of time.

MR. BARAN: Yeah. | have two
quick responses. One is that of course
anything you try in this area | would
recommend you do it on a trial basis, just
like you did with your hearings for
probable cause and see how it works. But
secondly, | think that there would be a time
for motions that could be specified in the
consultation with Counsel’s office, | think
would be fruitful. Whether it needs to be
mandatory, | would want to think about
that.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Mr.
Stoltz?

MR. STOLTZ: I'll --
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CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Mr.
Bopp, do you have a quick response?

MR. BOPP: Yes, a quick
response. First is if you have higher
standards for finding reason to believe,
you're going to reduce the number of
investigations in which you'll have to deal
with motions. So I think those two go hand
in hand.

The second thing is, is that
motions do cost money to be -- by clients,
so | don't see them being done frivolously.
And the fact if they are successful in
terminating an investigation, actually there
will be time freed up rather than pursuing a
fruitless investigation, that there will be
time freed up by the General Counsel’s
office to deal with more pressing matters. |
think there's cost savings on both sides of
this.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you.

MR. BARAN: Even though legal
fees in Terre Haute, | understand, are as
high as those in Washington.

(Laughter.)

MR. BAUER: Mr. Walther has
pointed out he doesn't have any clients in
Terre Haute.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: I'm
going to just -- I'm going to ask you two
questions, but I'm not going to have time to
get answers. One of the questions | have is
we do move from investigative stage to an
adversarial stage at some point.
Unfortunately, the statutory guidance is not
clear when that takes place. We feel -- we
need to believe that privately it would be
closer to the adversarial moment, but as a
practice in the Commission, we're just
beginning the true investigative stage.

I'm wondering if some -- written
comments afterwards if you might consider
when that best moment might be, whether
it could be more clear notice around the
adversarial stage. | can see a 12(b)(6)
motion early on just to test the merits of
what they're facing, maybe shortly after the
response from the respondent. But then
you get to the -- motion -- in an adversarial
stage after the Commission has already had
a chance to do some investigation. So |
welcome your comments -- any comments
on that.

The next question | would have is
a couple of you have made motions -- to
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the Department of Justice anymore than
you should. There should be a lot of clarity
between the relationship between the
Commission and the Department of Justice.
I've had the experience of meeting with the
Department of Justice during my first term
of 25 months and you know, there is --
time to report knowing and willful matters
to the Department of Justice.

This is a big thing. What level of
proof must we really have at that time?
The Department would like to know as
much as they can or if they can, but in
fairness, when do we do this? 1'd welcome
your comments on that because we do need
to meet again with the Attorney General
and begin a fresh comment period on how
to address this issue and to look at a
Memorandum of Understanding that serves
the test of time, that could be approved.

In my book, at that point, if we
think we're about to turn it over to the
Department of Justice to let the counsel for
the respondent know, by the way, anything
further you say may be used against you, is
not here or there. I'm not sure we do a
great job at that. Those are comments that
I have.

Finally, | want to thank you all
very much for being here. It's been a great
conversation and discussion. | wish we
had more time, but we don't. The written
final comment period, if you've got more to
say after you're here, | will listen to
comments -- so thank you very much.

(A brief recess was taken.)

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: I'd
like to begin. We'll resume our hearing and
thank you very much for being here. We
had a very good and interesting
conversation with three panelists and we're
going to do the same with you. It's great to
have you here, our former servants of the
FEC.

We have Mr. Joseph Birkenstock,
former Commissioner Mason, David
Mason, and Scott Thomas. | didn't tell
Scott Thomas that | had the privilege to be
in his office and I have the same 30-year-
old lampshades when you started here, the
same 30-year-old television set, the same
30-year-old couch and so if you walk in
there, you'll just be like old home.

MR. THOMAS: Old home, that's
good to know.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Let's
get started. We'll start first with Mr.
Birkenstock.

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: First,
thanks. | certainly appreciate the
opportunity to come and share some
perspectives. 1'm not going to go through
an extensive prepared set of -- the topics,
mostly just not to reiterate what I've
already submitted in writing and certainly
to save some time.

The areas in which | focused, |
chose primarily because one of the
concerns that I've had from the outside
looking in with the FEC is that the
etiological battles sometimes overwhelm
some of the trees, so to speak. Some of the
smaller items can kind of get lost a little
bit, I think, in the kinds of topics that
maybe Jim Bopp was kind of going
through earlier.

The really large First Amendment
questions, important as they are, kind of
leave to the side sometimes some smaller,
more technical changes that could make a
lot of progress. The two that | had in mind
are the two that I kind of singled out, this
idea here's the advisory opinion process
and a little bit of predictability, particularly
at the end of an enforcement action.

Just really quickly to recapitulate,
what | had in mind with the advisory
opinion hearings, and those of you who
have been on the practitioner side can
identify with this, is really a singular
experience to sit in the audience as your
questions are being discussed, knowing the
answers very often to some of the questions
that are being posed among the
Commission, and yet be in a position to be
kind of --the potted plant, as Brendan
Sullivan would have put it.

I think a hearing of some kind,
and I'm going to reoffer at least some
perspectives of what that might look like,
but the overall idea is that particularly for
those requests -- and | really am kind of
drawing on the VoterVoter experience in
particular -- there's a lot I think could be
gained from real dialogue between the
Commission as a group and the requester
individually.

I think OGC serves a critical
function and it serves it well in taking those
first cracks at it, you know, the draft and
the fact gathering process, but there's
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certainly a lot left to be discussed. | think
an opportunity for questions and
perspectives to be shared directly from the
Commission and with the requester would
only add, I think, to the process. It would
make it a little more thorough, make sure
that issues are not overlooked.

| think it would also help from the
requester's perspective to really get near the
window into the thinking of the
Commission. The actual opinion that
comes back is obviously what binds, but it
can be a bit of a black box, frankly, to look
at this from the outside and wonder why
did we get the result that we got? Was it a
balance of these competing pressures? Did
one just overwhelm the other? What was
really part of that?

| think a hearing on the record
with the opportunity for other commenters
to comment, disagree or agree or what have
you, | think would add a lot to that process.

On the enforcement piece, there's
sort of been a very technical, | actually
think, kind of small scale changes that |
think the Commission might not appreciate
what a difference it can make to a
respondent in an enforcement action. But
the very end of the process, what happens
in almost every instance, is that the
conciliation agreement is worked out with
OGC. lItexists. You more or less expect
that to be the outcome that you get, but it
becomes kind of a black box again.

It becomes this--we just don't
know. We think it will come up on this
date. It may get kicked down the street a
little bit. All of that process is, | think,
perfectly fair. The institution needs to have
the flexibility to take these things up when
it gets there, but from the respondent's
perspective, this is not a court. This is not
the kind of thing that's out to a jury that
needs to deliberate and think things over
and they may come back guilty, they may
come back not guilty.

More, | think looking at just a red
light, green light judgment on a pending
consideration agreement, the timing of that
I think could be better shared with the
respondent. They could get, | think, some
slightly more formalized sense that we
expect this conciliation agreement to come
up on the Tuesday meeting. You will be
notified if it doesn't.
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Once it's approved, we in practice
tend to get very good courtesy notices from
OGC about what the conclusion is and
when it's been reached. But it is a courtesy
notice and | think for the business
managers sometimes that represent these
respondents, that just doesn't cut a lot of
ice. To say listen, we expect to get this
notice, is different than saying there's a
policy, there's some formalized process
from the Commission that will let you
know.

We will give you that kind of
notice. You'll not learn about this through
the press or your customers won't learn
about it. Your investors won't learn about
it. You'll get the chance to share this news
before people are finding out about it
through avenues that make them think
you're trying to hide something from them.

A couple other quick points that
I'll make that | didn't mention in my
remarks, the schedule of fines in the sua
sponte process in particular is one that |
think has left the sua sponte process really
not very attractive. It seems to me as a
practitioner that there are a lot of matters
that might be best addressed through the
sua sponte process, but without knowing
what that schedule is, the business
managers again or the clients are kind of
left thinking, I get the upside to some
degree. | get the -- we get to resolve the
uncertainty. We know that this matter will
come up rather than kind of waiting to see
if a complaint gets filed or something.

They really can't say with real
confidence exactly what that outcome is
going to look like. I think a schedule
would help incentivize the sua spontes in a
way that | think would be kind of helpful.

The final point | will make is
about MURs as precedent, which — the
earlier panel discussed that. How did -- the
dialogue about that between Jim Bopp and
Bob Bauer, | find myself agreeing with
Bob. The reason, I think, is that in any
instance where prior Commission decisions
are kind of unmoored, if they are not
precedent, for example, as | took Jim to be
supporting, | would find it extremely hard
to offer clients a lot of confidence about
whatever outcomes they could expect.

If these were kind of random data
points that didn't fit into any coherent
whole, if they did not, for example, have

some level of persuasive precedent at least,
I think the regulated community and the
clients | think that a lot of us represent
would -- | was thinking that as kind of
going from confusion to chaos. It's
difficult to know where things are going to
come out in the ordinary course if these
prior decisions, Statements of Reasons and
no outcomes have no precedential value
and | think we can be left really grasping at
straws.

But I'll conclude there and move
along.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. Mr. Mason, former
Commissioner Mason.

MR. MASON: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman and with all the other panelists, |
am delighted to be here. | hope what I've
written and have to say is of some
assistance to you.

I had one comment about the pop
culture reference | put earlier in my
testimony, so I'll start with that and that is
just do it. The point is that after 10 years
of going through this with Commissioner
Weintraub at one point and other
discussions about procedural changes,
looking back on that, I think you have a lot
more to lose by failing to act than you do
by acting, and that is, there are bad things.
You could change procedures and it could
increase the time it takes to process MURS
or you could end up with other problems.

But the natural tendency in a
bureaucracy and even more on a six-
member commission where everybody's
got an equal voice is to delay and to stick
by precedent. 1 think to the extent that you
can reach any consensus, you should go
ahead and make changes, knowing that you
can go back and change them later.

On a couple of the particular
points, | want to start on motions and a
couple of, I believe, Chairman Walther and
a couple other witnesses already referred in
some part to the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure, and what sort of occurred to me
after going through the process and the
questions about particular motions is that
what may be more important than the
particular motions you allow or provide for
is the timing and procedure for any motion.

So | suggest an analogy to Federal
Rule 12(b), which requires that all defenses
be joined in the first reply. That stage, |
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think, is roughly analogous to the RTB
stage and so | think if you said yes,
respondents can propose to dismiss or can
offer whatever other motions they want to
offer and they should offer them with their
reply.

And by the way, if it gets that far,
you're going to have another chance at the
response to the probable cause brief. By
concentrating the motion practice on those
areas where the Commission already has to
have them out or before it, | think you
avoid potentially creating procedural
hurdles or barriers.

I do suggest that you leave some
room for people to put in motions at other
times, but you describe them as
extraordinary and not try to predict every
circumstance in which they might come up.
| think the description of extraordinary and
the notice that you would allow them will
let people who aren't insiders know well,
okay, you can at least try, but make it clear
that those would be exceptional rather than
normal.

| addressed in my testimony a
suggestion for how you might consider --
handle reconsideration motions at the RTB
stage by an analogy to the process that
already exists for advisory opinions and |
think that's a good one because it's already
there in the regs, yet it was rarely used in
the AO process because people who had
gotten opinions realized well, they already
had this before, then they considered all
this stuff and I've got to change somebody's
mind now and so they knew they had to
have a pretty good argument. So that
structure is out there.

I also think allowing for hearing at
AOs is a good idea and | would really
almost put it in two parts. There are some
advisory opinions which almost beg for a
hearing process and that is the issues are
genuinely new and uncertain in allowing
some kind of testimony, and perhaps even
allowing commenters to come for five
minutes or so and make a point might be
appropriate.

There's another set that Joe just
referred to which are the questions that
come up at the table and why can't we just
get the requesting counsel up here to the
table and ask them. | think you ought to
provide for both, and that is to say, I think
you ought to provide for hearings in some
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instances where the Commissioners think
they would be useful. And in other
instances | think where questions come up
and the counsel is present, you ought to
have a procedure where a Commissioner
can just ask and have them come up and
answer a question.

On penalties, | again addressed
that in the written statement. | just wanted
to address the cost of doing business
argument because that's prominent in
everyone's mind. In my experience, | don't
think that is a major factor in changing
people’s behavior. In fact, my observation
was it didn't matter how low the penalty
was, a penalty of any size was very
annoying to people. They didn't want to
pay it for a whole lot of different reasons
and so | don't think that by disclosing
something about the penalty structure or
schedule you would be giving people the
green light to go ahead and violate in one
particular area or another.

On timeliness, | want to
emphasize the utility of deadlines and |
suggested some particular ones for the
enforcement process and also for this
hearing and this structure, but in my
experience thinking back to when we had
statutory deadlines or judicial deadlines,
they almost always worked and that would
go to the AO process where we have that
60-day deadline and it's routine in that, or
to BCRA, which was a big tough job, but
we were able to meet that statutory
deadlines, or to judicial deadlines.

If you're concerned about time
limits, then the only remedy that | know of
is to impose deadlines and there's going to
be a certain degree of arbitrariness in terms
of the precise deadline that you choose, but
people will work to that deadline. If you're
concerned about that, | would recommend
it.

There was some discussion of
RAD inquiries at the earlier procedure and
I'd just make two observations about that.
One is there's no reason that | know of that
RAD RFAIs are published. They were
published starting early in the agency's
history at a time when everything was
published, so pre-AFL-CIO for instance,
and that was just the practice of the
Commission.

But I'm not sure what purpose is
served by the publication of the RFAIs. |

mean, there's certainly some public --
additional public information that's put out
there, but I don't think it's critical
information to people understanding the
process of filing. If that is one of the things
that's getting in the way of reasonable
resolution of those issues, then I think you
ought to consider whether or not that's
useful or not.

Second, and Commissioner
Thomas can speak to this, if he wishes, in
more detail, early in my tenure on the
Commission, the Commission considered
the RAD review process in detail at
Commission meetings every two years.
We stopped doing that at some point and |
wasn't sorry, because it was a lot of work
and a lot of detail.

But there again, and | don't know
what's been done in the last six months or
so0, but that may be one procedure that you
want to go through just to get a good grip
on, okay, what the standards are and how
they work.

I think that concludes everything
that | wanted to highlight and I'd be happy
to answer your questions.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER;:
Thanks very much. Mr. Thomas, former
Commissioner Thomas.

MR. THOMAS: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and members of the
Commission, thank you for letting me
come. | will apologize in advance. | have
a bit of a cold I am coming off of and | had
a contact lens malfunction yesterday so |
am wearing my goggles that are a few
prescriptions old and | can't see very well,
even with them on. | may not be all that
spectacular in my performance today.

You need to be congratulated for
undertaking this exercise. It's always good
to keep your eyes open and look for good,
new, fresh ideas.

I would just make initially a point
that | don't know how many times you're
going to hear it. But I think if | were to
rank your number one job, it would be to
try to make the law clear. If you make the
law clear, people will follow it as a general
rule, | have found, and indeed the clients on
this side of the world now, I've seen that
people are pretty much afraid of the law
and they do want to comply if they can just
figure out what the rules are.
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So that's the number one job. The
number two job, though, is to actually
enforce the law. You're always going to
have situations where some folks don't like
the law, don't respect the law, so that's your
job. You here are responsible for
representing the public in making these
laws work.

Number three, keep in mind your
role. This is something that I got into quite
a bit sometimes with my colleagues, but |
always felt our job as Commissioners was
to enforce the law that Congress passed.
Congress gets to make the laws and the
courts are the places where the
constitutionality is decided. So the FEC is
left with the role of enforcing the law as
Congress wrote it and if others want to try
to have parts of the law declared
unconstitutional, that's fine. They can do
that as a defense in enforcement cases and
in other forums, but the FEC should be
ready to defend the law as passed by
Congress and as written by Congress.

So that's the general philosophical
approach that I always tried to apply as a
Commissioner and | think it's constructive.
That keeps you in a proper role.

Motions and so on to reconsider, |
think if you agreed about the due process
concerns, my first recommendation is to
build on these kinds of motions, perhaps
more so than oral hearings. | might prove
the point today. Sometimes oral
presentations can generate more confusion
than clarity. The written word, with
unlimited thought, tends to be more precise
and you can, it seems to me, ordinarily get
across a point with clarity better with the
written word.

Oral presentations also, if you
think about it, have elements of favoritism
built in. Possibly you might find some
folks coming in trying to intimidate you.
Given their connection you might find all
sorts of efforts to basically lead you astray
in an oral presentation. So my preference,
if you're going to focus on due process
concerns, would be that you generate
opportunities for these written motions for
reconsideration at whatever stage you think
is appropriate.

Another point | wanted to make
initially is just that you're in for a lot of
criticism when you take the step to have a
hearing like this and I don't want you to
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ever lose track of the -- sight of the fact that proposal, you could probably help foster a

I don't think this agency really has any
history of showing bias in its prosecution.

I don't think this agency really has any sort
of history of staff hiding information from
Commissioners or not presenting
arguments to Commissioners.

I recall on some occasions we
would have an instance where it turned out
that maybe inadvertently a response from
the respondent had not been attached or
circulated in some fashion, but generally,
as you all know, the materials the
respondents submit are circulated to
Commissioners.

If I'm wrong, if there's a problem
there, then maybe you should focus on just
working out with staff to make sure that
nothing is withheld from you. That would
be a simple way to sort of address that
concern if it's in fact legitimate, but | don't
have a general sense that that is a real
problem. Yet you're hearing a lot of
criticism suggesting that somehow staff is
trying to hide the ball from you
Commissioners.

Bottom line, most of what you're
doing I think is perfectly good and okay. It
has developed over a long period of time
and you have a lot of bright people who
have come through and served as
Commissioners over time and on balance
you have all been very conscious of the
need for due process and fairness.

That said, this is, as | said, a good
opportunity to look for good suggestions.
Just off the top of my head, some things
that I didn't put in my little list that I've
seen in other comments or just thought--
making public a compliance manual. |
think that probably would be a good step,
make it available to the public, something
that summarizes the actual written
procedures along the enforcement road or
say the Audit road or the ADR road.

Most of that stuff you got up there
on your website; it's fairly well explained.
But things like motion procedure, if you're
going to go down that road, that would be
obviously something that would be very
helpful to have out there, any compliance
manual that's available to people trying to
represent respondents.

I think maybe you could go down
the road of trying when you send a letter to
someone with a consuming issue, a

sense of confidence that you've done
something rationally. If you tried to put
into those letters something that explains
the general factors that went into
calculating the civil penalty, | don't think
there's anything wrong with that because
people might appreciate knowing well, we
took into account the amount of the
violation, we took into account the fact that
this had elements of being knowing and
willful, if that's the case.

I mean, you could certainly do
those kinds of things that might help in that
regard. That wouldn't be the same thing as
just putting out there the actual mechanical
formulas for how you calculate your civil
penalties; I'm not in favor of that.

There might be some other things
you could do. | see from my side of the
aisle or from my side of the political
practice that you are kind of floating out
there not knowing where a matter is at the
Commission and maybe there could be
something done to every, say, 30 days,
have the staff have an obligation to notify
respondent's counsel maybe where things
are in a general sense.

I don't know if that will actually
solve any problems, but there's just this
sense of kind of helplessness and the
clients are always wondering where is my
case, where is my case and we never have
the ability to sort of find out other than a
phone call.

There might be something where
we could sort of get a little bit more
assurance and comfort level if that were
built in.

But anyway, those are just some
ideas. The one that | offer somewhat
hesitatingly is the old system, we used to
call it the MURquistion. That was a
process where we basically said okay,
cases aren't moving as quickly as we would
like, as people on the outside would like.
Let's let Commissioners identify cases that
they're interested in and ask that they be
brought to the table every so often. You
could do this on a periodic basis, however
you wanted to set it up.

At the same time, with your
priority system, you would have an
opportunity to have a discussion of those
cases that are starting to get stale within
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whatever definition you use for staleness
these days.

So you could sort of build in a
periodic review process and that sort of
helps everybody. The staff doesn't much
like it, but on balance, it sort of is a vehicle
for prodding everyone to bring all the
enforcement cases sort of into a general
sort of consensus discussion about what
ought to be moved and what maybe is
causing some problems in terms of delays.

So just an idea. Those are
additional ideas that | have. A couple of
them I haven't seen in the written
comments. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. I'm going to start -- maybe
we'll start -- a different approach this time.
Commissioner Weintraub?

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: | had a feeling you were
going to start with me. The reality is, |
don't actually have a lot to ask this panel
because | feel like I've had -- it's delightful
to see you, but | feel like I've had so many
opportunities over the years, particularly
with all due respect, Chairman, with Scott
and Dave, to talk through a lot of these
issues.

| am gratified, though, because on
the publication of the penalty schedule,
David and I started out in different places,
but I see you coming around to my point of
view on that, that perhaps a little bit more
transparency in that would be a good thing.
So | appreciate that.

I think you started changing your
mind right as you were about to leave, but
it was too late to do me any good. | got
one more vote before | could do anything
with it.

| do want to -- maybe what I'd like
to do right now is just take the opportunity
to say just very briefly a couple of
comments that arise more out of the
previous panel because -- and it sort of
follows off some of what you guys were
saying. In the previous panel there were
some comments about presumptions that --
sort of the notion that the staff all presume
everybody is guilty and that their job is to
prove them so.

I really -- and | know you guys
know this because you've been here. That's
really not what goes on. In fact, we put up
on our website -- and | have a pretty color
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chart that shows how often we actually do
find -- take no further action or dismiss. |
mean, | know for members of the bar, it's
the old feeling every time your case is up
there, you feel like everybody's out to get
you. But in fact, there's a whole lot of
cases out there that Counsel very
reasonably recommends that we take no
further action and usually the Commission
says yeah, you're right, and the numbers are
actually fairly striking on that.

I guess I'll -- Scott, you're the only
person I think in the entire panoply of
witnesses who's not really in favor of
publishing the penalty schedule, so if you
want to take on that cost of doing business
argument, I'll give you your shot here.

MR. THOMAS: Argument 37.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Right.

MR. THOMAS: Well, I won't
belabor it. 1 think that you could have a
blend, if you will, and it's sort of what |
alluded to in talking about maybe the
letters you send folks. If you wanted to
basically let everybody know, and it's
already pretty much out there in various
places, but let people know what factors
you take into account, the amount of
money spent impermissibly. You could
take into account the money that as a result
was impermissibly raised. You could take
into account the staleness of the matter.
You could take into account whether it was
a widespread practice, whether it was a
repeated practice.

You could sort of let out that these
are the kinds of factors that --

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Scott, | think you just did.
You let the cat out of the bag.

MR. THOMAS: Did I do that?
Can we have that tape? So, but anyway, |
think you could go down that road and you
could sort of let people have an
appreciation of the factors that have gone
into calculation of the penalty without
going so far as to sort of show percentages
and so on.

I mean, we all know that the way
you have to calculate the penalties involves
a lot of percentage work and so | think
there's a middle ground that could be
worked out, be very -- be beneficial to
people out there without going too far.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: --
Commissioner McGahn?

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Thank you. Mr. Thomas, your comments,
you mentioned maybe with respect to
motions and that sort of thing, instituting a
trial program on internal referrals where
you actually get a chance to file a brief or
do something before the RTB vote so you
don't receive a package in the mail that
says welcome to RTB.

Thoughts on that and if you could
sort of articulate why that may be a good
idea and then why there may be some
downsides, what we need to look out for as
far as efficiency and that kind of thing.

MR. THOMAS: Like all of these
suggestions that you either build in a
motion for reconsideration or an oral
presentation, this is one where if you build
an A step where before you get to the
reason to believe determination based on a
referral from RAD, you're going to give
some sort of written notice to the potential
respondents, it's going to slow things down,
I suppose. That's the downside.

And so you're just weighing
against the downside the benefits you
would get from that. And I think that --
again, with a trial program, you could test
it out and see. It seems to me logical that if
you give someone at least just a summary
notice that this is about to go to the RTB
process, you might be giving notice to
someone who up to that point has never
even had any counsel about it, so it gives
him notice that woe, this is getting worse
here, yes, maybe | should get some legal
advice, people who can help me figure out
whether or not there's some way to address
the Commission on the legal points and
maybe in terms of identifying the
appropriate mitigating factors that the
Commission historically is receptive to.

So, at a minimum, it might give
people a better chance to represent
themselves and of course, there's the
benefit to you. In some circumstances, it
gives you a chance to understand all the
surrounding mitigating circumstances.
Maybe there was a lousy treasurer. Maybe
there was some sort of reason that this
committee fouled up.

So if you can understand that
going in, it might help you fashion your
initial proposal for conciliation.
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MR. BIRKENSTOCK: May | add
something quickly?

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Sure. Thank you for asking.

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: On the
idea of -- | understand Scott's concern
about delay in the process, but I guess the
perspective | think that | have is that a
MUR can turn into a multi-year process.
Typically it does. Probably when it's any
real question or there's more contentious
fact gathering, something to be done and
some opportunity to have a two-week
opportunity, some window within which
you can do more than what | think happens
in practice, which is in the back and forth
with the RAD analyst, you try to kind of
nudge them along to say, now look, if
you're going to ask OGC about this, make
sure that they know A, B, C and D and you
kind of try to -- because you have no other
options, you just hope and | think expect or
hope really that there is going to be some
extra information brought into that
determination and only what RAD might
understand.

I think that's worth two weeks. |
understand the idea of the delay, but one,
these tend to be very large matters. | think
the kind of delay that this would introduce
on a percentage basis would be very small
and I think the bang would be worth the
buck, so to speak.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
My thought is, and see if this makes some
sense. You have an internal referral. That
paperwork’s already done, so regardless of
whether or not you allow a brief to be filed
isn't going to change that work being done
in that time. Counsel still has to prepare
some sort of recommendation. We still
vote on the RTB.

Those respondents in that situation
take the language in the cover letter that
says you can provide any materials within
15 days even though it really doesn't matter
at that point. It matters to sort of shaping
the case.

It's really just where you put the
vote. If you put the vote before or after
they get to file what they're going to file
anyway, and it's really just moving the vote
back two weeks. It doesn't seem to add
time to what's already -- the work product's
already going to be done regardless. It's
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just when the Commission actually pulls
the trigger one way or another.

Does that make sense timing
wise?

MR. THOMAS: 1 think that that's
true and so if you tailor it that way, | don't
really see that it would be a problem, and |
think there are enough benefits you can
probably -- you can achieve it.

You don't want to lose sight of the
fact, though, that if you're going to go
down the road and sort of formalize the
opportunity to have motions for
reconsideration, there's still after the fact, |
suppose, an opportunity for someone who
at that point gets word that they've just had
the FEC find RTB to file some sort of
response. But as you point out, you're
going to have -- you're potentially building
in an opportunity to get in essence that kind
of information beforehand and what's the
harm really in trying to get that kind of
information to help you if it's not going to
really create an extensive delay?

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Audits, Commissioner Mason, you
commented that a committee should be
given the opportunity to have some kind of
presence at maybe the final stage or
something. Do you think that would be
helpful and if so, why?

MR. MASON: | do thank you and
one of the things that came up in the first
panel, I think Commissioner Weintraub
addressed that and that runs through this
whole -- what's underneath the discussion
about due process is a desire on the part of
campaigns and parties and other people
who are affected by this process to feel like
they're being heard.

A lot of this suspicion about well,
you know, we send the brief into OGC and
they kind of hide it. Well, they don't hide
it. Commissioners get all of the paperwork
that comes in and | made a practice of
going through the files and | suspect most
other Commissioners do too.

So people are heard, but it's -- |
think it's relevant to the Commission's
consideration that you keep getting
feedback, that they don't feel like they're
being heard. In the audit process where
you have the Interim Audit Report, that's
the opportunity for the audited party to be
heard.

The legal issues that people are
talking about, that's typically what comes
up there. So you have Audit notifying
them and you have OGC review and you
have an opportunity in the response to the
Interim Audit Report for the audited
committee to be heard. So all this is going
on but the audited committee doesn't feel
like they've had a full opportunity, and |
think that's where something like a hearing
at the final audit stage could come in and
they could then come in and present their
case.

I know of at least one case that
ended up in a fairly sizeable enforcement
matter, and | asked the Counsel about it
later on because it was obvious to me
sitting on the Commission that the
Commission had reviewed this twice
during the audit and it had come to the
conclusion twice that yeah, what the
auditor said was sort of where the
Commission was on it.

They sort of fought it and it
degenerated into an enforcement matter
and it ended up with a big penalty of
something that could have been fixed in the
audit process at relatively low cost. So |
asked them later on, why -- you know, why
did you go this far? And the answer was
well because we didn't feel like we had
been heard.

So that was the suggestion and
again, with the -- 1 was a skeptic about the
hearing process because | thought too
many people would want hearings and
they'd take too long, and I'm persuaded by
the probable cause hearings that there's a
way to do it where not everybody asks,
where not everybody asks gets a hearing,
so there's a flaw in it.

But in fact, | think it's been very
beneficial and hasn't slowed the process
down unacceptably and I don't know why
you couldn't build that same process into
the audits at the Final Audit Report stage.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Thanks. Commissioner, are you ready for -
- Commissioner Bauerly?

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
Thank you. I'd like to discuss the
suggestion for hearings for advisory
opinions and | appreciate that because in
my own experience in a short -- relatively
short time compared to some of the folks in
this room, there have been times when it
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seems like we know someone knows the
answer, but we'd like to hear it from them.

But | also, if we were to
establish some sort of pilot, as | think the
Commission's general approach is, to start
with something small and see how it works
and make modifications and make bigger,
just thinking about the numbers of advisory
opinions that we do consider each year, it
fluctuates a little bit, but for example, in
2006, we had about 30. In 2007, we had
about 25.

I'm trying to understand how we
would fit a hearing into each of those cases.
At what stage do you think it would be
useful? Would it be at the public -- the
open meeting where the Commission
considers adopting a proposed advisory
opinion or would it be earlier in the
process? I'd be interested in your thoughts
on that.

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: Sure,
thanks. I think the first answer that | have
is making sure that you wouldn't. So for all
30 or 25 or 50, whatever number that you
have, it seems to me not all of those would
require really open-ended kind of hour-,
two-hour hearing. | think former
Commissioner Mason made a great point
about how if there is any opportunity just
to have the respondent appear at the open
meeting in which it's discussed, that seems
to me to have very little time or process.

But provided if you did need to do
something with respect to every AOR, that
at that stage just having availability only to
respond to questions perhaps but not to do
an independent presentation or kind of
open up process for the respondent to be
proactive, but only available so to speak to
answer questions from the Commission,
the idea that | had or that I find more
appealing is that any of those matters in
that subset of those 25 or 30, or whatever it
is, that really are the difficult, fully novel,
heavy lifting questions, it's up to the
Commission. If the Commission feels that
a hearing would be helpful, well then, there
you go. You have a hearing.

I think some level of open-
endedness is important such that the
respondent -- rather the requester is not the
only person whose perspectives are sought
or who are made available, but the
Commission could also choose among
commenters so that there could be other
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people appearing at that hearing only to the
extent they've already filed written
comments.

And again, | think from a process
perspective, you could streamline it by
having some requirement in it, but the
discussion at the hearing would be limited
only to those topics or arguments that were
already addressed in the written comments.

So someone trying to file maybe --
file is maybe an appellate court concept.
But this is not an opportunity to raise brand
new arguments and try to throw a wrench
into the timing of the works. But you had
an opportunity to address it in writing.

I think Scott's right that by and
large you can give more thought to what
you put into a written submission, but |
think also sometimes that means you get
less candor. You get kind of the finely
sanded version instead of what I think can
be sometimes a more productive top of the
head, back and forth kind of process.

So | think to narrow that down,
not every AOR needs a hearing and it
should be up to the Commission to pick
which ones it feels would benefit from it.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
Commissioners Mason and Thomas, |
would appreciate your thoughts on that as
well, from your perspective on both sides
of the table, if you have any.

MR. MASON: | think Joe has it
about right in terms -- and again, by
analogy to the probable cause hearing, that
not every probable cause brief gets a
request for a hearing, not every hearing
that's asked for is granted.

| think as a procedural matter,
because of the 60-day deadline, you would
probably need to have requesters ask for a
hearing when they put in the request,
because that's going to mean you're going
to have to move the deadlines, the internal
deadlines, back by 10 days or whatever is
going to be necessary to get that done.

But as long as the Commission
stays in control of the requests on which
hearings are granted, | don't think you need
to worry too much about having -- to
schedule 30 hearings a year.

MR. THOMAS: 1 agree. | think
it could be manageable and you could try it
as a pilot program. | think that probably
the main thing you would want to do is try
to limit the opportunities, those situations

where the Commission approves doing it. |
don't know that | would want to open it up
as a right of a requester to actually make a
presentation.

But you could open up as a right, |
think very easily, the opportunity for the
requester to be present in the event the
Commission has questions. That's kind of
what | -- most amusingly, one of those
instances where we would have some sort
of factual question and we could see that
counsel and the representative of the
requester is sitting there in the audience
and we sort of well, should we take a
break?

Then there would be some sort of
direction to the Counsel’s office to go talk
to the requester and the Counsel’s office
would then come back with, I've just gotten
it on good authority, and so we would go
through that little dance.

So maybe, as a pilot program, that
would be a very easy thing to do, just
suggest that respondents would be allowed
to respond to Commissioners’ questions at
a meeting where the advisory opinion is
discussed. | think that would be a good
step.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
As we've been discussing, deadlines are
sometimes important because it prompts
actual action. There are times when we are
up against that 60-day deadline, an open
meeting for which the advisory opinion
consideration schedule is sometimes very
close to that deadline.

If we have an incidence where we
allow requestors' counsel to provide us
with some answers that may change the
thinking on that, | would anticipate that we
might need some additional time at that
point. Is that, do you think, a valid reason
for asking and perhaps getting an extension
from requestors' counsel?

MR. MASON: Can | just point
out that if requestor's counsel are there to
answer questions, he would presumably --
he or she would presumably also be able to
discuss an extension right then and there.

MR. THOMAS: Yes, exactly.

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: | certainly
don't disagree. But one of the reasons |
wanted to choose this topic was again the
experience with the voter/voter advisory
opinion. The client, | think | can say, was
certainly pleased with the outcome and the
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substance of that opinion. But coming out
10 days before the election on a question
that really I think my first letter went in the
earlier part of July, was really not a
meaningful opportunity.

That was a business that | thought
had a really clever idea. It still has a very
clever idea. But the time that it took to
complete that request, you know, for a lot
of reasons that | think are legitimate and
understandable, they were left then without
a meaningful outcome. They were really
not given much of an opportunity to run a
business this year, based on how much
time it took.

I think the concern that | would
have is that what | would hope to do at
these hearings is shortcut that process and
actually try to get within the 60 days rather
than have this become something that leads
to additional rounds of drafting or
rethinking of things in ways that would
only add time.

So | think it's fair to say that the
Commission could ask for an extension as
part of that process, but | guess maybe I'm
just trying to kind of set out a marker that |
don't think it's unfair for a respondent to
say look, with all due respect, no, we just
can't afford an extension. We're entitled to
answers under the statute and we need one,
and leave it at that.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
I'm sure I'm out of time, but just one
comment on that. That's one of my
questions about where in this process,
because it seems to me given human
nature, we will be considering these close
to that 60-day deadline at the open meeting,
so if there is a hearing opportunity, that's
why | was asking about the timing of it.

It needs to happen early in the
process to answer factual questions which
necessarily affect -- may affect an outcome.

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: | --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We're
going to move forward. 1'm going to have
to --

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: Yeah, I'm
sorry.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Put it
there quick, please.

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: Which is
basically that | completely agree this
should not be a fact-gathering process.
Where | think this should be most useful is
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in those instances where you have
competing drafts, for example, and the
respondent -- the requestor rather, you got a
chance to make a comment about a
particular draft, but that gets less and less
meaningful as the back and forth happens
between the Commission and OGC and
some of those succeeding drafts you don't
get much of a meaningful chance to offer a
perspective on.

So it has to be at the -- | think, it
would be most efficient in the latter stages
of the process, not as a fact-gathering item.
If you can clarify one or two points, that's
fine. But I think it's most useful as a means
to speak to some of the issues involved in
these competing drafts.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Thanks. We'll move on to Commissioner
Hunter.

COMMISSIONER HUNTER:
Thank you. Quick question for
Commissioner Mason. It's the same one
that Commissioner Weintraub asked the
previous panel, which is how do you think
making the fine schedule public would
affect conciliation agreements, excuse me,
conciliation negotiations?

MR. MASON: The concern | had
and still have to a degree, if you made
everything public, which is to say, you got
a list of violations categorized and
percentages assigned to that and then
aggravating and mitigating factors and in
some areas that's far more developed than
in other areas. There are problem areas
that are probably never going to be fully
resolved, such as how you deal with the
substantive violations also triggered a
reporting violation, and whether you
double or stack a reporting penalty or sort
of put itin as a lesser included offense or
how you handle that.

But my concern about releasing
every detail is that the conciliation
negotiations could easily devolve into an
argument over the Commission's penalty
schedule and I think conciliation needs to
be focused on what the respondent did in
dealing with the Commission about okay,
was that okay or not and how bad of a
problem was it?

The suggestion | made is actually
a little bit different than what a couple of
the other panelists said and rather than rely
on factors which are still very fuzzy in a

multi-factor test, just leave the decision-
maker, the court, the Commissioners,
whoever it is, with a whole lot of
discretion, is to go ahead and say, okay, a
standard reporting violation is worth 90
percent of the maximum penalty.

That's not the number, but you get
my point, that to sort of put in a rough
level, and most of the time what the
Commission is dealing with are mitigating
factors. So most of the time the
Commission is going to be content with
something less than that and that would
give, | think, the respondent some
assurance that okay, this is -- now |
understand that when | commit this type of
violation, the Commission normally
considers 25 percent of the amount in
violation to be about the appropriate
penalty and they're giving us some credit
for good faith or whatever and so they're
asking for 20 percent and | feel good about
that.

I think that's where you want to be
and that's why the suggestion that releasing
the percentages that apply to different types
of violations might actually be helpful in
the conciliation process.

COMMISSIONER HUNTER:
Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Thanks. Mr. Vice Chairman?

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. First question
regards a motion for reconsideration at the
opposed RTB stage. Both former
Chairman -- former Commissioner and
Chairman Thomas and former
Commissioner Mason speak to that issue
and talk about the necessity for building in
procedural safeguards to make sure it
doesn't turn into a delaying tactic.

But first of all, let me just ask
what you think about the idea in general.

Is it a good idea to have that? Just to
betray my personal bias, it seems like while
it’s true that a respondent has an
opportunity to respond to a complaint, that
may not always be sufficient because then
what the Commission finds persuasive,
what facts or what legal theories they find
most compelling that they will then put into
their factual and legal analysis, can't always
be anticipated by the respondent and that
once they see that analysis, and | think as
brought out by Mr. Baran on the earlier
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panel, they may need to set the factual
record straight that there may be a factual
predicate in the factual and legal analysis
which is incorrectly stated.

So | just wanted to get your
thoughts and further opinions on having a
motion to dismiss or a motion for no RTB.
| think it could be styled in many different
ways, but the necessity and importance of
having that sort of a motion post-RTB?

MR. THOMAS: Mr. Vice
Chairman, | think that on balance it is
worth maintaining the practice. | think you
might want to put it in a form of a pilot
program. As a practical matter, | recall that
even for internally generated matters, the
Commission had found reason to believe
the letters say something to the effect, if
you wish to submit a response, please do so
in the next number of days.

In a way that's a kind of a motion
for reconsideration, so in the internally
generated process it's kind of there, I think.
But if you modified that for some reason
and taken it out, then I'd say do something
to allow that opportunity for a motion for
reconsideration if that's what it's styled.

In the complaint context, | noted
with interest a comment from the Center
for Competitive Politics. | hope I got that
right. Their suggestion is that the FEC is
being unfair because sometimes when it
gets to the reason to believe determination
it is -- its staff had gone out and looked on
the Internet and has looked in newspapers
and has gathered some additional
information to help the Commission
analyze whether to find reason to believe.

There's a suggestion that that's
somehow unfair, but that's the way to
resolve that. Your suggestion, an
opportunity to have a motion for
reconsideration after the reason to believe
determination | think makes that a fair
process.

I would caution against the
approach suggested by that commenter
though because | don't want the
Commission to shut itself off from
common knowledge. | don't want the
Commission to become known as the, I'll
try to stay away from an unfortunate
acronym, but the Federal Stupid
Commission. You don't want to do that.
You want to take advantage of information
that's out there.
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To be honest, the counsel for
respondents, they have access to the
Internet. They have access to the very
same data and research. So I think it's a
good balance if you build in this motion for
reconsideration in the complaint process
because it would alleviate that concern.

MR. MASON: | agree for pretty
much the reasons that you stated, Mr. Vice
Chairman, and also to go back to the point
that what a lot of this is about is giving
people assurance that they're being heard
and the formal process is what does that
and the assurance that even, for instance, if
the motion is not replied to, that it goes
through the Commissioners and that they
made a decision on it is a beneficial to add
to the process.

I do think that occasionally there's
a genuine degree of surprise that a
complaint was kind of vague and | agree
with former Commissioner Thomas that it's
fine to go out and look on the Internet or
the newspaper or whatever and it's true that
counsel's -- that respondent’s counsel had
access to that, but they may not even have
put it together.

In other words, the Commission
may have been making a logical link or
assumption that was not clear from the
complaint and so it's cases such as those
where | think the motion for
reconsideration could be useful, sometimes
almost necessary for fairness purposes and
sometimes helpful to the Commission
because what you may also find is that two
events or two facts that you thought were
linked somehow, and there's a simple
explanation out there and then it would
help you in the discovery process even if it
weren't enough to convince you to
reconsider at the start.

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
| appreciate that last comment you made
that how this -- how these can often help
the Commission out. There's been a lot of
concern raised, and | think legitimately so,
that building in additional motions could
result in delay, but on the other hand, in
many cases, it may actually build in
efficiencies by focusing the Commission
on the most relevant, factual and legal
issues that are in a particular matter. So |
appreciate that comment as well.

That's all I have.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you. Mr. Stoltz?

MR. STOLTZ: If I might explore
a little bit the Audit hearing concept, which
we've heard from several commenters, but |
would be very interested in some
observations from some folks that were
here for a long time and know the process
intimately.

At what point would you see it
happening, before the report's released,
after the report's released, more like the
Title 26 hearing process or something
different; if you could make some
suggestions?

MR. THOMAS: Well, Mr. Acting
staff director. Nice to see you. | would
say, generally speaking, you reserve the
hearing process for somewhere later in the
link, so | would say that it's most logical
that when you're coming down to it where
you're at your final audit stage and you're
having a deliberation on the final audit
findings, that would be where you would
offer someone an opportunity to send a
representative in and have a discussion.

The back and forth discussion is
helpful in some context. I've had some
experience with that. I'm not sure that
anything | said was really helpful, but if it's
helpful to Commissioners, | mean, that's to
me the most significant thing.

The Commissioners are the ones
who have the ultimate decision-making
authority. So I would say later in the
process, maybe during that meeting
discussion of the Final Audit Report is best
if that's going to be built in.

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: | would
agree that just before the final -- or after the
Final Audit Report has been prepared and
just before or as the Commission is
considering it would be the appropriate
place to build it in.

MR. STOLTZ: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Anything further?

MR. STOLTZ: No.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Ms.
Duncan?

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and welcome to the panel.

Mr. Birkenstock, | wondered if we
might explore a bit your recommendation
about advisory opinion hearings and |
wonder if you could comment on whether a
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hearing that might contemplate formal
presentations by advisory opinion
requestors might have the unintended
consequence of turning what I think is now
a semi-collaborative process between the
Office of General Counsel and requestors
into more of an adversarial process?

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: Certainly
a fair question. | think in candor I would
acknowledge that there's a possibility that
this can become an opportunity to leave the
collaborative stage and enter some kind of
disagreement stage.

I think, in balance, though, my
response would be that that's not unfair,
that if in fact there is a disagreement
between the requestor and OGC, it can be
honest and legitimate and sincere. | think
having an opportunity to air that and even
if you engage in a back and forth in front of
the Commission about that, | think is more
good than bad. 1 think it might, as you put
it, leave kind of a semi-collaborative
process to the side.

But | think at bottom maybe that's
the reason that this is necessary. Not to
kind of go too far with it, but one of the
concerns | had about the advisory opinion
process is that the role of OGC is really
paramount. It becomes up to OGC to get
that first bite of the apple and submit its
draft first and that can really, you know,
load the rest the process with an initial
perspective that can be hard to turn, a
super-tanker kind of analogy.

Once you get the inertia moving in
the direction of a draft, it can be hard to get
it changed. | guess what I'm driving at is
that I think for the community it would be
helpful to have an opportunity to get into
the engagement at that point, but again,
with OGC present. This is not outside the
existing process or a replacement of it; this
is kind of alongside the existing process.

MS. DUNCAN: Just one follow-
up to that question.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Sure.

MS. DUNCAN: Which is do you
know whether that kind of a process would
be consistent with the process that other
administrative agencies use when they are
considering a request for opinion and
issuing opinions?

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: That's a
good question. We didn't really look at
what other agencies are doing. We took a
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pretty hard look at the FECA itself to make
sure that we weren't suggesting something
to the Commission that it simply didn't
have the power to do.

We concluded that the
Commission does have the power to
incorporate these kinds of processes. But
the answer to your question is no, | really
don't know what other agencies do along
these lines.

MS. DUNCAN: If | might ask
former Commissioner Mason one question,
which is we've talked a bit more on this
panel about motions at the RTB stage, but
other commenters have suggested that there
might be motions even during the
investigative stage.

Your comment said those
motions, however styled, are occasionally
informative, but rarely useful. 1 wondered
if you might elaborate on that?

MR. MASON: The two types of
situations that I can recall that triggered
those sorts of motions effectively during
the course of investigation were a new
legal development, such as the
Millionaires” Amendment case and my
comment as to those is the Commissioners
-- the Commission is well aware when it
loses a Supreme Court case and
immediately goes on to consider the
implications of that and so on.

So those aren't really necessary,
though there's no harm certainly in
allowing a respondent to submit a motion
and it's possible, for instance, that there
could be a case involving a state campaign
finance agency or something like that that
would almost fall into a notice of additional
authority type of situation.

The other situation that I've seen
used is where effectively there's a
discovery dispute. We already have a
process for motions to quash and so on like
that and so perhaps those should be pushed
that way, but essentially, where there's just
been a contentious investigation and
respondent's counsel is kind of fed up,
those are the ones that | found informative
also.

But again, where do you go with
that because it's -- | think it's useful for
respondent's counsel to have a way to
present that feeling of frustration to the
Commission and sometimes it may then
spark a discussion about, well, how do we

go ahead and get this thing over with or get
it focused down?

But | don't see how the current
process or the current way we've treated
that has been inadequate because when
people submitted those, they're circulated
to the Commission so it comes to the
Commissioners' attention and if they feel
like there should be a discussion, there can
be a discussion.

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you, and
one final question for former
Commissioner Thomas which revisits the
area of publishing civil penalties.

You said in your -- civil penalty
schedule. You said in your comment that
there's an element of deterrence that comes
with leaving the potential penalty
somewhat mysterious and | know we've
talked about this a bit, but | wonder if you
could say from your point of view as a
current practitioner and advisor of clients a
little bit more about the notion that there is
some deterrence that comes as a result of
not having a fully public civil penalty
schedule?

MR. THOMAS: All I have to do
to say to a client that they better pay
attention is refer them to the Freddie Mac
civil penalty. They go nuts when they hear
about the size of the Freddie Mac civil
penalty, considering what was going on.

There is a very, | don't know, |
call it the crazy factor maybe. But if there's
an element of mystery there, | think that
people are in a sense always thinking, |
might end up with the Freddie Mac civil
penalty.

I was thinking this was -- this
hearing was coming up and | knew this was
going to be a topic on the agenda, that |
would -- be at a Supreme Court argument
and Justice Marshall was going after
someone and he was basically talking
about the element of deterrence. And he
said, here by the sword of Damocles, and
this poor attorney didn't really have a clue
where he was going at with this and he
said, you know what's significant about
that, sword of Damocles, it's that it's
hanging there, it's just hanging in there;
you never know what's going to fall down
and take your head -- that's kind of the
concept.

I mean, you obviously don't want
to go so far with that that you just ignore
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providing respondents some indication of
where you are on these things. But I think
that that's why I've tried to suggest maybe
there's a middle road where you can give
people some comfort that these are the
kinds of factors we take into account, but
don't give them the specific penalties.

And | have been in discussions
with clients where you go through this
painful recitation of what the law is and
then they say, okay, so what are the
penalties? And there's that -- it's a frank
assessment. They sort of want to get your
best idea of okay, what if we want to go
forward and what are we going to pay in
terms of penalty?

I mean, it's real. It's -- I've seen it.
So that's kind of where I'm coming from on
that.

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: Can | add
quickly once again? | just want -- | think
it's important not to overlook in the
discussion of this kind of interim rule effect
of enforcement actions, that what it is that
we are deterring is political activity.

There are laws that regulate that
and those laws are important, but at
bottom, I just think it's really critical -- lead
a little bit back to the -- sort of the
weightier concepts are thrown around the
earlier panel. But the laws that this agency
administers govern core constitutional
rights and to the extent unclear or vague
laws or concepts are deterring people from
engaging in those activities, there's a baby
being thrown out with that bath water and |
just think it's very important to keep that in
mind.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you. We've got a couple questions. It
came to me when somebody commented
that what they'd really like to be able to do
in the negotiation process, if it just looked
like it wasn't quite working out, that they
really thought it was a fair offer, fair to
make a motion directly to the Commission,
to approve a compromise.

MR. THOMAS: | think implicit
in that is there is some sense that somehow
this Counsel’s office is not taking offers or
suggestions from respondents to the
Commissioners. 1'm sure there are
discussions where the FEC's counsel are in
discussions with respondent's counsel and
offers come and go and suggestions come
and go and | suppose that you really should
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scratch at that to see if it really is a
problem.

If you think it is a problem, then
maybe you could adopt some additional
guidance to the Counsel’s office that
whatever the offer is in conciliation, let us
know. Keep us apprised of what offers are
out there on the table.

The Counsel’s office might not
much like that, but I don't think that on
balance it would be something that would
really undermine the process too much.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Any
comments on that?

MR. MASON: If | might, Mr.
Chairman, it was my impression that the
Counsel’s office generally followed a
policy that if a respondent in negotiations
wanted an agreement or a proposal put
before the Commission, that that would be
circulated.

I've seen nods from the current
Commissioners, and so I'd just like to
suggest that this may be simply a matter of
clarifying what policies are to assure
people again that they're being heard. 1
think the balance you want to strike is you
don't want to move too quickly to where it's
the six of you and not the Counsel’s office
on behalf of you collectively doing the
negotiations, but I think to the extent that
you have a policy like that, simply stating it
publicly and saying when negotiations are
going on at probable cause at pre-probable
cause, they're going to be handled by the
Counsel’s office, but if a respondent wants
a particular offer to be presented or
circulated to the Commissioners it will be
circulated.

I think that gives people the
assurance that they need without -- and |
think the trick to it is not causing that to
trigger an automatic calendaring of that on
the agenda. In other words, if it's
circulated and Commissioners look at it
and say that's not good enough, sorry, you
shouldn't have to come to a formal
Commission meeting simply because the
external party submitted a motion.

| think that's the balance where
you get into the -- into delaying tactics.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: That
is -- from counsel of the requestor or
argument on probable cause. It takes two
Commissioners before it can get on the
calendar at that point. Anyways, some

commenters, even | think Mr. Bopp,
suggested four Commissioners before it
actually counts as a motion, might be the
way to do it.

I'm going to depart a little bit from

the comments that you made just because
of the experience you've had on the
Commission and ask you because we didn't
get a lot of comments in detail about our
relationship with the Department of Justice
and you were --

MR. MASON: What
relationship?

(Laughter.)

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: There
you go. Commissioner Thomas, you were
probably there when that MOU was
actually entered into. So I would like to
tap your experience and thoughts over the
years on how we can, as people say,
improve the relationship, what relationship
do we want to improve and how we go
about it?

I had some questions about when
we begin to feel a need to notify the
Department of Justice, do we concurrently
have to notify the respondents that we're
moving in that direction because thereafter
the temperature may quickly change?

MR. THOMAS: As a matter of
practice, it is very awkward to be in the
business of starting a civil investigation
and then all of a sudden realizing that this
may be something you do want to send
over to Justice, we probably should let the
respondents know. But there already is.

You could clarify by explaining
somewhere in your Enforcement Manual,
for example, that there is this
interconnection. Many of these statutes are
jointly enforced and you could explain, this
is where the Justice Department's
jurisdiction kicks in, so these are the kinds
of cases that potentially they're going to be
looking at. That puts people on notice.

I was thinking that this has really
been a process over the years that has been
self-regulating because as you probably
have all experienced by now, at a certain
point if a matter gets serious enough, the
respondents through their counsel start
saying, Fifth Amendment, FEC go away,
I'm not talking to you.

So as a practical matter on a lot of
those cases, it does get kicked over to the
Department of Justice. So | would say that
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you can always try to have discussions with
the Department of Justice. | think they do
have a fair argument that they could change
things and it did back in -- onto their platter
a lot more cases that are reachable in terms
of the Federal Campaign Finance statutes.

It reflected intention of Congress
that they wanted some criminal
enforcement of these kinds of things. So |
think it would be fair to understand that
particularly the bread and butter cases that
Justice handles, they handle the clear-cut
cases. They handle those conduit schemes
that are fairly clear-cut and that require a
lot of investigation sometimes.

But traditionally they have left to
the FEC all of the legally complex cases,
express advocacy, coordination. You don't
see the Department of Justice going after
those kinds of matters and so you've kind
of been left with a lot of that kind of
material on your platter.

I don't know if there's an answer
in any of that, but it just strikes me that it
never hurts to have discussions with Justice
to see if you can work out a better
understanding of when you notify each
other and you certainly should think about
whether there maybe is a step where you
start notifying respondents that there are
some potential legal rights here.

I'm sure you probably have
researched this, but there are some cases
out there that talk about the due process
rights that people have at stake if the FEC
starts investigating civilly using civil
discovery techniques and then basically
hands that information over to the
Department of Justice. And it gets to be a
question of well, did the FEC and the
Department of Justice coordinate that in
advance or not?

Anyway, that was part of the
reason the FEC kept its distance when they
started an investigation, because we were
fearful that we might in some fashion be
tainting the Department of Justice
investigation if we were asked to hand over
all of that information, because it sets up
that easy due process defense.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Commissioner Mason?

MR. MASON: | think the
problem that | have seen on the part of the
Justice Department is that it's been difficult
to get them to deal on a reciprocal basis. In
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other words, they're very interested in at
what point is the trigger that they're either
notified or have a case turned over or
whatever, and the problem that | saw from
a perspective of sitting on the Commission
is that a lot of times a case would go over
there and nothing would happen either for a
long time or ever.

The Commission retained some
interest in the civil potential for the case
and so | think the trick to getting
somewhere with the Justice Department
would be to get them to recognize in a
material and an operational and genuine
way that okay, yes, BCRA changed things,
| agree with that, and the criminal standard
was -- criminal bar was lowered some and
the Commission might be able to find ways
to move cases in different ways or to a
different stage than they traditionally have.

But what needs to come back with
that is a more robust information feedback
in terms of well, yeah, we're definitely
interested or not, we're not within a time
frame that the Commission could then go
on and pursue its interest.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: If we
did that, what would we do with the
respondent at that point?

MR. MASON: | agree -- to notify
the respondent. One of the other
commenters was very upset about why you
would find RTB or knowing and willful
violation at the RTB stage, and this is
precisely the reason why.

Historically speaking, the
Commission's been very reluctant to make
probable cause findings at RTB without
first having notified them. In fact, we get
the due process argument, well gosh,
you've been investigating for two years and
you never told us until now. But we were
looking into a knowing and willful
violation, so that's why the Commission
has done that.

It's been my experience that
counsel know unmistakably that a knowing
and willful violation means the potential of
criminal activity and referral to Justice. So
| think that's your first trigger. In other
words, if you find knowing and willful
RTB, they already know that and | don't
know that you need to spell that out.

In terms of the statute, the only
indication | see about what you need to do
about it is the actual statutory effect of the

referral to the Justice Department is that
you don't have to proceed with conciliation.
So under the statute, once you find
probable cause, you are compelled to
proceed to conciliation. But if you make a
referral, you are not compelled to proceed
to conciliation.

So what that would suggest is that
there is some sense in which that referral is
protected from disclosure and normally in a
criminal investigation process, you might
not want to know -- the target know -- to
let them know.

So | think what you may want to
think about is that you may have an
obligation to suspend the civil investigation
at that point and Justice normally asks you
to do that. But in terms of notice, the
statute would seem to suggest that maybe
you're not obligated to give the respondent
notice for reasons that you would
understand under the terms of the criminal
process.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: That's
a touchy question. If you stumble along
through a deposition and then all of a
sudden you run across some testimony
under oath that there's a clear knowing and
willful violation, I think it may be treading
on somewhat unclear waters to then -- but
in any event, to know exactly then when
you start that deposition, when you've
given natice, when we talk to the
Department of Justice or come back to the
Commission and know that the Department
of Justice wants us to refer as many as
possible to them if possible, it's a mindset
we've been faced with.

MR. MASON: Mr. Chairman, |
don't know what your experience has been,
but I've never seen a smoking gun
deposition in an FEC -- you know, the
indications of knowing and willful
violations have come somewhere else and
so while it's theoretically possible, | agree
with you, and they're touchy circumstances,
most of the time the information comes in
an interview with a third party or in the
complaint or in other material that's out
there.

And so | think the problem may
be a -- something like that could occur, but
I think more often you're dealing with
discovery of someone other than the
respondent.
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CHAIRMAN WALTHER: |
think that's true. 1 didn't mean to confine it
to a respondent or a deposition, just
conditions that get you there.

I'm done with any questions. We
have five minutes left. Anyone else have a
question to ask? Any further comments
that any of you would like to make on any
of the topics that have been raised?

MR. BIRKENSTOCK: If we do
have just a couple minutes. | won't take all
five. There was a point later on when and |
pick up kind of where Commissioner
Weintraub started earlier about responding
to the earlier panel. Among the comments
that Jim Bopp made was the idea that
adding additional procedural steps to the
enforcement process only raises the
expense of that process.

| don't disagree with that as a
factual matter, and | didn't hear him
acknowledge, perhaps not surprisingly, was
that by definition the kinds of enforcement
matters in which those steps would be
used, were not talking about the individual
that put a bumper sticker up and a sign
without the disclaimer and so forth.

There are anecdotes where that
happens. But I think the other thing that
might need to be kept in mind here is that
by definition, the large expensive
enforcement matters, we're also talking
about large expensive undertakings, you
know, six, seven digits being spent on the
ad and out of that pool of money, if 1 or 2
percent ends up getting spent either
prospectively on counseling or after the
fact on protection in the legal process, that
doesn't strike me as unfair or inappropriate.

| just didn't get that recognized in
the earlier panel, so I can throw that out.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. Anything further, the
counsel or Commissioners? If not, | have a
question. Does anybody have any tickets
to the inauguration?

(Laughter.)

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Just
thought I'd try. We'll talk afterwards. If
not, thank you very much and it's great to
have all of you here; it certainly was.

We're in recess until 2:00.

(Whereupon, at 1:03 p.m., a
luncheon recess was taken.)
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AFTERNOON SESSION

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We'll
resume the special session of the Federal
Election Commission on our policies and
procedures.

You three got an e-mail. | don't
know if you got it or not, but you were sent
one just to let you know kind of what the
policy would be as far as going forward,
and we would ask each of you to make
some comments in five to 10 minutes, or
less if you desire, and then we'll move
through the various Commissioners.

Thank you very much for being
here. It's really most appreciated that
you're here on such short notice. We're
dealing with so many different issues that
we ask you to provide information on.

We'll start, we have Marc Elias,
William J. McGinley and Hans A. von
Spakovsky here at the panel and I'm going
to ask Mr. Elias to begin, since we're doing
this in alphabetical order. Thanks.

MR. ELIAS: | will try to be brief
and use less than the allotted time, which |
promise every time | appear before you and
I never do, but hope springs eternal.

I'm Marc Elias. I'm a partner at
the law firm of Perkins Coie, and let me
start by stating that comments and the
testimony I'm giving are those of myself
and not of any of my clients.

As you know, a number of my
colleagues from Perkins Coie are testifying
as well, so each of us, at least speaking for
myself, I am testifying in my individual
capacity and will be happy to answer any
questions that you may have.

Let me first start by congratulating
the Commission on doing this. Itisan
exceptional thing for an agency, not just
the whole timely rulemakings as this
agency has done now over the course of the
last five years since McCain-Feingold was
passed, but it is even more extraordinary
for it to take the time to do a rulemaking or
a hearing such as this where it looks not to
define what the legal standard is externally,
but it allows those of us on this side of the
table to come in and tell you what we think
about various ways in which the
Commission itself operates.

You deserve an enormous amount
of credit for that, each and every one of
you. We have submitted lengthy

comments that touch on a number of
different areas. | wanted to emphasize
three of them for you in my opening

The first is a place where | think if
there is one thing that the Commission
could do to improve its process and
procedures | would encourage you to start
and that is the manner in which audits are
processed and handled by the Commission.
And by the way, this is not meant to be
critical of the Audit Division or the job that
they do, because they are, of course,
operating within a statutory and a
regulatory and a traditional regime that

But as | look back in preparation
for this hearing, | look back and realize that
though the General Counsel’s office has
been the focus of a lot of time and attention
in reforming process and procedures, there
has been relatively less emphasis or time
spent on understanding how the audit
process impacts the regulated community
and in some respects, there are fewer
committees touched by audits than are
touched by complaints and notice for
example. The impact that it has on the
regulated community when they are
audited is in time -- at times frankly
catastrophic.

The FEC -- an FEC audit, for
those of you who are not here and have
never been through it, is equivalent to those
life audits that the IRS did and drew so
much criticism for. It is not “let us come in
and spend a few weeks talking to you and
looking at some records.” It is “give us
every piece of paper that the committee has
ever generated over a cycle.”

We will look at every check. We
will look at every disbursement. We will
look at every invitation. We will question
everything and anything you have done
during the course of this election cycle. It
is extremely burdensome.

Now coupled with the
burdensomeness is also what can best be
described as an opaque decision-making
regime whereby you sit and give and give
and give information that goes well beyond
what one might consider to be a financial
audit, because after all, this is not an audit
in what again, what most people who have
not been through them would think of an
audit, which is they add up the numbers to

make sure that your cash-on-hand
balanced.

It goes way, way beyond that into
how you spent your money, whether you
spent your money lawfully, unlawfully, are
hybrid ads legal or illegal, are
[unintelligible] -- are phone banks paid for
under one legal regime or another? So
these are sweeping, sweeping audits that go
on for a long period of time. At the
conclusion of them, the process that is
afforded to you is relatively meager when
compared to the process, for example, in
the complaint process when as a practical
matter the results are -- can be equally bad
and in some cases, worse.

So | have had several experiences
where an audit precedes a de facto finding
that the Commission has made that my
client has violated the law in a process in
which | have very, very few rights to refute
that. Then | am referred to the General
Counsel’s office as if this is now going to
be a blank slate, as if now I'm going to get
my opportunity to convince a Commission
that has already been through a several-
year process, that everything they've done
so far, everything included so far is wrong.

It's simply unrealistic and | would
argue it's unfair. Perhaps even more unfair
is, and I've complained about this publicly
before, so none of this should be new to
any of you, is then the Audit Division itself
at the staff level decides that one of my
clients has violated the law and indeed, the
Commission disagrees.

Nevertheless, the Commission has
formed this odd tradition of the public
record reflecting a determination that my
client has violated the law. It's simply not
true. When the Commission found that it
would "accept" a finding that Senator
Kerry's presidential campaign violated the
law, | don't know what that means.

The Commission, | believe,
unanimously in some certain instances,
declined to find a violation of law and yet it
accepted both findings from the Audit
Division. It's not clear what that means
that it was accepted when in fact the
Commission itself voted not to find that
those were violations of law.

So | think if I had one thing |
could leave you with it is to do the same
type of introspection on the audit process
that you have already done that led to good
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reforms in the MUR process, things like
the opportunity for oral hearing, things like
the opportunity to make sure that
respondents have a chance to have their
arguments heard directly by the
Commission.

I would ask that -- | would suggest
that those types of processes be brought
into the audit process as well.

Two other small -- smaller
matters. One, again, | have nothing but
good things to say about the way in which
the advisory opinion process works at this
agency. It is a process that many of you
know | make regular use of and the reason
why is because it is, along with your
rulemakings, the thing that works the best.

| could have -- | have MURs that
sit here for near generations while I'm
trying to figure out how to get it out the
other end. But by golly, | submitted an
advisory opinion and within 60 days, |
have an answer. You guys, with one of
them this summer, | think within two
weeks we had an answer and the General
Counsel’s office and the Commission
deserve a lot of credit for that. Itisa
process that works that things move
quickly through it.

My only comment is | have
several times been in a bizarre
circumstance where | am sitting not 10 feet
back and you all are debating what it is the
requestor means or wants. | am sitting
there waving saying | could tell you. |
could actually -- I could actually just shout
it out. I could tell you what the answer is,
but then I might be removed by a guard.

So what you will do to make
matters slightly odder is you will adjourn
so that you can then send a staffer out into
the hall to ask me the question that you
could have just asked me 10 feet away
from here.

So my suggestion would be that
during the AO process, counsel be
permitted to sit at this table with their
microphones turned off, microphones
turned off, but if there is a question that the
Commission has, they be permitted to
answer it, because | think there are times
where you adjourn or have to later come
back to advisory opinions that you could
just simply get through if there is an
opportunity for the requestor or requestor's

counsel to answer questions that the
Commission has.

Finally, with respect to the last
thing I will mention is just motions practice
that has become more and more common to
file motions with the Commission. It has
become somewhat informal, an ad hoc
process, and | do think the Commission
would benefit and the regulated community
would benefit from a more regular system
to know what motions are filed when and
how they are -- how they are ruled upon.

That's kind of the big three |
wanted to hit in my opening statement, but
I'd be happy to answer any questions
people have.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. Mr. McGinley?

MR. McGINLEY: Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | also appreciate the
opportunity to provide some testimony on
these important matters here today. Similar
to Marc, I'd like to put on the record that
just my comments today reflect my own
experience as a practitioner before the
Commission and do not necessarily reflect
the views of any of my clients.

As an initial matter, 1 would like
to express my appreciation to the
Commission for opening up this round of
discussions with the regulated community
because | think they do bring to the
forefront some important topics and some
issues that have long been debated and to
have this type of public airing of these
issues, | think is important.

I also have sympathy for the
Commission and in fact the staff of the
Commission that has the important
responsibilities that are outlined under the
Act and the Commission regulations
because they do operate at the important
intersection of politics and law.

And we know that there is an
important balancing act that's going to
happen there, because as we all know, the
Commission regulates activity that touches
core First Amendment rights. It's both the
speech rights and the associational rights.

It's important to remember that as
the Commission begins to take a candid
look at some of the enforcement matters,
the audit procedures, the advisory opinion
procedures, ADR and some of the other
responsibilities of the Commission going
forward throughout all of this.

27

I did not have the opportunity to
submit written comments, so | will
probably take a little bit more time than
Mr. Elias in talking on some of these
issues. But primarily --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: --you
weren't here this morning, but we are going
to extend the time for giving written
comments to February 18.

MR. McGINLEY: Wonderful.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: I'm
not trying to shortcut you. | just wanted to
let you know.

MR. McGINLEY: I'll take that
opportunity.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Just
what I'm trying to --

MR. McGINLEY: Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. | wish -- I would like to
point out that one of the things that a lot of
the regulated community cries out for is
clarity on the regulations. Ambiguity --
ambiguity, excuse me, in a statute or
regulation really needs to go in favor of the
speaker or the political participant -- is that
from my microphone or somebody else's?

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Anybody that's got a
Blackberry, turn it off.

MR. McGINLEY: And the
Commission regulations really do need to
provide clear notice on a number of these
important issues. What activities are going
to be prohibited? What activities are going
to fall within the regulatory scheme of the
Commission?

Otherwise, a lot of people are
going to be left on the sidelines of the
political process. | mean, you've seen a
number of instances and articles from the
last election cycle where people wanted to
speak out on important issues. People were
looking to address federal issues that
touched upon federal officeholders who
happened to be candidates at the time.

As we all know, the Congress
does stay in session longer. It cuts deeper
into the election season and in fact, there
are now on a routine basis lame-duck
sessions. But groups, citizens groups, trade
associations, labor unions | would even
add, and others are looking to address these
important issues and they do need to air
advertisements. They do need to be able to
engage the public on a discussion of the
issues which necessarily touches upon
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federal officeholders who happen to be
candidates.

So giving some clear guidance as
to some of the rules that are governing
these types of important activities | think is
a premium and something that the
Commission should really focus on. And
this is not an effort to provide an
opportunity for circumvention of the Act or
the regulations. Instead it's giving people
clear notice what's prohibited and what's
permitted in the political sphere.

Also during the past couple of
cycles, we've seen a number of court
decisions where some of the Commission's
most important regulations have been
thrown out for one reason or another. This
has happened late into the cycle. This is
not something that the Commission bears
responsibility for, but when the
coordination rules are thrown out late in a
cycle, and | have to say that the old rules
are in effect, but directing the Commission
or putting the Commission in the position
of deciding whether to appeal this, this
promotes uncertainty and confusion in the
regulated community.

Also, the use of the enforcement
process to make new law seems to be
something that has become the focus of
great debate over the past couple of years.
We've seen a number of areas where people
have decided that they wanted to air
advertisements or engage in activities that
discuss a number of important issues that
also involve federal officeholders and
candidates.

If the Commission wishes to make
a new law, if the Commission wishes to
promulgate a new regulation, the regulated
community would benefit from the notice
procedures and the common procedures so
that everybody has clear notice as to what's
going to be prohibited and what's going to
be permitted under the new regulatory
regime.

It also creates an unfair burden to
those individuals or organizations that are
the subject of the enforcement matters that
are used to break new ground in the
regulation of political activity. So we think
that the notice and comment procedures
would provide -- is the proper route to go
ahead and do that.

Also we believe that respondents
in enforcement matters should be afforded

greater procedural safeguards. Increase the

opportunities for respondents to present
their case directly to the Commission
without the filter of the Office of General
Counsel interpreting or summarizing the
arguments of the respondent.

It seems that there are a number of

procedural steps where the Office of
General Counsel has the opportunity to
present their case directly to the
Commission and they do their best and
they use their best efforts to summarize the
issues that the respondent believes are
important in their written submissions.

But | think that the Commission
would benefit from a full airing of the facts
and the respondents' positions in
enforcement matters so that they can reach
the right conclusion in some of these
matters. And it's always important to
remember that during the enforcement
process, even if somebody is ultimately
found or to have the case dismissed, the
process is the penalty.

There are many instances where
going through the discovery process takes
money, takes resources away from
individuals and organizations that they
could have devoted to political speech.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Your
time is a little over actually. That's where
written comments help, because sometimes
you get the benefit of a longer speech,
because you can still give us written
comments.

MR. McGINLEY: Absolutely.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: And
we'll have plenty of questions, but that is
the -- to move along in about a 5- or 10-
minutes basis. So Mr. von Spakovsky, it's
great to see you here.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY:: Thank
you, Mr. Chairman, the Commissioners. |
appreciate being invited back to speak and
I guess | could say that since I'm no longer
a public official, I can finally tell you
exactly what | think about things. But then
Chairman --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Why
don't you do that for a change?

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: | was
going to say, Chairman Walther and
Commissioner Weintraub, and | used to do
that anyway when | was a public official.

I do need to make clear I'm here
as a private citizen and not on behalf of the
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Heritage Foundation, where | am now.
And | hate to say that | agree with Marc
Elias because that will probably get me in
trouble in some of the political circles I'm
in.

But | do agree with him. When |
was coming up with my written comments,
| came up with probably about two dozen
things that | think you could address. But
your problem is you're very busy and you
don't have the time to do all that.

So I narrowed it down to about
seven issues, most of which involve
including the due process on how you do
enforcement in other matters. And while
some people might think that inputting due
process will slow down what you do, |
actually think it improves the efficiency of
what you do and can make things faster.

I think your role is made more
difficult by the practical problems in
enforcement because, frankly, the Federal
Election Campaign Act is an overly
complex, ambiguous and confusing statute
which is something that most of the critics
overlook.

Second, | think you should keep in
mind that most of your critics from
advocacy organizations have never
represented any actual respondents before
the FEC and enforcement actions and
therefore, they have no first-hand
knowledge or understanding of how the
enforcement process works or how it
should work. And frankly, they don't have
much concern over the due process rights
of respondents.

That being said, and we need to
talk to about the seven issues very quickly,
I always thought it was just ridiculous that
when you were considering an advisory
opinion at a public hearing, if we had
questions about the factual circumstances
which the General Counsel didn't know the
answer to, we could not simply ask Marc
Elias sitting in the audience to answer the
question.

I think you should change your
procedures so that once, as you know, what
happens is the General Counsel gives a
presentation on the advisory opinion and |
think what you ought to do is give the
requestors the option, you know, five
minutes, 10 minutes, to sit here at the table
and after the General Counsel has made a
presentation, if the requestor wants to, they
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can come up here and make a quick
presentation in which they say, we
completely agree with the General
Counsel's view of this, or they say, we
disagree with the draft AO and here's why.

The advantage of that is that it's
going to give you all the full facts and
information you need so that you can make
an opinion, plus if you have questions that
the General Counsel can't answer, the
requestor or his counsel sitting out here,
can answer those questions.

That is actually going to speed up
the process, because as you know, in many
instances, we would table the AO until the
next public meeting so that those questions
could get answered. Well, you won't have
to table the draft AOs because you're going
to have the requestor right here. | think it's
an easy and quick improvement to the due
process of the situation.

| also completely agree that you
need to formalize the motions process. It's
extremely difficult for respondents to have
a frivolous case -- complaint dismissed
before they unfairly incur a great deal of
time, resources and attorneys fees and FEC
investigation and it's virtually impossible
for respondents to bring to the attention of
the Commissioners a problem regarding the
scope of the investigation.

If they believe -- look, I'll be the
first to tell you, | think the Office of
General Counsel acts in good faith in doing
these investigations, but the discretionary
authority on enforcement rests with you.
You are the ones who are answerable to the
public and to Congress, not the Office of
General Counsel, and you should have a
method for people to be able to file, for
example, mations for protective orders,
similar to what happens in federal court, if
they believe that requests for information,
subpoenas for documents, depositions, are
trying to get information that is not relevant
to the investigation, that is too broad and
too voluminous.

Those motions ought to be served
on both the Office of General Counsel and
the secretary of the Commission so that
you're made immediately aware of it and
you can make a decision.

I don't think this is going to delay
the enforcement process. | think it's going
to speed it up because you will be able to
restrict or cut down the size of

investigations if you believe they're going
too far afield and are too broad.

Deposition practices. As you
know, the FEC used to refuse to give the
depositions of respondents to respondents.
You changed that. Now when you send a
probable cause brief out to respondents,
they are able to request from the General
Counsel copies of any depositions or other
documents that the conclusions of the
General Counsel that you have violated the
Act are based on.

Look, the enforcement process
here is a -- you act like administrative law
judges. It's an adjudicative process.
Respondents are entitled to not just those
depositions and documents, but any
exculpatory information that OGC has
developed and they should be able to get
documents, depositions and other things
that throw reasonable doubt at any
conclusions they have violated the law.

You asked a question about
whether you should take into account
pending dates for elections when you are
deciding to release information, closing of
a file, filing suit. To that I think you
should just say no. The FEC has a great
history of making enforcement decisions
on a non-partisan basis. All of you know
that most of the decisions are unanimous.

There are a number of cases where
you split enforcement cases of less than 1
percent and you look at the long history. |
think if you start taking into account
pending elections, you endanger that
process. | think when you close a file, you
release the documents. It doesn't matter
what's happening in the outside world.

Same decision if you're going to
decide to sue someone because they won't
settle. You do it as soon as you make the
decision. Doesn't matter what the outside
world is saying.

The Memorandum of
Understanding with the Department of
Justice, | think that does need to be
amended. You have two problems. The
FEC and DOJ do not do enough work on
joint investigations when there are both
criminal and civil penalties, one because
DOJ is often reluctant to send any
information to the FEC because they say
well it's privileged.

Often times by the time you find
out about it and DOJ sends it over, the
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person's already been prosecuted, convicted
and the judge has already sentenced them.
And of course, us being there at the same
time a judge is sentencing them is the
perfect time for the FEC to be there
because you can try to persuade the judge
in addition to criminal penalties he should
also impose civil penalties.

Also in the past, unfortunately
DOJ has -- Main Justice has been
extremely reluctant to move for an
exception under rule 6 of the Criminal
Rules of Procedure to get an exception to
the grand jury secrecy requirement.

There are a couple of cases in the FEC's
history where the local U.S. Attorney was
willing to do that and got us information
that allowed the FEC to do an
investigation. But for whatever reasons,
Main Justice is against doing that and that
frankly needs to change so that you can do
joint investigations.

Settlements and penalties. | think
you should cease sending out letters of
admonishment. The statute is very specific
on how you can penalize someone with
civil penalties if they violate the law. It
doesn't say anything about being issued --
being able to issue letters of
admonishment.

I do not think you should be
applying some kind of indeterminate
penalty that is not authorized by statute.
And you know, if you think someone has
violated FECA, then vote that way and
impose a civil penalty. If you don't think
they have violated the law or you don't
think a civil penalty should be paid, then
close -- dismiss the case and close it. But
don't send out letters of admonishment
when the statute doesn't authorize it.

Sampling. The use of sampling, |
would agree, is a good tool for the Audit
Division to use when it is auditing
campaign organizations, particularly
because of the voluminous amount of the
records. However, while it may be a viable
tool to use when doing an audit, | do not
believe it should be used to calculate the
penalty that is due for a violation of the
law.

If a federal law enforcement
agency is determined to fine an individual,
an organization that is engaged in political
activity that is normally protected by the
First Amendment, no penalty should be
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calculated based on only a sample and an
estimate of the amount of wrongdoing. It
should only be based on the actual
wrongdoing found by the FEC's lawyers,
investigators and auditors.

Reports Analysis. The regulated
community's most common interaction
with the agency --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Excuse me, Mr. von Spakovsky, we're over
your 10 minutes. I'm just wondering at this
point if we shouldn't begin the questions.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: I'll be
done --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Sure,
go ahead.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: -- with
this last -- this last item. RAD, the Reports
Analysis Division, has the most contact
with the regulated community everyday -- |
turned my Blackberry off, so it wasn't me --
and when do they do that? Well, it's all the
time when they issue requests for
additional information or RFAIS.

Now they do that based on
guidelines that you issue and you approve.
But -- and again, | think they act in good
faith when they're trying to do that. But
again, the current procedures vest a lot of
discretion in the RAD staff and | think that
discretionary -- those determinations need
to be made by the Commissioners.

What I think you should do is
most people outside the agency don't know
the Commissioners set up committees, two
Commissioners each, to monitor major
areas, litigation, regulations. You need a
committee that monitors the Reports
Analysis Division, meets monthly, takes a
look at and has a report on all of the RFAIs
that are issued and why they're being
issued.

That will allow you to proactively
fix problems that are occurring in the
reporting area because you're going to find
out about it and know about it and you'll be
able to fix the problem and I think it will
improve things.

That's all | have, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. Mr. McGahn?

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Am | first?

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
You're up first, if you wish to be so.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Appreciate it. Where to begin? Where to
begin? Admonishment, could that be done
in conciliation, people are willing to agree
to be admonished as some sort of pseudo
penalty; do you think that's within the
statute? It's really more to Hans.

MR. ELIAS: Go ahead.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY:
Certainly when you're holding -- when
you're in conciliation with a respondent
you're basically holding a gun to their head.
I'm not sure they're going to -- that's what
you were going to say, Marc, wasn't it?

MR. ELIAS: | have to say, one of
the criticisms which | left out of my oral
presentation, can't we just settle cases? Do
my clients have to wear scarlet letters? Do
they need to stand up and give speeches
before -- write on the blackboard 100
times, | will not illegally coordinate, | will
not illegally coordinate, and by the way, I'll
do a better job seeking best efforts?

Why do we need to admonish?
Why do we need to admit and -- why can't
we just settle cases? More -- | waste so
much time negotiating with the staff over
whether it's the Commission contends that
it has enough evidence and we believe that
they don't. Why can't we just settle cases?

Every other agency you go and
you settle a case. The FEC, it's like a
moral judgment. It's if my client doesn't
admit that they are bad people. Maybe we
should just have -- just begin by saying,
we're bad people. Okay, we're bad people
because we engaged in political speech.
For that, we are sorry. We never should
have done that.

We did the unthinkable, we ran
for federal office. We tried to support a
candidate of our choice and for that, we are
eternally sorry and we're bad people. Why
do we need to admonish people?

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Marc.

MR. ELIAS: Let's just settle
cases.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Marc, we have very limited time. 1
appreciate all that. It sounds like some of
our executive sessions and | appreciate you
reading my script.

(Laughter.)
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COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
But let's kind of focus on some actually
concrete things we can do to get at that.
We've had some testimony this morning
that I think answers that question, at least
in the minds of some of the commenters,
right? Some of these -- there's the view
that some of these MURSs are precedent so
you have to script the conciliation
agreement a certain way so that the public
has notice and that's a question that will
take days to debate, whether or not that's
really the case.

But talking about conciliation, if
you do get in a spot where you feel like this
is getting silly and you're just not
communicating with counsel in a way that
you think is effective, what can you do as a
lawyer to move it along? Can you take it
to the Commission? What's the perception
out there?

It seems like there's an ad hoc way
where you can maybe send an offer to the
Commission, but that's not really written
down anywhere. What -- as a practical
matter, what can we do about all of this
that you're talking about? Marc?

MR. ELIAS: Oh, yes, sorry, |
thought you had heard enough from me.
Yeah, there are times when we send offers
directly to the Commission. 1 think the
staff generally views that as an active, open
aggression, so it is -- to say that it's
frowned upon is an understatement.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
So if we codify it somewhere, whether a
policy statement or reg or something,
would you think that would mitigate your
perception, whether reasonable or
unreasonable, that it's seen as an act of
aggression? | mean, if the Commission
formally says, you can do this?

MR. ELIAS: Yeah, | think that
would help. | think having some
mechanism for either the staff to be more
empowered to settle cases or for a
commissioner, maybe an individual
commissioner, maybe a group of
Commissioners or maybe some meeting of
Commissioners, to meet to settle cases
would be helpful. Because a lot of times |
can settle a felony murder trial with a
single prosecutor in the U.S. Attorneys
Office and yet when | try to settle a $8,000
disclaimer violation, I am told "the
Commission feels very strongly."
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Then I'll say to the lawyer, really,
the Commission really thinks very --

COMMISSIONER McGAHN: |
stay up at night worrying about --

MR. ELIAS: And then it will be,
well I'll check with my supervisor and then
the supervisor will check with their
supervisor and then they'll run it by the
Commission. So having some process by
which either the staff is empowered to
simply settle cases or if it requires those
levels of whatever, then maybe having a
process where a commissioner, there's like
an emergency settlement commissioner
who can be brought in and who's
empowered to just settle cases. But things

COMMISSIONER McGAHN: |
volunteer.

MR. McGINLEY: I'd actually
like to just kind of weigh in on this and
echo some of the comments that Marc
made, but also say that in many instances,
what you have is a situation where the
respondent and the OGC have decided --
you know, they've come to an agreement
on the facts of the matter and you can apply
the law.

But what the difference is in the
penalty amount or some of the language. |
think that standardizing some type of
procedure where the respondent can bring
this matter or their version of events
directly to the Commission would actually
benefit both the Commission and the
respondent because it may cut down on the
resources of the Commission that get
devoted to these extended and protracted
negotiations, but also the -- of the
respondent in trying to negotiate these
types of settlement.

And one other thing that I'd like to
add in addition to your admonishment,
there may be situations where a matter was
originally put down the enforcement matter
track, but after the facts are developed and
everything is looked at and if you look at
the published Commission precedent, this
matter is more suited for ADR where the
focus is more on not only helping the
respondents understand what went wrong,
but what are the tools that the Commission
can help provide to ensure that this doesn't
happen in the future?

So you see a lot of the respondents
end up in the Commission training or, you

know, with an understanding that look,
you're going to devote some of your
resources to compliance. | think in those
situations maybe the Commission or the
OGC should be more flexible in putting
respondents back into the ADR track
because it's going to help the respondent in
the long run.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Should respondents be able to request
ADR?

MR. McGINLEY: Yes.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Should -- 1 guess the burden should be on
them in some sort to explain why they
should qualify for ADR? A simple request
for ADR doesn't really get us anywhere.

MR. McGINLEY: That's correct
and you can look at the published
Commission precedent both in the ADR
track, which I understand the Commission
and the OGC attorneys will tell you don't --
doesn't have any precedential value. But
eventually you begin to develop a body of
precedent, of situations that you can look at
where similarly situated respondents, it was
decided that they would benefit from the
education and the training and perhaps
devoting additional resources to
compliance as opposed to just penalizing
them and doing what Marc said is make
them go write 50 times on the board, | was
a bad organization.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Speaking of writing on the board,
something that Hans had talked about was
that one of the positive changes from the
last time the Commission had a hearing
was the deposition procedures, you get a
copy of your transcript. The notion of
giving over transcripts at the probable
cause stage probably makes a lot of sense,
but the reality is, very few cases get to the
probable cause stage because there's a lot
of pre-probable cause conciliation.

Given that that occurs, how do we
then allow respondents to get information
that may be there? We just hope it's
disclosed under the conciliation umbrella?
Help me think through situations where it's
pre-probable cause, you're trying to
conciliate and you're in this -- you're in this
vortex of you really don't want to go to
briefs, but you think there may be a legal
issue that you disagree on? Help my
thinking in this.
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MR. ELIAS: | do think that there
remains a reticence in some quarters to
share information with the respondent,
whether it is deposition transcripts at
certain phases. The sua sponte policy had
an unintended negative consequence,
which is we went from a circumstance
where you were trying to encourage people
to come in on their own to settle their own
claims to now people bringing in sua
spontes to essentially get other people in
trouble.

That person who is getting in
trouble doesn't get a copy of the sua sponte
and they don't get a vote and they don't get
a complaint. They don't get any of the
normal process they get. | think that it's
unfortunate that you wind up in some of
these situations where you could facilitate
cases moving quicker through the system if
you just said to the respondent, obviously
you're not going to share work product,
you're not going to share things that are
sensitive.

But there's no reason why in an
enforcement context you wouldn't want to
give the respondent, here's the evidence,
here's why we think you violated the law.
To tell me well don't worry, it's all
contained in the General Counsel's report,
everything you need to know is in the
General Counsel's report, well with all due
respect, I'd like to see the raw deposition
transcripts myself rather than assume that
everything that's relevant is in the General
Counsel's report.

So | do think that sharing more
information earlier in the process would
help settle cases. To get to something that
Commissioner von Spakovsky said, it
actually would make it not more
burdensome; it would actually make the
process move more quickly.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Let's
see -- Commissioner Weintraub?

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
and welcome. As with the last panel, | feel
like some of you I've been having these
discussions with for years in other contexts,
so on the AOs --

MR. von SPAKOVSKY:: Except
now you can outvote me.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Well, | could always
outvote you if | could talk some other
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people into agreeing with me. But on the
AOs we always agreed, on the notion that
we needed to provide some process for you
to answer the question when you're out
there waving your hands around.

Before you started, Mr. Elias, |
predicted that you would be more animated
than your partner and you can go back and
tell him that that was indeed the case.

MR. ELIAS: -- point.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: No, you never do. You
never do. Motion practice, is there -- I'm
trying to figure out whether there is a real
reason to have a motion to dismiss at the
beginning stage of a complaint, because as
you know, frequently when we get the
response, it will include a request that we
dismiss. | mean, that's sort of what the
response -- that is the best possible
response for the respondent to its -- to its
response is if we agree with them and say
yeah, we're going to dismiss this.

Is there any other -- do we get any
other benefit from having a formal motion
rather than just packaging that in the way it
generally is now in the response? And let
me, by the way, in response to something
that Mr. McGinley said earlier, you know,
just because you send your brief or your
argument or your response to the Counsel’s
office, please don't assume that we're not
reading it. We really do read what you
have to say.

So if that's your goal is to make
sure that we're reading it, if you feel
comfortable that we're reading it anyway,
put that issue aside if there's some other
benefit to having it by a formal motion.
Anybody?

MR. McGINLEY: | would
actually -- I would actually argue yes. |
think that there is some benefit for
providing for some type of standardized
procedure for a motion to dismiss at the
complaint phase. | mean, many times these
complaints are filed for political reasons,
for the press headlines, et cetera.

They allege a violation, but really
there are no facts to back it up or the facts
that are stated or the newspapers that are --
articles that are attached to the complaint
really don't get you to the evidentiary
threshold to initiate an investigation.

| played touch football with
somebody when | was six years old who

happens to be running for office, therefore
there must be coordination, because we're
assuming we're in constant contact. And so
there's really no evidence for the
coordination case to go forward in that type
of fact pattern and | think that there should
be some opportunity for the respondent
who receives one of these complaints to
have the opportunity to present to the
Commission the reasons why they should
not go forward with the investigation.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Why can't you do that in
the response?

MR. McGINLEY: Because we do
do it in the response, but I also think that
there's the opportunity where it's the
guestion and answer session where you
may have some questions that we may be
able to answer.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: You're assuming that you
get a hearing on your motion.

MR. McGINLEY: That's what |
would advocate.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Because that's a separate
question. We could have motion practices
without hearings also.

MR. McGINLEY: Do you want -

MR. ELIAS: | was going to say, |
just -- | don't want this -- to narrow to just
motions to dismiss. My point about
motions practice was not just motions to
dismiss. It's actually -- | have filed over
the years, I've filed motions to quash,
motions to reconsider, motions to consider
new evidence, motions for summary
judgment, motions to dismiss, motions for
a more definite statement.

I have filed all kinds of motions
and you know what, they're no place to be
found in your little orange book or
whatever color it is this --

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: We read them all.

MR. ELIAS: Right, but wouldn't
it be better than me just ad hoc filing these
motions for there to actually be a system by
which if I want to file a motion to
reconsider, there's a process for doing so as
opposed to me just putting it on a caption
and firing it off?

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: No, | hear what you're
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saying about other motions. | was just
trying to figure out if they wanted to
experiment with some kind of motions and
not other kind of motions, is there -- is
there a real need to have a motion to
dismiss at the same point when you're
always filing a response anyway; are we
going to get something else out of that?

MR. McGINLEY: | might just
add one more thing. The motion to dismiss
may not just come at the complaint phase.

I mean, it may come when you get the facts
or legal analysis that's supposed to justify
the RTB finding. So when the respondent
reads that, they should -- they may be --
you may be able to standardize some type
of practice where they come back to you.
It may be a motion to reconsider, a motion
to dismiss, or they can come before you
and say, here's where we disagree with this
and this is why and this is why you should
not proceed with the investigation in this
matter.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: The
only thing I would say about formalizing it
is as you know, not everyone who appears
before this Commission can afford Marc
Elias, who has practiced a long time and
knows he can file these kind of motions,
even though there's no formal policy.

And lots of people get lawyers or
on their own who don't necessarily know
the procedures, unless you formalize it so
they can see it up on the web and they see
that they can file these kind of motions,
they may not realize they can do that. So |
think you should -- you should formalize it.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: The only other thing I
wanted to ask you about is, and | suspect |
may not be able to get anybody to budge on
this, is whether there may be some benefit
in some circumstances to a letter of
admonishment, and maybe the problem is
over the word. Maybe we could word them
differently.

But let's say we get a sua sponte.
Somebody comes in, small dollar value
violation, but they found out that somebody
in their organization, rogue employee was
breaking the law and now they found it and
they want to come to the FEC and tell us
that they're going to clean up and do better.

It's not -- we don't want to issue a
penalty. For one thing, because they came
in on a sua sponte basis and we want to
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give them credit for that. Or it's a low
dollar amount anyway and we just don't
think it's worth it. And we don't want to
engage in a protracted process where
they're going to have to spend a lot of
money on lawyers to represent them.

We just want to have some kind of
acknowledgement that yes, that's a
violation of the law and we appreciate your
telling us about it and we want everybody
else to know that that's a violation of the
law. Any value in that?

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: If the
statute authorized you to do that, perhaps.
But in this matter, I'm a strict
constructionist because --

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: I'm shocked.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: Look,
FECA, as you know from the lawsuits that
this agency has fought, FECA covers an
area that gets the most protection under the
Constitution in the First Amendment. If
you think a violation really doesn't deserve
a civil penalty, fine. Vote to find that they
violated FECA, but it's not sufficient to
impose a civil penalty.

That's what the statute authorizes
you to do. It doesn't authorize you to issue
a letter of admonishment or something like
that.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Do you think that would
be different -- you think that would be
actually different if we voted to say there's
been a violation of the law here as opposed
to we're admonishing you for violating the
law?

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: | think
it is because you're saying it's a minor -- it's
such a minor violation that we don't think a
civil penalty should be paid. Again, | think
it is different because as | said, the statute
doesn't authorize you to issue a letter of
admonishment.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
this point, Commissioner Hunter.

COMMISSIONER HUNTER:
Thank you. My question is for Mr. Elias
about the audit process. Could you tell --
talk to us a little bit about the Interim Audit
procedures and our -- my understanding is
that the respondents do have an opportunity
to file a brief at that point.

MR. ELIAS: They do, but you
are -- you are often times arguing over

--at

questions of law with a process that you
understood, and especially at the
congressional level. | mean, at the
presidential level they go in knowing
what's coming their way. But at the
congressional level, they may hear that
there's going to be an audit. They believe
that what's going to happen is some people
are going to come in and figure out whether
or not money was embezzled, money was
spent, whether the cash-on-hand is really
there or whether there are in fact 50 yard
signs left put up that were paid for. They
think they're going to be audited and in
fact, what they often times confront are
Interim Audit Reports that present novel
legal issues.

Yes, you are given an opportunity
to respond to them, but you are responding
essentially back. You're not assigned to the
General Counsel’s office. You're not
responding to the Commission in the sense
that you're going to get an opportunity to
be heard. You're responding back to the
Audit Division that has in whatever fashion
the Audit Division makes these decisions
and I have some questions about that,
because Lord knows, there have been times
where I've had conversations with the
auditors and | might, but you know when
we get to the Commission, they're not
going to agree with this.

I don't know that this is our
position, thinking well, how do you have a
position that you know that the
Commission is not going to accept? So it's
a weird process. You don't -- if at the RTB
stage the Commission doesn't agree with
the General Counsel’s office, it gets
dismissed. The process just ends.

And yet, audit sort of continues
along, continues along until you get this
audit report, which like | said, now features
the we don't agree with you, but we are
going to allow them to stand its findings
anyway, which is frankly, I think not only
not in the statute, I think it's an affront. It's
an affront to the respondent. It's an affront,
I think frankly, to the Commission that
there are these findings that the
Commission has voted down.

You get a chance to say you're
sorry, but it's not the same as in the
enforcement process.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Is
there any -- Commissioner Bauerly?
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COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. von
Spakovsky, I have a question for you that |
think will help make the world right again,
because I believe you disagree with Mr.
Elias on this point and maybe Mr.
McGinley has an opinion on this as well.

It's about the timing of releasing
the Commission's conclusions, the
proximity to an election which is -- which
the respondent may either feel is a good or
a bad thing depending on the outcome,
whether opponents made or the
complainant who filed the case, they feel
it's a good or a bad thing, and I would like
to hear a little bit more about your views on
what considerations, if any, the
Commission should take with respect to
timing.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: | think
you should have a standard internal rule on
how quickly you release to the public a
closed file and you should stick to that rule
and not take in anything outside going on
like elections into consideration, because if
you start taking that into consideration, the
Commissioners are going to inevitably get
into fights over this about whether it should
be released or not.

Well, if the release -- if the finding
was that a candidate didn't violate the law,
well you know, some Commissioners may
say yeah, we got to release that right away
and others say well no, we probably
shouldn't release it this close to the election
because it may affect it.

You're going to get into -- you're
going to get into all kinds of arguments
about this and even if -- even if you're
doing what you think is the right thing to
do in the final decision, it really has no
partisanship in it. The outside world may
not see it that way because there are always
circumstances that occur that can, as | well
know from experience, it can make
something that the Commissioners did
entirely trying to comply with the law and
people on the outside look at it and say oh,
they did that for partisan reasons.

It just -- it opens up this huge
Pandora's Box that I think you should avoid
as much as possible.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
Mr. Elias?

MR. ELIAS: 1 do think that there
are some -- that the flip side to that is that
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there can be a perception, whether accurate
or not, that the Commission or the
Commission staff is leveraging the election
in the process. There's also just some
practical workload considerations.

The complaint gets filed in 2004,
and the Commission staff decides that
October of 2008 is a great time to decide
that | have 20 days to respond. So the
ethics process, as many of you know, has a
moratorium around the elections where
simply things don't happen, where there are
not, no matter how meritorious or non-
meritorious, they're just blackout periods.

I think that some consideration for
both workload and also the question of
whether or not there was a leveraging
going on would be worthwhile for the
Commission to consider.

MR. McGINLEY: | would agree
with that, with Mr. Elias' comments on that
point, but | would also extend it to the
outer process, which would be the
publication of the Final Audit Report for
consideration by the Commission or the
Commission in fact holding a meeting on a
Final Audit Report.

Because as we've seen in the audit
process, the audit process is really
becoming, as Marc has pointed out
numerous times here today, it's that the
audit process is almost becoming the fact-
finding process for initiating an
enforcement action down the road. For all
the procedural problems that Marc has
identified, that process is not fair to the
subject of the audit if they need an
opportunity to respond.

You often see times in the audit
process where the exit conference is going
to identify certain issues and they're going
to get modified in the Interim Audit Report
and based upon the response of the
respondent, then the Final Audit Report
may go off in a completely different
direction and the subject of the audit is
going to want to have an opportunity to
weigh in on that and they're going to start
firing off letters to the auditors, cc'ing the
Commission trying to get their case before
consideration of the Final Audit Report.

In some instances, we've seen that
the Commission has actually disagreed
with the conclusions of the auditors and
sent it back to them. Nonetheless, you
have this piece of paper out there in close

proximity to an election that says this
committee did this wrong and they'll state
that there's hundreds of thousands of
dollars at issue even though the
Commission has told them to go back and
reevaluate the issue.

I think that brings up the
fundamental question, and I've heard it
debated in prior Commissions, is the
Commission receiving an audit report or is
the Commission adopting an audit report?

I think that that's one of the fundamental
issues that the Commission is going to have
to grapple with in the audit process and
determine whether the Commissioners
themselves are taking ownership of that
report or if they're simply receiving the
report of the staff.

MR. ELIAS: 1 think that Mr.
McGinley is 100 percent correct and | think
that it is a mess currently. It is just an
absolute mess. | remember during the
Kerry/Edwards audit that | keep alluding
to, there was some congressional candidate,
I meant to go look him up. There was a
Republican congressional candidate who
was also going through -- was also having
their audit heard that day and | remember
saying to a number of people in advance, |
said, as bad as | feel for John Kerry and
John Edwards, he has a lawyer here who's
fighting this who knows this process, who
the Commissioners will -- will listen to
whether they agree with me or not and that
was a presidential campaign.

This poor congressional candidate
doesn't stand a chance. He doesn't stand a
chance. He's out in some place in America.
He lost. He was a losing Republican
candidate. He lost his election. A bunch of
auditors came in, tore up the place, looked
at every receipt, came in, sent in an audit
report and my guess is the Commission --
each of the Commissioners probably spent
less than 10 minutes considering whether
or not that congressional candidate got a

And that thing comes -- and |
think this comes flying through the process.
It is the Commission needs to own the
audit report or, or, or it needs to make an
audit about auditing, not about whether my
clients obeyed the law, not about whether
my clients followed the disclaimer
requirements, but about whether or not all
the money is where it's supposed to be and

all the inventory is where it's supposed to
be.

But if it's going to go beyond that,
if it's going to go beyond an audit and it's
going to go into whether or not my clients
acted lawfully, then there needs to be a
revised audit process where the
Commissioners own it, not that they sit
back and say oh geez, it's another audit
report, that they own it in the same way
that you own the enforcement process.
You're in the innards of it and you're
making decisions about what the law is and
is not.

In my experience, that simply
doesn't go on right now in the audit process
and Bill is exactly right about that.

MR. McGINLEY: | would also
just add that | think maybe the -- in
reviewing the audit process itself, giving
the subject of the audit an opportunity to
address the Commission, whether it's at the
Interim Audit Report stage before a draft
final report is prepared for the
Commission's review, or some other point
in the process where the subject of the audit
can come forward and explain their side of
the story I think would be helpful to the
Commission for the audit process.

I might add that if the audits are
going to become part of the fact-finding for
future enforcement actions, then it may be
worth pulling the audits back, the final --
the consideration of the Final Audit Report
from the public hearing and consider it an
executive session. Then it can release the
Final Audit Report after you've flushed out
the facts, flushed out the legal theories and
put it on the public record.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you. Thanks --

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: 1 just
want to say, | actually agree with this and |
think at the Interim Audit stage --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: You
guys have agreed on a lot today.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: Yeah,
the campaign organization needs to have
the ability to appear here at this table and
argue about why they think the audit is
incorrect and the findings the Interim
Audit's made. Mr. Chairman and
Commissioner Weintraub, remember that
we had this debate when | was on the
Commission about findings of the Audit
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Division that the Commissioners did not
agree on.

Again, | would go back to you are
the interpreters of the law in whether
someone has violated it or not. If you vote
and believe that a recommended audit
finding of a violation of law is in fact not a
violation of law, that needs to disappear
from the Final Audit Report, because you
decided there was no violation of the law.

Itisa--itisadiscredit and a
discourtesy to the people being audited to
have some interim report say well, we
think you violated the law when in fact the
people who are the auditors of this agency
to make that decision say no, there was no
violation of the law.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much -- at this point. Okay, Vice
Chairman?

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. On the first
panel this morning, we were talking about
a recommendation that was given to us by
Jan Baran regarding initial complaint
processing. He talked about that in 11
CFR, Section 111.4, there are four
additional criteria for a complaint that -- as
the language says, that a complainant
should conform to.

These are discretionary at this
time, but his recommendation was that
these should be mandatory and this would
serve as a filter at the outset so that
frivolous complaints could be dealt with
quickly so that they don't have to go
through and go to an RTB vote, that they
would be disposed of before even that time.

| just wanted to pose to you, to all
three of you if you wish, what you think
about this recommendation and what other
suggestions you might have for the
Commission, what other tools we might
want to consider using to at the threshold
get rid of complaints that really have no
merit to them whatsoever so that not only
Commission resources, but respondent
resources don't get wasted.

MR. McGINLEY: Maybe you
could -- maybe you could summarize his
comments since we didn't have the
opportunity --

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Let me just say, in addition to the -- in
addition to the statutory requirements that
they be filed by a person who believes a

violation of FECA has occurred and while
they're signed and sworn to and notarized,
in 11 CFR, Section 111.4 it says that they
should -- that they should clearly identify
each person or entity who is alleged to have
committed a violation of the -- if
statements are not based upon personal
knowledge, they should be accompanied by
an identification of a source of information,
that there should also be a clear and concise
recitation of the facts which describe a
violation of statute or regulation, and that it
should be accompanied by any
documentation supporting the facts alleged.

As | mentioned, these are
currently discretionary but not -- they're
encouraged, but they're not mandatory.

Mr. Baran said that if these were to become
mandatory this would serve as an effective
filter so that we could -- so that if a
complaint didn't contain these elements,
they would be returned to the complainant
as not being a sufficient complaint before a
General Counsel's report has to be prepared
and before a respondent's counsel has to
prepare a response and take the time and
resources that are necessary.

So | just wanted to throw that out
and see what you think about that
suggestion. And as | mentioned, are there
other suggestions you might have about
other tools that the Commission might be
able to use to -- even before we get to an
RTB vote, are there are tools we could
consider using to filter out frivolous
complaints or ones that are just purely
politically motivated and that really have
no legal merit?

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: | think
you should give serious consideration to
doing that. Some of the complaints that
come in are based on somebody just
reading a newspaper story and having spent
the last couple of years dealing with
reporters. If a story -- if a reporter gets -- if
50 percent of what's in a story is the truth,
that's pretty good. | think you should give
serious consideration to that.

Also quite frankly, we have
certain ways in OGC --

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: The reporters are laughing
at you behind you.

(Laughter.)

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: There
are lawyers in OGC who deal with those
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complaints, but I think -- | think they have
been -- that they are fearful of simply
dismissing complaints that are clearly
frivolous because they're afraid that the
Commissioners may get upset. | think they
need to be empowered more to be able to
do that.

I'm not quite sure how you do that
internally, but that's one of the keys to this.

MR. ELIAS: This is -- | think
adding those procedures are fine, but |
think people would be able to jump through
those hoops and you'd still have frivolous
complaints. To me the question of
frivolous complaints is sort of the mirror
image of how we settle cases and | don't
know, having never worked at the FEC,
what the internal process is.

I mentioned maybe it's the
appointment of a single Commissioner.

But there has to be a way. | mean, there
has to be a way that some of these
complaints | get, that someone in OGC or a
single Commissioner or someone can,
whether they contain those four elements or
not, simply look at this and say you know
what, this is not a -- this is going nowhere,
so we're just going to dismiss this. We're
just going to -- we're going to dismiss it off
the top before we waste any time and
energy on this.

I think that the will to do that is
more important than any regulatory change.

MR. McGINLEY: | would agree
with that, but I'd half jokingly state maybe
we should turn the complaint process into
something similar to the advisory opinion
request process, where you almost get the
mini discovery before the advisory opinion
is accepted. Can you flesh out the facts
here or what information do you have on
this point that the Commission can
consider and so that maybe those four
points, if the staff is somehow empowered
to send it back to the complainant and say
well what else do you have here, I think
may be a worthwhile exercise.

I think it would save Commission
resources and | also believe it would save
the potential respondent's resources if
somebody has just filed a complaint just to
file a complaint and not alleged any true
violations.

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Just one other brief question. | don't know
if any of you were here on the prior panel.
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Former Commissioner Mason, in speaking
about requests for additional information,
letters from RAD, raised the question that
he didn't -- or raised the point that he didn't
think that publicizing those letters really
accomplished any purpose.

| wanted to get your thoughts on
that and also just your thoughts on the way
-- in the comments that were filed by Mr.
Elias and his colleagues raised the
question, of concerns about some of the
bases on which letters from the Reports
Analysis Division have been sent. So |
wanted to give you that opportunity to talk
about that general issue, but also the
specific proposal about whether or not is
there a purpose served by having these
requests for additional information made
public?

MR. ELIAS: Yeah. Since | only
wanted to come with a limited number of
grievances, | didn't mention the RAD
letters, but since you ask. There is a
somewhat ad hoc quality to them at times.

I have noted over the years that at
any given time if | advise a client to
include the name of a candidate or not in a
joint fundraising committee between a
party and a candidate, | have a 50/50 shot
of either getting the following. You appear
to be an authorized committee without the
name of a candidate, or you appear to have
included the name of the candidate
improperly.

So it appears that sometimes RAD
does want them in, sometimes RAD doesn't
want them in. It kind of runs hot and cold.
There is a -- there are times where you
wind up talking to the Reports Analysis
Division about why they are telling you to
do something some way and you are left
feeling unsatisfied.

Yet one of the reasons why | file
S0 many advisory opinion requests is
because | believe very strongly that the six
of you who sit before me who have been
appointed by the President of the United
States, confirmed by the United States
Senate, and taken an oath to administer and
uphold the Federal Election Campaign Act,
have the statutory obligation and right to
interpret the Act.

That is not true for the folks who
sit in RAD, just as it is not true for the
folks who sit in the Audit Division. In both
cases, you get the impression sometimes

that they have decreed in RAD that we will
do it this way until we tell you to do it that
way.

I just wonder to what extent the
Commission is voting on those decisions,
because if they're not, then I think we have
a problem. If they are, then it would be
nice to have that be some public
acknowledgement of that. But there is
definitely -- there are definitely times
where you're getting "advice" from RAD.
Well, advice from RAD is nice except if
you don't take their advice, you get a nasty
letter in the public record and you get
threatened with audit, which is on to the
next phase of the process.

So | do have concerns about that
and think that there needs to be more
Commission involvement in that.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you. I'm going to move on if that's okay at
this time. Ms. Duncan?

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman, and good afternoon to the panel.
Mr. Elias, | wanted to explore a bit more
with you about your recommendation or
suggestion that the Office of General
Counsel share more information from the
investigative file before the probable cause
to believe stage.

There are some immediate
concerns that come to my mind about
sharing substantial or large -- substantial
amounts or all of the information from the
investigative files and they probably come
to your mind as well. Some have to do
with confidentiality if we're dealing with
multiple respondents. Other concerns have
to do with potentially diminishing the
likelihood that other witnesses will
cooperate or respond to our informal
discovery requests or subpoenas.

Other concerns that come to mind
have to do with diminishing potentially the
likelihood of interagency cooperation and |
mean by that the Department of Justice
sharing information with us if it's
concerned that that information will then be
shared with respondents.

I don't imagine that you agree
necessarily on the conclusion to this, but |
wondered if you would agree that those
kinds of concerns have to be balanced
against your suggestion, valid suggestion |
think, that some information might be
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shared from the investigative file before the
probable cause stage?

MR. ELIAS: Absolutely. | think
I was responding to a question about
depositions specifically and then took it
somewhat broadly. But obviously there are
going to be constraints on you. The most
obvious one is I think the last one you
mentioned where it's 6C material from the
Department of Justice and there's some --
there's some restriction that it's under.

My experience with matters
before the FEC is that | rarely run across
circumstances where that is -- where that's
an issue. But if it's an issue it's a genuine
one. Multiple respondents again, that is
often times worked around because
obviously often times the respondents are
willing to consent to it.

But there are certainly issues that
have to be -- have to be addressed. I think
it's more of a mindset question than it is a
question of an absolute rule.

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you. Let
me, if | may just ask --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Sure.

MS. DUNCAN: -- a question or
two about the advisory opinion process. In
your written comments, Mr. Bauer, you
mentioned that --

MR. ELIAS: Elias.

MS. DUNCAN: I'msorry. Did |
call you Mr. Bauer twice?

MR. ELIAS: You did. No, once.

MS. DUNCAN: Oh, just once.

I'm sorry.

MR. ELIAS: It's okay. I take it as
a compliment.

MS. DUNCAN: We like him too.
We like --

MR. ELIAS: You like him better.

MS. DUNCAN: Some days we
do.

(Laughter.)

MR. ELIAS: | believe that.

MS. DUNCAN: But today it's
been pretty equal.

MR. ELIAS: Most --

MS. DUNCAN: I do apologize. |
do apologize. You mentioned in your
written comments what we call I guess the
stalking horse AOs, these situations where
advisory opinion requests are used as an
offensive weapon against political
adversaries and they're not potentially valid
requests. | just wanted to ask you and the
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rest of the panel whether you think that is a
-- how significant of a problem you think
that is and if so, what can the Commission
do to ferret out those kinds of potentially
false requests and what should they do
about them?

MR. ELIAS: 1 think it's an issue
and I think it's frankly usually an issue that
the Commission is aware of and makes --
because | have seen the Commission read
them out when it chooses to do so and |
have seen the Commission proceed where
pretty much everyone in the room knows
that's what's going on but there's been a
decision made to let the process move
forward.

I don't think ferreting it out is
particularly difficult. It's usually fairly
obvious to all what is going on. It's justa
question of whether or not the Commission
decides that that's something that they wish
to entertain or not. | don't know what your
perspective on this is.

MR. McGINLEY: I guess | agree
with those comments. | mean | don't think
it's any type of widespread problem. | do
think that in those instances where it may
be a possibility I think is pretty obvious on
the face of the request what's happening
there.

But I do believe that in some
instances it really does kind of answer
some questions, although | do believe that
the regulatory requirements for submitting
a request do seem to provide some type of
filter that the Commission can use to try
and ferret out those types of situations.

So | mean, it just can't be a
hypothetical and it can't be a third-party
request, et cetera. So if you mechanically
apply those criteria, | think you're probably
going to be able to weed out most of those.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: | don't
have anything to add to that other than |
don't think it's that big of a problem, but
there's nothing really you can do about it. |
don't think there's any kind of rule you can
formalize. | think the Commissioners and
General Counsel will just have to use your
best judgment, discretion to try to weed
those out.

MS. DUNCAN: One final
question about the advisory opinion
process. The Perkins Coie comments also
suggested that we might benefit from a
publication of a transparent criteria for the

completeness of requests. | just wondered,
particularly you Mr. Elias, because you
may have had much more experience with
this, we have -- we currently have a
practice of OGC informally taking draft
advisory opinion requests and speaking
with requestors about those drafts before
they’re even submitted as formal requests.

I wondered if you could comment
on whether you think that's helpful and
whether you think that might potentially be
a substitute for the publication of criteria
for completeness or at least alleviates
partially the need for that?

MR. ELIAS: Yeah, | think the
reason for having the criteria is that as
several of you have noted, not every
advisory opinion comes before you from
counsel who deals with you. Reading the
advisory opinion requests and the
correspondence that you have, as | try to do
for all advisory opinions, there is you can
see that some people have an easier time
navigating that process than others do.

It just struck us as we put together
these comments that it might -- it might
aid, much like someone commented that
well I know you can file these motions
even though they're not in the rules. Others
will have a harder time knowing that. It
just struck us that it might aid the process
to have those criteria spelled out. It has not
been a problem for us, but --

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Mr.

MR. STOLTZ: Thank you. Mr.
Elias, you and the auditors certainly have
been on the opposite sides of a number of
issues over the years and | guess it's no
surprise we don't always agree.

Do you think it would be helpful
to people who go through the audit process
to understand how many points along the
way that the Commission actually does get
involved, for example, the responses that
are filed to exit conferences are made
available to Commissioners, responses to
the Interim Audit Reports are made
available to Commissioners, the audit
procedures are approved in advance?

Is part of this a matter of just not
enough information being out there?

MR. ELIAS: | don't -- with all
due respect, | don't think it is. Tom
Josefiak sat down, | imagine

metaphorically since | wasn't in the room,
with a group of auditors in 2005, and
explained that the Bush/Cheney Campaign
had run 40-some odd million dollars worth
of hybrid advertising. Now | have no
doubt that at every stage in the process, the
Commissioners were alerted that this was
going on.

But it was not until years later that
Mr. Josefiak and the Bush/Cheney
Campaign and the RNC had an opportunity
to actually have the Commission vote on it,
and even at that point, the finding was
accepted by the Commission even though it
was defeated by the Commission. | just
think that that is a tension that ultimately
doesn't serve anyone well.

I mean if the Commission's
position was that splitting ads 50/50 is
lawful, then that is something that would
have benefited from an early determination,
not a late one, and would have benefited
from an audit report that did not reflect a
finding, if in fact the Commission found --
six of them found that it was not a violation
of law.

So the fact that they have access
to the information | don't think -- I don't
think substantively addresses the concerns
that I've expressed.

MR. STOLTZ: Thank you.

MR. McGINLEY: | would also
agree with that because 1 think there's a
difference between making available the
subject of the audit's response or arguments
that they're presenting to the auditors
versus basically putting it before the
Commission and giving that party an
opportunity to address the questions that
the Commission may have and also to
explain some of the novel legal theories
that seem to be popping up more and more
in the audit process.

I think that if the Commission is
going to have this type of process at the
probable cause phase in the enforcement
matter in dealing with novel legal issues, |
think because of the public nature of the
audit process and the Final Audit Report, et
cetera, that it would benefit the
Commission to hear both sides of the issue
especially where novel legal theories are
presented in the audit process, such as
hybrid ads or any others.
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MR. ELIAS: If | could just
supplement my answer with just one final
statement.

MR. STOLTZ: Please do.

MR. ELIAS: 1 also question, and
I mentioned this a few times and | think it
may have been viewed as rhetorical, but it's
not really rhetorical. | question whether or
not the audit process ought to include that
type of matter. The fact is, the Democratic
Party knew that George Bush was doing
this. If we believed it to be a violation of
the law, we could have filed a complaint.

Common Cause, the Center for
Responsive Politics, they knew that the
Bush Campaign was doing this. If they
believed it to be a violation of law, they
could have filed a complaint. Any citizen
could have filed a complaint. We just
talked about frivolous complaints.

It's not clear to me why in the
context of an audit where | think most
people again would be shocked, most
people who have not been through it would
be shocked to know how legally intensive
these become. It's not trying to find out
whether or not the Bush/Cheney
Campaign's treasurer stole money. It's not
trying to figure out whether or not the
Bush/Cheney Campaign really had 623
computers that they said they had, which is
what | think most people envision an audit
being.

It is these audits wind up quickly
diverting off of audits and into questions
like, are hybrid ads legal or not, and it
strikes me that there is a separate track if
there are concerns about those kinds of
issues to be handled, but they ought not to
be central to audits. But that's again, that's
just another point.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. | think we've been through
those hybrid ads ad nauseam and that's a
very difficult question on how to balance
the independence of the auditor with the
opinion of the Office of General Counsel
and then come to us for hopefully a
resolution, which has been very difficult
for us in that particular case.

It took a lot of hard thinking is the
best way to work that one out. Do you
have any other questions?

MR. STOLTZ: No.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Because | have a couple. I've been

troubled by the constant view that in the
early stage of the complaint how to resolve
cases that cry out for perhaps dismissal and
perhaps not for earlier attention at the very
least. You can file a motion to dismiss,
what is it, a 12(b) motion, when there's no
other facts? Just -- claim, premature relief
can be granted or the equivalent of FEC
jargon, or is it akin to summary judgment
or what?

Because we haven't even started
the investigative stage yet, so it's an
awkward procedure in which you entertain
the motion to include the Commission. On
the other hand, sometimes you know it
when you see it. This is a case that needs
to probably get dumped, but if you don't
know exactly why and at least you want to
make sure you have done a modicum of
investigation.

But I'm wondering if some kind of
a summary jurisdiction procedure or
summary procedure might work in a given
case, whether it's ADR or some other to
bring this to a more quick resolution. Do
you have any thoughts on that, that rather
than run through the gamut of our usual
procedures for the important cases whereby
there could be some kind of informal
discovery to verify a few facts, or not, if
the law makes any kind of intelligent
judgment as to where the case ought to go
through some kind of a structure that might
just work in other cases like that?

Any comment? Mr. Elias?

MR. ELIAS: 1 --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: |
know you want to work this out, figure out
how to do this, but procedurally makes a
difficult situation when there's not much
investigation, somebody who's kind of an
amateur files kind of a defective complaint,
but on the other hand, you know it would
have been done right by Mr. Elias or
others. It would have been done right and
the other elements of the violation would
have been in there.

MR. ELIAS: Like I said, | keep --
I keep being drawn back to my sense,
having never worked at the Commission,
that it is -- it's not necessarily something
that gets fixed in the rules. It's something
that gets fixed in the sort of the role or the
attentiveness. | mean, | think that there are,
as you say, a number of these that you
know it when you see it and the question is,
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is someone going to be empowered to
know it when they see it?

If that's the case, then I think you
will solve a lot of problems. You won't
solve all of them, but you will solve a lot of
-- you'll solve a lot of problems.

The question is right now, who is
that person? Who is -- my sense is that a
complaint gets filed and I don't know if it's
Jeff Jordan. It used to be Jeff Jordan -- is it
still Jeff Jordan? Okay.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: He's right behind you.

MR. ELIAS: Takes it and sends it
out and then it goes into a pile and it sits in
that pile for some period of time until it's
activated, reviewed by someone. The
question is, is there -- whether it is Mr.
Jordan or someone else who has the
authority to look at this and say you know
what, this is just -- this is just nothing and
we ought to just move this summarily. |
think it's just the will to do that.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Ms.
Duncan and then it will be the end of our
discussion.

MS. DUNCAN: This is actually
not a question, but just to shed some more
light on the process and that it entails more
than putting something in a pile and
waiting, and that is that we do have a pretty
detailed process for the review of
complaints as they come in. We review
them according to the regulatory criteria
that the vice chairman has talked about in
some of his questions.

Those criteria are not applied in a
mandatory fashion, but we do review them
against those criteria and a great number of
pieces of paper that come into the door
don't meet the minimum qualifications for
a complaint and they are handled
appropriately and not as a complaint.

MR. ELIAS: No, | wasn't --

MS. DUNCAN: | know and |
wasn't -- | just wanted to make sure, |
wasn't suggesting that you were suggesting
something wrong about it, but just to get
information on the record about the process
and the fact that there are a good number of
things that purport to be complaints that we
actually don't treat as complaints and then
that doesn't actually even take into account
those things that are made complaints, but
then are dismissed at the recommendation
of Counsel’s office because of the fact that
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they are low rated under our EPS system or
they -- or they are -- or the Commission
finds no RTB at our recommendation as
well.

MR. ELIAS: See, | guess that's --
I guess that's what I'm -- that's the point
that I'm getting at and maybe | stated too
colloquially. It is at the rating system
phase stage that it seems to me that more
than setting up a new process, it is
empowering that if something meets a
certain place in the rating, it just does. |
mean, it just quickly -- we may dismiss
some that were meritorious, but we're just
going to -- we're just going to make a
determination that someone’s going to be
able to rate say X, whatever -- you know,
rates a seven, whatever it is.

And then it can move out the door
and the Commission won't second guess it
and this Commissioner won't spend a lot of
time revisiting it and I think that that's
probably more practical than setting up a
new standard for summary judgment or
dismissal.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Unfortunately, our time is up. Some ad
hoc buzzer here.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: Do you
want a quick answer on that or not?

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Real
quick, sure.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: Okay.
The problem is, and | think the way you
could solve it is, look your problem is the
statute. The statute requires you to send a
complaint to the target of the investigation,
the respondent, even if -- as soon as it
comes in, you say it's frivolous.

I think you could solve that
problem by setting up a procedure so that if
OGC thinks that a matter is frivolous and
they quickly send a notice up to the
Commissioners saying, we've gotten these
five complaints, these two we believe are
frivolous, you know, one paragraph
summary of why, if none of you raise an
objection, then when OGC sends the
complaint to the respondent, they can put
in the letter, by statute we're required to
send you a copy of this complaint, but we
want -- you should know that we believe
it's frivolous and we intend -- we're going
to dismiss it.

The point of that is that even if
you think it's frivolous and then it comes

in, when you send it to the respondent,
they're going to have to hire Marc or Bill
and spend the damn money to put up a
response to it and wasting time and
resources.

If you tell them it's frivolous,
we're going to dismiss it, then they can
send you a short one-sentence response
saying thank you very much and they don't
have to spend the time and money to do it.
That's one way of getting these out of -- it
gets around the statute.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: |
missed a little bit of the comment --
comments because | was looking for the
statute. In 437(g) it says, before the
Commission votes -- on the complaint,
other than the vote to dismiss, any persons
so notified shall have the opportunity to
demonstrate in writing to the Commission
within 15 days after the -- after notification
that no action should be taken against this
person on the basis for a complaint.
Technically it does imply that we can rule
immediately to dismiss just like that on any
given case.

MR. von SPAKOVSKY: |
acknowledge that, but I'm not sure that
given the internal processes here that you
all could get it in front of you at a meeting
at the executive session to do that vote
within 15 days. And so a way of doing it |
think is the procedure that I just identified.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: |
understand. Ms. Terzaken, did you have
any questions; it looks like you might
have?

MS. TERZAKEN: No.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Okay.
Well, thank you very much. This has been
really informative. Thanks everyone for
being here today.

(A brief recess was taken.)

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Wel'll
begin again. We're 15 minutes behind
schedule so that won't detract from the
other time we have, but -- we'll be asking
each of you to make your opening
comments from five to ten minutes, not
more, and then Commissioners will have
truncated questions and to the extent there's
time at the end, there hasn't really been
any, but then we can open it up a little
more for a period of discussion.
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As it turns out, pretty much by the
time we're through with everybody, we're
always at the end of the time.

So to begin, we have Brian G.
Svoboda, Lawrence E. Gold and Robert K.
Kelner. Thank you all very much for being
here. Your comments were very, very
interesting so we look forward to hearing
what each of you has to say. We'll start
alphabetically with Mr. Gold. They have
opposite -- Mr. Gold, please begin.

MR. GOLD: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. | appreciate the opportunity to
appear this afternoon. | appear in two
capacities, one as associate General
Counsel for the AFL-CIO and the other as
of counsel to Lichtman Trister & Ross,
where | represent a number of
organizations that have business before the
Commission, have been -- are regulated by
the Commission and have had experience
in enforcement proceedings, audits and
other matters.

This is a very important
undertaking and I appreciate that it has
begun and really does merit a
commensurate process, | think, of public
comment and participation and very
carefully considered Commission review.

As | said in previous writings, |
think the notice and comment and hearing
schedule that was announced here was
rather abrupt given the scope of what is
being undertaken and the timing was
unfortunate, overlapping with the holidays
and the like, at a time when there was
really no externally imposed time table that
the Commission had to respond to.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Forgive me for interrupting. We did decide
to extend the comment period to February
18. Were you about to say that? | didn't
know if you had heard that.

MR. GOLD: No. Thank you. |
just heard that on the break and | appreciate
that and | was going to say I think that's a
good move and will give others and me an
opportunity to provide, I think, more
considered analyses of some of the things
you're inquiring into.

I hope it also presages some
additional hearings, opportunities, more
focused hearings perhaps on particular
issues that are of particular concern or that
you really do intend to take action about in
order to focus and give you more precise
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information and feedback about the
Commission's operations.

Then | hope you will use policy
statements or rulemaking as appropriate in
order to explicate new standards and
explain changes in procedures as a result of
this process. If at all possible, | would
suggest that you aim to complete that
process this year during 2009, before we're
into another election year. As former
Commissioner Mason noted in his
comments, | think you should make
changes as you go along, implement as you
go along, rather than wait to the end of
Some process.

My written comments submitted
make a number of recommendations,
admittedly without much, if any,
explanation due to the time constraints that
I was under. What | address in just these
opening comments very briefly are two
topics and then I certainly look forward to
responding to questions about anything that
I've submitted or anything at all pertaining
to the notice that issued last month.

The two areas I'd like to comment
on briefly are the reason to believe process
and Reports Analysis Division. RTB is the
critical juncture in the enforcement process.
If it issues, that's the first time a respondent
gets notice of the Commission's legal
thinking and understanding or analysis of
the facts that have been presented, and it's
inevitably accompanied of course by a
subpoena, often a very broad one seeking
documents and sworn answers to written
questions.

So one of the most important
issues there is, is what is the standard? The
statute of course says that the standard at
the RTB stage is reason to believe that a
person has committed or is about to
commit a violation of the Act and the
Commission has in several enforcement
cases, explicated what that means.

I would refer the Commission to a
Statement of Reasons issued by all six
Commissioners at the time in MUR 5141 in
2002. It stated, to summarize, that the
Commission finding requires an
affirmative vote of four of its members and
is proper only if the complaint sets forth
sufficient specific facts which, if proven
true, would constitute a violation of the act.

A complainant's unwarranted legal
conclusions from asserted facts would not

be accepted as true and unless based on a
complainant's personal knowledge, a
source of information reasonably giving
rise to a belief in the truth of the allegations
must be identified.

The statement of policy that the
Commission issued a year ago March
purports in some respects, | think, to
broaden what the six Commissioners
unanimously stated just a few years before.
That statement said that the Commission
had found reason to believe in cases where
the available evidence in the matter is at
least sufficient to warrant conducting an
investigation and where the seriousness of
the alleged violation warrants either further
investigation or immediate conciliation.

I think that may be an apparently
settled but important change. Itis nota
reason to investigate standard unless
Congress changes the statute and | think
that's really very important.

I believe at the RTB stage the
Commission should find either reason to
believe and then initiate investigation
reasonably and then conciliate or dismiss
for prudential reasons or find no RTB. The
one thing in that policy statement last year
that I think really does capture the meaning
of the RTB standard is the description of
what a no reason to believe finding means.
There are three examples, which | won't
quote here, but they're on page 12546 of
the Federal Register.

The -- | guess one thing | would
suggest, that there should not be
admonishments issued at the time of a
reason to believe finding. There should be
no adverse finding at reason to believe that
closes the case. I think that is -- does not
respect the due process rights of a
respondent in the proceeding.

By the same token, just a few
other points about RTB. 1 think
complainants should be held very strictly to
the obligation in the regulations to clearly
identify respondents in a case under
111.4(d)(1). Only the Commission itself
and not the Office of General Counsel
should be able to add respondents at that
stage and by the four votes required, as in
other matters, and a respondent should
never be advised for the first time that it is
a respondent by receiving an RTB finding,
and that's a circumstance that I've
experienced as counsel.
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Secondly, | think the Commission
should formalize the motion for
reconsideration process regarding RTBs, as
several commenters have suggested.
Finally, I believe it would be important to
improve the motion to quash process. As |
said, when a subpoena issues, it is well
after the race is in investigation and in my
experience, subpoenas are often really
incredibly broad, going way beyond the
four corners of a complaint, the RTB
finding and anything that's reasonably
related to it.

I've been in a position to file a
motion to quash. They're always denied
and from what | know from others is |
think they are always denied or virtually
always denied.

I think there should be an
opportunity in appropriate cases for the
respondent to present argument before the
Commission on a motion to quash. The
Commission ought to issue a reasoned
decision on a motion to quash rather than
have the Office of General Counsel, which
is really an adversary party, inform the
respondent that the motion has been
denied. 1 think a fresh look ought to be
taken at the discovery that is initiated with
an RTB to make sure that it is
commensurate with the complaint and the
RTB finding.

On the Reports Analysis Division,
in his comments, former Commissioner
von Spakovsky said that “there's very little
supervision by the Commissioners of
RAD's activities." 1 don't know how true
that is, but it seems to me that it shows in
the way that RAD operates.

| think it's very important to give
RAD a complete and critical review. Itis
the one Commission office that every
regulated committee deals with and for
them, in many respects, RAD is the public
face of the Commission because that's the
point where they have contact with the
Commission regularly in filing their reports
and getting feedback from them.

But | find RAD to be a very
frustrating and inscrutable office. There is
inadequate opportunity for informed
engagement with analysts. There is a
presumption often that every contact with
RAD -- presumption on their part -- that
every contact has to be on the record and
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there's a reluctance to give advice and
feedback.

The letters are often opaquely,
alarmingly and poorly written and | think
especially intimidating for committees that
do not have regular counsel. They often do
not identify the entries and reports that are
at issue. They assert standards and
requirements that are not found anywhere
else in the Commission's regulations or
formal guidance.

They sometimes suddenly assert
positions about entries and manners of
description that have never previously been
advanced, even where a committee has
done it the same way for years. And
perhaps worst of all, they never
substantively, | mean never, in my
experience anyway, substantively respond
to a legal objection or a legitimate legal
contention that is raised objecting to a
requirement or a request or a position that's
asserted in an RFAL.

Either they ignore it and just don't
pursue the matter or they will ignore it and
rather robotically repeat the same request in
a subsequent RFAI regarding a subsequent
report without regard and without any
notice at all that you have an intervening,
carefully considered position to express to
them.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Mr.
Gold your time is close to up.

MR. GOLD: Okay, | just have
one more point, that is that I think OGC
should be engaged when there is a legal
objection or a legal contention raised in
response to an RFAI and OGC should
engage, at least informally, with the
committee at that point and there ought to
be a substantive response in writing to any
kind of legal objection.

I think what this speaks is that the
Commission ought to really take another
look at the standards for these reports,
perhaps have a running of frequently asked
questions portion on the website. And
certainly, and final point, is that there
should be no referrals from RAD to
enforcement without notice to the
committee and some opportunity for the
committee to be engaged. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. Mr. Kelner?

MR. KELNER: Chairman
Walther, | appreciate this opportunity to

testify. As others have said today, |
commend the Commission for holding this
hearing and taking a critical look at its own
procedures.

I think it's fair to say that the FEC
is the most criticized, vilified and
misunderstood of all federal agencies, with
the probable exception of the IRS. As you
know all too well, there is a constant
drumbeat of vitriol directed at this agency
from the editorial pages of major national
newspapers, from self-described
government reform groups and from
partisan political forces.

The usual critique is that the
agency is paralyzed by partisanship,
unwilling or unable to apply the law
without regard to its partisan effect. 1 don't
subscribe to this critique, as | think it
misstates ideological conflicts rooted in
serious disagreements about the scope of
the First Amendment from your
partisanship, but I do believe that the
Commission's sometimes opaque -- a word
we've heard several times today -- and
unpredictable approach to its mission
underlines public confidence and
empowers the Commission's bitterest
critics.

The Commission could do much
to blunt the public criticism by revamping
its procedures so as to enhance due process
protections for respondents and to increase
the transparency of its decision-making,
while at the same time strengthening
penalties for the most serious violations of
the Federal Election Campaign Act. | have
some specific suggestions.

First, it is time that the
Commission lifted the veil of secrecy that
has for so long shrouded the process by
which the Commission determines the fines
that are to be imposed in the enforcement
cases. For years practitioners have been
pondering how the Commission comes up
with its initial assessment of penalties.
There appears to outsiders to be little
rhyme or reason to these assessments.
They sometimes seem to be influenced by
relative factors such as the size or
prominence of the respondent or the
respondent's reputational or political
vulnerability than by objective quantifiable
factors.

Penalties in like cases do not
always appear to be consistent. Moreover,
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because the Commission treats its
guidelines for making penalty assessments
as a state secret, the incentives for
regulated committees and corporations to
self-disclose violations where self-
disclosure is not required by law, are
greatly reduced. This is so because if a
respondent cannot assess with reasonable
confidence the level of fine that it will
receive upon making a self-disclosure, it
will often decide not to self-disclose.

The Commission later -- a few
years ago to formulate a policy statement
on public -- on voluntary disclosures,
promising a 25 to 75 percent reduction in
fines for those who self-disclose. I'd be
curious to learn how much of an uptick you
actually saw in self-disclosures. | suspect
not much, because what good is a 75
percent reduction in my fine if | can't tell in
advance what dollar figure the Commission
will be starting from?

If the Commission is free simply
to ratchet up the initial assessment so as to
offset the promised reduction, then the
incentive to self-disclose under the new
policy ends up being meaningless.

Other federal agencies understand
this fundamental logic. Numerous
agencies have published their guidelines
for determining penalties. Details are
provided in my written testimony, but
examples include the Export
Administration, OFAC, the Nuclear
Regulatory Commission, the Office of the
Controller of the Currency, the EPA and
actually just the other day, U.S. Customs
and Border Protection, which now has its
own method of determining penalties.

It is sometimes said that if the
FEC were to open up the black box and
reveal how it determines penalties, bad
actors would be able to calculate their
likely penalties and simply figure it into the
cost of doing business. But such conscious
dealing of the system would open the
respondent to a charge that he acted
knowingly and willfully, triggering a
possible criminal prosecution, which is a
pretty strong deterrent.

Moreover, if it's felt that
transparently informing the public of the
penalties that it faces provided in FECA
would result in insufficient deterrence, then
the solution is to stiffen the penalties, not to
conceal them from public view.
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If you need statutory authority to
stiffen penalties, then seek it. But the
penalty regime itself must be transparent,
coherent and predictable both for reasons
of fundamental fairness and to ensure that
the agency is viewed as effective.

The Commission's current
approach of shrouding the penalty process
in mystery encourages the public to suspect
that the Commission actually has no idea
how it calculates penalties, that the
penalties are plucked from thin air based on
what the Commission thinks it can achieve
rather than based on identifiable law.

This is just the sort of thing that
undermines public confidence and makes
some critics think that the FEC is a quasi-
political organization where penalties are
handed out in a smoke-filled room guided
by politics, not by law. | don't believe
that's the case, but the public can't be
faulted for drawing that inference from the
Commission's reluctance to explain its own
procedures.

Second, and relatedly, the
Commission should abandon its current
practice of using the early stages of the
process to make findings of knowing and
willful intent. | don't believe that at the
RTB stage it is ever appropriate --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Mr.
Kelner, I'm going to remind you to cease
quickly and then -- one more comment -- --
questions.

MR. KELNER: Okay, if | could
make one more point with respect to the
DOJ's comments submitted to the FEC. |
don't believe that anything in a bipartisan
campaign or format necessitates changes to
the relationship between DOJ and the FEC.
BCRA did stiffen penalties, but Congress
took no action to change the concurrent
jurisdiction of the agencies or the relation
of the two agencies and | would refer you
for analogy to the relationship between the
Securities and Exchange Commission and
the DOJ, which is actually quite similar to
the current relationship between the FEC
and the DOJ.

In the case of SEC investigations,
sometimes the SEC refers matters to
Justice, sometimes not. Sometimes they do
investigations jointly if SEC approves it,
sometimes not. | believe that's the
arrangement in effect the FEC has now and

I believe it's an appropriate arrangement to
continue.

Thank you very much.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. Mr. Svoboda?

MR. SVOBODA: Thank you
very much, Commissioner, and thank you
also to the staff who helped put this
together. I'm very -- | think it's a good idea
that the Commission chose to do this today.
I think it's good, irrespective of how well or
how poorly you think the procedures are
working, from time to time to just kind of
towel off and take a look with some
distance at what you've been working with
these past several years and see if it's
working exactly the way that you would
like it to work and the way in fact | think
everybody intended when the Act was
written and when the rules were written.

So with that perspective in mind, |
thought | would relay just a few
observations on some of the expectations
that practitioners like myself and people
like our clients | think tend to have of the
agency and its procedures and as
touchstones, if you will, for evaluating just
how well or how poorly we're doing.
Hopefully these are expectations | think
that everybody in the room would share to
some degree, but they're useful touchstones
perhaps to evaluate how we're doing.

The first expectation | think my
clients and a lawyer like me would have is
that they would have the chance to be heard
by the Commission before something bad
happens to them at the agency level. The
process, at least the enforcement process, is
structured so that that happens, as is the
audit process and as are other processes in
the agency.

But it doesn't always work quite
that way in practice and | think it's worth
devoting some sustained thought to those
instances where perhaps it doesn't. So for
example, there are times when an entity, a
political committee, a person, may get a
letter from the Commission informing them
that through the exercise of supervisory
responsibilities, the Commission's found
reason to believe that a violation has
occurred and extending them the
opportunity to settle at what | am sure is a
low, low bargain price, discounted as Rob
Kelner observed, from somewhere.
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CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Sounds like you've heard that a few times.

MR. SVOBODA: It has and did
happen a few times. That shouldn't be a
respondent's first interaction with the
agency. If there is an assertion that
somebody has violated the law, the person
has, | think, ought to have the ability to say
in the first instance why that isn't so. |
mean, to explain why the complaint, if you
will, is deficient as a matter of law or as a
matter of fact.

So there are those blind spots that
happen from time to time in the
enforcement process. They happen also
from time to time in the audit process, not
so much at the early stages, because the
audit process works rather well in terms of
having informal and direct contact between
committee representatives and the auditors
on the ground, so if you ever want quality
time with your government, the audit
process is certainly the way to go.

But particularly at the moment
when the matter is just teed up to the
Commission for final decision, that
moment when the Final Audit Report is put
on a Commission agenda or put on the
public record, there are moments, for
example, where a finding may emerge
between the Interim Audit Report stage and
the Final Audit Report stage where the
finding's significantly different or there's a
significant legal issue involved and then
you're counsel to a respondent that is
looking down the barrel of potentially
hundreds of thousands of dollars, or if not
millions of dollars, in potential liability,
you want to scream to someone and say,
stop, wait, can we figure out -- you know,
can we talk this through?

But the process, and here I'm
careful to say the process doesn't lend itself
as neatly to that. The process is designed
basically to operate in stages where
comments are funneled to the staff and
ultimately to the Commission and doesn't
lend itself as well to the -- sort of these
significant issues at the 11th hour.

So that's the first broad
expectation | guess that my clients and the
people like me would tend to have, which
is, will we have a chance to be heard before
something bad happens to us?

The second is the expectation that
we would be able to present our arguments
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to the Commission, directly to the
Commission with the confidence that we'll
be -- we'll be heard. Now informally, the
agency works rather well, | think, in that
regard. | mean, | get the sense as a
practitioner that when | submit a brief of
significance in the matter that that brief is
made available to Commissioners and that
Commissioners read it and that
Commissioners react to it as they react to
it, but that there's some cognizance that is
there.

So | came to you not with a
complaint, that somehow information is
withheld from the Commission or the
Commission lacks an adequate factual
basis to see the arguments. But it's
important to know that the process is not
structured so that that is indeed even
supposed to happen.

Again, the process is structured so
that practitioners like myself and the
respondents whom we represent deal in the
first instance with interlocutors, if you will,
who are presenting and relaying our
position to the Commission. And often
times these interlocutors, not because
they're bad people and not because they're
taking bad positions, are propounding
positions that are quite different than ours.
They disagree with our positions.

So would it perhaps be more
appropriate for the Commission to have a
process where at least formally you're
guaranteed at certain stages of the process
the ability to file a brief directly with the
Commission that's read directly by
Commissioners?

The third broad expectation, that
the enforcement process, when you're
facing a MUR, when you're a respondent in
a MUR, is not going to be conducted
through the back door, if you will.
Because the Commission has different
divisions and because they do different
things, there are moments from time to
time where these different divisions may be
active in the same transaction or the same
legal issue.

So you may have a client, for
example, who is a respondent in a MUR
and at the same time, that client has been
selected for audit in that same election
cycle, and so these same legal issues are
being dealt with in two different forums at
the same time, and that can create some

moments of supreme awkwardness, |
would imagine, for the agency and
certainly for the respondents because it
places additional burdens in terms of
protecting our confidentiality rights on the
Act -- under the Act. | mean a MUR
process is confidential until it's concluded,
but an audit process of course is public
when it is concluded.

It can intersect also from time to
time with RAD, which may be issuing
guidance on these very same questions that
are a point of very wide dispute in a MUR.
So the Commission, and it's a rare event,
but it happens often enough that the
Commission should devote some attention
to it, at least to manage this process of
making sure that the enforcement process is
top dog, if you will, in terms of making
sure that respondents are having their rights
protected and having the issue surfaced and
resolved in the way that they ought to be
entitled to through the protections of that
process.

Then the last expectation | think
that my clients and practitioners like |
would have is that we're able to understand
why the Commission did what it did. |
talked a moment ago about the fact, for
example, that we submit briefs in
enforcement matters to the General
Counsel, they're relayed to the Commission
and then at some time we see a General
Counsel's factual and legal analysis that
discusses it.

One of the things though that has
always struck me as odd is that the factual
and legal analysis, and I think it's because
of the expectations the Commission sets for
the General Counsel, are they're styled as
dispassionate understandings or
dispassionate statements of what the law is
and they seldom if ever engage directly the
arguments that counsel may make in a case.

So you may have a MUR, for
example, with an immensely complicated
legal question like who is a political
committee, what is or isn't major purpose?
What is or isn't express advocacy? And
you may have a firm like -- like our firm
that submits a brief that argues these -- that
makes the arguments on these legal issues
in great detail and then you'll see a General
Counsel's report or factual and legal
analysis that it's as if the brief had never
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been submitted, the legal arguments are not
engaged, they're not dealt with.

I think frankly it's because there's
not an expectation that they ought to be
dealt with because of the architecture of
how the process is devised and the fact that
basically the Commission is being
presented at the end of the day
dispassionately with an analysis of the
issues in the case.

It would be helpful to the
transparency of the process for
practitioners like myself and our clients to
be able to see that our arguments were
read, that they were agreed with or
disagreed with and why they were
disagreed with, if in fact they were. It may
be that there's something we hadn't thought
of before. I'd like to think that's not the
case, but it would be nice to see that in the
process.

So those are just some basic
expectations that guide at least my thinking
as the Commission has this hearing and |
appreciate your hearing from the last
witness on the last panel of the first day.
It's a daunting task and heavy
responsibility. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. Commissioner Bauerly,
any questions?

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
It's random selection here. I'm used to my
colleagues on the end --

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: --

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
The chairman is entitled to keep us all on
our toes; | appreciate that. I -- we talked
earlier in the day about appropriate places
for opportunities to be heard and we sort of
get slightly different versions from each
witness depending on who is addressing
the issue and in an effort to sort of get as
broad of a perspective as possible, I'd like
to hear your perspectives on the stages for
some of these things.

I think, Mr. Svoboda, you said in
an audit context you think at that final audit
hearing it would be the appropriate place. |
was wondering if any of the other panelists
-- and if you'd like to expand on that, I'd
appreciate it. Because | think -- | think we
all share the view that we certainly should
try to find ways for people to have more
opportunities to be heard, but finding that
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place in time in the process is an important
consideration.

So we want to make sure we're
getting that right if we do adopt some sort
of pilot program or something like that. So
I'd be interested in your comments on the
point in time in an audit process where that
would be most useful to either -- to the
respondents and to the process.

MR. SVOBODA: Thank you,
Commissioner. | came into the room
actually as the last panel was beginning to
touch on this subject. | heard Mr. Stoltz
and Mr. Elias' colloquy about the
information that the audit staff does
produce to the Commission during the
process from time to time.

So for example, I heard Mr. Stoltz
say that the Interim Audit response is
provided to Commissioners as well as other
materials in the process. | think that's
good. I'd like to be able to know as a
practitioner and tell my client with
certainty that those -- that those documents,
the Interim Audit response and other
significant documents made available in
the audit on legal issues, are in fact being
presented to the Commission.

| think it would be worth perhaps
looking at the rules and in particular the
limits on ex parte communications, which
are quite broadly drawn at present, to see if
there is not perhaps an opportunity
formally and transparently and with the
awareness of everybody on the
Commission and ultimately on the public
record, but to make those sorts of
presentations available directly to the
Commission.

To answer your question directly,
| think there's --

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
Can | just interrupt you for a second,
because | want to make sure | understand?
You're talking about the written
submissions? Because you said -- you say
directly, but I think Commissioner
Weintraub mentioned earlier in the day, we
get to see the -- it's not -- we don't only get
the staff of this agency's view of the matter.
We see it directly, so I'm just trying to
make sure | understand what extra you are
looking for?

MR. SVOBODA: You may see it
directly. We can never know for sure that
you have in fact seen it directly.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
Well, and you're going to have to take my
word for it that | read all the footnotes too,
but at some point, I'm not quite sure, but |
just want to make sure | understand what
will make you happy.

MR. SVOBODA: There's two
moments when it's most important for me
to make sure that we're communicating
with you. The first is at the interim stage
where we have the first crack at what the
Audit Division's findings are and we agree
or disagree or dispute those findings. That
is where you are most likely in the first
instance to see a complex legal issue. So
that's the first stage.

The second is before the Final
Audit Report is issued, because as we
talked about earlier, audit reports are a
work in progress. They continue to work
on them after fieldwork's done and the
interim report is done and there can be
moments where a very significant issue can
emerge only at the Final Audit Report
stage.

Audit has been fairly decent
informally about talking with attorneys like
us and giving us a chance to talk with them
directly about it. But there may be issues
from time to time that we feel we need to
communicate very loudly and clearly with
you.

I had an audit. 1 won't say exactly
which one it was, but about two or three
years ago, where the big finding in the
audit with the potential of a -- with a
potential of a high six figure repayment and
the biggest issue at the end of the day in the
audit report did not come up until well after
the preliminary audit report had been
concluded.

That was a moment where while
we had a chance to converse with staff
about it, staff | think had a view of how
they thought it ought to go and we had a
quite different view and it was very urgent
to us to be able to make sure that the
Commission were aware of our views.

It was also, and this happens in
audit quite a bit, there's a really
complicated technical issue both of law and
just in terms of making the numbers work,
so having a safety valve, if you will, in that
process where there's some space between
when the Final Audit Report's submitted to
the Commission, when a respondent has a
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chance to comment on it, the Commission
has a chance to consider the comments and
figure out what to do about it, that's
conducive toward sorting through those
various complicated, very technical issues.

Because I'll be blunt, if we don't
have the opportunity to weigh in on those
who communicate with them, you do the
natural thing, which is to defer to the staff
who are going to be the only other people
who are going to understand these issues
and the technical nature and who may be
coming down in a very different place from
where we are.

So to have kind of that safety
valve built in there at the end of the process
is very important to us.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We
have -- go ahead.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY: |
just wanted to know if there was -- if any
of the other panelists had either different
approaches or anything to add?

MR. KELNER: Commissioner, |
agree with Brian. | think it is at the final
audit stage and it makes sense for there to
be an oral appearance. But | would
highlight one other point, which is that it's
not just the subject of the audit who is at
risk at that stage, but often there are third
parties mentioned in audit reports, and I've
had this experience several times, where
I'm representing not the client that's being
audited, but some other entity who it turns
out is essentially accused of wrongdoing in
an audit report, doesn't learn about it until
after the audit report has been adopted by
the Commission when a subsequent
enforcement action begins.

So | would advocate that when
there are suggestions of wrongdoing that
might point to a subsequent MUR, anybody
who is the target of those allegations ought
to be invited to appear, and I'm talking
about parties that don't even have written
submissions. So this really would be their
only opportunity to weigh in before the
audit is actually accepted.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Mr.
Gold?

MR. GOLD: Yeah, | generally
agree that at the Final Audit Report stage,
not before, | think is urgently -- the Final
Audit Report stage you ought to consider
some kind of pilot program that's modeled
on the probable cause hearings where at the
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request -- not an automatic grant of an
opportunity to appear -- but at the request
of the audited committee and with at least
two Commissioners agreeing that it would
be useful, there ought to be that
opportunity to directly engage.

| accept that you're reading what
is being submitted. | think that's obviously
very important not just in the audit stage,
but in other contexts as well. But why not
consider a pilot program here and just see
how it goes?

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Thanks very much. Mr. Vice Chairman?

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Mr. Kelner,
during your opening statement, because of
strictures of time, you were about ready to
touch upon a point that you discuss in your
submission which | found very interesting
about knowing and willful at the reason to
believe stage and | just wanted to give you
the opportunity to kind of flesh out what
you had started in your opening statement.

MR. KELNER: | appreciate that.
The problem is that the reason to believe
stage is supposed to be a stage at which the
Commission is simply deciding to open an
investigation. And that in fact is the
position that the Commission itself has
taken and several years ago it asked
Congress to actually change the
terminology in the statute, no longer to say
reason to believe, but to say something like
reason to begin an investigation.

Even though that's the case, even
though everybody understands that reason
to believe is simply the opening of an
investigation, we do from time to time see
the Commission make findings in a reason
to believe letter that there's reason to
believe that the respondent acted
knowingly and willfully, which is
Commission argot for at a minimum a
substantial increase in the civil penalties
but in fact a predicate for a criminal
prosecution.

I think there's really no basis in
law for the Commission to be making
findings at that very early stage in the
proceeding regarding the state of mind of
the respondent.

| also think that we have more and
more frequently seen those kinds of
findings in a reason to believe letter used
really to threaten or intimidate the

respondent in pre-probable cause
conciliation and to try to drive the
respondent towards a generous settlement
offer whereupon the language magically

I've seen that with increasing
frequency. | think it's really a serious
abuse of the process and more to the point,
completely inconsistent with the statutory
concept of reason to believe.

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Earlier today, | don't know if you were
here, former Commissioner Mason touched
briefly upon the issue of knowing and
willful findings at the reason to believe
stage, saying that it merely is giving notice
to a respondent that this could give them an
indication right from the outset that they're
being investigated for a knowing and
willful violation.

Could that same notice be
provided through some other mechanism
other than through a formal finding of
reason to believe that there was a knowing
and willful violation?

MR. KELNER: Absolutely. For
one thing, it's usually apparent from the
way the reason to believe letter is crafted
that the allegations are suggesting some
kind of knowledge or some kind of intent.
But actually, including the language you
have in the Commission vote to include
that language in the letter, | think creates
much more of a presumption. | think also
it puts something on the public record
which would be permanently threatening
and damaging almost regardless of what
happens later on in the process.

And so | think that's highly
prejudicial to innocent respondents so to
speak and | frankly don't buy the notion
that it's doing the respondent a favor by
making sure they're fully alert. | think
respondents tend to be fully alert to the
exposure that they face. They can talk to
their lawyers about that. | think in fact this
language is used to provide leverage to the
staff in pre-probable cause conciliation
negotiations.

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
So from your perspective, just to reiterate,
you believe that there are less formal
means? Rather than voting RTB, there are
all sorts of ways and that you believe from
the perspective of one who's represented
clients who have been the subject of such

investigations, that there are other ways
that they will get the message loud and
clear that you are being investigated for a
potential knowing and willful violation, but
it doesn't necessarily need to be within the
formal finding of the Commission in order
for you to get that message?

MR. KELNER: | agree. It's clear
from the context. It also becomes clear in
oral discussions with the staff.

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
If | can just shift gears and just ask a quick
question. It's been suggested that
Commissioners should worry first and
foremost about enforcing the law and not
worrying about -- worrying less about First
Amendment considerations, that that's
something for the court to consider and less
something that the Commissioners should
be worrying about.

I just wanted to ask any of the
witnesses on the panel if they would -- if
they had any thoughts on what sort of
considerations the Commissioners should
have from a First Amendment perspective
when we are making our decisions?

MR. KELNER: If | can address
it. 1don't really think there's much of a
choice for Commissioners. | think you all
probably take an oath to the Constitution
when you are sworn into office. | don't
think any federal officer really has a choice
but to consider the constitutional
implications of any governmental action,
most especially an enforcement action.

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Okay, any other thoughts?

MR. GOLD: Yes. Clearly the
Commission is a creature of the Congress
and the statute is a creature of the Congress
and where the statute is clear you’ve got to
follow the statute even if you harbor
concerns about its consistency with the
First Amendment.

But in the ordinary course of what
you do day to day, whether it's in
enforcement matters or in advisory
opinions, or the like, insofar as there is
ambiguity, which there often is as you
know from some of the key concepts of the
statute and in your own written -- in
crafting your own regulations, | think you
certainly have to take First Amendment
considerations into account.

A number of Commissioners in
the past have done so quite eloquently and
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been also faithful to their obligation to
enforce the law as written. So | think it's
something that has to be at the forefront of
what you consider, not only because that's
your duty, but I think as a very practical
matter, as you know, just about everything
you do is scrutinized by all sorts of people,
including practitioners, professional critics
and the like, for whether you're going too
far, whether it's consistent with the First
Amendment and rightly so.

It should be -- it should be
subjected to that scrutiny because it's a
peculiarly sensitive statute and area that
we're involved with here. So I think you
need to be very mindful of that.

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Thank you. Mr. Svoboda.

MR. SVOBODA: It's a difficult --
it's a difficult riddle for you because on the
one hand you do, as the other commenters
have said, need to be sensitive to these First
Amendment issues. On the other hand, the
court is not going to defer to your opinions
of constitutional law.

So the question is how do you
manage that and how do you bring that
sensitivity to the process? | think you do it
in two ways. The first is | think
substantively to approach the -- to approach
particularly close or ambiguous questions
with restraint.

When the Commission has the
opportunity on the one hand to take an
expansive and imaginative and aggressive
view of a vague statute on the one hand and
to take a more sparing, more restrained,
more narrowly focused view of that same
statute on the other, I think the Constitution
and those sorts of concerns are going to
push the Commission in that -- in a latter
direction.

That's in fact what courts say you
ought to do, that you ought to be construing
statutes to avoid constitutional difficulties
rather than maximize them. | think it also
goes, however, to the rigor of your
procedures, what we're talking about here
today, which is because you're dealing with
such sensitive First Amendment issues, that
you ought to be looking with more rigor
and more care in terms of how enforcement
actions get commenced, how subpoenas get
issued, how these sorts of adverse actions
get taken that in a very real way burden the

First Amendment rights of people like our
clients.

We spend money -- they spend
money on lawyers like us to defend
themselves that they otherwise would be
spending to influence votes or to promote
their issues on issues of public concern.

VICE CHAIRMAN PETERSEN:
Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Commissioner Weintraub.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Brian, it sounds like you would just feel
better if you could file your papers directly
with us and send them directly to our
offices; is that really what you're saying?
Putting aside the issue of potentially having
hearings at the -- before we issue Final
Audit Reports, because | think a number of
people have suggested and I think that it's a
really -- it's an idea that | would support.

But am I hearing you right, you
just want to send it right to us?

MR. SVOBODA: Yeah. | mean,
to be honest with you. There are moments
and there have been moments in audits and
in MURs where a matter has come up that
we felt that it was urgent to want to
communicate to the Commission. It has
always been a source of some internal
debate in our office because we read and
are aware of the ex parte rules and we want
to respect those rules and we don't want to
deal with this process in a way that's at all
inappropriate.

But you may be dealing with --
first off, you may have such a divergence
of position between our clients on the one
hand and the General Counsel on the other
that there is real conflict going on there.
And second, you may have matters that are
S0 important to our clients that it's
important that we speak clearly and be
heard. We need to be able to tell them that
we've spoken clearly and have been heard.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: You always speak clearly,
Brian. You can tell them I said so.

MR. SVOBODA: It also goes to a
point where I think there is a difference and
it's worth reflecting on it here today. There
is a difference between, | think, how the
agency conceives itself and how the agency
is conceived by statute and how the agency
actually works in actual practice.
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I mean, the way this works
theoretically is you are an impartial expert
agency that accepts dispassionate advice
from your impartial, dispassionate General
Counsel and in solonic fashion makes
rational decisions about the administration
of campaign finance law and the deciding
of particular matters.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Always.

MR. SVOBODA: In fact
however, the way it works however as a
practical matter in not all MURs, but
MURs involving close legal issues or
complicated legal issues or charged
matters, is it's an adversarial process. |
mean, there is an attorney in the Office of
General Counsel who believes that my
client has done wrong. | have a client on
the other hand who believes that they
haven't done wrong.

We are arguing back and forth with each
other.

The question is, how do you take -
- in those circumstances, how do you
account for the adversarial nature of that
process and really tee up decisions for the
Commission in a way that's most
illuminating for the Commission's own
decision making?

That's not an easy question again
because you have kind of a square peg,
round hole situation in terms of how the
statute's devised and how it works often in
practice. But it's worth thinking about and
how you accommodate to some degree that
reality. And you've taken some steps to do
that.

The probable cause hearing, for
example, process I think is one way in
which that happens that really when you
think about it is the first and only way that
the rules or policies provide for respondent
direct communication with the
Commissioners, where | can write you
something or look you in the eye and know
that | am communicating directly with you.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: I'm glad you like it. |
wrote that policy. And I said it somewhat
frivolously, but | do have a track record of
being in favor of these due process
protections and | am without doubt the --
well easily the longest standing, but
probably the most ardent advocate over the
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years for more transparency, particularly in
our penalty determinations.

| don't share Mr. Kelner's view
that this is suddenly if we have more
transparency and more due process that
suddenly people are going to like us out
there, particularly the editorial boards. |
think it will have -- you guys might like us
better, but the editorial boards will be
completely unmoved by our having a more
transparent and fair process.

Mr. Kelner, you raised this issue
and Commissioner Petersen, Vice
Chairman Petersen talked about it a little
bit, about the knowing and willful at the
RTB phase. Sometimes we get things
where -- and traditionally | have been very
loathe to making that finding at the RTB
phase because | share the trepidation that
someone must feel when they get a finding,
even if it's explained to them that this is a
very preliminary finding, that the
government has made -- had made a
finding, there's reason to believe that they
knowingly and willfully violated the laws.

So I've always been hesitant to do
that. | hear what you say that people can
tell because the argument is they need the
notice, that they might have criminal
liability here. I'm sure they can tell if
they're advised by sophisticated counsel
like the three of you, but not everybody is,
s0 | think there's that.

Sometimes we actually get a
complaint after somebody has pled guilty
to violating the law, to criminally violating
the laws, pretty good evidence at the RTB
phase that there's been knowing and willful
conduct or there's evidence of concealment
that they -- which strongly suggests that
they knew what they were doing was
wrong and they tried to bury it by having
false receipts and, you know, like in a
corporate reimbursement case, somebody
would describe something as a bonus when
it actually was a reimbursement for a
campaign contribution.

Avre there no circumstances where
at the preliminary phase we might have
reason to believe that someone knowingly
and willfully violated the law?

MR. KELNER: Not unless you
want to fundamentally re-conceive what
reason to believe is. If in fact the
Commission still takes the position it took

a few years ago that this is just the
beginning of an investigation --

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: But sometimes we know
more at the beginning than at other times.

MR. KELNER: You don't know
what you know at the beginning. You
shouldn't, in my view, in my humble
opinion, that the outset of an investigation
where you are just opening the
investigation.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: You don't know that
somebody's plead guilty if that's part of the
complaint and we have documentation of
that?

MR. KELNER: There may be
very few cases like that, but | am also
aware of quite a number of cases where
there was no guilty plea.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Okay.

MR. KELNER: And where there
was at that stage of the investigation
relatively little reason for the Commission
to know definitively one way or the other.
I think the danger is if you start trying to
make these decisions about when it's
appropriate and when it's not, there is a
great incentive to include these findings at
that extremely early stage of the
investigation because it so facilitates
OGC's position in pre-probable cause
conciliation talks.

And indeed the proof of the
pudding is that the knowing and willful
finding sometimes magically drops away as
those negotiations --

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Are we bound by it
forever if once we find it we have to go
forward with it?

MR. KELNER: That's exactly the
point, is that you are finding it at a stage
where you're really not in a position to say
one way or the other because it's the outset
of the investigation.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: You're suggesting that
once we -- once we make that finding and
suppose we have some -- we think we have
enough evidence at the very outset to do it,
that once we make that finding if we then
are willing to negotiate over the terms of
the conciliation, are willing to drop that
out, but some of it is a sign of bad faith.
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MR. KELNER: It's a sign of bad
faith because if there was really a
substantial reason to find knowing and
willful intent, | wouldn't expect it to drift
off so readily and easily in the course of
negotiations over dollar figures, which
does in fact happen.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Because sometimes we
might view it as if there's a high enough
dollar figure, it represents an
acknowledgement that this is a very serious
violation and we recognize that it's
extraordinarily difficult. But you believe
there hasn't already been a guilty plea
entered to get someone to admit to a
knowing and willful violation of the law
because they know they will have criminal
liability down the road.

My point here is that | really do
take fairly strong exception to some of the
characterizations that you had in your
testimony of us throwing in the knowing --
and willful and don't blame the staff,
because we vote for it -- going in knowing
and willful at the outset so that we can
ratchet up your penalty or hiding the
penalties so that when you come in on a
sua sponte basis we can play bait and
switch and we secretly know that we would
have given you a lower penalty, but since
we're going to have to honor that sua
sponte policy now, we're going to have to
jack it up at the beginning so that we can
pretend to be lowering it.

We really don't play games like
that with the penalties and | take -- and I'm
surprised to hear you of all people say it
because | know that one of your partners is
very well versed in what happens internally
at this building. If you believe that, I urge
you to go talk to him because I'm sure that
he will tell you that those things don't
happen.

I understand the concerns about
the lack of transparency in the penalty
process and as | said, | have been the
strongest advocate for making it more
transparent so you can see it and
understand it better.

But please do not assume that
because for historical reasons it has not
been transparent that there are bad motives
going on and people are playing games
with you and playing bait and switch and
that there is bad faith in the negotiations,
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because that, | can assure you, certainly on
a lawyer's part, and | make a personal
representation to you on behalf of every
decision that I've participated in, that | have
never seen that happen.

MR. KELNER: | think there's a
difference between bad faith, which is not
what I'm suggesting, and incentives in the
system to game the system, and this goes
on both sides. It goes on the side of
defense counsel and it goes on the side of
prosecutors or regulators.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We're
going to have to keep moving through the
Commission in order to finish up, but go
ahead. | can see the colloquy is necessary
still, but --

MR. KELNER: | think that when
the system allows for findings like
knowing and willful intent to be included at
the very earliest stage in the investigation,
it creates unhealthy incentives for the
negotiation process that follows. | don't
think you have to believe that there's bad
faith to believe that human beings on one
side of the negotiation or the other react to
those incentives. 1 do believe I've seen that
in the course of dealings with the
Commission and other administrative
bodies.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: | guess we're just going to
have to disagree on that, but do go talk to
your partner about it.

MR. KELNER: | will do that.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Commissioner Hunter?

COMMISSIONER HUNTER:
Okay, I'm reluctant to summarize what
anybody has said here, but | think that Mr.
Svoboda and Mr. Gold said that they both
believe that the Counsel’s office and then
to some extent the Audit Division doesn't
ever address respondent's legal issues.

I think a combination of that
comment and the exchange with
Commissioner Weintraub, perhaps one
thing that the exchange where she said is
all you want some assurance that we
Commissioners read your legal briefs,
maybe those concepts combined that | can
see where respondents don't have any
assurance that we both see and read it if the
legal analysis given to the Commission
following their -- your briefs never
acknowledge your legal arguments.

Does that make sense? Do you
want me to say it again because it sort of --
and we've had good internal conversations
with the General Counsel’s office about
this and | think that their view is they don't
think that's inappropriate to address your
legal arguments. | don't know why they
haven't done that on paper in the past. It
didn't make any sense to me when | first
got here and it still doesn't.

One of the things that some people
in the Office of General Counsel have
suggested is that many of your arguments
are responded to over the telephone. 1 don't
know if that's accurate or if you feel it's a
proper way of explaining away your legal
theories. But the truth of that is we don't
see records of the telephone conversations,
nor do | think we want to.

So | think in my personal view, it
makes me anyway less likely to rely on the
General Counsel's argument because | can't
see where they have addressed your legal
arguments. And again, this is something
that I've talked to them about. They're
aware of my position and we've had
productive conversations.

But | do think that would be very
helpful not only to the transparency of the
process, but | think it would help assure
you that in fact not only have we seen your
legal briefs, but we've seen the General
Counsel, how they respond to your legal

MR. GOLD: I'm not sure I've
ever had an experience of dealing with the
Office of General Counsel on the phone on
the substance of a response to a complaint.
I think what would be helpful is in talking
about transparency is for us to know
exactly when in each process the
Commission does see what we submit.
That's -- we know in the enforcement
process it's at the RTB stage, it should be.
You had motion to quash, if the
Commission decides that, probable cause,
the Commission decides that.

It's not so clear in other contexts
and it will be helpful just to say where the
Office of General Counsel gets to make the
"final" decision along the path essentially
without your involvement -- it would be
very simple for you to just say that on the
record as where that -- where that happens.

That would be very useful. What
I was talking about earlier was not the

Audit Division, but RAD, and I think that
really is something that ought to be
addressed, is that | feel it's a one-way legal
conversation and obviously or hopefully
RAD is consulting with the Office of
General Counsel on questions on issues,
but we never, never hear that.

I had a situation where we went
back and forth with RAD in this almost
Orwellian, frankly, circumstance because
the responses -- again, it was as | said
before, robotic repetition of a position
about the same issue, but in a different
report. And the next thing | knew, the
committee was being audited for that
without any real engagement or insufficient
engagement, and that's not right.

MR. SVOBODA: Two quick
comments on that, Commissioner. The
first is with respect to Audit. Audit
actually is fairly good about that, at least in
the text of the audit reports. You read
Final Audit Reports for example, and it's
like a blow by blow. The auditors
presented X to Mr. Svoboda, he sat mutely
with his eyes widening as we said it in the
Interim Audit Report.

(Laughter.)

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: That's
automatically in the typewriter.

MR. SVOBODA: So the audit
report's pretty good about that. With
respect to the General Counsel's briefs and
the factual legal analysis, | was speaking
principally about complex legal issues
where you may have a question, a first
impression or a rule, a really big question
like for example, is my client a political
committee or not?

And | may have a very technical
argument, one that I'd like to think was
kind of creative perhaps where | try to
argue why this or that doctrine of
constitutional law might prohibit that
classification from being applied to me.
But you may actually read the General
Counsel's report at the end of the day or the
probable cause brief and not see an
engagement of that.

I think your premise is correct or
what | think your premise to be is correct
that the process would be aided by having
that sort of direct exchange, so at least if
the General Counsel and thus ultimately
the Commission disagrees with me, it's
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clear that they have and it's clear why they
did.

COMMISSIONER HUNTER:
Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Commissioner McGahn.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Thank you. A couple questions. Firstan
observation which may help. Having only
recently joined the Commission, there were
many things that | thought, some of them |
still think, that echo what I'm hearing here
and it was a confusion as to what the
Commission actually reads and when it
reads it, particularly in the case of Audit.

| didn't realize that the
Commission sees in some instances Interim
Audit Reports and that kind of thing and
none of that is particularly a state secret, it's
just the Commission's never really told
anybody on the outside, so there's a lot of
confusion out there and a lot of frustration.

I can sense it here where folks say,
well gee, we filed this brief and we're not
sure if you read it and folks who have been
here say of course we read it, why are they
saying this? Well because there's a
disconnect here between the agency and the
public and maybe this hearing is a first step
to try to tear down that wall, so to speak.

So the folks who deal with the
agency understand a little bit more about
the inner workings and | think that makes -
- if that happens, | think that moves the
process along, because | feel when people
feel like they're being heard in some form
or another tend to be a little more
cooperative and you can get to the heart of
the matter a little bit quicker.

That's my sermon. My questions
first, just briefly, because we don't have a
lot of time, | don't have a lot of time. With
respect to RAD, from Mr. Gold, any
suggestions on how to get at this issue,
because | have seen this as well? | used to
represent party committees and we would
always get to the RFAI that says your
reports show that you have made both --
coordinated independent expenditures for
the same candidate, please establish that
they were truly independent.

Now that's wholly inappropriate in
an RFAL. | mean, that's -- case right on
point. It's a constitutional right to do both
and that's mini discovery. So I'm very
sympathetic to that.

How do we fix that though
without the Commission micromanaging
RFAIs because 99 percent of the RFAIs
ask legitimate questions about the cash-on-
hand, doesn't add up from the last report.
How do we put something in place, if you
have any thoughts on that? And if you
don't have them today, the comment period
is open, maybe supplement. But think
about sort of proactive ways to get at these
problems, because the comments seem very
similar across the board.

The next step is going to be okay,
so what do we do about?

MR. GOLD: I'd be glad. Ithink I
would be glad to supplement written
comments on February 18 that | don't have
a total -- I don't understand enough perhaps
on how you operate internally to be very
specific. But it seems to me you've had
committees of the Commission on different
matters. Set up on a trial task force to just
review what they do and task some people
to look at all the RFAIs issued in a
particular month, responses.

I would be glad to give you
examples, possibly, probably, although it's
all in the public record, of these exchanges
I'm referring to where it's just again and
again. It's absurd and I think it's an
embarrassment to the Commission when
people look at this and it's a waste of time.

I think you just set up something
internally and | agree, many of the
questions they'll find legitimately there has
been an excess contribution. They identify
the particular entry, that's easy. But so
often, it's this generalized oh, and this has
to do with what you reveal about union
members, let's say, who break the $200
threshold and you'll get a general letter
saying you haven't told us enough about
what their occupations are, a fairly useless
but admittedly explicit requirement.

What are you -- what's your best
efforts policy here? And you've already
answered that question for that -- that union
has already answered that question in the
last year with a written description of its
best efforts policy, which it used. That's
the sort of thing, just some kind of internal
task force that just gets into it.

And call on -- I think you can
have an informal engagement with
committees, practitioners like us and just
say, look we'd like to have a meeting for
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people and just throw it around privately
for a couple of hours. | don't think that's an
ex parte problem. Be creative.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Next question and maybe start with Mr.
Kelner. There's been a lot of discussion
about reason to believe and what it means.
It's always struck me odd when folks talk
about 12(b)(6) and what's the standard and
that kind of thing. It's not really a 12(b)(6)
right, because that's all the facts? You
assume them to be true when there's a legal
cause of action, but that's not what we do
here. That's not what the statute says we
do here. It's not what the reg says we do
here and said facts have to be pled with
some sort of specificity.

It's under oath.

The response tends to conclude
affidavits or some sort of representations
that the facts are not correct, so there are
factual issues at the preliminary stage that
sounds a lot more like the old fashioned
fact pleading that still is present in some
state courts.

A lot of us fancy guys in D.C.
always think in terms of Federal Rules of
Civil Procedure, but in state court, it's been
markedly similar to sort of the speaking
demurrer standard or that kind of thing that
the various states have.

Any thoughts on, as a litigator,
what sort of standard may really apply that
we can maybe look to, already existing
areas that are consistent with the statute
and the regs here?

MR. KELNER: Yeah, | don't
think it's a 12(b)(c) -- a 12(b)(6) question.

I think it's more the nature of whether or
not the well pleaded complaint. Under the
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, one
needs to make specific factual allegations.
In a different context the courts have
sometimes even required so-called
heightened pleading requirements. This is
all before you really get to the 12(b)(6)
stage.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Of rule 9, for example.

MR. KELNER: Rule 9. So |
think the question here, has somebody
submitted a complaint where they've made
coherent factual allegations with some real
apparent substance on the face of the
complaint? And if not, and | think this is
the point that Jan Baran was making pretty





FFederal Election Commission: Public Bearing on Agency Practices and Procedures (Fanuary 14-15, 2009)

well this morning, if not, then it's
appropriate under existing regulations
really for the Commission simply to return
the complaint and say, this is not well
pleaded, without prejudice to it being
resubmitted if the complainant is able to
submit a coherent and particularized
complaint.

COMMISSIONER McGAHN:
Any other thoughts on that from the other
two? No? The other topics come up about
the idea of MURSs as precedent and it gets
somewhat metaphysical, but the question |
have is the sense out there is if the
Commission in certain instances chooses
not to pursue a certain kind of conduct or
on its facts dismisses the case or whatnot,
what is the significance of that legally not
in terms of judicial precedence, but let's say
Administrative Procedures Act or whatnot.

I know the FCC has had a couple
court cases recently where circuit courts
have said they hadn't enforced a certain
kind of rule because they were being a little
more cognizant of First Amendment, but
then end in enforcing it. 1t was thrown out
as arbitrary and capricious. Does that have
any application here to this agency?

MR. KELNER: | think it does.
Courts in APA cases have held that if there
is a long period in which an agency has
adopted a certain position as a practical
matter in adjudications in enforcement
actions, even if that position is not reflected
in the regulation, not reflected in a policy
statement, but where there's a consistent
pattern and practice, the agency cannot
suddenly depart from that practice.

And it makes logical sense
because you want the regulated community
to be on notice as to what the rules are.
And after some indeterminate period of
time where an agency has taken a particular
position in enforcement actions, the
regulated community comes to view that as
the law.

In APA cases the courts on a
couple of occasions at the circuit court
level have in fact said it has become the
law. It's arbitrary and capricious for the
agency to depart from a long-held position
whether or not embodied in regulations or a
policy statement.

MR. GOLD: The statute of
course says that you can only -- I'm
paraphrasing -- establish rules here by

regulation, that advisory -- themselves,
although they are often treated as precedent
as a practical matter and they're very
important, is not the same thing. But we
look to -- it's not -- there's not a lot of case
law about a lot of issues that the
Commission deals with, there just isn't.

So we do work very closely at
advisory opinions and MURs. If there is a
-- and we'll quote them. | think we have
the right as a practical matter and you as --
in terms of enforcement, what policies, and
your priorities, they're important and they
are de facto precedent even if they may not
be strictly -- but at some point, as Rob
Kelner says, they do become -- the agency
at its legal peril will suddenly reverse itself.

I think it's really important that
you explain very clearly what you're doing
and why you're doing it and we have a right
torely on it. Yes, it's often in basically
accepting or endorsing General Counsel
reports, but that then becomes the voice of
the Commission. So there is a burden
there.

MR. SVOBODA: | do agree with
that.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Let
me ask -- finish your question -- Mr.
Stoltz?

MR. STOLTZ: | think my
concerns have been covered, thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Okay,
Ms. Duncan?

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Just one question. Good
afternoon to the panelists. | wanted to
explore a follow-up question with you, Mr.
Kelner, about the relationship between sua
sponte submissions and the publication of
civil penalty formulas.

It seemed that you were saying
that publicizing civil penalty formulas
might be a good idea in part because
respondents might take that into account
with potential respondents in determining
whether they would make a sua sponte
submission and in fact that might
encourage more sua sponte submissions.

I was just wondering whether it
might go in the other direction as well in
that if they see those potential penalties and
they're determining whether to make a
submission, if those penalties are perceived
as being particularly high, could it be a
discouragement to a submission?
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MR. KELNER: It might have
been a few years ago, but | think in
conjunction with the Commission's policy
on voluntary disclosures, no. My argument
is that it was a good thing that the
Commission adopted a policy on voluntary
disclosures, offering 25 percent and 75
percent off for a voluntary disclosure, but
that there is one more step that has to be
taken to make that work, which is that one
has to understand what the starting dollar
figure is.

I think when you put those two
together, that you would see -- I'm not
saying everybody is going to self-disclose,
but I think you will see an increase in self-
disclosures. | think that's the reason that
other agencies have done this. This is nota
totally abstract argument. We can look at
the experience of other federal agencies.
You can talk to those agencies and find out
what their experience has been.

I think what they will tell you is
that they have seen an increase, for
example, at EPA and some of these other
agencies, in voluntary self-disclosures
where the regulated community both
understands that they will get credit for the
self-disclosure and understands what the
starting point is for the penalty calculation.

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you, that's
helpful. With respect to other agencies,
have you found agencies that are closely
similarly situated to this agency that have
had the experience of publicizing civil
penalty formulas?

MR. KELNER: | don't think, and
I'd be interested in your view, but | don't
think there is something materially
different about the FEC from other
agencies in this context, in the context of
what drives decisions about voluntary self-
disclosures. | think what drives those
decisions pretty much comes down to what
risk do we face if we don't self-disclose?
What benefits do we gain if we do self-
disclose?

Again, I'm talking about a context
where you don't have a legal obligation to
self-disclose. That analysis I don't
personally think is going to vary greatly
from agency to agency, so in that respect, |
don't think any of these agencies that I cite
in my written testimony are materially
different from this one.





FFederal Election Commission: Public Bearing on Agency Practices and Procedures (Fanuary 14-15, 2009)

Obviously there are many respects
in which EPA is different from the FEC,
but none that I think are material to this
topic.

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: If we
were to publish our civil penalties, would
you suggest we do it in a range and then
mention that there are factors that may
adjust within the range, or how would you
suggest we approach the just difficult thing
that we have not been able to do over
years?

MR. KELNER: Right. It's not
easy, and | understand that. The way other
agencies have done it typically is to
identify different kinds of violations, sort
of put them in buckets and then say, if
you're in this bucket, here are the four
factors that we will consider and here's a
worksheet that actually -- some agencies
actually have a worksheet that sort of gives
you a diagram of how this works, and we'll
give you a rating under each of these
factors.

Yeah, there might be a range. It
might not be a fixed starting figure.
There's also usually an out. Usually the
policy says this is how we'll do it unless in
extraordinary cases we decide not to do it
this way. So it's not sort of permanently
binding, but over time, people get
experience with whether the agency's
actually following the policy and usually
they are followed.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We
got criticized awhile back because we took
into consideration the fact that somebody
couldn't pay, a group with financial
hardship or the party, and the records show
that an adjustment was made and the
factors taken into consideration.
Somebody felt it was unfair that -- of
course have a higher penalty just because it
had a -- do you have any thoughts on how
we could approach issues like inability to
pay a fine if we did have a schedule like
that?

MR. KELNER: | think it's
entirely appropriate to consider ability to
pay and either not to impose a fine or to
impose a lesser fine where there is no
ability to pay. I think that's a common
practice.

I know that some of the other
federal agencies that have published their

penalty guidelines have specifically
included that factor. Certainly in the
federal courts in the criminal cases under
the sentencing guidelines, that is taken,
accounted. | don't think it's necessarily
appropriate to impose a huge financial fine
on somebody's who's destitute, for
example, an individual.

There are other ways of imposing
penalties. So | think it's appropriate to
consider and | think there are other
examples of agencies that have considered
it.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Mr.
Gold, Mr. Svoboda, on those issues?

MR. GOLD: | believe you ought
to publish something about the penalty
standards. 1 also think that you ought to
publish the -- what are the thresholds for
your audits, what goes into the decision to
audit a particular committee.

The statute does not require that to
be confidential. | think that would be very
helpful. In my experience, committees try
to comply with the statute and the most
frustrating thing is when they are suddenly
confronted with something, they didn't
realize the gravity of it, or they're
confronted with a confusing letter, as |
described in our RFAL.

I think also there's a -- it's not as if
the Commission knows all this and
everybody outside the Commission doesn't
know it. At this point, you have a number
of ex-Commissioners, ex-General Counsel,
ex-staff, who do know these things and are
now representing parties. They may not be
disclosing that, but they do have the benefit
of that knowledge.

It seems to me that that has not
caused the system to crash. There are a lot
of organizations that are not represented
before the Commission or represented
before the Commission by counsel who are
not doing this as a substantial part of their
practice and it seems to me that
information would be -- ought to be fairly
communicated to the public.

I think the net effect of it would be
to bolster compliance, | really do.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: And
respect for the system. Mr. Svoboda?

MR. SVOBODA: Commissioner,
I think to go to your point on whether you
can take into consideration the means of
the respondent, | mean, there actually is
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case law under the FECA that talks about
that. It's the Furgatch case and the four
factors that the court is supposed to
consider when imposing penalties.

And that as a practitioner is one of
the oddities I guess I find about the
administrative process of trying to
negotiate conciliation and trying to
negotiate penalties, which is what is from
time to time the seeming disconnect
between what may be obtainable in a court
applying those factors and what is being
presented in conciliation.

And certainly, understanding the
metric that is generating that number out of
the Commission in the first instance is
helpful to us as practitioners to understand
exactly where it's coming from and what
the basis is. Because there are times | think
where penalties are discussed in the
administrative process that probably can't
be gotten in civil litigation or would have a
difficult chance of being gotten.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: This
wasn't addressed in your comments, but in
terms of being able to deal with situations
and -- percentage wise, but it's not
uncommon to find that committees have no
money after elections and then our work is
done, but there really is no basis to have a
deterrent factor because the committee's
gone and the treasurer may not still be
around.

But do you think there is any
merit to strengthening the liability or
responsibility of those who are handling
funds for the campaign and are responsible
for the way that they are dealt with so that
it touches people in a more personal
responsibility perspective?

MR. SVOBODA: That strikes me
actually as a sort of question that Congress
has considered and probably ought to
consider, to be real honest, because you
have a statute that prescribes who
respondents are and limits them to those
being penalized and you have the
Commission's policy statement on treasurer
liability, which actually I think I and most
of us in the community have found to work
actually fairly well in terms of delineating
when you have an individual or genuine
personal risk and when you have an
individual who doesn't.

I worked as a legislative aide on
campaign finance issues about 10, 11 years
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back and there were -- when McCain-
Feingold was in its embryonic stages there
were discussions about that, do you
consider making campaign managers
liable? Do you consider making candidates
liable?

And | can tell you, that's the third
rail of legislative and enforcement decision
in this area of law and it strikes me as the
classic sort of decision that Congress
probably ought to consider.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Any
further comments from the other panelists
on the issue?

MR. GOLD: | agree it'sa
legislative issue.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We
have three few minutes left if anybody has
any further comments, we can sure do that.
We started a few minutes late, so we're a
little later than what we planned, but if
there's nothing more, then we conclude this
panel and also the meeting.

But thank you very much for
being here. It was very educational for us
and very, very helpful. We appreciate it.

And don't forget that there is some
time left to make written comments to
follow-up. Thanks very much.

I'd like to ask you if there are any
matters that we need to -- there are no such
matters. Okay, the meeting is adjourned. |
take that back. I think the meeting is
recessed until tomorrow morning at 10:00.

(Whereupon, at 5:03 p.m., the
meeting was continued.)
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PROCEEDINGS

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Good
morning, everyone. We are now convening
again the special session of the Federal
Election Commission for Thursday,
January 15. Today is a continuation of the
hearing we began yesterday on the
Commission's policies, practices and
procedures.

I am Steve Walther, Chairman of
the Commission, just to remind you of that.
On the left is Matt Petersen, our Vice
Chairman. To my right is Cynthia Bauerly,
and to her right is Ellen Weintraub, the
Chair of the 2003 hearing on evaluation of
the policies and procedures. Second on the
left is Commissioner Caroline Hunter, and
after that left is former chairman, Don
McGahn. On the far left we have John
Gibson, who is sitting in for our acting staff
director and head of compliance. To the
far right is Ann Marie Terzaken and then
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Tommy Duncan, both from the Office of
General Counsel.

Thank you very much for being
here today, we really do appreciate it. We
are looking forward to ways that we can
improve the agency and its operations. We
received a number of very helpful
comments yesterday. We had a very full
day, and we appreciate it very much. I am
sorry that Whitney Wyatt Burns is not here,
but she announced that she will be unable
to attend because she is feeling ill today.

For those of you who weren't here
yesterday, we reopened the time for written
comment until Wednesday, February 18,
2009, in order to allow comments and have
the benefit of the written comments
received so far, and the opportunity to
review the transcript of these proceedings,
which should be on the Web site by
January 30.

Thank you very much. We are
going to hear from Alan Cox and Cleta
Mitchell. We will begin with Mr. Cox.

MR. COX: Good morning. | am
Reid Cox, legal director of the Center for
Competitive Politics. | wish to applaud the
Commission for not only engaging in this
introspective project but also for making a
number of improvements to its policies,
practices and procedures over the last five-
plus years.

There can be no doubt that the
Commission was listening to the comments
submitted and the remarks made when it
last invited discussion of its enforcement
procedures in 2003. The success of those
changes since that hearing have
demonstrated that additional transparency
in notice and process can benefit both the
Commission and those subject to its
jurisdiction. However, there remain many
more improvements that can be made, and |
welcome the opportunity to be part of the
discussion here today.

As | know you understand, the
Commission plays a unique role among
agencies because it regulates conduct that
is not only constitutionally protected but is
at the heart and forms the essential
foundation of a healthy democracy, and
that is political speech and association.

What is more, the Commission is
often the first and last word with respect to
just how fully and freely members of the
regulated community can exercise their
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political rights, because in the vast majority
of cases, the Commission is the arbiter that
ever speaks on whether someone has
violated federal election law.

Here | note, and have | noted in
my comments, that when Brad Smith,
former Chairman of the Commission,
testified before Congress in 2003, he used
statistics to show that over 95 percent of
cases, ninety-six percent of cases never
make it past the Federal Election
Commission in enforcement matters, so
essentially you are going to determine the
political rights of these organizations that
are subject to your jurisdiction.

Thus, in making the determination
of what federal election law requires, and
when you do this, regardless of whether it
is through enforcement, audit, reporting or
advisory opinion processes, | think it is
really important that both the regulated
community's interest and the Commission's
interest that all of the facts, arguments and
law at issue be completely aired. | think it
is especially important, in fact, probably
maybe of ultimate importance to the
Commission that it is completely aired, so
that you are making your decisions with
your eyes wide open.

So, that is why | really continue to
believe that more transparency, more notice
and more process for the regulated
community doesn't just benefit the public,
but benefits the Commission.

I have provided probably pretty
extensive comments on what my views are
to the Commission in my written
comments, and | just want to highlight four
areas where | think the Commission could
make significant strides in providing
additional notice, transparency and process.

First, | think one of the big
successes that came out of the 2003
hearings was the hearing process that has
been added or if possible at the probable
cause stage of the enforcement
proceedings. | believe that a direct contact
with the Commission in its processes is
important so that the Commission
understands what position respondents are
in and what their arguments are, not only in
the enforcement process but also in the
audit processes and the advisory opinion
process, so my biggest suggestion would be
that you expand the hearings into the audit
process and into the advisory opinion

process and even experiment with hearings
at the reason-to-believe stage and in
connection with motions in the
enforcement process.

I think this does a couple of
things. One, in the enforcement process, it
allows respondents to make sure they get
their views before the Commission on facts
and law unfiltered by the Office of General
Counsel, so that they really not only feel
like they have the opportunity to be heard
but understand that what they feel are their
best arguments are really reaching the
Commission's ears, and that way the
Commission can really fully evaluate what
the arguments are on the merits and making
decisions as to whether to go forward in
enforcement proceedings.

In the audit and advisory opinion
processes, | think the same things are true,
and as we mentioned in other parts of our
comments, | think in the audit process,
there has been a blurring of the line of
enforcement and audit, and so this is yet
another reason it would be appropriate to
have a hearing on the audit processes
especially when many findings state
violations or say that there are purported
violations of the law.

In the advisory opinion process, |
think you probably more than me certainly,
but there are any number of times when the
person who submitted the advisory opinion
request is sitting in the audience and the
Commission is having a discussion and
there is an obvious question that needs to
be answered and it can't be answered
because the person who has all of the
factual information is sitting in the
audience and is not being able to testify.

Second, with regard to the
enforcement process, | think it is important
in following up on the Commission's
change after 2003 in allowing deponents
access to their depositions, that at the
probable cause stage when the
investigation has ended, respondents need
to be able to have access to all documents
produced and all depositions taken as a part
of the enforcement process.

This is the only way they can
mount a full and fair defense, and in fact it
is the only way the Commission can
understand -- and this is why it is so
important for the Commission going
forward -- whether they should move
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forward with the enforcement proceeding
at the probable cause stage.

I know that the Commission
believes that there are obviously timeliness
concerns sometimes with additional
procedure. | actually think more often than
not that that is a false dichotomy because in
getting more information there will be
efficiencies picked up in the enforcement
process, but I think this is one of the
reasons that access should be given at the
end of the investigation and before the start
of the probable-cause briefing, because if
that access is given before the Office of
General Counsel files its probable cause
brief, that is time that can be used by the
respondent in familiarizing itself with those
documents and incorporating them into
their response.

Third, 1 think the Commission
needs to continue to be more rigorous, and
admittedly, there have been a lot of
improvements here since 2003, but more
rigorous in reviewing and processing
complaints. | think this was one of the
comments taken up yesterday with Jan
Baran at the first panel, but I really do
think the four criteria, I think they are at
111.4(d), the Commission really needs to
look at and return complaints to
complainants when -- basically as | say in
my comments, not only does the complaint
need to state a claim, it needs to support the
claim. So it is really more rigorous than
what a 12(b)(6) standard is in civil
procedure. There needs to be more there.

I think this would help on the
efficiency end. One of the problems that
you have on an efficiency end is people are
using the complaint process as means to
political ends either by filing frivolous
complaints or even if they are not frivolous
complaints, filing complaints that would
not necessarily be filed but for wanting to
get into the media and to attack their
opponents. If the Commission reviews
complaints more rigorously and does not
allow that to happen, it will take away that
incentive.

Also with regard to the complaint
process, even if a complaint can meet the
standard to state a claim and support the
claim, if the response shows that the
complaint should not move forward, the
Commission needs to be more rigorous in





FFederal Election Commission: Public Bearing on Agency Practices and Procedures (Fanuary 14-15, 2009)

voting to find no reason to believe and
dismissing the complaint.

Finally, I think the Commission
needs to seriously consider confidentiality
in the enforcement process and, quite
frankly, also in the audit process. This
again goes back to the idea of complaints
being politically driven, and the idea here is
that | think the Commission should really
send a signal to complainants that under
4379(a)(12), they are essentially violating
that section by publicly and --releasing
their complaints publicly because, as you
know, when you submit a complaint it
triggers a notification from the
Commission to the respondent, and is what
that the confidentiality section says, and so
I don't really understand why the
Commission should not make it clear that
complainants also should not be violating
the confidentiality that should be ensured
to respondents.

| am sure we have a lot to discuss
here. Let me just leave it at that.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much, Mr. Cox.

Ms. Mitchell?

MS. MITCHELL: Thank you,
Mr. Chairman, members of the
Commission. It is hard to imagine that it
has been six years since we had a hearing
on this previously. | remember it well,
with Chairman Weintraub, and | was just
thinking that if it were giving birth to a
child, that child would have started school
this year, but | do want to take a moment to
commend the Commission -- | did in my
written testimony give the Commission
grades -- | went back and looked at my
earlier comments and | graded the
Commission, and essentially | want to say
this:

I think the Commission has made
yeoman strides in addressing some of the
real serious, philosophical opposition to
procedural due process that | thought
existed at the time. | think the Office of
General Counsel, with some very few but
notable exceptions, the staff works very
hard to try to be accommodating within the
parameters, which | will talk about
momentarily, but | do want to comment
and commend the Commission on the
progress that has been done.

There is much work to be done.
Without going through all of my

comments, | will just highlight a few
things. 1 will supplement my comments, so
thank you for extending the deadline. 1 just
ran out of energy to talk about software,
Web site, Web searches, so | will send you
some additional comments on those things.

I want to turn my attention to four
areas. The first is to reiterate that this
agency is consumed with, dedicated to, and
premised upon process, so talking about the
procedures and practices is fundamental to
this agency because this agency is
responsible for oversight of what | call the
rules of political engagement.

I look around the room and | see
people who have been practitioners. You
know that the whole issue of raising and
spending money and engaging in political
speech, whether it is with a campaign, an
individual donor, an organization, an issue
group, it all has to do with the process of
being engaged in the political process, and
S0 it is very important that the policies and
practices of the Commission are attentive
to the very fundamental notion that we are
all about process here. The process is the
substance.

So, with that, | reiterate what |
said in 2003, which is that fundamental due
process, notice and hearing, is vital to the
proper functioning of this agency.

In that regard, | want to reiterate
what | said in 2003 and what I think would
solve a great many of the issues that
practitioners face, and that is publication of
the procedures manual, the black book that
we hear about, but only when you go to
work for the Commission, somehow, do
you have access and are privileged to see
this star chamber document. Maybe it is
one of those things that once published,
people will say there is not much to this
after all.

It is the kind of thing that in
engaging with the Office of General
Counsel -- I don't know whether these
procedures are also applicable to other
divisions of the agency because actually |
have never seen the enforcement manual,
so | don't know, but I will say this, that it is
frustrating to deal with the Office of
General Counsel and to be told we can't do
that because our manual, our procedures
don't let us do that.

Well, it would be nice to know
what do your procedures let you do? In
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terms of conciliation agreements, for
example. You don't have any idea what the
penalty schedule is, you don't have any
idea how it is arrived at, you don't have any
idea -- | love it when OGC says, well, you
can't say that in your contention paragraph,
and I say, well, the agency gets to say what
its contentions are. Respondents should be
able to say here is what we contend
happened. We disagree with your analysis
or your statements about what happened.

Then we are told that the agency -
- we have language that we are required to
use. We can't let you say that. We can't let
you make that contention. My favorite
then is to say, even after we have agreed on
a dollar figure, arrived at in some Ouija
Board manner, but if you do want say that,
it will cost you. So know you will pay for
sentences, pay for words if you want to say
that. Well, we will have to go back and see
if we can pay more, maybe we can say that.
| find that a little objectionable.

The thing that I think is important,
all of this, is to publish the enforcement
manual so that we will know there is not
this secret process somehow that exists
internally and only if you have somehow
worked for the agency at some period in
your career do you have any idea what it is.
I don't think that is fair. It is not due
process. It doesn't guarantee due process to
the entire regulated community and the
practitioners.

In that regard, | have included in
my testimony on page 4, | have copied
from the Commission's Web site the chart
showing the time lines of an enforcement
proceeding, and you will note, as | did, in
highlighting where there are several
guestions that the Commission has
propounded with regard to time limits and
response times and extension of deadlines,
and the blanks that exist where the ball is in
the Commission's court, so you have fifteen
days to file a response to a complaint, and
then for reason to believe findings and
investigations, it is blank.

One of the single most
aggravating things about dealing with the
agency is not to have heard a word for
months or years and to get a letter saying,
we want you to respond, usually about two
weeks before an election several cycles
later, and being told you have to respond
within 15 days, and we might give you an
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extension. It is preposterous to say that
somehow the burden of timeliness rests on
the respondents.

So | would argue that, at least,
respondents ought to be given some
percentage of the time, if not an equivalent
amount of time, that the Commission and
the Office of General Counsel has had to
do whatever it has done, particularly with
respect to filing a brief.

I concur with the testimony and
the comments of my colleagues yesterday
and Mr. Cox as well, saying we should be
entitled as respondents to copies of the
documents on which the OGC is relying for
its findings, whether it is probable cause or
RTB, but it doesn't do you a whole lot of
good if you are supposed to file a response
within a very compressed time period when
the agency has had months if not years to
develop whatever it is you have just gotten
in the mail.

I think that is a really serious issue
in terms of timeliness. | don't think you
can look at the timeliness issue and only
look at extensions in times and deadlines
for respondents. | think there must be
some equivalent courtesies, at least, given
to respondents, and the Commission is
under no such time pressures.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: | note
that you have four different areas. | didn't
write down one, two, three, four, but the
due process concept, the enforcement
manual --

MS. MITCHELL: Time lines,
and then I will come to my last one.

And that is, | would urge the
Commission to enter into and publish a
memorandum of understanding with the
Department of Justice. | was glad that Mr.
Donsanto submitted comments to this
effect. | have many concerns that the
Commission has failed to enter into a
memorandum of understanding. | am not
sure why that has been the case since
BCRA was enacted, but | think that it
matters to know when something is or is
not going to be referred to the Department
of Justice.

I have had at least one experience
where there was an embezzlement. There
was -- as would be appropriate, the
committee referred to it local enforcement,
they referred it to main Justice, and we
provided all of the information to the

Department of Justice eventually for the
DOJ case which they prosecuted, and the
perpetrator -- we had been through the FBI
investigation.

The defendant, not respondent,
defendant had been investigated, had pled
guilty and was in jail before the
Commission -- before we got our first word
from the Commission, and frankly, | will
always believe, based on conversations,
that part of the reason that the committee
was subject to what | call double jeopardy
because then the committee was punished
because of the criminal acts that had been
perpetrated upon it, and in no small part we
queried about why it was that the
committee went to the Department of
Justice before coming to the Commission.

Now, | don't know whether there
are personality problems or -- | cannot
understand why the Commission has not
entered into a memorandum of
understanding, but there needs to be a
delineation of responsibility. It doesn't
mean that both agencies don't share
responsibility in some regards, but frankly,
I think this is a really important element
with the criminalization of activities under
BCRA.

With that, I will be submitting
additional comments on some of the other
areas. The Commission cast a very broad
net for this hearing, and | appreciate very
much the opportunity to be here.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We
have a Memorandum of Understanding. It
was entered into quite some time ago. It is
on the Web site, but we do have a desire to
put a little meat on the bones in terms of
the process ourselves, and so hopefully we
will be able to make some headway with
that.

Yesterday | jumped over people,
but if anybody is ready right now to ask
questions, | will call first. If not, I will call
on former Chairman McGahn and ask if he
has any questions of the witnesses, and if
he doesn't --

COMMISSIONER MCGAHN: |
do, but it is a multiple-part question. Just
demonstrating my thinking ability. Rarely
do I have the answers though.

Mr. Cox, you said that the line
between audit and subsequent enforcement
proceedings has blurred. Is it your view
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from the outside that audit is a form of
enforcement?

MR. COX: | think that is
probably right. Certainly when final audit
reports are stating purported violations of
the law and you see referrals to the Office
of General Counsel on the Web site, | think
that is certainly enforcement. | think even
probably the audit process, the way it
functions, essentially functions like an
investigation leading up to a reason-to-
believe finding anyway so, | think the
quick answer to that is yes.

COMMISSIONER MCGAHN:
You also said that there is a false
dichotomy between efficiency and | would
say due process, but you didn't use that
word. That is something | agree with, in
that | find since | have been here, the more
material | can read, the better | know what
is going on, and that is from both sides, but
could you elaborate on your views for that?
I am only one person, but | found it curious
that you had the same point.

MR. COX: I think from a very
basic standpoint, the Commission is the
decision maker, not the Office of General
Counsel. The Commission is the decision
maker. So it is important that there be
contact directly in the enforcement process
from respondents or for that matter in the
audit process, from those being audited
with the Commission itself and not that
their positions be filtered always through
the Office of General Counsel.

That is a very basic proposition of
process that is not always adhered to here,
so basically the outside regulated
community often has to rely upon the
Office of General Counsel, who has their
own interests, quite frankly, and often
adversarial interest to them, in making sure
their positions are represented before the
Commission, who is the decision maker,
and I would again emphasize here as | did
in my opening comments and in my written
comments, it is often the only decision that
the regulated community ever received on
whether they violated the law or not. |
think that is very basic.

The other reason I think there is a
false dichotomy between process and
timeliness or efficiency is that I think what
the Commission will find, | am hoping, is
that if they offer more process and more
direct contact, and by receiving more





FFederal Election Commission: Public Bearing on Agency Practices and Procedures (Fanuary 14-15, 2009)

information, they will be able to move the
enforcement process or the audit process
along because the issues will be clearer at
earlier points in the proceedings, and they
can then make a determination, thus
terminating, whether it is an investigation
or making a decision to move forward to
the next part of the process, without having
to have months and months and months of
further investigation that may be totally
unwarranted, or maybe unnecessary.

COMMISSIONER MCGAHN:
Ms. Mitchell, how are you?

MS. MITCHELL: Fine, thank
you, Mr. McGahn.

COMMISSIONER MCGAHN:

In your comments you brought up ADR,
and you indicated you think that maybe
respondents should be able to ask for ADR,
and that is not the policy now. Why is that
something that we should consider? And
then, (2), if we consider it in a way that is
consistent with your suggestion, what
would be the criteria, if you know what the
criteria would be, what kind of cases,
simply dollar amount, or is it more the type
of legal issues, reporting issues, any
thoughts on what should go there?

MS. MITCHELL: Well, I don't
want to foreclose the possibility of other
criteria, but I do think that a respondent --
look, there is a process penalty. If
somebody files a complaint against you
which can be completely frivolous, but if it
gets past the RTB stage, you are done.

As | said in my comments, |
would be very curious to see some statistics
-- you did them, very good -- about after
RTB, how many things are ultimately --
maybe | am not privy to that, but the fact is
that there is a process penalty, there is an
expense, there is a time consumption, and
so if there are respondents who are willing
to say at the outset, | will enter into ADR
and I will pay an amount to be done with
this, then I don't know why that wouldn't
be something that people could offer to do.

I do think that sua sponte kinds of
issues should be available to people who
admit and come in and agree they made a
mistake. | think one of the egregious
problems with the agency is that, as | said
before, no good deed goes unpunished. |
have quit advising clients to file
amendments to reports because it is like
points on your driver's license. Is there a

way to resolve this without subjecting
yourself to that?

So if there were a way for people
to know, here is the process, here is what
you are subjected to, again, coming back to
publication of the enforcement procedures
and the penalty procedures, the formula, all
of those things, the more transparency, | do
believe and concur with other commenters
that you would have more voluntary
compliance, and asking for ADR should be
a part of that, that if you come in and
voluntarily say, we made a mistake, and we
would like to try to resolve this as quickly
and painlessly as possible -- but what
happens is you file an amendment, you
could be subject to an enforcement action.
You report a violation that was unknowing,
you are in for five years of misery.

COMMISSIONER MCGAHN:
There is a concern. You have reporting
issues. Is it better to deal with the
campaign early in some sort of corrective
action, a la ADR, or is it better to refer to
full enforcement? It seems it is better to
get the campaigns in early rather than later.

If what you are saying is folks are
so afraid to do amendments they are
willing to take their chances just rolling
them into the next report, whether it is
reported data or is something that actually
can, if you really know what you are doing,
have an effect on subsequent reports, you
are saying it is to the point where people
are afraid to file amendments. That is not
good.

MS. MITCHELL: That is not
good, but that is what the system is. Even
the IRS lets you file amendments, for
crying out loud, and you don't always have
the information, or you get the bank
statement and there is something that you
didn't know. Well, there is this
presumption that you are supposed to know
everything when you file the report. There
is no opportunity for extensions until you
get the additional information. It used to
be 1 would always say file the report, we
will file an amendment later. | don't say
that any more because I think it is
malpractice.

I think the ability to step back --
and I would urge the Commission to really
think big picture, and instead of tweaking
this or that, maybe think through from start
to finish the interactions of the regulated
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community and where can you provide
more transparency, more process, more
opportunity for voluntary compliance.

| reiterate something | said six years ago: |
never have a client that comes in and says,
how can we break the law and get away
with it? They say, | want to participate in
the process. How do we do it within the
confines of the law? | don't want to go to
jail. That is what they always say. There
is no intent -- maybe there is with some
people, but certainly not in my experience.

So, the ways we can make this
agency, which is all about process, more
transparent and more palatable, | am not
saying make it easier, but voluntary
compliance, what are the ways we can
encourage and incentivize people, if they
make a mistake, admit it, come in, have the
opportunity to correct that? Again,
transparency should be the object here.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. | am going to ask Ms.
Weintraub for questions.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: | am so glad I don't have a
child entering kindergarten as a result of
that hearing six years ago.

I want to thank Mr. Cox for his incredibly
detailed and thoughtful comments, which
were among the more thorough comments
we received, and | suspect you had
conversations with people who used to be
in this building because you seem to be
very well informed, and | appreciate that.

I think one of the lessons of this
hearing is that we do need to have more
transparency because there are so many
misunderstandings out there, and people
who had experience with us many years
ago and had a bad experience still carry
that around with them.

I would 100 percent agree that if
we had a case that was so stale that it was
sitting around two years after the complaint
was filed and nothing happened, then we
should dismiss it, but that has not ever
happened in my tenure, and | don't think it
has happened this century. Maybe in the
bad old days once upon a time, | don't
know.

MS. MITCHELL: | have one. |
will move to dismiss it tomorrow.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: | would be interested in
hearing about the details because it is my
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understanding we have dramatically
reduced the time on prosecuting cases. We
used to have a policy on stale cases that we
would kick them after 18 months.

MS. MITCHELL: We are way
past that.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: | would be interested to
hear about that. This is on our Web site,
but I will be happy to hand it to you, data
on how often we dismiss or make no
reason to believe or take no further action
after the reason to believe, and it is data
going back to 2003.

I think there is only a couple of
years where there weren't -- where that
didn't happen more often than not, and in
some cases it is dramatically more often.

In 2007 we dismissed, had no reason to
believe or took no further action in ninety-
eight cases as opposed to sixty-seven cases
that we actually had a conciliation
agreement. It happens all the time.

I think that a lot of the people who
come and testify here, the really savvy
inside-Washington lawyers who are,
frankly, expensive are consulted most often
on the complicated cases for the big
players, the ones that are less likely to just
go away, because they are bigger and more
complicated and they are more savvy
players, so you may have a misperception
based on the fact that you have more
complicated cases because the people with
the easier problems are not going to consult
you or some of the fine practitioners we
had here yesterday, so I think sometimes
people have the wrong perception about
that.

Many, many people have talked
about wanting to get unfiltered access to
the Commission. | want to assure you, and
| assured people yesterday, that there is not
a document in this building that we don't
have access to. Commissioners frequently
start with the respondent's answer or the
respondent's brief because it is a good way
to figure out what are the key issues in the
case. We have those documents, we read
those documents. 1 think that we might
want to consider amending our practices so
that they are literally filed with us, so that
people will know they come into our
office. They do, but apparently people
don't know about it.

I think the hearings have been a
big success. | take some pride in that
because | pushed the policy, and it was
drafted in my office and | am told that I can
say that, we have had 10 requests, we
accepted six, and we have had six of these
hearings.

I will say that people don't always
help themselves at these hearings. Not
everybody has come in and really
persuaded people that, wow, they were on
the right side and we were wrong. So |
would advise anybody in the regulated
community to think about whether they
will actually advance their cause in these
hearings, but they have been helpful and
interesting and informative, and | am
certainly open to expanding them to other
settings.

Like I said, there are a lot of
misunderstandings out there. Some people
seem to think that we keep the penalties so
that it enhances our budget. It doesn't, we
don't keep any of the penalties. We don't
do random audits, haven't since 1979, |
think. We can't fight statutes. 1 know there
is a lot of misunderstanding out there, and
that is why we need more transparency.
They are a fair issue to raise, and | think we
need to address that.

I am really intrigued, Mr. Cox, by
your suggestion that we should somehow
enforce the confidentiality provisions
against the complainants. How would we
do that? Do you want us to sue them?

MR. COX: Well, if you look at
the statute --

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: | know what you are
saying. Practically speaking, getting
people to not announce they have just filed
a complaint --

MR. COX: The first step you
could take is when someone files a
complaint, you could send a letter or make
it clear on the Web site, that the complaint
should not be made public and you can
state the statute, but one of the points here
is that there is a lot of concern about
confidentiality that was mentioned in
questions through the notice, but clearly the
very first place where confidentiality for
respondents is given up is that most --
many times complainants are politically
motivated, and before they send it out to
you, they run to the media.
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COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Before they send it to us --
I think that is all we would accomplish.
People would say, | am about to file this
complaint with the FEC. If we said you
can't say anything when you file it, you
wouldn't have that press conference. |
agree that many, many, many of the
complaints are politically motivated.

Those are the people who have incentive to
be watching the other guy, but a number of
them have validity anyway. It is true they
are politically motivated, but sometimes
they are right.

MR. COX: ltis a fine line and in
the comments we mention that they have a
First Amendment right to obviously discuss
the issue, but if the complaint process is
supposed to be confidential, and if the
Commission is very concerned about that, |
think it does need to look at whether it
shouldn't do something or at least tackle the
issue of complainants essentially making
public that the Commission is going to
notify respondents, like the statute says, by
making the complaint process public.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: | am
going to ask. We are running short on
time.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: The chart in our brochure
with the time lines, that is not just a
statutory time line; that is a summary of
what the statute says, and the statute is
silent in some areas, and that is why the
chart is silent. It is not a conspiracy to hide
information.

MS. MITCHELL: | understand
that, but I am saying that there needs to be
some recognition that this is a hurry up and
wait game.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: 1 get that.

MS. MITCHELL: And itis very
distressing.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We
will come back to these after we get
through all of the commissioners.
Commissioner Hunter?

MS. HUNTER: | have so many
questions | don't know where to start, but |
will bring up one or two quick issues.

One is, Ms. Mitchell, you
mentioned you are telling people not to
amend. There has to be a better way to
deal with this, to balance -- the OGC would
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say we have to have some kind of penalty  political decisions. They are trying to do

in order for people to realize there is a the best that they can do. Campaigns
consequence for not filing something, but  devote varying degrees of resources to the
at the same time it makes no sense for whole compliance and reporting arena, and
somebody not to be able to say, | made an  that is usually the prime determinant of
honest mistake, | am putting it on the what they do.

public record. But even the best, well-oiled

I am wondering if you could think campaign makes mistakes. When the
more, maybe submit comments later, about presidential campaign of Barack Obama is
what is the best way around that. Maybe it accepting contributions from O.J. Simpson
is ADR, I don't know, but I think it is fair ~ and Bart Simpson, it tells me that no matter
to say campaigns don't want to admit a how sophisticated you are, there are going
mistake. Nobody wants to even say my to be mistakes. Is that a violation? 1 don't
original report was filed inaccurately, and  know. This is not a good system. This
so, therefore, they have no incentive to do  isn't good. That is what | am saying.

that. Even if they have to amend the report CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
and file something that says, | made a Should we move on?
mistake, that seems to be at least a step MS. HUNTER: Just one more

forward, to say we originally messed up. comment. | like your suggestion to look at
They are already admitting that they made this from the big picture because often the
a violation when they admit it, so why go  people that are doing their part of the job,

through the whole big process of here at the agency, they are doing it the
punishment and conciliation when they way they are supposed to. But nobody is
admitted up front that they failed to report  looking at it from the big picture. | think
something? that is a good suggestion.

MS. MITCHELL: | am not sure CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
that it is admitting a violation if you admit ~ Commissioner Bauerly?
the report to more accurately reflect the COMMISSIONER BAUERLY: |

information you have now that you may would like to ask a couple of questions of
not have had at the time. | think that the Mr. Cox. You had detailed comments
attitude is and the conclusion is, and | have about process, and | appreciate that. | share
heard it many times, that that act of Commissioner Weintraub's concern that
amendment is admitting a violation, and I there seems to be a concern about what
think there needs to be, look, | don't know  type of information commissioners have
what the point schedule is for generating an access to. There is a gap in understanding,
audit based on how many amendments you so we need to do a better job of letting the
file. That is a secret. 1 don't know. We public know, about the fact that we do have
can guess, but I don't know at what dollar ~ access to the legal and factual analysis that
level it generates an audit. | don't know. | the respondents do submit.
am guessing. | am guessing. There is a lot of discussion about
But what I do know from having direct access to the Commission,
experience is that at a certain point, itisat and if there are additional ways we can do
a certain dollar level it is deemed a serious  that, if that is through a -- that is important,

violation that goes to enforcement or so but I think it is important that we do a

many amendments triggers an audit better job of letting people know of what

somehow. That is a secret from my we do have access to already.

practitioner perspective. I would like to talk about, over the
| think that transparency and last day and this morning we talked about

making that public and letting people can  the audit process in particular, and I am

know so they can make a judgment and wondering if you have thoughts at what

know -- and if you do make a mistake, if point in time -- there seems to be two

you do find -- look, in my experience logical places, the interim report and the

campaigns, and maybe this is different with final audit report, as to where that hearing
other people's clients, but usually whoever —might make some sense.

is assigned to do the reporting is not MR. COX: Let me say two
somebody who is basically making the big  things. | think it has to be before the final
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audit report is published, and | guess the
reason | am hesitating a little bit is I think
this is also one of the problems of the
blurring of the line in the enforcement
process and audit process.

One of our main comments with
regard to the audit process is that
sometimes final audit reports are made
public that state purported violations when
not all of the enforcement decisions have
been made.

Our concern here would be that it
seems to us that that should not occur, that
the final audit report should not become a
finalized public audit document until all the
enforcement decisions that need to be made
have been made.

That is why | say -- | guess | am a
little confused as to -- if we are using the
system that is already in place, | think you
may even need a hearing after the final
audit report if there is still enforcement that
is ongoing, but in terms of -- it seems to me
that the most important part for the hearing
is that in the audit process, that hearing
should be at a point at which it can affect
the final product, which would have to be
before the final audit report occurs.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
Ms. Mitchell do you have any thoughts?

MS. MITCHELL: With respect to
audits and enforcement?

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
And particularly the timing of a hearing.

MS. MITCHELL: 1 think as part
of the stepping back and looking at the big
picture, the reason the public doesn't
understand what it is you have access is to
because it is a secret.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
It is not a secret. We both just told you
what it is. And people yesterday explained
it. If it has been a secret until now, it is no
longer a secret.

MS. MITCHELL: | have had a
number of conversations with OGC and
been told, we already considered that
argument and rejected it. So you have a
sense that you are really submitting your
brief to your opposing counsel.

I don't know -- just because you
have access to it, | don't know -- do you
always read it, do you always read
everything? That seems to me to be
something that is attended to for every
commissioner. You submit it to OGC and
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then you wait and you wait, and then the

by OGC. So if there is a perception that
there is a filter between respondents and
the Commission, it is because there is.
What you have access to and what you do
with that is up to you. It is a secret process.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
Let's follow your own logic. If you were
allowed to submit directly to the secretary's
office for direct circulation to the
commissioners, you would have to rely on
the good faith of the six people sitting
before of you that we take our jobs
seriously and do that. 1 am not sure what
the difference in that process would be.
You still have to trust that we are doing our
jobs to the best of our ability.

MS. MITCHELL: Hereisa
question that I have that | do not know the
answer to, and maybe you can enlighten
me.

When | submit my brief to the
OGC and then it goes to the Commission,
does the OGC write any comments about
what | write? Does it -- don't you get a
memorandum of some kind arguing -- |
don't know who gets the last word. Do |
get a copy of everything that OGC gives to
you?

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY: |
do not know what you get a copy of it.

MS. MITCHELL: All I getis the
RTB, factual legal analysis and then the
probable cause brief. Thatisall I get. |
don't get the documentation. You may get
it. 1don'tgetit. I1don't getany
commentary that OGC makes or any
summaries, any memoranda that are
provided to you that | don't see. That is
why | think that there is this sense that
there is a filter, because | think there is, |
don't know that because it is a secret, but if
you want me not to think that, maybe we
should make it public.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
You asked a question about whether we see
your raw document as you submit it, and
we do. There is no character, there is not a
cover memo that says this is a good brief or
a bad brief. We see the document. You are
right, OGC has provided a factual legal
analysis. Their view of -- but we do not --
we do not have to rely on OGC to read the
documents ourselves.

COMMISSIONER MCGAHN:
next thing you hear is from OGC, and all of But there are comments that are prepared
the dealings with the Commission are done that are put on the packet with the counsel's
recommendation, which does not go public
until the end of the MUR. Once the case is
closed, it goes public. To sit up here and
say there is not --

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY: |
am not saying there is not a factual and
legal analysis.

COMMISSIONER MCGAHN:
This is the confusion.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
Ms. Mitchell asked me if there was a cover
memo that characterizes what the
respondents thought. There is a factual and
legal analysis because they have received
it. We have access to the document as it
was filed by the respondent.

MS. DUNCAN: If | might try to
provide some clarity on this for the public
record. As you know, the general counsel's
office provides respondents a brief
indicating that they are -- we are prepared
to recommend to the Commission a finding
of probable cause to believe.

After that respondents have an
opportunity to submit a brief. That brief
goes directly to the Commission without
any analysis done by the Office of General
Counsel. The Commission is able to
consider the brief. The Office of General
Counsel considers the brief, and then it
writes a recommendation to the
Commission as to whether it recommends
probable cause to believe. That
recommendation takes into account
respondent's brief and relies heavily on our
initial brief. After the close of the case,
that brief is made public as is the rest of the
materials in the case. That report to the
Commission recommending probable cause
or not is made public.

MS. MITCHELL.: It just does
seem to me that since that is going to be
made public, it would seem proper that the
other materials of the case ought to be
made public to the respondents before it is

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: | am
going to call on John Gibson who is
Director of Compliance to see if he has any
questions -- Mr. Vice Chairman, |

COMMISSIONER PETERSEN:

I think I should have taken that opportunity
to be skipped in the order.

First of all, I commend both of our
witnesses for the fine comments they have
prepared and for the useful information
contained within them.

I have a question for Mr. Cox. Inthe
section dealing with motions before the
Commission, you state and emphasize that
-- you recommend that we expand the
scope of what motions we will consider,
and you say at a minimum a process should
be provided for motions to quash
subpoenas.

You are not the only witness who
submitted comments to the Commission
who has emphasized motions to quash
subpoenas as being the most important one.
I was wondering if you might expand on
why you think that one is so vital.

MR. COX: I think one of the
problems that we have in the enforcement
process is the length to which it goes on,
quite frankly. | actually was going to say
this -- I think it was when Commissioner
Weintraub was talking -- about the
timeliness improvements that the
Commission has made.

One response that | would make to
that is if you are litigating in Federal Court,
often Federal Court trial litigation doesn't
go on as long as investigations go on in this
Commission, even if they are complex
investigations, complex cases in Federal
Court, for instance in the Eastern District
of Virginia where | happen to reside, is on
the rocket docket. Even if you have a
complex case, it goes through in a year, not
two years or five years.

One of the reasons I think the
motion to quash subpoenas or, for that
matter, any motions involving discovery
related to the enforcement process are
important is it really hurts efficiency, it
seems to me, and one way of dealing with
this may be to allow some of those things
to happen before the Commission rather
than having to go to court.

Now, | guess you can say the
response to that could be, well, someone
could still go to court, the Commission
could determine whatever they wanted and
determine they might still be able go to
court, but what | am thinking is if you
believe that you have been heard by the
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Commission and fully aired, that | think a
lot of those will not go to court.

Quite frankly, I think there are
also cost reasons for doing this. | imagine
the cost of having a hearing on quashing or
privilege, whatever it is, in discovery and
investigations would be much less
expensive in front of the Commission than
filing an action in Federal Court. | think
that is the main reason.

COMMISSIONER PETERSEN:
If | can have Ms. Mitchell comment. As
one who has represented several
respondents in MURs, is this a motion that
you support and have you had concerns
about the scope of subpoenas that your
clients have received in the past?

MS. MITCHELL: Yes, in the
past, and there is a way to have a motion
docket where you would set aside a certain
time each month where there are discovery
disputes or privilege issues or those kinds
of things where the Commission could
perhaps dispense with those on a more
expedited basis, but I think stepping back
and thinking about, just because the
Commission has done it a certain way for a
very long time doesn't mean that the
Commission needs to continue these things
the way it has done all these years.

Thinking in different terms, what
are the things we could do to make it more
transparent, to expedite, to deal with these
procedural things at the Commission level
so that we can dispense with some of these
issues more expeditiously. | think those
are all things that the Commission should
undertake to do.

It is trying to deal with that while
you have a train moving ninety miles an
hour down the track with all of the other
things the Commission has to do, but |
think this is really important and | would
echo Mr. Cox's comments as well as those
comments | have read from my colleagues
of yesterday.

MR. COX: If I could add one
other thing, one of the reasons it is
important to have motions dealing with
discovery with the Commission is it is yet
another opportunity for the Commission as
a decision maker in the enforcement
process to keep a tab on the cases that are
in the enforcement process.

I know the Commission generally
grants a broad amount of discretion in the

investigation to the Office of General
Counsel, but if it is hearing motions to
quash subpoenas or to protect privileged
documents from respondents, it is yet
another time that it will come before the
Commission to have a check-in of how this
MUR is going.

COMMISSIONER PETERSEN:
As part of this motion and other motions,
how part is it from your perspective that
not only you are able to file a paper with it,
but you actually have access to the
commissioners to have a direct exchange?

MS. MITCHELL.: 1 just happen
to think -- | think that is important, and |
think setting aside some days for that kind
of practice is an important thing because,
again, you have a sense then that there is a
neutral arbiter. The most frustrating thing
is to think that the decisions are being
made by your opposing counsel.

MR. COX: We have seen this
exchange today about what the
Commission understands it has access to
and sees and does review and what the
regulated community believes is being
seen. | think that only emphasizes the
point that, really, there is a kind of a gulf in
this hearing that the regulated community
understands or believes how they are being
heard unfiltered by the Commission, and |
think if you can actually create more
opportunities so that that gulf is breached
by true appearances before the commission,
I think that aids everyone.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you, Vice Chairman. Sorry | missed you
there.

Mr. Gibson.

MR. GIBSON: | don't have any
questions, but I do look forward to
receiving your comments. | do thank you
for your comments. Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: | have
a question to Mr. Cox. We heard yesterday
at some length about almost pretty close to
unanimous comment that we should make
a public civil fines approach, and then |
note that you are not in favor of that, and,
of course, it has been that way in the
agency for many years and | am tilting
toward the publication, but | am very
interested to hear both sides of the
argument here at this point, and give us
your best thinking on that.
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MR. COX: | am kind of on the
fence. | actually do believe obviously in a
lot of transparency. The concern that |
have about publishing the civil fines
schedule would be that it would end up
ratcheting up fines and not allowing the
Commission enough discretion when
necessary. | want to echo what Cleta had
said earlier, and that is that | think my
viewpoint of those members of the
regulated community as a whole is they are
trying to comply with the law and to the
best extent they can fully and freely
exercise their public rights, and so I don't
see -- | understand when there is a
violation, there has to be consequences to
that, but | don't think that in general there
should be heavy handed penalties, so my
concern about publishing a civil fine
schedule is it would have the effect of
firming up or even ratcheting up the
penalties being paid across the board by the
community, and that is a concern that |
have.

So, I think by not publishing it,
the Commission is able to exercise
discretion based on the facts and
circumstances, and my hope is that if my
understanding of people trying to comply
with the law is correct, that often the
Commission is exercising discretion
downward rather than upward.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: One
of the reasons given yesterday is if we offer
a discount in a certain matter, whether it is
sua sponte, people don't know where the
discount is coming from, so it is maybe not
an inducement to get a discount, but you
don't know what it is from exactly, so we
sense that on behalf of clients there is a
frustration on the part of clients that they
don't know how we make it up. They want
counsel to say this is where they are
heading, but we have these factors, so let's
take a crack at mitigation.

How do you respond to that issue
about convincing someone to look into
conciliation without knowing where we
have a starting point? Are you on the other
side of the fence now?

MR. COX: This was a tough
issue for me. My initial read was let's
publish everything out there, out in the sun,
throw open the doors. My concern is
essentially that if you publish whatever the
sentencing guidelines are -- you see this in





FFederal Election Commission: Public Bearing on Agency Practices and Procedures (Fanuary 14-15, 2009)

the criminal law, this is a good analogy --
is that the criticism that happens when
judges depart downward from sentencing
guidelines is they are going easy on crime,
and my concern is, and this is why | am on
the fence, my concern is if you depart
downward and in my view are having to do
so often because people are really not that
culpable for violations, then you are in a
situation you have to be careful of what
you ask for. That is what, | guess, my
concern is.

MS. MITCHELL.: 1 think that one
of the ways to address that -- | don't
disagree with what Mr. Cox is saying. One
of the ways to address that is to say the
Commission reserves the right to waive or
substantially reduce a penalty in the
schedule based on the following factors.

One of the factors is we can create
the incentives for sua sponte reporting.
What is the basis for arriving at the amount
at issue in the first place, is it through
enforcement and audit or is it through filing
amendments, is it through self-reporting? |
think there are ways the Commission can
reserve the right to itself to waive or
substantially reduce any of the penalties in
the schedule if these certain factors or
mitigating circumstances are present, and
that encourages people to have mitigating
circumstances.

MR. COX: One of the reasons |
guess | am on the fence and believe that
maybe it is not essential to publish the civil
fines penalty schedule is that since you
have indexed MURs and made them
available on the Web, | think to a certain
extent you can discover a range of
information about where you are at by
doing that. I understand that is more
laborious then going to a chart and saying
you are at the fifteen to $25,000 level and
here you are, but | guess | prefer that
because then it takes care of my other
concern, which is that you then don't have
this. Well, you should have been here and
you only got half of that, so the
Commission must be soft on election law
crime or election law violations.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: One
of the issues that comes up when you
consider that is one concern that I have,
that you are setting up a situation where
you really need an election law expert
attorney to help you in a matter because if

you don't know the MURs -- | know former
Chairman McGahn not too long ago, we
couldn't find a MUR, except that he
remembered that there was a MUR out
there somewhere. That is great if you have
people who lived this, but for someone
who wants to get some general guidance, if
you don't know the MURSs or you don't
have a binder, you are looking at the
penalty amounts as opposed to an issue on
527s or something, the average lawyer is
quite handicapped without spending some
money.

There seems to me some benefit to
a starting point. | welcome your thoughts
on that. | made a mistake of calling on Ms.
Duncan. | thought she was going to ask
other questions. | welcome any thoughts
you have on that one point, and then we
will move.

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Welcome to the panel.

I have one question for Mr. Cox.
You are recommending that respondents be
given access to all documents produced and
all deposition transcripts at the end of the
investigations, even before the probable
cause briefs are produced.

I ask this question recognizing the
unique mission of our agency and the types
of sensitive behavior or activities that we
regulate, but | also ask it recognizing that
there are other civil law enforcement
agencies where a large percentage of the
matters that come before them are resolved
before the adjudicative stage, and in that
way those agencies are similar to this
agency.

Having said all of that, can you
identify any other civil enforcement
agencies that provide such liberal access to
contents of the investigative file at the
investigative stage as opposed to at the
adjudicative stage of the resolution of
matters?

MR. COX: No, | am not offhand
aware of any, but | also wonder, | guess in
response to your question, I also wonder
whether those other agencies have such a
high rate, and | mean an exceptionally high
rate, over ninety-five percent, of not going
to court. | understand that there is de novo
review available in court, but you are
essentially the adjudicative stage for
everyone, and that is, | guess, my point.
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MS. DUNCAN: It sounds like
you think it would be worthwhile to look at
those agencies if in fact they are analogous,
if in fact there is such a high proportion of
the matters before them being resolved
before the adjudicative stage. You don't
have to agree or not agree with that.

Let me ask you one other question
about your recommendation here. | think
in your written comments you conditioned
the access to the investigative materials on
not having an objection from the General
Counsel, and I just wondered if you could
elaborate on that as to what would be
appropriate grounds on which the General
Counsel might object?

I can think of concerns we would
have about sharing that information that
have to with confidentiality and
diminishing the possibility that witnesses
will cooperate, et cetera, but | am
wondering what you would have in mind in
terms of appropriate considerations.

MR. COX: I think some of those
might be appropriate considerations that
you could bring before the Commission. |
think if there are other -- I know I had said
after the investigation is complete, but if it
could, for instance, be part of an
investigation elsewhere that may not be
complete but the investigation at the FEC is
complete, that you are aware of, that there
is another investigation going on, then
maybe there are reasons attached to that,
but it seems to me when the FEC has
completed its job of investigating, the
general rule should be that they should
have access to that information to make
their defense because this is the only
defense they are going to get to make,
essentially. | think there could be reasons
of confidentiality.

I want to be clear here. When |
am saying access to documents produced
and testimony provided, | am not saying
access to privileged materials that the
Commission has developed, or materials
that other government agencies have
developed. It is literally the fact-based
evidence from discovery.

The reason | included a provision
if the Office of General Counsel objects,
and in fact this is consistent with the policy
that you have with regard to providing
deponents with their depositions, it seems
to me there does need to be an escape valve
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if there is a good reason, but I don't believe
that that escape valve should be used as a
general rule to prevent access to factual
information.

There needs to be a really good
legal reason for it, or a good procedural
reason for it, that there is another
investigation ongoing in another agency or
that -- | think in the case of MURs that
have multiple respondents, you will have
the issue of, well, maybe an investigation
with regard to one respondent is over but
an investigation with regard to another
respondent is not, and they are interlinked.

Maybe the appropriate action
there then is to postpone the probable cause
briefing in the investigation that is
completed earlier, and also therefore
postpone access to the documents and
depositions taken at that point until the
MURs can come together at some point so
that you are not compromising the
investigation in those other MURs.

I think the Commission really
needs to seriously consider how important
it is for that access to be granted.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you. We have seven minutes left.

Any further questions?

Any further comments you would
like to make in light of the questions we
have posed to you? If not, we will let you
off the hook. Thank you very much for the
comments and the hard work.

We will recess now for about ten
minutes and then we will begin at 11:40.

(Discussion off the record.)

(Brief recess.)

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We
will now reconvene.

We have before us Mr. Clay
Johnson from the Sunlight Foundation. He
has proffered comments that are more
technical in nature on the enforcement
process, but upon taking a look at your
report, it is very important to us to consider
some of the points that you made.

You have the luxury that no one
else has had because you are all alone, and
we have allocated for this panel an hour
and twenty minutes. We had a more
structured approach, but I will ask you to
give us a short summary of some of the
highlights you would like to make, and

then we were will open it up for questions
and comments.

Bear in mind, none of us are
experts in this technological field, so feel
free to bring it down to the eighth- grade
level.

MR. JOHNSON: Bear in mind
also that I am not an expert in the legal
field, so bring it down to the eighth-grade
level for me when it comes to election law.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Please
proceed.

MR. JOHNSON: My name is
Clay Johnson. | am from the Sunlight
Foundation. We are a nonpartisan
organization that is dedicated to facilitating
ways to make use the Internet to make
information about Congress and the federal
government more accessible to citizens.

Today | want to talk about two
primary issues. First, | want to talk about
how the FEC can make adjustments to its
data and Web site to further fulfill the
FEC's disclosure mandate; and second, |
want to talk about ways the FEC itself can
be more transparent to the American
people.

My first point: Your number 1
priority in fulfilling your mandate to
publicly disclose campaign finance
information should be to provide high-
quality and accurate data to citizens in a
way that is comprehensive and
understandable.

This involves three things:

1) Ensuring that the data that is being
collected is accurate.

that campaigns and software vendors send
data to you in.

So people who want to see those
filings also have to change their stuff, and
what that means is -- for instance, right
now you have a vendor that we know that
has been posting electronic filings
erroneously to the FEC for over two years.
This can be a problem for people who want
to view this data.

What we recommend is a more
standardized and more versatile format
than the custom file format that the FEC
accepts. | am happy to file, I don't know
what the language is, but I can send you
memos about what that stuff can be at a
later time.

Second, and this is probably the
most important, the FEC publishes data it
receives in official versions after it has
been received and gone through some form
of internal process at the FEC. This is
where the most need for improvement
needs to come into play.

Presently there are multiple fields
like name and occupation and employer,
and the way you publish your data, each
field has a certain number of characters that
is allowed in that field, and if, say
someone's occupation and employer, the
length of their title and employer goes
beyond the length of that field, that data is
then lost. | personally take great offense to
this because if you look for me in the FEC's
database, it lists me as technology con,
instead of technology consultant.

The answer to this is not to simply

2) Publishing the data in a reliable way that just increase the width of the fields. The

is accessible.
3) Making the FEC's Web site itself more
user-friendly.

The first point about ensuring that
the data that is being collected is accurate
can best described as garbage in, garbage
out. If you are getting bad data from
campaigns, then you are going to publish
bad data. As long as the FEC does not
enforce strict guidelines on how it receives
compliance data, it won't be able to publish
reliable and accurate data itself.

Right now the FEC receives
filings in what is called a non-standard
format that has low versatility. What that
means is that when rules change in the
FEC, you have to change the file format
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answer is to use more standardized formats
for publishing this data, like XML,
extensible markup language, and | will give
you whatever you want in terms of
technical support and knowledge. My
brain belongs to you as long as you want it.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Give it to him.

MR. JOHNSON: What is
happening is that data is getting lost when
it is being published, so it is nearly
unusable. It is inaccurate and you can't
make safe assumptions.

Finally, my third point is making
the Web site more user friendly. As we
have seen in the last three presidential
election cycles, the use of the Internet to
make contributions has surged cycle after
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cycle and, as such, so has the interest over
your Web site and data.

Today the FEC's Web site has to
be recognized as the most valuable
strategic asset your agency has in fulfilling
your disclosure mandate and, as such, that
its Web team is more than just providing a
support function. Just as attorneys are
essential to the FEC's enforcement duties
and accountants are critical to the FEC
compliance mandate, the FEC's Web staff
is instrumental to the core disclosure
mission of the agency and must be
provided with the skills and authority to
make disclosure on its Web site equal to
other critical agency functions.

Improving the Web site involves
two significant changes. First, a shiftin
language that starts speaking to citizens
and not just to lawyers and accountants.
For instance, if | want to search the FEC
database, my first option on the Web site
right now is to search through candidate
and PAC party summaries. Many people
don't know what PACs are or what a
summary is.

Some language -- the language on
the Web site right now is highly
specialized, and a recommendation is that
you spend some time copywriting with a
copywriter to tailor it to a broader
audience.

Second, a change in technology to
make the Web site itself more useful in
spreading the information. For instance,
right now if | do a Google search for Clay
Johnson, | can take that link and then copy
it and paste it in an e-mail or put it on a
Web site or something like that. Right now
when | search the FEC's Web site, | can't
do that. I can't search for Clay Johnson as
an individual contributor on FEC.gov and
then e-mail that link to someone. | have to
e-mail the search form to someone and tell
them to type in Clay Johnson.

The second thing is to have what
are called APIs, which are ways for other
Web sites to query your database and put
the information on their pages, so that they
can say -- so that | can, say, run a Web site
that says | will search for Clay Johnson and
have the contributions listed on my Web
site in line.

Those are my three big
recommendations for you guys for your
Web site.

And secondly, on a separate note,
as part of the FEC's enforcement and
compliance duties, senior staff and FEC
commissioners routinely meet with
individuals representing candidates, PACs,
campaign committees, corporations or
other entities that are being investigated or
have possible knowledge of alleged
campaign finance violations.

To address the appearance -- and |
am not saying anything is going on wrong
here. To address the appearance of undue
influence or corruption, it is Sunlight's
suggestion that the Commission should
draft regulations that would require
Commissioners and certain senior officials
to report online within seventy-two hours
any significant contact relating to a request
for FEC action.

If the FEC finds that it does not
have the ability to draft such regulations --
I don't know that you do -- it should design
a system of voluntary reporting of
significant contacts. In either case, a
significant contact is one in which a private
party seeks to influence any official
actions, including any advisory, regulatory
or enforcement action pending before the
Commission.

Thank you. | will be happy to
answer any questions.

COMMISSIONER WALTHER:
Let's start with the commissioners.
Commissioner Weintraub.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: | am completely incapable
of engaging with you on the tech stuff.

MR. JOHNSON: That is not true.
I am pretty charming. [Laughter.]

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: 1 hope this will be the
beginning of a dialogue between you and

Alec Palmer, who is sitting at the table over

there, who | am pretty confident is the only
person in this room who really understands
what you are talking about, and there are
probably some staff people out there too. |
hope -- I think you have made what sound

like perfectly reasonable suggestions to me.

The only thing I really want to ask
you about is the statement you said at the
end: As part of our enforcement and
compliance duties, senior staff and FEC
commissioners routinely meet with all of
these individuals that we are enforcing the
law against.
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What is that based on? Because
we have what | consider to be pretty
stringent ex parte rules that require
disclosure of exactly those sorts of
contacts, and as a result | think that
commissioners try pretty hard to avoid
doing that. Do you know something |
don't?

MR. JOHNSON: No, no. Please
don't take it as, hey, | know you guys are
meeting with convicted felons and -- what |
am saying is you meet with people about
your issues, whether they are investigations
or --

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: No, not about
investigations. We have rules against that.

MR. JOHNSON: How do you
conduct investigations?

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Our staff attorneys do.

MR. JOHNSON: | see.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: | certainly would never
meet with counsel to a party that had an
ongoing investigation to talk about that,
and if I did I would have to disclose it
under our current rules. | am wondering if
you know something I don't know.

MR. JOHNSON: Then you know
something that I don't know. | will say that
one of the things we say at the Sunlight
Foundation is public means online. What
that means is it is not okay to say that a
document is public or that a schedule is
public because it is an in a three-ring binder
somewhere in this building any more.
Technology has required a shift and | think
Americans are demanding a shift in the
way they think. If it is public, it has to go
online, and you might as well consider it
confidential if it is in a document in the
basement here.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: That is a very fair point
and | agree with that. Do you have a
definition of significant contact? Is that
based on a regulation of another agency?

MR. JOHNSON: That is based on
what my lobbyist told me to say.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: You know what people
think about lobbyists here in Washington.
It sounds like it is drawn from regulatory
language. | was wondering if you are
suggesting there is some agency that does
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this, and we should be modeling ourselves
on them?

MR. JOHNSON: No.

COMMISSIONER
WEINTRAUB: Okay. That is it.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER:
Former Chairman McGahn.

COMMISSIONER MCGAHN:
The fact that you looked at our Web site
and you didn't understand what our ex parte
rules were tells us that they are not
prominently displayed on the Web site,
which | think is the point you are making,
if it is not there, someone who is not an
FEC junkie is not going to know, which
could raise perception issues, so maybe that
should be more prominent on the Web site.

MR. JOHNSON: Sure.

COMMISSIONER MCGAHN:
Believe it or not, one of my degrees
undergrad was in computer applications,
and once upon a time | could actually
program in COBOL C, Fortran -- | could
actually do all that, and my father
convinced me that computers were just a
fad and | should go to law school. | made a
lot of good life choices, and now here | am.
[Laughter.]

I was once quoted by a British
academic saying, | don't understand why
anyone ever would want to go on the
Federal Election Commission [laughter]
and something about the fox guarding the
hen house, which was of course taken out
of context, which actually was submitted as
a comment in the hearing five years ago.
That is a way of saying I sort of understand
some of this, but not really.

The question I have -- | think Alec
Palmer has done a great job in the last
several years with the Web site compared
to what the agency used to be like. The
font was smaller than even the footnotes |
write, but it seems to me some of the
search-engine analogy type stuff is a little
tough. Search words like contributions, it
will come up, there are no words on
contribution. I will type a respondent's
name in a case | knew existed and |
couldn't find it. | don't really understand
how search engines work and what we can
and improve that so it may give the public
a better sense of what we do here and how
to get access to the information.

MR. JOHNSON: It is a tough
problem to solve. 1 used to work for a

company called Ask.com or Ask Jeeves as
it was known back in the day.

Right now the FEC Web site has
several different ways of searching. You
can search the FEC's Web site, there is a
little box on the top where you can search
for anything. You can search for me there.
A PDF file of this meeting comes up, and
then you can also go and click on search
disclosure databases, and there are different
methods of searching those databases, so
you can search for individual contributors,
committee filings and stuff like that.

The way that is done is actually
fairly sufficient because you are basically
limiting the scope of what things can be
searched through, so because of that they
are more accurate, the less needles in the
haystack -- or the less hay in the haystack,
the more needles you are going to find.

The problem is that the underlying
data that is coming into the FEC and then
the process that the FEC is using to scrub
or clean up that data, you are losing data
that is valuable, so when you are searching
against stuff that the FEC has accidentally
deleted or not publishing any more, it is the
technology con problem. Who knows
whether it is a technology contract or
consultant?

It is worse when you have large
companies and the company hame comes
first, so let's say the name of the company
is Wal-Mart Stores Inc., and the title of the
person is Director of Mid-Atlantic Stores.
It is very relevant that this person is
Director of the Mid-Atlantic region, but the
FEC is only going to publish Director of, or
Director "O," because that is the character
limit. You run the problem of losing data
that doesn't exist.

It is the same for names. People's
names will often be truncated. Over twenty
percent of occupation and employers'
names that the FEC is publishing to date
contains missing information, information
that has been truncated in some way. That
is the thing -- when it comes to search, you
won't be able to search against that data
because it doesn't exist any more.

COMMISSIONER MCGAHN:
That is all | have.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Ms.
Bauerly.

COMMISSIONER BAUERLY:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you
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for sharing your insight with us. | am sure
that Mr. Palmer is gratified to hear you call
on us to spend as many resources and
devote as much attention to this aspect of
our mission, what we do with the highly
trained lawyers in OGC and the auditors as
well. We do have an amazing IT staff, and
one of the aspects of our Web site that you
complimented us on was the map, one of
those easy interfaces for the public to use.

| agree with you that adding plain
language to some of the technical legal
terms is an important step and perhaps a
fairly easy one.

Knowing that given the budget
constraints that this agency and the entire
federal government is going forward, |
wonder if you could prioritize what you
think the first step should be in making
these improvements, because | assure you
that Mr. Palmer has a long list of things he
would like us to spend resources on, and |
think we all would like to give him as
many as possible, but the Congress hasn't
seen fit to give us all of the money we
would like.

So, help us prioritize if you would,
from your perspective, which of these
changes that are identifiable would best
help the public access this information?

MR. JOHNSON: Sounds like two
questions. One is prioritize your list of
things, and then two is what is the first step
that you think we should take?

The first step you should take is to
ask for help, and what that means, right,
you don't have a massive budget to hire a
zillion-person technology team to solve all
your problems, but you do have a
community of interested parties that have
strong technical advice that are nonpartisan
that want to help out, and opening up the
process and asking for help, | think you
could get a lot of expertise and maybe even
some work done inside of the FEC for very
little cost.

Two, in terms of the priorities, |
think my second point, publishing the data
in the most accurate way possible, where
all of the data is published accurately and
reliably is the most important point I have
to make here today, the reason being, one
of the organizations we give a grant to is
opensecret.org, which takes FEC
information and cleans it up and publishes
it.
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They spend a lot of time on this,
but they also consistently, day after day,
month after month, year after year get more
eyeballs on this data than the FEC does, so
one of the things we tell all branches of
government is give people access to data in
a reliable, secure, accurate way, make that
your first point and people will generally
get that data in interesting ways in front of
people.

Another way you can use to -- and
that is crazy, this might be crazy talk for
the FEC -- but here in Washington, D.C.,
the CTO is named Vivek Kundra, and he
came in and did something very interesting
for the District of Columbia, which is he
said, okay, the District of Columbia
publishes all this data. The office of the
CTO is going to put $50,000 out on the
Internet and say whoever can do something
interesting with this data wins this money,
and actually created a contest for people
who competed to do interesting things with
it.

The office of the CTO of the
District of Columbia then was able to take
all of that software that was generated as its
own and incorporate it into the dc.gov Web
site. That kind of radical thinking might
not be up the FEC's alley, but it is a way of
opening up the process and getting people's
participation.

At the end of the day, | want to
express how interested in this particular
data set | think the American public is.
You see it replicated on Web sites across
the Internet, and people really want to get
atit. It is a phenomenal service that the
FEC provides to the American public to do
it, and | do not envy your technology team
because they have a difficult and trying job
and that is why we want to help.

COMMISSIONER WALTHER:
Commissioner Hunter?

MS. HUNTER: You mentioned
there was a vendor who is posting incorrect
information on the Web site. Could you
explain what you mean by that?

MR. JOHNSON: | can. The way
that incoming filings work is that software
in some form of -- some campaign uses
some software to manage its contributions
and then file compliance information with
the FEC.

If the FEC changes a rule, then
sometimes that vendor needs to go back

and change their software and how it works
in order to post to the Web site -- in order
to post information back to the FEC, and
sometimes vendors don't do that.

What is interesting is that because
of the technology-con problem, most
people now look to the unofficial filings
that the FEC makes available before they
get going through the process where there
is a data loss, and then that data itself is
actually not reliable because they are in
different file formats over the years that
require a huge burden on outside
organizations in order to parse and
reconcile with official FEC information. It
is hard work. It is tough.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Mr.
Vice chairman?

COMMISSIONER PETERSEN:
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. My original
question was going to be about
recommendations that we use XML and --
but we will save that for another time.

You brought up that there are
problems with the public linking to our
data. In a prior life I worked up on the Hill
and there were a number of times where
you sent a link to somebody and then they
would click on that link and it would say
link expired, which would always be
aggravating, so when you mentioned that |
did clearly understand because | remember
the frustration | had myself.

What needs to be done, how
simple of a fix is that? Does that require an
expensive or time-consuming overhaul?

MR. JOHNSON: | don't know. It
is probably simple, but it could be not
simple. It is sort of like asking me how to
change the spark plugs on a car that | don't
know or have never seen. | could probably
figure it out, but I don't know if it has a
sealed engine or not. | don't know how
long | can continue with this metaphor, but
the short answer is it is probably pretty
easy.

I think everything that | have
recommended, we are not talking about
huge -- we may be talking about massive
shifts in terms of technology. | don't know
because I don't know much about how
internally it works. 1 just know as a
customer of your data | am not satisfied,
and | want to help.

COMMISSIONER PETERSEN:
| appreciated your suggestion that there
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should be some method, for example, in
our enforcement database for citizens to be
easily access classes of case, this is an
excessive contribution case, prohibited
source case, and, again, just following up
on what Commissioner McGahn said about
-- asking you about, since you have an
expertise on search engines, again, is
making a change where you could have --
say you wanted to look under a certain
classification of enforcement case, like an
excessive contribution case, to have that
field as a narrowing field so that you could
then put a name in and see if there are any
excessive contribution cases that came up
under that person's name. That does seem
like that would be a user- friendly tool --
maybe not for the person being searched,
but for the public as a whole.

Again, how -- and maybe this is
the same answer as before, that you just
don't know without having had access, but
is that something that is relatively -- could
that be remedied fairly simply without too
much effort expended?

MR. JOHNSON: Probably.
Again, | can't give you a definitive answer,
but probably.

COMMISSIONER PETERSEN:
| don't have too many other questions. |
did greatly appreciate your remarks, and |
think what you have put forward are things
we need to look at very seriously, and |
think you brought up an excellent point that
the Web site should not be just for the
election law geeks who understand all the
terminology and all the raw data, but this
needs to be something that the public can
use a whole, so I think that point is one |
appreciate you making. So thanks.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you.

Ms. Duncan?

MS. DUNCAN: Thank you. |
appreciated your written submission and
comments, but | don't have any questions.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: We
have Mr. Palmer with us who is head of
our technology department, so he will
probably have some questions for you that
will be meaningful for you.

MR. PALMER: Thank you very
much, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Johnson, thank you very
much for being here today, and | appreciate
your comments. All of these are extremely





FFederal Election Commission: Public Bearing on Agency Practices and Procedures (Fanuary 14-15, 2009)

helpful because it gives us leverage to be
able to try to fulfill the mission of the
agency and move forward.

| want to also pass on my thanks
to Ms. Miller for her taking the time to able
to put that document together. | thought it
was very insightful and detailed.

| want to thank the Commission
for their support. They have been
extremely supportive of the IT initiatives
here at the Federal Election Commission
and that certainly makes our job easier and
it is much appreciated.

Some of the questions | have, |
have maybe two or three. You talked about
the Web site and how we can make it easier
and simpler. You mentioned the APIs and
perhaps making the language easier to
understand for the common citizen. Can
you share other examples, whether it is
navigation techniques or things of that
nature that may help us?

MR. JOHNSON: Sure. Do you
mind if | get a little technical?

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Please
do.

MR. JOHNSON: Doing
something like using RSS, syndication
technology, for search would be extremely
valuable to the community.

I also think using -- giving people
-- | am a fan of one big search box. People
might not know -- people don't know the
difference between a PAC and -- a citizen
doesn't know the difference between a PAC
and other entities, a corporation or even an
individual. People don't know what PACs
are. | know that is hard for us all to
believe, but because of that, it is a high
barrier to entry to get people to figure out
what it is they should be searching for.

When they know what they want
to search for is Wal-Mart, or | want to
know -- | want to search for my neighbors,
search for my ZIP code. That is a very
popular one. We found that ninety percent
of the searches on Open Secrets are -- that
could be erroneous statistics, but a large
portion is ZIP code searches. People plug
in 20036 and they want to see all of the
contributions coming from that particular
ZIP code.

Providing services around
particular legislators and candidates, as
long as you treat them as the same entity,
to summarize the information is also

particularly useful, and by providing
summaries | mean show me a picture of
Ted Kennedy and next to Ted Kennedy's
name tell me the percentage of money he
has received from in state and out state.
Tell me the percentage of money he has
received from PACs and from individuals,
and start summarizing that information in
ways that are easy to understand.

I always like to use the example of
ESPN.com as a model for political
information because at the end of the day,
the sports industry is really good at
providing statistics in a meaningful way.
Basically what the FEC right now is
providing is the play-by-play of every
major league baseball game since 1975
without a single box score.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: That
is a good analogy.

MR. JOHNSON: That kind
summarization | think would be really
useful. I think paying attention to doing
user testing, I don't know if you have done
that before, but running -- I am not a huge
proponent of too many focus groups
because you can focus group your design to
death, but running it through some
audiences is also something that would be
very useful.

Again, | want to stress that
opening up the process can often be very
rewarding, by saying, publicly, hey, we are
going to redo the FEC Web site and we
want some comments, not only in a hearing
like this, but from people online, and |
know you have taken feedback that way in
the past, but to really make a big deal out
of that being opened. | know Sunlight
would be encouraged by that and would be
excited by that.

MR. PALMER: Let me follow up
on the APl issue. Do you think it would of
more value for us to focus on API,
application program interface, rather than
building multiple systems, have more APIs
where people could get to the data and then
use it as they see fit, do you think the effort
would be better spent that way?

MR. JOHNSON: | do. It goesto
my first point, one of the points, of look,
the New York Times is always going to --
nytimes.com will always have more
eyeballs on it than FEC.gov. | think it is
your mandate, not to drive up traffic on
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your Web site. It is your mandate to
disclose information.

To fulfill that mandate you want
to disclose that information and get as
many eyeballs on that information in the
best way possible, and that means making
it easy for outside organizations and
entities to take the data off of FEC.gov and
provide it to their readership and whatnot.
| think the API -- building an API for
FEC.gov. would be useful.

More useful, though, would be
changing from the global format that you
are publishing data in. It doesn't support --
if 1 as a developer, when I first got my
hands on that, | downloaded it, put it in my
database software and said why on earth
did someone give 20p dollars to a
candidate? Why are there 20P dollars? It
turns out that the file format, COBAL, that
the FEC uses doesn't support negative
numbers, and the P is a code for a way to
recognize a negative number, but it is
completely [unintelligible].

MR. PALMER: That is a good
point. That is one of our top priorities now
so we can make the APIs work.

Talking about RSS, right now we
currently have two feeds, one for the
treasurers and one for the press. Are there
any others?

MR. JOHNSON: Search. You
can power most of your APIs sometimes
through RSS or through Jason or other
things, but in particular with RSS because
people use RSS to do things like subscribe
to blogs and their feeder readers, it allows
for non-technical users to interface with an
API technology, so they can keep an eye on
contributions as they are being filed
through the FEC. 1 can tell how many
contributions you have made -- not you,
but somebody has made, and when there
are new contributions coming in, I can see
that on the Web and be notified of that just
like it would be receiving an e-mail,
basically. | think incorporating RSS into
search is a very easy way to almost
instantly turn on a virtual API on the FEC's
Web site.

MR. PALMER: Thank you very
much. That is all the questions that | have.
Thank you.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: | was
curious to know about the losing of the
data. In what way is it lost? | gather it is
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still in the bowels of our computer system, CHAIRMAN WALTHER: It

but for the public they only get the thirty-  does. | know that Open Secrets and other
five characters or whatever we allot to entities figure out a way to sort this. Not to
information. Is there an expert that can put them out of business, but it seems to
drill down into it? me for the general public, I think if we

MR. JOHNSON: We have the could just focus on students, academics,
unofficial filings that are posted to the Web people that don't live this life, if they are
site that you all make available, and then doing research, then if we could make it
you have the data that you are publishing,  understandable and get all of the
the official data that is truncated and information, that has to be our charter.
missing, and basically what experts try to  Disclosure is no good if it is just for the
do is reconcile these two data sets, and it is people that are in the election bar.
really hard. MR. JOHNSON: | wouldn't

What we will do is we will say worry about putting Open Secrets out of
this person is Joseph Smith and he lives in  business with upgrading your Web site or
30092, and this unofficial filing is Joseph  the New York Times out of business with

Smith and he lives in 30092. The upgrading your Web site. Specifically
probability is high they are the same what Open Secrets does is it actually adds
person. Let's merge these two records such more value to the data that FEC puts out by
that we can get the occupation and doing things like applying industry codes

employer information or whatever missing  to the data so you can see candidate X
information is in one and put it in the other. receives most of their money from the

You can appreciate the danger of doing banking and finance industry. And | don't
things this way because it leads to false think those are things that the FEC should
positives when it comes to identity, be doing or actually has the authority or the
especially if your name is Jim Smith or manpower to do.

your last name is Johnson. CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Could

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Soif be ways we are more facile in the ways we
somebody wants that data, or New York sort our data or even legislators on the Hill,

Times or Open Secrets, they have to go when is it coming in, amounts coming in,

through that exercise every time? and I do ZIP codes too. It is a matter of
MR. JOHNSON: Yes. People inquiry for a lot of people.

like Open Secrets and the Sunlight I guess the question | am coming

Foundation, and the Huffington Post has to is how can we make it more accessible

done stuff and the New York Times has and easier to sort some of this information,

done stuff, they have largely done some whether by date or by person or amount or
things algorithmically, so you can basically geography over a period of time and
build on top of it every time and not have  perhaps export it to XML or something like

to do so much, but it is still problematic that?

because it yields to data being inaccurate. MR. JOHNSON: The first thing
People could associate two Joseph Smiths is publish the full data in a reliable and
that are not the same Joseph Smith, and accurate way, and bunches of people will
then for years that could exist without figure that out for you. Sunlight will be
anyone knowing that it had happened. one of them. We will take that and make it

There is a preservation element to  sortable and do things interesting
transparency that is important. The ability  ourselves.

to search back in the FEC's data -- 30 years On your side, | can't recommend
is what Open Secrets is providing -- is strongly enough that your first priority
significant because it starts telling a story.  should be to make the data as accurate and
If we are layering -- let's say point one complete as they are in the official filings,

percent of that data from 30 years ago is but then also, you are right, to create
erroneous and then another point one the interactive experiences on the Web site
next cycle, it begins to add up and become itself, to make it so people can easily
scary. access and manipulate this information.
Does that answer your question?  Viewing data on a map is particularly
useful. | think being able to see an
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individual donor and all the candidates and
PACs that they have given to on a single
page is particularly useful.

One thing that we really struggle
with at the Sunlight Foundation, 1 know it
would be difficult here too, would be name
standardization. People are entering on a
Web form or whatever their contribution
and occupation from an employer. Wal-
Mart is a great example, there could be so
many ways to spell Wal-Mart. There is
Wal-Mart Stores Inc., Wal Star Mart, Wal
Star Mart Stores Inc., and then there are
your casual misspellings. How do you
standardize those names?

We all know everything | just said
is Wal-Mart Stores Inc., that is the name of
the legal entity that all of these people are
employed by, but how do you make it so
that you -- how do you standardize all
those names so you can give me a page for
Wal-Mart?

Those are really hard problems to
solve. It is something we would love to
think through with you guys as well. That
occupation and employer field that you
provide is, | think, one of the most
important fields today. For citizen
watchdogs to keep an eye on that, it is
particularly useful.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: The
fixed formats you referred to, where we
opened our comment up to February 18,
and | am sure you would like to provide
information on technical and non-technical
matters now that you have heard some of
the matters that are important to us.

We had an occasion where we had
to digest a massive amount of data of
contributions. We had 650,000 new
contributions for just one candidate in one
month, and | know that -- | don't know to
what extent it strained our system, but do
you have any input as to capacity?

MR. JOHNSON: | have sort of a
unique perspective on that. Before going
to Sunlight Foundations, | was one of the
founders of Blue State Digital, which
powered Barack Obama contribution
system. | have been on both sides of this
problem, oversight and collecting and
sending, and it is not an easy problem to
solve.

Our suggestion from the Sunlight
Foundation is, again, come up with a
standardized format to post this
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information to the FEC Web site, rather
than a proprietary and generally closed
format that you have now, because it is
difficult for vendors like Blue State Digital
and others to manage that process and
actually talk to the FEC. It is something
that we avidly avoided because we couldn't
figure out, so it was outsourced to other
firms.

I am happy to discuss those
problems from both sides of that issue with
you and to make sure -- like | said, my
brain is yours. You can use it however you
like, but we are here to serve.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: One
more question from me. | was concerned
about the competitors, other people in the
industry who have software that may not be
reporting it accurately. Is it because, from
what you are saying, they are not getting
information about the rule change, is it
because they don't recognize it has an
impact on their software, and are we --
should we --

MR. JOHNSON: It is probably
all -- it is Murphy's law here, any way it
can go wrong, it will go wrong. In this
case some people don't update their
software enough. If | was in your shoes,
what | would be concerned about is if it is
not coming to the FEC in the appropriate
format, then it didn't come, and treat it as a
missed filing. Like if I send my tax filings
to the IRS on the back of a napkin, the IRS
will probably audit me or assume | didn't
pay my taxes.

The FEC should take, to an
appropriate extent -- if you filed your
campaign finance disclosure stuff
electronically and didn't file it in the right
format, then you didn't file it, and treat that
as such. That will cause vendors to take
very seriously whether or not their software
is posting their stuff appropriately when the
campaigns call and say why is the FEC on
the phone with me saying | didn't send in
my filings?

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: How
do you know that twenty percent is
inaccurate?

MR. JOHNSON: | opened up the
database and counted and searched for
every field -- | looked for every record in
your database that had the maximum
number of characters allotted and then
looked through those and subtracted the

ones that looked like it was the full title of
someone. So, if it was someone like
director of Wal-Mart stores and then they
had other stuff -- | could be wrong, it could
be more than twenty percent, but a good
estimate is twenty percent has been
truncated like that. That was for this cycle
only, though.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Are
there questions from others?

Alec, do you have further follow-
up?

MR. PALMER: | think we will
get together for lunch one day.

CHAIRMAN WALTHER: Thank
you very much. It is very helpful to us.

If there is nothing further, that is
the end of our hearing on this matter. We
will be adjourned except that we have a
hearing this afternoon, and | don't know if
it is appropriate to adjourn -- we are hereby
adjourned.

(Whereupon, at 12:35 p.m., the
hearing was adjourned.)
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